#### STUDY IN NONCOMMUTATIVE GEOMETRY INSPIRED PHYSICS

THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY [SC.] IN PHYSICS (THEORETICAL)

by YENDREMBAM CHAOBA DEVI

> Department of Physics University of Calcutta

> > 2016

Dedicated to all my Teachers in Manipur

#### PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following publications

- Thermal effective potential in two- and three-dimensional non-commutative spaces Y.C.Devi, K.J.B.Ghosh, B.Chakraborty and F.G.Scholtz, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 47 (2014) 025302.
- 2. Connes distance function on fuzzy sphere and the connection between geometry and statistics Y.C.Devi, S.Prajapat, A.K.Mukhopadhyay, B.Chakraborty, F.G.Scholtz, *J.Math.Phys.* **56**, 041707 (2015).
- 3. Revisiting Connes' Finite Spectral Distance on Non-commutative spaces : Moyal plane and Fuzzy sphere Y.C.Devi, A.Patil, A.N.Bose, K.Kumar, B.Chakraborty and F.G.Scholtz *arXiv*:1608.0527.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am thankful to my supervisor Professor Biswajit Chakraborty for his kind patience over my slow progress and his support in many ways. I am thankful to Professor Frederik G Scholtz and Professor A P Balachandran for many insightful discussions..

I am also thankful to all the staff of S N Bose National Centre for Basic Sciences for providing me all the necessary facilities needed to complete this work.

I am also thankful to my collaborators: Kumar Jang Bahadur Ghosh, Aritra Narayan Bose, Shivraj Prajapat, Aritra K Mukhopadhyay, Alpesh Patil, Kaushlendra Kumar for useful discussions and arguments. Thanks also goes to Arghya and Subhashish for many useful discussions.

Many thanks to all my friends at S N Bose National Centre for Basic Sciences specially Bivas bhaiya, Sandipa and Sayani for giving me healthy atmosphere and their emotional supports during my stay here. Special thanks to Sreeraj T P for helping and supporting me throughout the period of this work.

Above all, I would like to thank my family for their support and encouragement and their faith in me without which the thesis would have been impossible.

#### CONTENTS

1	INT	INTRODUCTION 1					
-	1 1	Non-commutative/Quantized space-time 1					
	1.1	1.1.1 Non-commutative field theory employing star products					
		1.1.2 Non-commutative quantum mechanics: Operator method					
	1.0	Non commutative geometry 8					
	1.2	Plan of the thesis					
	1.3	That of the thesis 15					
I	No	on-relativistic quantum physics on Non-commutative spaces 17					
~							
2	HIL	$\frac{2}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^$					
	2.1	2D Moyal plane $\mathbb{R}_{\pi}^{*}$ [44, 45] 18					
		2.1.1 Position bases 20					
	2.2	3 D Moyal space [47] 22					
	2.3	Fuzzy Sphere [48] 27					
3	VOR	ROS POSITION BASIS STATES ON 3D MOYAL SPACE 29					
	3.1	1 Review of Symplectic Invariant Uncertainty Relations 29					
		3.1.1 Variance matrix and Williamson theorem 29					
	3.2	Computation of Non-commutative Variance matrix 31					
1	MU	LTI-PARTICLE SYSTEM ON 3D MOYAL SPACE 37					
т	4.1	Two-particle system 37					
	4.2	Multi-particle states 40					
	F	4.2.1 Momentum Basis on $\mathcal{H}^{3(N)}$ 41					
	1.3	Second Quantization $43$					
	<b>T</b> 'J	4.3.1 Creation and Annihilation operators in twisted momentum basis 44					
		4.3.2 Creation and Annihilation operators in quasi-commutative mometum					
		basis 45					
	4.4	Field operators 46					
	4.5	Two-particle Correlation function 48					
	Ъ	4.5.1 Twisted correlation function 48					
		4.5.2 Quasi-commutative Basis 52					
		4.5.2 Thermal Effective Potential 52					
		$4.5.5$ memai functive i otertuar $5^2$					

11 Spectral distances on Non-commutative spaces SPECTRAL TRIPLE AND CONNES' SPECTRAL DISTANCE 56 5 Spectral triple method of Non-commutative geometry 5.1 56 Spin geometry 5.2 57 Clifford algebras 5.2.1 57 58 Spin Manifold 5.2.2 Spin Connection 5.2.3 59 Connes' spectral triple of a compact spin manifold 60 5.3 Spectral distance on Real line  $\mathbb{R}^1$ 62 5.4 Spectral distance on two-point space, a discrete space [107, 109] 63 5.5 Spectral distance on the state space  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  of  $M_2(\mathbb{C})$  [82, 110] 5.6 64 Coherent states 67 5.768 Moyal plane 5.7.1 Fuzzy sphere 68 5.7.2 CONNES' SPECTRAL DISTANCE ON MOYAL PLANE 6 70 Eigenspinors of Dirac operator 6.1 71 6.2 Spectral Triple for Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_*$  and the Spectral distance 72 Spectral distance on the configuration space of Moyal plane 6.3 75 6.3.1 Ball condition with the Eigenspinors of  $\mathcal{D}_M$ 76 6.3.2 Distance between discrete/harmonic oscillator states 76 Distance between coherent states 6.3.3 79 6.4 Spectral Triple on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  and the connection of geometry with Statistics 85 SPECTRAL DISTANCES ON FUZZY SPHERE 88 7 Spectral triple on the configuration space  $\mathcal{F}_i$  of fuzzy sphere 88 7.1Eigenspinors of Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_f$  [89] 7.1.190 7.1.2 Ball condition with Dirac eigenspinors 90 Spectral distance between discrete states 7.1.3 91 Spectral distance between coherent states 7.1.4 96 Lower bound to the spectral distance between infinitesimally separated 7.1.5 continuous pure states 97 Spectral distance on the configuration space of fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{1}^{2}$ 7.1.6 99 Spectral distance on the configuration space of fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_1^2$ 7.1.7 103 7.2 Spectral triple and distance on quantum Hilbert space of fuzzy sphere 114

8 CONCLUSION 120

#### **III** Appendices

#### A BASIC THEORY OF HOPF ALGEBRA 123

- A.1 Algebra [115] 123
- A.2 Co-algebra [115] 123
- A.3 Bi-algebra [115] 123
- A.4 Hopf algebra [115] 123
  - A.4.1 Co-commutative 124
  - A.4.2 Almost Co-commutative 124
  - A.4.3 Quasi-triangular 124
  - A.4.4 Twisted Hopf algebra 125

#### B ROBERTSON AND SCHRÖDINGER UNCERTAINTY RELATIONS 126

#### C SOME DEFINITIONS 128

- C.1 *C*\*-algebra [113, 116] 128
- c.2 \*-homomorphism and functional of C\*-algebra 129
- c.3 Representations of a C\*-algebra 130
- c.4 Hilbert-Schimdt operators 130
- c.5 Normal State 131
- c.6 Module 131

#### D CONSTRUCTION OF DIRAC OPERATORS 133

- D.1 Moyal Plane 133
- D.2 Fuzzy sphere [88] 134
  - D.2.1 Dirac operator on  $S^3$  and  $S^2$  134
  - D.2.2 Dirac operator on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2_{\star}$  139

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Pictorial representation of Gelfand Naimark Theorem. 9			
Figure 4.1	Thermal effective potential vs distance for $\frac{\theta}{\lambda^2}=0.1$ for each case in three-dimension.			
	Note that, in the twisted case, this depends functionally on $r_\perp=\sqrt{r_x^2+r_y^2}$ and $r_\parallel$ ,			
	in contrast to quasi commutative case, where it depends only on <i>r</i> . 54			
Figure 5.1	Computation of Connes' spectral distance in 1D 62			
Figure 7.1	Infinitesimal change on the surface of sphere with respect to the change			
	in <i>m</i> 93			
Figure 7.2	Fuzzy spheres, $\$_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ , $\$_{1}^2$ , $\$_{\frac{3}{2}}^2$ 95			
Figure 7.3	Space of Perelomov's $SU(2)$ coherent states for $j = \frac{1}{2}$ . 100			
Figure 7.4	Infimum corresponding to the plots of $M_{11}/(d\theta)^2$ and $M_{22}/(d\theta)^2$ vs			
	$\beta_1/d\theta$ 111			
Figure A.1	Commutative diagram showing the axioms on the bi-algebra $H$ that			
	make it Hopf algebra. 124			

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1	Dictionary of o	duality between space a	and algebra	10	
<b>T</b> 1 1			1 1.66		

Table 7.1Data set for various distances corresponding to different angles114

# 1

#### INTRODUCTION

One of the most challenging problems persisting since 20th century is the quantum theory of gravity. It is expected that it will also unify the four fundamental forces: gravitation, electromagnetic, strong and weak forces. As, quantum mechanics is formulated in terms of operators acting on some Hilbert space realizing operator algebras and gravity, on the other hand, is the theory which describes the geometry and dynamics of the space-time manifold, it is quite conceivable that a future theory of quantum gravity would deal with some generalized geometry containing aspects from both. Non-commutative geometry [1] is such a generalized geometry and is indeed a very promising candidate for a future formulation of quantum gravity.

#### 1.1 NON-COMMUTATIVE/QUANTIZED SPACE-TIME

The idea of quantization of space-time was proposed by Heisenberg in 1930's, not much later than the quantization of phase space, to cure the ultraviolet divergences of quantum field theory. However, the first paper [2] on Lorentz invariant quantized space-time was given by Snyder in 1947. In his second paper [3], Snyder obtained the equation of motion for the electromagnetic field on the Lorentz invariant quantized space-time.

But it was Bronstein [4] before Snyder who observed that consideration of both quantum mechanics and Einstein's general relativity imposes an upper bound on the density of test body while making a precise measurement of gravitational field and hence a fundamental length scale below which the notion of space-time point i.e. event doesn't make sense. But the success of renormalization techniques rendered the ideas of quantized space-time dormant for many years. However, in 1994 [5, 6], Doplicher *et.al* independently refreshed the idea of quantizing space-time by proposing a Poincare covariant spacetime uncertainty relations at Planck length scales ( $l_p = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar G}{c^3}} \approx 1.616 \times 10^{-33} \text{ cm}$ ), where  $\hbar = 6.582 \times 10^{-16} \text{ eV.s}$  is the reduced Planck constant,  $G = 6.674 \times 10^{-8} \text{ cm}^3 \text{g}^{-1} \text{s}^{-2}$  is the gravitational constant and  $c = 2.997 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm.s}^{-1}$  is the speed of light in vacuum. This was suggested by quantum mechanics and Einstein's theory of gravity as quantum measurement of a spacetime event with accuracy  $\sim l_p$  need a probing particle with Compton wavelength  $\leq l_p$ . This means particle with energy  $E_{l_p} \geq \frac{2\pi\hbar c}{l_p} \approx 2.557 \times 10^{28} \text{ eV}$  which will generate so strong a gravitational

field with the Schwarzschild radius  $R_s = \frac{2GE_{lp}}{c^4} \approx 4.215 \times 10^{-33} \ cm > l_p$  so that a black hole will form and no information will come out. Thus, the idea of quantized space-time is perhaps the main feature of the quantum theory of gravity. Moreover, the non-commutative space-time was found to emerge in string theory [7] at certain low energy limits.

Of the many choices of non-commutativity of the space-time, the simplest one is the canonical one which is the one postulated in [5] and obtained in [7]:

$$[\hat{x}^{\mu}, \hat{x}^{\nu}] = i\Theta^{\mu\nu}; \qquad \mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3.$$
(1.1)

Such spacetime (1.1) is referred to as the non-commutative Moyal space-time  $\mathbb{R}^4_*$  [8] where  $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$  is a constant anti-symmetric matrix; and does not transform like a rank 2 anti-symmetric tensor under Lorentz transformation. Rather, the entries are regarded as new constants of Nature like  $\hbar$ , *c*, *G*, etc [9].

Such type of non-commutativity (1.1) appears in condensed-matter theory also. The classic example being the Landau problem [10] where the projected coordinates of the electrons (moving in a plane subjected to an external transverse magnetic field) on the lowest Landau level do not commute. Thus, the theory of electrons in a strong magnetic field can be thought as a non-commutative field theory and hence it is believed that the theory of quantum Hall effect [11] can also be understood in the framework of non-commutative field theory.

#### 1.1.1 Non-commutative field theory employing star products

The construction of non-commutative field theory is inspired by the phase space formulation of quantum mechanics (deformation quantization) [12] where the quantization of the phase space can be understood as a deformation of the algebra of observables with a new non-commutative product rule, called star-product [13]. This is also called the Wigner-Weyl quantization<sup>1</sup> [14, 15] where there is one-to-one correspondence, called the Wigner-Weyl correspondence, between quantum operators and classical functions of phase space variables (for a review, one can see [12]).

One then consider the space-time on which we want to formulate quantum field theory to be the same flat Euclidean space-time  $\mathbb{R}^4$  but take the algebra of fields  $\mathcal{A}_{\star}(\mathbb{R}^4)$  equipped with the deformed product rule implemented by the star product which can be defined as

$$f \star g = m_{\star}(f \otimes g) := m_0 \circ F^{-1}(f \otimes g), \tag{1.2}$$

where  $m_{\star}$  is the non-commutative multiplication map called the star product,  $m_{\star} : \mathcal{A}_{\star} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{\star} \to \mathcal{A}_{\star}$  and  $m_0$  is the commutative pointwise multiplication map,  $m_0 : \mathcal{A}_0 \otimes \mathcal{A}_0 \to \mathcal{A}_0$ , i.e.,

1 If f(x, y) is a function defined on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , then the Weyl operator  $\hat{W}(f)$  of f is given by

$$\hat{W}(f) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int dx dy \int dk_x dk_y f(x, y) e^{-i(k_x x + k_y y)} e^{i(k_x \hat{x} + k_y \hat{y})} ; \quad [\hat{x}, \hat{y}] = i\theta$$

The inverse of Weyl map gives the Wigner function and Moyal star product appears as  $\hat{W}(f \star g) = \hat{W}(f)\hat{W}(g)$ .

 $m_0(f \otimes g) \mapsto fg$ , while F is the invertible, Drinfel'd twist element [16]. The non-commutative field theories can then be constructed in complete analogy with the corresponding commutative theories except using star-product for multiplication between fields [8, 17].

Note that the choice of star product is not unique. Both Moyal [18] and Voros [19] \*products give the same canonical non-commutative space-time:

$$x^{\mu} \star x^{\nu} - x^{\nu} \star x^{\mu} = i\Theta^{\mu\nu}.$$
(1.3)

The Moyal star product is given by

$$(f \star g)(x) = f(x)e^{\frac{i}{2}\Theta^{\mu\nu}\overleftarrow{\partial}_{\mu}}g(x); \quad \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\mu} \text{ acts on left , } f(x) \text{ and } \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\mu} \text{ acts on right, } g(x) \text{ , (1.4)}$$

for which the corresponding twist element is

$$F = e^{-\frac{i}{2}\Theta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\otimes\partial_{\nu}}.$$
(1.5)

On the other hand, Voros star product, which can be defined mainly in an even dimensional spaces, has a slightly different structure and will be displayed soon. The Moyal star product (1.4) first appeared as the deformed product of two classical functions of phase space variables which corresponds to the product of the symmetrically ordered quantum operators.

An astonishing feature of non-commutative quantum field theory is that it doesn't completely cures the problems associated with the UV divergences rather it shows a mixing of high energy (UV) and low energy (IR) scales, the so-called UV/IR mixing [20, 21] which does not have a commutative counterpart. Also, the Lagrangian of the non-commutative field theory is not Lorentz invariant. This stems from the fact that the basic non-commutative algebra (1.1) is not covariant under the usual relativistic (Lorentz) symmetries of space-time because of the constant matrix  $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$ . Equivalently, we can consider the transformation property of scalar field  $\phi(x)$  under homogeneous Lorentz transformation [22]:

$$x^{\mu} \to x'^{\mu} = \Lambda^{\mu} {}_{\nu} x^{\nu} \implies \phi \to \phi^{\Lambda}(x) = U(\Lambda)\phi(x) = \phi(\Lambda^{-1}x), \tag{1.6}$$

where  $U(\Lambda)$  is the unitary representation of this Lorentz transformation on the space of scalar fields. Then, the automorphism symmetry for a pair of arbitrary scalar fields  $\phi_1(x)$ and  $\phi_2(x)$  under the above transformation (1.6) is found to be broken:

$$(\phi_1^{\Lambda} \star_M \phi_2^{\Lambda})(x) \neq (\phi_1 \star_M \phi_2)^{\Lambda}(x).$$

$$(1.7)$$

However, the automorphism symmetry can be recovered by deforming the co-product  $\Delta_0(\Lambda) \rightarrow$  $\Delta_{\star}(\Lambda) = F \Delta_0(\Lambda) F^{-1}$  (see appendix A), with

$$\Delta_0(\Lambda) = U(\Lambda) \otimes U(\Lambda), \tag{1.8}$$

3

being the undeformed co-product and here the twist element can be written as  $F = e^{\frac{i}{2}\Theta^{\mu\nu}P_{\mu}\otimes P_{\nu}}$ where  $P_{\mu}$  are the generators of translations, so that

$$m_{\star} \Big( \Delta_{\star}(\Lambda)(\phi_1 \otimes \phi_2) \Big) = U(\Lambda) \circ \big( m_{\star}(\phi_1 \otimes \phi_2) \big).$$
(1.9)

The resulting algebra of scalar fields is the twisted Poincare algebra [23, 24] with the twisted co-products:

$$\Delta_{\star}(P_{\mu}) = \Delta_{0}(P_{\mu}) \equiv P_{\mu} \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes P_{\mu}$$

$$\Delta_{\star}(M_{\mu\nu}) = M_{\mu\nu} \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes M_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \Theta^{\gamma\delta} [(\eta_{\gamma\mu}P_{\nu} - \eta_{\gamma\nu}P_{\mu}) \otimes P_{\delta} + P_{\gamma} \otimes (\eta_{\delta\mu}P_{\nu} - \eta_{\delta\nu}P_{\mu})],$$
(1.10)

where  $M_{\mu\nu}$  are the Lorentz generators and  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  is the flat space-time metric. Thus, the symmetries of non-commutative space-time cannot be captured by group structure but by quantum group [25] which is not a group by itself but a twisted Hopf algebra (see appendix A). The twisting of the co-product leads to the notion of twisted statistics in non-commutative physics [26]. Further, it was shown in [27] that the twisted fermions violate the Pauli exclusion principle by computing the two-particle correlation function, employing the Moyal star product, for a canonical ensemble of free gas.

As mentioned above, one can also define another star product, called the Voros star product [19] which comes from the weighted Weyl map<sup>2</sup> [30–32]. This associates product of normal ordered quantum operators to the deformed product(Voros star product) of classical functions on the phase space variables. The inverse of weighted Weyl map is Wigner's distribution function, smoothened with a gaussian function. It is non-negative in all quantum states [33] and is as wide or wider than the minimum uncertainty wave packet [34].

In order to compare the Moyal and Voros \*-products, let us consider 2 + 1 non-commutative space-time for which  $\Theta^{0\alpha} = 0$ ,  $\alpha = 1, 2$  and since  $\Theta^{00} = 0$  identically we can write  $\Theta^{\alpha\beta} = \theta \ \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}$ , where  $\epsilon^{12} = 1 = -\epsilon^{21}$  and  $\theta$  is a constant. Here,  $\theta$  is the non-commutative or deformation parameter of dimension length squared. On such space-time, one can define two deformed algebra of functions viz  $\mathcal{A}^M_{\star}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^V_{\star}$  with the following twist elements respectively for the non-commutative multiplication map (1.2),

$$F^{M} = e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta(\partial_{1}\otimes\partial_{2} - \partial_{2}\otimes\partial_{1})} \quad \text{and} \quad F^{V} = e^{\frac{\theta}{2}(\partial_{1}\otimes\partial_{1} + \partial_{2}\otimes\partial_{2})}F^{M} = F^{M}e^{\frac{\theta}{2}(\partial_{1}\otimes\partial_{1} + \partial_{2}\otimes\partial_{2})}.$$
(1.11)

Thus, the Voros star product between two arbitrary functions can be written as

$$f \star_V g = f e^{\frac{i}{2} \left( \Theta^{\alpha\beta} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\alpha} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\beta} - i\theta \delta^{\alpha\beta} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\alpha} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\beta} \right)} g = f e^{\frac{i}{2} \Theta_V^{\alpha\beta} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\alpha} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\beta}} g = f e^{\overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{z}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{z}} g , \qquad (1.12)$$

2 For function  $\phi(z, \bar{z})$  on complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ , its weighted Weyl map is given by [28, 29]

$$\hat{W}_V(\phi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int dz d\bar{z} \int d\eta d\bar{\eta} \phi(z,\bar{z}) e^{-\eta \bar{z} + \bar{\eta} z} e^{\theta \eta \hat{a}^\dagger} e^{-\theta \bar{\eta} \hat{a}} ; \quad [\hat{a}, \hat{a}^\dagger] = \theta .$$

The inverse of this map is represented by  $\phi(z, \bar{z}) = \langle z | \hat{W}_V(\phi) | z \rangle$  where  $\hat{a} | z \rangle = z | z \rangle$  and the Voros star product appears as  $\hat{W}_V(\phi \star_V \psi) = \hat{W}_V(\phi) \hat{W}_V(\psi)$  such that  $\phi \star_V \psi = \langle z | \hat{W}_V(\phi) \hat{W}_V(\psi) | z \rangle$ .

where, 
$$\Theta_V^{\alpha\beta} = \theta \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} - i\theta \delta^{\alpha\beta}$$
 is the non-commutative Voros matrix ; (1.13)

and 
$$z = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(x^1 + ix^2)$$
,  $\bar{z} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(x^1 - ix^2)$  (1.14)

are the dimensionless complex variables.

These two deformed algebras  $\mathcal{A}^M_{\star}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^V_{\star}$  are connected [35–37] by an non-invertible linear map  $T : \mathcal{A}^M_{\star} \to \mathcal{A}^V_{\star}$  [38] such that

$$T(f \star_M g)(x) = [(Tf) \star_V (Tg)](x) \text{ and } T(f^*) = (Tf)^* \text{ where } T = e^{\frac{\theta}{4}\nabla^2}.$$
 (1.15)

It was shown in [38] that this *T*-map is not invertible on the space of square-integrable or even Schwartz class functions on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . This was shown by considering a Gaussian function  $f(x) = e^{-\frac{x^2}{\alpha^2}}$  which yields, on the action of  $T^{-1}$ ,

$$T^{-1}f(x) = \frac{\alpha^2}{4\pi} \int d^2 p \ e^{-\frac{1}{4}(\alpha^2 - \theta)\vec{p}^2 + i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}}.$$
(1.16)

Clearly, for  $\alpha < \sqrt{\theta}$ , the above integral does not exist and hence  $T^{-1}$  exists only for a class of Schwartz functions which are smooth on the small length scales ( $\leq \sqrt{\theta}$ ). Thus, different deformed algebras  $\mathcal{A}^M_{\star}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^V_{\star}$  define inequivalent representations of a quantum system which explain the inequivalence results between non-commutative field theories employing Moyal and Voros  $\star$ -products obtained in [36, 37]. Moreover, there are infinitely many star products [39] for different non-commutative space-times and so one has to be very careful about the choice of the star product.

Let us now promote the position coordinates of a non-commutative space-time to the level of operators but retaining time coordinate as *c*-number and consider only the non-commutative space at some time *t*. In other words, we put  $\Theta^{0i} = 0$  for simplicity and not because of any claimed violation of unitarity [40] in the case  $\Theta^{0i} \neq 0$ . In fact, it has been proved quite conclusively in [41] that there is no violation even when  $\Theta^{0i} \neq 0$ .

#### 1.1.2 Non-commutative quantum mechanics: Operator method

One can define non-commutative space in many ways [42] and some spaces which are relatively simple and have been widely studied are as follows:

1. Moyal Plane  $(\mathbb{R}^2_{\star})$  : -  $[\hat{x}^{\alpha}, \hat{x}^{\beta}] = i\theta \ \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}$ ; (note that  $\alpha, \beta = 1, 2$ ); (1.17)

2. 3D Moyal space 
$$(\mathbb{R}^3_*)$$
 :  $- [\hat{x}^i, \hat{x}^j] = i\theta^{ij} = i\epsilon^{ijk}\theta^k$ ;  $i, j, k = 1, 2, 3$ ; (1.18)

3. Fuzzy Sphere 
$$(\mathbb{R}^3_{\theta_f})$$
 :  $[\hat{x}^i, \hat{x}^j] = i\theta_f \epsilon^{ijk} \hat{x}^k, \ \theta_f$  is another constant<sup>3</sup> (1.19)

and a fixed value of the Casimir.

<sup>3</sup> Note that  $\theta$  has the dimension of length squared but  $\theta_f$  has the dimension of length.

Although non-commutative field theories have been extensively studied (see [8, 17] and references there in) using the star products, quantum mechanics on Moyal plane (1.17) and fuzzy sphere (1.19) were first studied in [43] without using any star product but a complete operator method. However, the complete operatorial formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics on Moyal plane with the proper concepts of classical configuration space or more precisely, an auxilliary Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_c$  furnishing a representation of just the non-commutative algebra (1.17). Note that this coordinate algebra is a sub-algebra of the entire noncommutative Heisenberg algebra, obtained by augmenting the above mentioned coordinate algebra with the ones involving linear momentum operators:

$$[\hat{P}_{\alpha}, \hat{P}_{\beta}] = 0; \quad [\hat{X}_{\alpha}, \hat{P}_{\beta}] = i\delta_{\alpha\beta}; \quad (\text{putting } \hbar = 1).$$
 (1.20)

On the contrary, the Hilbert space furnishing a representation of the entire Heisenberg algebra is the quantum Hilbert space and was first developed in [44, 45]. In this formalism, the quantum states are represented by Hilbert-Schmidt operators<sup>4</sup> acting on classical configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_c$  and has the structure of Boson Fock space. Thus, this operatorial formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics is referred to as the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics. This formalism for Moyal plane (1.17), 3D Moyal space (1.18) and fuzzy sphere (1.19) will be reviewed in the next chapter 2. The eigenvalue problem for the infinite and finite non-commutative spherical wells in Moyal plane was solved in [44] where the time reversal symmetry was found to be broken. Further, the eigenvalue problem of free particle and harmonic oscillator on Moyal plane were solved in [45, 46]. A very important observation made in [45] in the context of harmonic oscillator is the fact that the spread of the ground state wave packet cannot be squeezed below the length-scale  $\sqrt{\theta}$  even in the limit of infinitely steep potential well ( $\omega \rightarrow \infty$ ). This displays the fact that the noncommutativity can indeed play a role in preventing a potential gravitational collapse in the localization process as mentioned earlier. Of course, all these solutions reduce to the standard results in the commutaive limit. The generalization of non-commutative quantum mechanics to 3D Moyal space in the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism was given in [47] where the breaking of SO(3) symmetry was observed in presence of interaction, despite its restoration at the level of coordinate algebra through the deformed co-product (1.10). The Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism for the case of fuzzy sphere (1.19), which has an SO(3)symmetry, was first developed in [48] where the Coulomb problem of non-commutative quantum mechanics was solved. In [49], the Schrödinger equation for the free particle, finite and infinite fuzzy wells on fuzzy sphere was solved using the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics.

On a non-commutative space, since the position operators do not commute, the notion of position, at best, can be preserved using the minimal uncertainty state through the use of coherent states [45]. In the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics on Moyal plane, two types of position bases are defined, viz Moyal and

<sup>4</sup> Weyl operators corresponding to the square-integrable functions.

Voros position bases [38], corresponding to the Voros and Moyal \*-products. The inequivalence between Voros and Moyal position bases in this operator formalism was shown in [38] by demonstrating the non-invertibility of *T*-map (1.15), as mentioned earlier. And when invertible they are related by a similarity transformation, as Voros basis is not orthonormal, in contrast to Moyal basis. This inequivalence was also demonstrated explicitly by computing the free particle transition amplitudes through path integral formalism given in [50]. It is shown in [45] that the Voros position basis is the only physical basis in Moyal plane as it conforms to the positive operator valued measure (POVM) [51] and it is the minimal uncertainty state in Moyal plane. However, the Moyal position basis is found to be the simultaneous eigenstates of the unphysical, commuting position operator  $\hat{X}^{\alpha}_{c}$  which is related to the physical position operator  $\hat{X}^{\alpha}$  as

$$\hat{X}_{c}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{X}_{L}^{\alpha} + \hat{X}_{R}^{\alpha} \right) = \hat{X}^{\alpha} + \frac{\theta}{2} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \hat{P}_{\beta} .$$
(1.21)

Note that we denote by  $\hat{X}_L^{\alpha}$  and  $\hat{X}_R^{\alpha}$  the left and right action of the position operator  $\hat{X}^{\alpha}$  on the quantum state. The Voros and Moyal position bases on 3D Moyal space (1.18) were introduced in [47] where the Moyal basis is still the eigenstate of the commuting position operator in 3D

$$\hat{X}_{c}^{i} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{X}_{L}^{i} + \hat{X}_{R}^{i} \right) = \hat{X}^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \theta^{ij} \hat{P}_{j}.$$
(1.22)

Thus, we study the properties of Voros position basis and the issue of maximal localization of a single particle in 3D Moyal space in this thesis. This has been pursued by using the symplectic invariant formulation of uncertainty relation in the 2*n*-dimensional phase space:

$$\det V \ge \frac{1}{4^n} \quad , \tag{1.23}$$

through the computation of the variance matrix *V*. Since the symplectic invariant uncertainty relation in phase space for non-commutative case is not known, we apply the commutative relation (1.23) after getting commutative variance matrix ( $V^0$ ) from the non-commutative variance matrix  $V^{\theta}$  by using (1.22).

The twisted statistics on Moyal plane have been well studied by using star products [26, 27]. However, this twisted statistics for 3D Moyal space in the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism was not studied earlier. We have studied this in this thesis by extending the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism on 3D Moyal space to many-particle system and then carrying out the second quantization. Then, there arises two types of bases in the momentum space of many-particle system: the twisted basis and the so-called "quasi-commutative" basis. The twisted basis yields the twisted statistics but the quasi-commutative basis yields the usual statistics of commutative case and hence the name quasi-commutative. Thus, on 3D Moyal space, we have two momentum bases and also two types of position bases (Voros and Moyal) which can be expressed in terms of these momentum bases. Then considering a canonical ensemble of free gas consisting of a pair of identical particles in 3D Moyal space, we compute the two-particle correlation functions corresponding to twisted Voros and Moyal bases and quasi-commutative Voros and Moyal bases. The inequivalence between Voros and Moyal position bases become more transparent from the expressions of correlation functions for each case apart from a deformation in the thermal wavelength. Also, from these computations the thermal effective potential [52] on 3D Moyal space are plotted for different bases [53] and the comparison between commutative and non-commutative statistics have been made.

#### **1.2 NON-COMMUTATIVE GEOMETRY**

After a reliable formulation of quantum mechanics on non-commutative spaces (1.17) and (1.19), we would like to study the geometry of such spaces. Clearly, the usual techniques of Euclidean and Riemannian geometry cannot be applied on such spaces as they lack the notion of points and paths, in particular geodesics. Thus, to define geometry on such spaces we will follow the standard approach of non-commutative geometry formulated by Alian Connes [1, 54]. This is the most generalized mathematical approach to study the geometry of non-commutative spaces by extracting the informations from the algebraic structures defined on the space.

The idea of non-commutative geometry [1] is motivated by the well known Gelfand Naimark theorem [55] and John von Neumann's works on the mathematical theory of quantum mechanics [56]. The Gelfand Naimark theorem gives a duality between topological structure and algebraic structure defined on some set X. According to this theorem [55], the category of compact Hausdorff topological spaces with the continuous maps as morphisms is dual or anti-equivalent to the category of unital commutative C\*-algebras (algebras of continuous complexvalued functions) with the unital \*-homomorphisms (for the definitions, if needed, see appendix C). This is still valid for locally compact spaces for which the morphisms are continuous proper maps corresponding to the proper \*-homomorphisms between non-unital commutative C<sup>\*</sup>-algebras [57]. This means given a commutative C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  we can associates a *c*-number to each element of  $\mathcal{A}$  by defining a character  $\mu(a)^5$  or spectrum  $\sigma(a)$  or state  $\omega(a)$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}$  (see appendix C). Then, the character space  $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$  or spectrum  $\Sigma(\mathcal{A})$  or space of pure states  $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{A})$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  (these spaces are all isomorphic to each other for commutative  $C^*$ -algebras) will have a relative topology (Gelfand topology) induced by the norm topology defined on the dual of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}^*$ . Thus, if the commutative  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is the algebra C(X) of continuous complex-valued functions defined on a Hausdorff topological space X, then we have the Gelfand Naimark duality:

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}) \cong X$$
;  $C(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})) \cong C(X).$  (1.24)

Further, it is possible to get the information of a vector bundle E(X) on a compact Hausdorff topological space *X* from the space of sections  $\Gamma(E(X))$  which form module over the

<sup>5</sup> We have put all the definitions in appendix C



Figure 1.1: Pictorial representation of Gelfand Naimark Theorem.

commutative  $C^*$ -algebra C(X) on X. This is given by the Swan theorem [58] which states that the category of complex vector bundles on a compact Hausdorff space is equivalent to the category of finitely generated projective modules over the unital commutative  $C^*$ -algebra (this statement is taken from [57]).

This duality between topological spaces and commutative  $C^*$ -algebras can be extended to include the non-commutative  $C^*$ -algebras and hence one can talk about the "non-commutative space" dual to an arbitrary  $C^*$ -algebra. In [59, 60], Woronowiz extended the Gelfand Naimark theorem for non-commutative  $C^*$ -algebra where he referred the corresponding space as "psuedospace or quantum space" and hence "Non-commutative Gelfand Naimark theorem". Note that a non-commutative  $C^*$ -algebra has few characters. For example, the algebra  $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ of  $n \times n$  complex matrices have no character at all [61] so that the space corresponding to such algebra has few points. But one can still define the spectrum of  $M_n(\mathbb{C})$  matrices and the states on  $M_n(\mathbb{C})$  so that the pure states of the  $C^*$ -algebra play the role of points on a generalized space. In this way, by studying the algebraic structures defined on some space X, we can extract the topological informations of X or vice versa. Thus, one can have the following dictionary 1.1 between the spaces and the algebras defined on such spaces [62].

By the second Gelfand Naimark theorem, given a separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  with the algebra  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  of bounded operators on  $\mathcal{H}$  with an operator norm, any norm closed subalgebra

Space	Algebra
Compact Hausdorff topological space	Unital commutative C*-algebra
Locally compact Hausdorff topological space	commutative C*-algebra
Continuous map	*-homomorphism
Homomorphism	Automorphism
Open set	Ideal
Closed set	Quotient algebra
Point	Pure state
Vector bundle	Finitely generated projective module
Non-commutative space	Non-commutative C*-algebra

Table 1.1: Dictionary of duality between space and algebra

of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is a separable *C*\*-algebra. Thus, we can describe all *C*\*-algebras as operators acting on some Hilbert space.

In this way, given a C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  we get the non-commutative topology on the space  $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ of states but to study the geometry of  $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ , we have to define the differential structures on  $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ . Getting hint from Milnor's works [63] where he found that all the information about a compact Riemannian manifold M cannot be extracted just from the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator on *M*. Rather, the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}^{6}$  plays a more fundamental role. Thus, Connes introduced the so-called "Spectral triple"  $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{D})$  [64] consisting of an involutive algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , through a representation  $\pi$ , with an unbounded, self adjoint operator  $\mathcal{D}$  which is the generalized Dirac operator. The spectral triple with certain axioms [65] will generalize the notions of manifolds (topological spaces with additional structures) and differential geometry. Thus, a spectral triple defines a 'non-commutative manifold', where the algebra A will give the information about the topological properties and the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}$  will give the geometric informations. In this way, one can talk about the "quantized differential calculus" called "Non-commutative differential geometry" [64] of a quantized space using algebraic objects defined on the space. Moreover, Connes gave a distance formula called the "Spectral distance" which generalizes the notion of geodesic distance without invoking any path but given in terms of the normalized positive functionals i.e. states  $\omega$ 's on the algebra, under certain conditions (this has been reviewed in chapter 5), as

$$d(\omega',\omega) = \sup_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \{ |\omega'(a) - \omega(a)| : \|[\mathcal{D},\pi(a)]\| \le 1 \}.$$
(1.25)

This exactly gives the geodesic distance of the compact Riemannian spin manifold *M* when computed between the pure states  $\delta(x) = \omega_x(f)$  and  $\delta(y) = \omega_y(f)$  of the algebra  $\mathcal{A} =$ 

<sup>6</sup> Dirac operator is obtained by contracting the covariant derivative on the spinor module via the Clifford multiplication and is more fundamental than the Laplace operator since by Lichnerowicz formula,  $D^2 = \Delta + \frac{s}{4}$  where  $\Delta$  is the Laplacian and *s* is the scalar curvature.

 $C^{\infty}(M)$ ,  $(f \in A)$  of smooth functions on M where the commutative spectral triple consists of  $(A = C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H} = L^2(M, S), \mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D})$  with  $L^2(M, S)$  being the Hilbert space of square integrable spinors, S is the spinor bundle over M and  $\mathcal{D}$  is the usual Dirac operator of compact Riemannian spin manifold M. Thus, without introducing any concept of space, points, curves, surfaces (which may not simply exist at the length scale of quantum gravity where we believe the natural structure of Minkowski space-time will break down) but by just studying the algebra of observables which is a  $C^*$ -algebra, we would be able to extract all the possible geometric information about the quantized space-time.

One should note that the language of non-commutative geometry has been successfully used to prove that the Hall conductivity is quantized in integer quantum Hall effect [66]. More significantly a non-commutative geometrical formulation unifying the Einstein's general theory of relativity with the Standard model of particle physics as a pure gravity theory of a non-commutative manifold called an 'almost commutative manifold'  $M \times F$  where M is the compact Riemanniam spin manifold and F is an internal "discrete" space and described by finite rank matrices having a non-trivial inner-automorphism group, which in turn describes the gauge contents of the particle theory as was shown in [65, 67]. This was eventually used to post-dict the Higgs mass of 125 GeV [68]. The idea of introducing an almost commutative manifold is somewhat like the Kaluza-Klein theory [69] which succesfully unified the Einstein's gravity theory with that of electromagnetism with group U(1)or for that matter any gauge theory with group G at the classical level by introducing an internal compact manifold, in the form of a circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$  or a suitable coset space G/H [70, 71]. In contrast, Connes's idea is to replace the internal compact manifold in each point of the spacetime by the discrete space F described by finite rank matrices and of zero dimension and carrying the non-commutative structure. This stems from the fact that the total action

$$S_t = S_E + S_{SM}$$
;  $S_E \rightarrow$  Einstein-Hilbert action and  $S_{SM} \rightarrow$  Standard model action, (1.26)

of the particle theory living on a general space-time has the symmetry group, given by the semi-direct product  $\mathcal{G} \rtimes Diff(M)$ , of the gauge group  $\mathcal{G}$  of all maps, i.e.,  $\mathcal{G} : M \to SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$  of  $S_{SM}$  and Diff(M) being the symmetry of  $S_E$ . By a mathematical result obtained in [72, 73], we know that Diff(M) of a differential manifold M cannot have a non-trival normal subgroup. If there exists a manifold X for which the diffeomorphism group is  $\mathcal{G} \rtimes Diff(M)$ , then clearly X cannot be a usual differentiable manifold as it contains the normal subgroup  $\mathcal{G}$ . However, if we consider a "non-commutative manifold" corresponding to a non-commutative algebra, clearly the automorphism group of the algebra contains a non-trival normal subgroup called the inner automorphism group and hence corresponds to non-trival normal subgroup of the symmetry of the non-commutative manifold. This captures the gauge content of the theory. Hence, unification of the Einstein's gravity and the Standard model of the particle physics can be made possible only if the total space where both theories live is non-commutative. One should note that this unification is purely classical in the sense that we are taking Einstein's gravity and the quantization of this pure

gravity theory is yet to be obtained. It is generally believed that the quantization of such theory can be achieved if we consider a truly non-commutative manifold  $M_* \times F$ , where  $M_*$  is a non-commutative space-time. This motivates us to study the non-commutative space-time and its geometry from the standard approach of non-commutative geometry. However, in this thesis we would like to study the metric properties of the most widely studied non-commutative spaces viz Moyal plane and Fuzzy sphere.

As we have mentioned earlier, the way (mostly taken) for studying non-commutative spaces is by considering it as a deformation of commutative ones. For example, Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$  is the deformation of Euclidean plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2_{\star}$  that of the 2-sphere  $S^2$ . It was shown in [74] that  $\mathbb{A}^2_{\star} = (S(\mathbb{R}^2), \star_M)$  is the corresponding deformed algebra of the Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$ , where  $S(\mathbb{R}^2)$  is the space of Schwartz functions (smooth and rapidly decreasing functions on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) and  $\star_M$  is the Moyal star product. The corresponding spectral triple using Moyal star product for the Moyal plane has been obtained in [75]:

$$\left(\mathcal{A}_{\star_{M}}=(S(\mathbb{R}^{2}),\star_{M}), \ \mathcal{H}_{\star_{M}}=L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})\otimes\mathbb{C}^{2}, \ \mathcal{D}_{\star_{M}}=-i\sigma_{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha}\right),$$
(1.27)

where  $\mathcal{D}_{\star_M}$  is the Dirac operator of ordinary Euclidean plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  as this spectral triple (1.27) is just the isospectral deformation of the commutative spectral triple of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  [76]. Then the Connes' spectral distance on the Moyal plane is computed in [77, 78] using the spectral triple (1.27). As we have already mentioned that the different choices of star products may lead to different results, the algorithm (adaptable to the framework of Hilbert-Schimdt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics) of computing infinitesimal Connes' spectral distance between any pair of normal states represented by density matrices given in [79] seem to be a better approach to determine the metric properties of Moyal plane.

The algorithm of finding Connes' spectral distance given in [79] defines the distance between pure density matrices which represent the pure normal states so that the generalization to mixed states can be easily made. The infinitesimal distance between two neighbouring pure density matrices using the simplified formula given in [79] has the same structure as that of the induced metric from the Hilbert space inner product obtained in [80]. Further, in this approach [79], vectors  $|\psi\rangle$ 's on the classical configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_c$  have one-to-one correspondence with the corresponding pure density matrices  $\rho_c = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$  acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c$ . Since the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q$  has the tensor product structure  $\mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathcal{H}_c^*$ , the elements of  $\mathcal{H}_q$ can have either diagonal form  $|\psi,\psi\rangle \equiv ||\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\rangle^7$  or off-diagonal form  $|\psi,\phi\rangle \equiv ||\psi\rangle\langle\phi|$ . This implies that there is one-to-one correspondence of diagonal states  $|\psi, \psi\rangle$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  with the pure density matrices  $\rho_q = |\psi, \psi\rangle(\psi, \psi)$  acting on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  and also with the states  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$  but the off-diagonal states  $|\psi, \phi\rangle$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  have one-to-one correspondence with the pure density matrices  $\rho'_q = |\psi, \phi\rangle(\psi, \phi)$  but many-to-one correspondence with states  $|\psi\rangle, |\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$ . This feature of non-commutative quantum mechanics doesn't have commutative counterparts and hence makes the quantum Hilbert space interesting. This amounts to the presence of additional degrees of freedom on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q$  of a non-commutative system [81].

<sup>7</sup> We denote element of  $\mathcal{H}_c$  by angle ket  $|\psi\rangle$  and that of  $\mathcal{H}_q$  by round ket  $|\psi\rangle$ 

We can briefly describe this additional degrees of freedom by considering states which have off-diagonal form, particularly,  $|z, \phi\rangle = |z\rangle\langle\phi|$ , where  $\langle\phi|$  is arbitrary. For such states, we have  $\langle \hat{X}_1 \rangle_{|z,\phi\rangle} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}}(z+\bar{z})$   $(z = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(x_1+ix_2)$  which indicates the insensitivity of position measurements on the right sector of the position eigenstates  $|z, \phi\rangle$ . Moreover, as shown in [81] this variable  $\phi$  calculaterizing the right sector of the position eigenstates  $|z, \phi\rangle$  can be used to decompose the Voros star product as follows:

$$|z) \star_{V} (z| = \sum_{\phi} |z, \phi)(z, \phi|.$$
(1.28)

Thus, the additional structure of non-commutative quantum system is manifested in this operator formalism.

In [79], computation of infinitesimal Connes' spectral distance between mixed states  $\rho_q(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |z, n| (z, n)$  representing the position of a particle localized at a generalized point  $(x_1, x_2)$ ) on the quantum Hilbert space of Moyal plane is done using the simplified formula. The effect of additional degrees of freedom shows up in this spectral distance on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  which manifests a connection between the statistics and geometry on Moyal plane. This feature has been checked on fuzzy sphere [82] showing that this is a generic feature of non-commutative spaces.

However, this algorithm works for only infinitesimal distance between discrete normal states and give the exact infinitesimal distance between coherent states up to a numerical factor. Besides, in the absence of any geodesic in a generic non-commutative space, the infinitesimal distance cannot simply be integrated to compute finite distance. This motivates us to improve the algorithm [79] of computing finite Connes' spectral distance for any pair of normal states without using any star products and check the interesting consequences on quantum Hilbert space of fuzzy sphere. Thus, we extend this algorithm to compute finite distance Connes' spectral distance between any pair of normal states on non-commutative spaces, both for Moyal plane and fuzzy sphere.

Fuzzy sphere was first introduced in [83]. It can be understood by studying the algebraic properties of the commutative 2-sphere  $S^2$ . Let  $C(S^2)$  be the algebra of complex-valued functions on  $S^2$  where each element  $f(x^i)$  has a polynomial expansion in  $x^i$ :

$$f(x^{i}) = f_{0} + f_{i}x^{i} + \frac{1}{2}f_{ij}x^{i}x^{j} + \dots;$$
 where  $f_{ijk...}$  are some constants. (1.29)

Here, one can construct a sequence of approximations to function  $f(x^i) \in C(\mathbb{S}^2)$  and such approximations will yield the fuzzy sphere. For example, if we truncate (1.29) to constant term  $f_0$  the algebra  $C(\mathbb{S}^2)$  reduces to the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathbb{C}$  yielding the geometry of a single point. The truncation of (1.29) after  $f_i$  term can lead us to two ways of getting the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_2$ , which is a 4*D*-vector space, from  $C(\mathbb{S}^2)$ . If we choose  $\mathcal{A}_2 = \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}$ , this algebra is commutative and it will describes the geometry of sphere with four points where there is no rotational invariance. But to keep the rotational invariance, we can choose the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_2 = M_2(\mathbb{C})$ , the algebra of complex 2 × 2 matrices. Clearly, this algebra  $M_2(\mathbb{C})$  is noncommutative and describes the geometry of sphere with two points: North pole and South pole. This is the fuzzy sphere with maximal fuzziness but with rotational symmetry. The next truncation of (1.29) after  $f_{ij}$  term gives a set of functions  $\mathcal{A}_3$  which is nine-dimensional vector space because of the constraint  $x^i x_i = r^2$ . One can define a new product in  $x^i$  such that we get the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_3 = M_3(\mathbb{C})$  [83]. This algebra describes the fuzzy sphere where we can distinguish three points: Equator, North pole and South pole. In this way, we can get a series of algebras  $\mathcal{A}_{2j+1}$  with  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^+/2$  describing a series of fuzzy spheres  $\{\mathbb{S}_j^2\}$  such that the commutative sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$  is recovered when  $j \to \infty$ .

Note that the quantization of commutative 2-sphere  $S^2$  i.e. fuzzy sphere  $S^2_{\star}$  (1.19) can be represented from the phase-space formulation of quantum mechanics for spinning particles [84]. In the ordinary formulation of quantum mechanics, the *j*-spin is represented by operators acting on Hilbert space  $\mathbb{C}^{2j+1}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^+/2$ . We know that  $S^2$  is an orbit of SU(2) and  $\mathbb{C}^{2j+1}$  carries an irreducible representation of SU(2) such that an extended Wigner-Weyl correspondence [85] can be established between operators acting on  $\mathbb{C}^{2j+1}$  and functions on  $S^2$  just like in case of Moyal plane. Similarly, here we can consider two bases on  $\mathbb{C}^{2j+1}$ : the eigenvectors  $|j,m\rangle$  of the Casimir operator  $\hat{x}^2 = \hat{x}_1^2 + \hat{x}_2^2 + \hat{x}_3^2$  and  $\hat{x}_3$  which we will refer to as the discrete basis of fuzzy sphere; and the coherent states of SU(2) [86], referred to as the continuous basis of fuzzy sphere. We will study the properties of the fuzzy sphere using these two type of bases.

In order to define a legimate spectral triple on fuzzy sphere, we need to define the Dirac operator for fuzzy sphere. Fuzzy sphere is the isospectral deformation of commutative 2-sphere [76] which can be understood from the extended Wigner-Weyl correspondence. Using the coherent states of SU(2), i.e. the continuous basis of fuzzy sphere, the construction of non-commutative manifold as a non-commutative analog of homogeneous space<sup>8</sup> was obtained in [87]. Moreover, the Dirac operator of fuzzy sphere was obtained in [88] by defining the fuzzy analog of spinor bundle over 2-sphere. Then a legimate spectral triple on fuzzy sphere is given in [89] where the metric properties of fuzzy sphere are studied using Connes' spectral distance formula. However, the computation of Connes' spectral distance is generally very involved. So we would like to first modify the simpler algorithm [79] to enable us to compute finite Connes' spectral distance between normal states on fuzzy sphere which is adaptable to the Hilbert-Shmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics.

Once again we should note that on non-commutative spaces, the notion of points is served by the pure states of the algebra in the spectral triple and the role of geodesic distance is played the Connes' spectral distance. And the integration of infinitesimal Connes' spectral distance between continuous pure states may/may not yield the finite Connes' spectral distance as interpolating states may turn out to be mixed, rather than pure. Consequently, the notion of classical geodesic may not survive in non-commutative spaces.

<sup>8</sup> A space *X* with transitive group action by a Lie group *G*, i.e. for any  $x, y \in X$  there exists  $g \in G$  such that gx = y.

#### 1.3 PLAN OF THE THESIS

The thesis is divided into two parts after the introduction. The part *I* deals with the noncommutative quantum mechanics studied in a pure operator method called the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism where the use of any star product is avoided. The part *II* deals with the studies of metric properties of non-commutative spaces using the power of spectral triple method of non-commutative geometry which is adapted to the above mentioned operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics.

In chapter 2 of part *I*, we have reviewed the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of noncommutative quantum mechanics for Moyal plane, 3D Moyal space and fuzzy sphere where necessary distinctions between the classical configuration space and quantum Hilbert space are made. The difference of two position bases corresponding to two choices of star products viz Moyal and Voros star products on Moyal plane and 3D Moyal space is highlighted.

In chapter 3 of part *I*, we have first reviewed the symplectic invariant uncertainty relation in 2*n*-dimensional phase space. Then, we have computed the non-commutative variance matrix in the Voros position basis on 6D phase space for 3D Moyal space. By transforming it into the corresponding commutative variance matrix using the relation (1.22), we have shown that the Voros position basis on 3D Moyal space is maximally localized on 6D phase space but not in 3D coordinate space as there exists non-Voros states for which the uncertainty in position coordinates is lower than that one computed using Voros states.

In chapter 4 of part *I*, the extension of operator method of non-commutative quantum mechanics to many-particle system has been discussed. Due to the deformation of co-product (1.10) acting on the multi-particle states under the symmetry transformation of 3D Moyal space, the notion of twisted bases and the corresponding twisted statistics arise. This leads to the violation of Pauli exclusion principle for twisted fermions which can be understood by computing the two-particle correlation functions of canonical free gas. However, one can also construct a quasi-commutative basis which recovers the Pauli exclusion principle, along with rotational SO(3) symmetry.

Chapter 5 of part *II* gives a brief review of spectral triple formalism of non-commutative geometry. We have provided a brief summary of spin geometry of a compact Riemannian manifold discussed extensively in [90, 91]. We have also reviewed the computation of Connes' spectral distance on a compact Riemannian spin manifold which exactly gives the geodesic distance. Also, we have given some examples of computation for spaces like Real line  $\mathbb{R}$ , two-point space which consists of only two points and also  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ , the space of states of complex  $2 \times 2$  matrices. Moreover, here we have reviewed the construction of coherent states for Moyal plane and fuzzy sphere as we will compute the spectral distances on their respective homogeneous spaces.

In chapter 6 of part *II*, we have re-visted the spectral triple of Moyal plane defined in [79], adaptable to the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism. Here, we have obtained the most generalized Connes' distance formula for any pair of normal states. However, this formula

is not user-freindly except for some cases. So, we follow up the procedures given in [77, 78] to compute the finite spectral distance in Moyal plane. In [78], the spectral distance between a pair of coherent states on Moyal plane is found to be bounded above by the geodesic distance on the complex plane. An optimal element  $a_s$  which saturates this bound is found to be one which does not belong to the algebra but which is a limit point of a sequence of algebra elements and can be regarded as an element belonging to the multiplier algebra. In our approach, we have obtained such a sequence of elements as projected elements on the representation space of the aglebra which is spanned by the eigenspinors of Dirac operator. Such projected elements are trace-class operators and satisfy the ball condition. Hence, we find that the spectral distance between a pair of coherent states on Moyal plane is the geodesic distance on the complex plane. Moreover, we can get the finite distance by integrating the infinitesimal ones and thus the notion of conventional geodesic still exists [92]. Further, we have reviewed the infinitesimal spectral distance between discrete mixed states on the quantum Hilbert space of Moyal plane, obtained in [79], which reveals a connection between statistics and geometry.

Chapter 7 of part II deals with the computation of Connes' spectral distance on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_i^2$  with a fixed radius  $r_i = \theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}$ . For these, we have followed up the same prescription done for Moyal plane. However, it is worth noting that the computation of operator norm, which gives the ball condition, using the eigenspinors of Dirac operator gets very much simplified here. We have obtained both the infinitesimal and finite Connes' spectral distances between any pair of discrete states on the configuration space of fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{i}^{2}$ . We have found that the distance between north and south poles  $\mathbb{S}_i^2$  reduces to that of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  only in the limit  $j \rightarrow \infty$  [82, 89, 92]. This gives us a hint that the spectral distance between a pair of coherent states on the homogeneous space of fuzzy sphere  $S_i^2$  will be always bounded above by the geodesic distance on  $S^2$ . For any finite *j*, this bound is never going to saturate. Even though we cannot obtain an exact distance for a pair of coherent states on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{i}^{2}$ , we can give a lower bound to the spectral distance between a pair of infinitesimally separated coherent states on  $\mathbb{S}_i^2$ . Moreover, we get the exact distance on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_1^2$  with maximal fuzziness. Here, we try to provide the spectral distance between a given mixed state with its nearest pure state as an alternative measure of "mixedness" of a state. Further, we have obtained an analytic estimate of spectral distance a pair of coherent states on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{1}^{2}$ under some constraints and we have found that this result exactly agrees with the numerical results obtained by using the generalized Connes' distance formula up to 6th decimal places.

Lastly, we provide the conclusion of the thesis in chapter 8. Also, we put the necessary definitions in the appendices A, B, C and some relevant reviews like construction of Dirac operators on Moyal plane and fuzzy sphere in the appendix D.

### Part I

## Non-relativistic quantum physics on Non-commutative spaces

#### HILBERT-SCHMIDT OPERATOR FORMALISM

In this chapter, we review the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics on non-commutative spaces. This formalism is a pure operatorial formalism and is independent of any star product which usually plays an important role in a noncommutative space. However, different star products can be related to different position representations defined in this operatorial formalism and give rise to some in-equivalent physics [35, 36]. This formalism without star product is therefore necessary in order to avoid those ambiguities arise from using different star products.

#### 2.1 2d moyal plane $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$ [44, 45]

A Moyal plane is a 2D noncomutative space with the commutation relation:  $[\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2] = i\theta$ , where  $\theta$  is the non-commutative parameter. Taking analogy with the 1D quantum harmonic oscillator where  $[\hat{x}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar$ , we can define the following creation and annihilation operators:

$$\hat{b} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(\hat{x}_1 + i\hat{x}_2) \text{ and } \hat{b}^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(\hat{x}_1 - i\hat{x}_2) \text{ with } [\hat{b}, \hat{b}^{\dagger}] = 1.$$
 (2.1)

The classical configuration space for the Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$ , which is usually  $\mathbb{R}^2$  for usual commutative quantum mechanics on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , is now a Hilbert space itself and can be obtained as the boson Fock space:

$$\mathcal{H}_{c} = \operatorname{span}\left\{ |n\rangle = \frac{(\hat{b}^{\dagger})^{n}}{\sqrt{n!}} |0\rangle \right\}_{n=0}^{\infty}; \text{ where the span is over } \mathbb{C}.$$
(2.2)

This just furnishes a representation of the coordinate algebra (1.17). In the ordinary formalism of quantum mechanics, the physical states of a quantum system is described by square-integrable functions  $\psi(x, y) \in \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . We can generalize this to non-commutative quantum mechanics so that Hilbert-Schmidt operators acting on non-commutative configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_c$  will represent the physical states of the quantum system. The quantum Hilbert space can thus be constructed as

$$\mathcal{H}_{q} = \left\{ |\psi(\hat{x}_{\alpha})) = \sum_{m,n} \psi_{mn} |m\rangle \langle n| \in \mathcal{H}_{c} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{c}^{*} \Big| \operatorname{tr}_{c}(\psi^{\dagger}\psi) < \infty \right\},$$
(2.3)

with the inner product

$$(\psi|\phi) = \operatorname{tr}_{c}(\psi^{\dagger}\phi)$$
, where  $\operatorname{tr}_{c}$  implies trace over  $\mathcal{H}_{c}$ . (2.4)

Note that by definition, Hilbert-Schmidt operators are bounded and trace-class (see appendix C). Moreover, we denote  $\dagger$  for Hermitian conjugation on  $\mathcal{H}_c$  and  $\ddagger$  for Hermitian conjugation on  $\mathcal{H}_q$ .

We can then construct a unitary representation of non-commutative Heisenberg algebra:

$$[\hat{X}^{1}, \hat{X}^{2}] = i\theta , \quad [\hat{X}^{\alpha}, \hat{P}_{\beta}] = i\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} , \quad [\hat{P}_{\alpha}, \hat{P}_{\beta}] = 0 ; \quad (\hbar = 1) ,$$
(2.5)

on  $\mathcal{H}_q$ , analogous to the usual Scrödinger representation as follows:

$$\hat{X}_{\alpha}|\psi) = |\hat{x}_{\alpha}\psi\rangle; \quad \hat{P}_{\alpha}|\psi) = \frac{1}{\theta}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} |[\hat{x}_{\beta},|\psi\rangle]).$$
(2.6)

Here,  $\hat{X}_{\alpha}$ 's are the observables representing the position coordinates of a quantum particle moving in a Moyal plane while  $\hat{P}_{\alpha}$ 's are the observables representing the momenta of the particle. Note that  $\mathcal{H}_c$  just furnishes a representation of the coordinate algebra  $[\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2] = i\theta$ , which cannot furnish a representation of the entire non-commutative Heisenberg algebra (2.5), as an adjoint action required for  $\hat{P}_{\alpha}$  cannot be defined there.

Since the momentum operators  $\hat{P}_{\alpha}$  commute, we can find its simultaneous eigenstates which are orthonormal and complete:

$$|\vec{p}) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} e^{i\vec{p}.\hat{\vec{x}}}; \quad \hat{P}_i|\vec{p}) = p_i|\vec{p}), \quad (\vec{p}|\vec{p}') = \delta^2(\vec{p} - \vec{p}') \quad \text{and} \quad \int d^2p|\vec{p})(\vec{p}| = 1_q.$$
 (2.7)

Note that we denote operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c$  by small letters  $\hat{b}, \hat{b}^{\dagger}$  with the corresponding operators on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  denoted by capital letters  $\hat{B}, \hat{B}^{\ddagger}$  as

$$\hat{B}/\hat{B}^{\dagger}|\psi) = |\hat{b}/\hat{b}^{\dagger}\psi); \text{ where } \hat{B}^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(\hat{X}_1 - i\hat{X}_2), \quad \hat{B} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(\hat{X}_1 + i\hat{X}_2).$$
 (2.8)

With this, we can define the complex momentum operators as

$$\hat{P} = \hat{P}_1 + i\hat{P}_2$$
 and  $\hat{P}^{\ddagger} = \hat{P}_1 - i\hat{P}_2$  such that  $\hat{P}^2 = \hat{P}_1^2 + \hat{P}_2^2 = \hat{P}^{\ddagger}\hat{P} = \hat{P}\hat{P}^{\ddagger}$ , (2.9)

whose actions on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  are given by

$$\hat{P}|\psi) = -i\sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \left| [\hat{b}, |\psi) ] \right) \text{ and } \hat{P}^{\ddagger}|\psi) = i\sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \left| [\hat{b}^{\dagger}, |\psi) ] \right).$$
(2.10)

#### 2.1.1 Position bases

Due to the non-commutativity of the position operators  $\hat{X}_{\alpha}$ , we have the following uncertainty relation:

$$\Delta \hat{X}_1 \Delta \hat{X}_2 \ge \frac{\theta}{2} , \quad \text{where} \quad \Delta \hat{X}_\alpha = \sqrt{(\psi | \hat{X}_\alpha^2 | \psi) - (\psi | \hat{X}_\alpha | \psi)^2}. \tag{2.11}$$

This implies a precise measurement of  $\hat{X}_1$  leads to total uncertainty in  $\hat{X}_2$  or vice versa. However, we can preserve the standard notion of position by considering states which saturate the above uncertainty relation (2.11). Such states can be constructed out of the normalized coherent states of  $\mathcal{H}_c$ :

$$|z\rangle = e^{-z\bar{z}/2} e^{z\hat{b}^{\dagger}}|0\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{c} , \quad \hat{b}|z\rangle = z|z\rangle ; \text{ note that (1.14) define } z, \bar{z}.$$
(2.12)

Corresponding to each  $|z\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$ , we have a quantum state  $|z\rangle = |z\rangle\langle z| \in \mathcal{H}_q$  which provide an overcomplete and non-orthogonal basis on  $\mathcal{H}_q$ , iff they are composed with a Voros star product:

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z |z) \ e^{\overleftarrow{\partial}_z \overrightarrow{\partial}_z} (z| \equiv \frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z |z) \star_V (z| = 1_q \quad \text{and} \quad (z_1 | z_2) = e^{-|z_1 - z_2|^2}.$$
(2.13)

Here  $\star_V$  is the Voros star product (1.12) and we refer to this state  $|z| = |\vec{x}\rangle_V$  as the Voros position basis of  $\mathcal{H}_q$ . We can easily check that on such states  $|z| \in \mathcal{H}_q$ , we have

$$\Delta \hat{X}_1 \Delta \hat{X}_2 = \frac{\theta}{2} , \qquad (2.14)$$

saturating the uncertainty relation. Note that we can define un-normalized projection operators  $\pi_z = \frac{1}{2\pi\theta} |\vec{x}\rangle_V *_V V(\vec{x})$ ,

$$\pi_{z} = \frac{1}{2\pi\theta} |z) *_{V} (z| = \frac{1}{2\pi\theta} \sum_{\phi} |z,\phi)(z,\phi| ; \pi_{z}^{2} \propto \pi_{z}$$
(2.15)

which are positive i.e.  $(\psi | \pi_z | \psi) \ge 0 \forall | \psi) \in \mathcal{H}_q$  and form a complete set, i.e.  $\int dx_1 dx_2 \pi_z = 1_q$ . As  $\pi_z$  is regarded as a mixed state with equal apriori probability, which is independent of  $|\phi\rangle$  in (1.28),(2.15). This forces us to relax the strong measurement *a* la von Neumann to a weak one, as these operators provide a Positive Operator Valued Measure (POVM) so that we can provide a consistent probability interpretation by assigning the probability of finding the outcome of a position measurement to be  $(x_1, x_2)$ . For example, if the system is in a pure state  $\Omega = |\psi\rangle(\psi|$ , then

$$P(x_1, x_2) = \operatorname{tr}_q(\pi_z \Omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi\theta} \sum_{\phi} (\psi|z, \phi)(z, \phi|\psi) = \frac{1}{2\pi\theta} \sum_{\phi} |(z, \phi|\psi)|^2.$$
(2.16)

This clearly goes into the corresponding commutative result in the limit  $\theta \to 0$ . The overlap of Voros position basis  $|\vec{x}\rangle_V$  with the momentum eigenstate takes the form

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\vec{p}) \equiv (z|\vec{p}) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} e^{i\sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}}(p\bar{z}+\bar{p}z)} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} e^{i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{x}};$$
(2.17)

with  $p = p_1 + ip_2$  and  $p^2 = |\vec{p}|^2 = (p_1)^2 + (p_2)^2$ . Then the expansion of Voros position basis in terms of momentum eigenstates can be written as

$$|\vec{x}\rangle_{V} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} \int d^{2}p \ e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} \ e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} \ |\vec{p}\rangle = \int \frac{d^{2}p}{2\pi} \ \theta \ e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} \ e^{i\vec{p}.(\vec{x}-\vec{x})}.$$
(2.18)

One can also introduce a Moyal position basis  $|\vec{x}\rangle_M$  [38] which can be expanded as

$$|\vec{x})_{M} = \int \frac{d^{2}p}{2\pi} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} |\vec{p}) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} \int \frac{d^{2}p}{2\pi} e^{i\vec{p}.(\hat{\vec{x}}-\vec{x})}.$$
(2.19)

This basis form a complete orthonormal basis as

$$\int d^2 x \, |\vec{x}\rangle_M *_M M(\vec{x}) = \int d^2 x \, |\vec{x}\rangle_{MM}(\vec{x}) = 1_q \,, \quad M(\vec{x}|\vec{x}')_M = \delta^2(\vec{x} - \vec{x}') \tag{2.20}$$

and its overlap with the momentum basis is found to be

$$(\vec{p}|\vec{x})_M = \frac{1}{2\pi} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}}.$$
 (2.21)

These Moyal position basis states are found to be the simultaneous eigenstates for the commuting unphysical position operators:  $\hat{X}^c_{\alpha} | \vec{x} \rangle_M = x_{\alpha} | \vec{x} \rangle_M$ , where  $\hat{X}^c_{\alpha}$  is defined in (1.21). However, these states do not conform to the POVM [38]. All these facts suggest that Moyal basis is just a mathematical construction and is devoid of any physical significance. Nevertheless, we can check that in the commutative limit  $\theta \to 0$ , the difference between these two position bases disappear as

$$_{V}(\vec{x}'|\vec{x})_{M} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi\theta}} \ e^{-\frac{(\vec{x}'-\vec{x})^{2}}{\theta}} \ \xrightarrow{\theta \to 0} \ \delta^{2}(\vec{x}'-\vec{x}).$$
(2.22)

Note that the position representation of a state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q$  is simply either  $_V(\vec{x}|\psi) \in \mathbb{C}$  for Voros basis or  $_M(\vec{x}|\psi) \in \mathbb{C}$  for Moyal basis. At this stage only, we can make the comparision of the non-commutative features with the corresponding commutative features. Moreover, the appearance of star products can be understood by imposing an algebra structure on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q$ . We can define a multiplication map  $m : \mathcal{H}_q \otimes \mathcal{H}_q \to \mathcal{H}_q$ :

$$m(|\psi \otimes |\phi)) = |\psi\phi\rangle , \qquad (2.23)$$

in the sense of usual operator product. By expanding any generic state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q$  in terms of the momentum eigenstates as

$$|\psi\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} \int \frac{d^2p}{2\pi} \ \psi(\vec{p}) \ e^{i\vec{p}\cdot\hat{\vec{x}}}, \text{ where } \psi(\vec{p}) \in \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}) \text{ as } (\psi|\psi) = \operatorname{tr}_c(\psi^{\dagger}\psi) < \infty, \text{ (2.24)}$$

we can expand a product state  $|\psi\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q$  as

$$|\psi\phi\rangle = \frac{\theta}{2\pi} \int \int \frac{d^2p \ d^2p'}{(2\pi)^2} \ \psi(\vec{p})\phi(\vec{p}') \ e^{i(\vec{p}+\vec{p}').\hat{x}} \ e^{-\frac{i}{2}p_i p'_j \theta \epsilon_{ij}}.$$
(2.25)

Then the following composition rules implemented by the following star products can be easily verified

$${}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi\phi) = \sqrt{2\pi\theta} {}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi) *_{M M}(\vec{x}|\phi) \text{ and } {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\psi\phi) = 4\pi^{2} {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\psi) *_{V V}(\vec{x}|\phi), \quad (2.26)$$

where

$${}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi) = \int \frac{d^{2}p}{(2\pi)^{2}} \,\psi(\vec{p}) \,e^{i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} \text{ and } {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\psi) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} \int \frac{d^{2}p}{(2\pi)^{2}} \,\psi(\vec{p}) \,e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} e^{i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} \,e^{\frac{\theta \nabla^{2}}{4}} \,{}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi).$$

$$(2.27)$$

This reflects the fact that wave function representation of the composite state  $|\psi\phi\rangle$  in Moyal/Voros basis is obtained by composing the representations of individual states  $|\psi\rangle$  and  $|\phi\rangle$ using Moyal/Voros star product. Furthermore, the connection between Voros representation and Moyal representation of a state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q$  is through the *T*-map (1.15) which is invertible only for a class of Schwartz functions which are smooth on small length scales  $\leq \sqrt{\theta}$ . The Hilbert space of functions in Voros representation consists of all that satisfy smoothness condition at this scale  $\sim \sqrt{\theta}$  and any oscillations with wavelength smaller than this is automatically suppressed exponentially. The wave functions in this representation therefore capture the noncommutative features correctly in contrast to the representation in the Moyal basis. In this sense, we can say that it is the Voros basis which serve as the physical framework to describe a localized particle in Moyal plane.

#### 2.2 3 D MOYAL SPACE [47]

The 3D non-commutative Moyal space is such that the three coordinate operators  $\hat{x}^i$  with i = 1, 2, 3 satisfy the following algebra:

$$[\hat{x}^i, \hat{x}^j] = i\theta^{ij} = i\epsilon^{ijk}\theta_k;$$
 where  $\theta_k = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{ijk}\theta^{ij}$  is a vector dual to  $\theta^{ij}$ . (2.28)

We can always formally choose a suitable  $\bar{R} \in SO(3)$  rotation [47] such that  $\hat{x}^i \to \hat{x}^i = \bar{R}^i_j \hat{x}^j$ where

$$\bar{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\alpha\cos\beta & \sin\beta\cos\alpha & -\sin\alpha\\ -\sin\beta & \cos\beta & 0\\ \sin\alpha\cos\beta & \sin\alpha\sin\beta & \cos\alpha \end{pmatrix}; \text{ with } \vec{\theta} = \theta \begin{pmatrix} \sin\alpha\cos\beta\\ \sin\alpha\sin\beta\\ \cos\alpha \end{pmatrix}. \quad (2.29)$$

After this rotation, the coordinate algebras reduce to the following with the non-commutative matrix in barred frame as

$$[\hat{x}^{1}, \hat{x}^{2}] = i\theta , \quad [\hat{x}^{\alpha}, \hat{x}^{3}] = 0 ; \text{ with } \bar{\Theta} = \bar{R}\Theta\bar{R}^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \theta & 0 \\ -\theta & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.30)

It should be emphasised at this stage that the original  $\Theta = \{\theta^{ij}\}$  matrix is a constant under rotation [47]; indeed the deformed co-product (see (2.57) below) is precisely employed to restore automorphism symmetry which in turn, ensures the constancy of  $\Theta$ . Therefore there does not exist any rotated frame, for which the noncommutative matrix is given by  $\bar{\Theta}$  matrix (2.30). It is only for simplified construction of quantum Hilbert space that such a formal rotation  $\bar{R}$  (2.29) has been introduced. Clearly, the  $\hat{x}^3$  coordinate essentially becomes commutative here so that we can construct the auxilliary Hilbert space as the configuration space for 3D Moyal space as a tensor product space of Moyal plane  $\mathcal{H}_c$  and a Hilbert space spanned by the eigenstates of  $\hat{x}^3$  i.e.  $|\bar{x}^3\rangle$  ( $\hat{x}^3|\bar{x}^3\rangle = \bar{x}^3|\bar{x}^3\rangle$ ):

$$\mathcal{H}_{c}^{3} = \operatorname{span}\left\{ \left| n, \bar{x}^{3} \right\rangle = \left| n \right\rangle \otimes \left| \bar{x}^{3} \right\rangle \right\} ; \tag{2.31}$$

where *n* labels eigenstates of  $b^{\dagger}b$  as in (2.2) and  $\bar{x}^3$  labels eigenstates of  $\hat{x}^3$ . The action of the original (unbarred) coordinates  $\hat{x}^i$  on these basis states can be obtained as

$$\hat{x}^{i}|n,\bar{x}^{3}\rangle = \{(\bar{R}^{-1})^{i}_{j}\hat{x}^{j}\}|n,\bar{x}^{3}\rangle = (\bar{R}^{-1})^{i}_{\alpha}\hat{x}^{\alpha}|n,\bar{x}^{3}\rangle + (\bar{R}^{-1})^{i}_{3}\bar{x}^{3}|n,\bar{x}^{3}\rangle.$$
(2.32)

Likewise, the physical states will be represented by the Hilbert-Schmidt operators i.e., essentially the set of bounded trace-class operator acting on  $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{3}$ :

$$\mathcal{H}_{q}^{3} = \operatorname{span}\left\{ |\psi(\hat{x}^{i})\rangle : \int \frac{d\bar{x}^{3}}{\sqrt{\theta}} \operatorname{tr}_{c}^{\prime} \psi^{\dagger} \psi < \infty \right\},$$
(2.33)

where  $\operatorname{tr}_{c}'$  denotes the restricted trace over  $\mathcal{H}_{c}$  of Moyal plane. Since  $|\psi(\hat{x}^{i})\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3}$  leave the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_{c}'^{3} = \operatorname{span}\{|n, \bar{x}^{3}\rangle : \text{ fixed } \bar{x}^{3}\}$  of  $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{3}$  invariant, the quantum Hilbert space of 3D

Moyal space will be given by the set of Hilbert-Schmidt operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c^3$  with the constraint  $[\hat{x}^3, |\psi(\bar{x}^i))] = 0$ :

$$\mathcal{H}_{q}^{3} = \operatorname{span}\Big\{|\psi(\bar{x}^{i})) : [\hat{x}^{3}, |\psi(\bar{x}^{i}))] = 0; \int \frac{d\bar{x}^{3}}{\sqrt{\theta}} \operatorname{tr}_{c}'\psi^{\dagger}\psi < \infty\Big\}.$$
(2.34)

Clearly, the inner product on  $\mathcal{H}_q^3$  is defined as

$$(\phi|\psi) = \operatorname{tr}_{c}(\phi^{\dagger}\psi) = \int \frac{d\bar{x}_{3}}{\sqrt{\theta}} \operatorname{tr}_{c}'(\phi^{\dagger}\psi).$$
(2.35)

In order to define momentum operators  $\hat{P}_i$  and its adjoint action on  $\mathcal{H}_q^3$ , we need to introduce another barred coordinate ' $\hat{x}^4$ ' such that  $[\hat{x}^j, \hat{x}^4] = i\theta \delta^{j3}$ . That is,  $\hat{x}^4$  commutes with  $\hat{x}^1, \hat{x}^2$  and is conjugate to  $\hat{x}^3$  so that  $\hat{x}^4 = i\theta \epsilon^{43} \frac{\partial}{\partial \hat{x}^3}$  where  $\epsilon^{34}$  is the anti-symmetric tensor in  $\hat{x}^3 - \hat{x}^4$ plane, with  $\epsilon^{34} = 1$ . With this, we can define the adjoint action of  $\hat{P}_{\mu}$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q^3$  as

$$\hat{P}_{\mu}|\psi) = \frac{1}{\theta} \Gamma_{\mu\nu}[\hat{x}^{\nu},|\psi]; \text{ where } \Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.36)

Note that by the constraint  $[\hat{x}^3, |\psi(\bar{x}^i))] = 0$  on  $\mathcal{H}^3_{q}$ , clearly  $\hat{P}_4|\psi) = 0$  so that there are only three non-trivial momenta  $\hat{P}_i$ . The action of momentum operators  $\hat{P}_i$  in the original un-barred frame can then be obtained through linearity as

$$\hat{P}_{i}|\psi) = (\bar{R}^{-1})_{i}^{j}\hat{P}_{j}|\psi) = \frac{\hbar}{\theta}(\bar{R}^{-1})_{i}^{j}\Gamma_{j\mu}[\hat{x}^{\mu},|\psi)].$$
(2.37)

With this, we can define the left action of position operators  $\hat{X}^i$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{(3)}$  as

$$\hat{X}^i|\psi\rangle = |\hat{x}^i\psi\rangle. \tag{2.38}$$

Thus, the non-commutative Heisenberg algebra on 3D Moyal space has the following form:

$$[\hat{X}^{i}, \hat{X}^{j}] = i\theta^{ij} , \quad [\hat{X}^{i}, \hat{P}_{j}] = i\delta^{i}_{j} , \quad [\hat{P}_{i}, \hat{P}_{j}] = 0.$$
(2.39)

The simultaneous eigenstates of the above commuting momentum operators  $\hat{P}_i$  are given by

$$|\vec{p}) = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{2\pi} e^{i\vec{p}.\hat{\vec{x}}} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{2\pi} e^{i\vec{p}_{\alpha}\hat{\vec{x}}} e^{i\vec{p}_{3}\hat{\vec{x}}_{3}}, \quad p_{i}\hat{x}^{i} \text{ is scalar under } \bar{R} \in SO(3).$$
(2.40)

These momentum eigenstates serve as a complete orthonormal basis on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{(3)}$ 

$$(\vec{p}'|\vec{p}) = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(2\pi)^2} \operatorname{tr}_c(e^{-i\vec{p}.\hat{\vec{x}}}e^{i\vec{p}.\hat{\vec{x}}}) = \int \frac{d\vec{x}_3}{\sqrt{\theta}} \left[e^{-i(\vec{p}'_3 - \vec{p}_3)\vec{x}^3}\right] \operatorname{tr}'_c\left[e^{-i(\vec{p}'_\alpha - \vec{p}_\alpha)\hat{\vec{x}}^\alpha}\right] = \delta^3(\vec{p}' - \vec{p}) \quad (2.41)$$

and

$$\int d^3p \ |\vec{p}\rangle(\vec{p}| = 1_q.$$
(2.42)

In the complete analogy with Moyal plane the Voros position basis states  $|\vec{x}\rangle_V$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{(3)}$  are defined as [47]

$$|\vec{x}\rangle_{V} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int d^{3}p \ e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} \ |\vec{p}\rangle = \left(\frac{\theta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \int d^{3}p \ e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} \ e^{i\vec{p}.(\hat{\vec{x}}-\vec{x})}.$$
(2.43)

Note that  $p^2 \equiv \vec{p}^2 = (p_1)^2 + (p_2)^2 + (p_3)^2$ . These states satisfy the following similar relations:

$$\int \frac{d^3x}{(2\pi)^2 \theta^{\frac{3}{2}}} |\vec{x}\rangle_V *_V _V(\vec{x}) = 1_q, \text{ and } _V(\vec{x}'|\vec{x})_V = \sqrt{2\pi} e^{-\frac{1}{2\theta}(\vec{x}'-\vec{x})^2}, \quad (2.44)$$

with the overlap with the momentum eigenstates being

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\vec{p}) = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} e^{i\vec{p}.\vec{x}}.$$
(2.45)

However, there is no obvious connection between the Voros basis  $|\vec{x}\rangle_V$  and coherent states, as the latter cannot simply be defined in the odd-dimensional case. Thus we investigate whether Voros basis states give minimum uncertainty product between position operators and also between phase space operators in the following chapter 3.

Similarly, the Moyal position basis on 3D Moyal space is introduced as

$$|\vec{x})_M = \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} |\vec{p}).$$
(2.46)

They satisfy the completeness and orthonormality relations:

$$\int d^3x \ |\vec{x})_M *_M M(\vec{x}| = \int d^3x \ |\vec{x})_{MM}(\vec{x}| = 1_q \quad \text{and} \quad M(\vec{x}'|\vec{x})_M = \delta^3(\vec{x}' - \vec{x}), \tag{2.47}$$

with its overlap with the monetum eigenstates as

$$(\vec{p}|\vec{x})_M = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}}.$$
 (2.48)

They are the simultaneous eigenstates of the commuting position operators  $\hat{X}_i^{(c)}$  (1.22):

$$\hat{X}_{c}^{i}|\psi) \equiv \frac{1}{2} [\hat{X}_{L}^{i} + \hat{X}_{R}^{i}] |\psi\rangle , \text{ with } \hat{X}_{L}^{i}|\psi\rangle = |\hat{x}^{i}\psi\rangle \text{ and } \hat{X}_{R}^{i}|\psi\rangle = |\psi\hat{x}^{i}\rangle.$$
(2.49)

As defined in [38] on  $\mathcal{H}_q$ , we can impose an additional structure of algebra on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^3$  [47] by defining a multiplication map:

$$m(|\psi) \otimes |\phi\rangle) = |\psi\phi\rangle. \tag{2.50}$$

We can expand a generic state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q^3$  in terms of momentum eigenstates and then express in barred frame as

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{2\pi} \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \,\psi(\vec{p}) \,e^{ip_i\hat{x}_i} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{2\pi} \int \frac{d^3\bar{p}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \,\psi(\vec{p}) \,e^{i\bar{p}_i\hat{x}_i} \tag{2.51}$$

Making similar expansion for  $|\phi\rangle$  and the product state  $|\psi\phi\rangle$ , we can compute the composition rules when the product state is represented in the Moyal and the Voros basis:

$${}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi\phi) = 2\pi\theta^{\frac{3}{4}} {}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi) *_{M M}(\vec{x}|\phi) \text{ and } {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\psi\phi) =_{V} (\vec{x}|\psi) *_{V V}(\vec{x}|\phi)$$
(2.52)

with

$${}_{M}(\vec{x}|\psi) = \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \,\psi(\vec{p}) \,e^{ip_{i}x_{i}} \quad \text{and} \quad {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\psi) \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int \frac{d^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \,\psi(\vec{p}) \,e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} \,e^{ip_{i}x_{i}}. \tag{2.53}$$

Let us now see the effect of  $R \in SO(3)$  rotation on a generic state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q^{(3)}$ . The state  $|\psi\rangle$  transforms under R as

$$|\psi\rangle \to |\psi^{R}\rangle = \int d^{3}p \; \psi(\vec{p})e^{i\vec{p}.(R^{-1}\hat{\vec{x}})} = \int d^{3}p \; \psi(\vec{p})e^{i(R\vec{p}).\hat{\vec{x}}},$$
(2.54)

and the composite state  $|(\psi \phi)\rangle$  transforms under *R* as

$$|(\psi\phi)^{R}) = U(R)[m(|\psi) \otimes |\phi))] = \int d^{3}p \ d^{3}p' \ \psi(\vec{p})\phi(\vec{p}')e^{i\{R(\vec{p}+\vec{p}')\}\cdot\hat{x}}e^{-\frac{i}{2}p_{i}p'_{j}\theta^{ij}}.$$
 (2.55)

However, this rotated composite state is found to be inequivalent with the composite of rotated states  $|\psi\rangle^R$  and  $|\phi\rangle^R$  if we use the undeformed co-product  $\Delta_0(R) = U(R) \otimes U(R)$  to implement the rotation on the tensor product state  $|\psi\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}^3_q \otimes \mathcal{H}^3_q$  as

$$|\psi^{R}\phi^{R}\rangle = m[\Delta_{0}(R)(|\psi)\otimes|\phi\rangle)] = \int d^{3}p \ d^{3}p' \ \psi(\vec{p})\phi(\vec{p}')e^{iR(\vec{p}').\hat{\vec{x}}}e^{-\frac{i}{2}(Rp)_{i}(Rp')_{j}\phi^{ij}}.$$
 (2.56)

If we redefine the composite of rotated states  $|\psi\rangle^R$  and  $|\phi\rangle^R$  using the deformed co-product:

$$\Delta_{\theta}(R) = F \Delta_0(R) F^{-1} \quad \text{where} \quad F = e^{\frac{i}{2} \theta^{ij} \hat{P}_i \otimes \hat{P}_j} , \qquad (2.57)$$

we get

$$|\psi^{R}\phi^{R}\rangle = m[\Delta_{\theta}(R)(|\psi)\otimes|\phi\rangle)] = \int d^{3}p d^{3}p'\psi(\vec{p})\phi(\vec{p}')e^{-\frac{i}{2}\theta^{ij}p_{i}p'_{j}}e^{iR(\vec{p}+\vec{p}')\cdot\hat{\vec{x}}} = |(\psi\phi)^{R}\rangle.$$
(2.58)

Thus, the automorphism symmetry on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^3$  is restored by using deformed co-product and hence the symmetry of non-commutative quantum mechanics on 3D Moyal space is captured by the quantum group structure or it is not an exact symmetry but a twisted symmetry. This is due to the fact that the noncommutative  $\Theta$  matrix is constant (as we can see from (3.26) below) under the action of deformed co-product (2.57). Such twisted symmetry have serious effects on the multi-particle states which have been shown in chapter 4 by computing the two-particle correlation functions for a non-relativistic free gas, at finite temperature.

#### 2.3 FUZZY SPHERE [48]

Here, the position operators  $\hat{x}^i$  satisfy the su(2) Lie algebra:  $[\hat{x}^i, \hat{x}^j] = i\theta_f \epsilon^{ijk} \hat{x}^k$ . By the Jordan-Schwinger map,

$$\hat{x}_i = \hat{\chi}^{\dagger} \sigma_i \hat{\chi} = \hat{\chi}^{\dagger}_{\alpha} \sigma_i^{\alpha\beta} \hat{\chi}_{\beta}$$
; where  $\sigma_i$  are the Pauli matrices , (2.59)

we can recover the su(2) Lie algebra through a pair of independent harmonic oscillators  $\hat{\chi}_{\alpha}/\hat{\chi}_{\alpha}^{\dagger}$  satisfying the following commutation relations:

$$[\hat{\chi}_{\alpha}, \hat{\chi}_{\beta}^{\dagger}] = \frac{1}{2} \theta_f \delta_{\alpha\beta} , \quad [\hat{\chi}_{\alpha}, \hat{\chi}_{\beta}] = 0 = [\hat{\chi}_{\alpha}^{\dagger}, \hat{\chi}_{\beta}^{\dagger}] ; \qquad \alpha, \beta = 1, 2.$$

$$(2.60)$$

We can now label a generic harmonic oscillator state by the pair of integers  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  as

$$|n_1, n_2\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{(2/\theta_f)^{n_1+n_2}}{n_1!n_2!}} \chi_1^{\dagger n_1} \chi_2^{\dagger n_2} |0\rangle , \text{ with } \hat{N}|n_1, n_2\rangle = \frac{\theta_f}{2} (n_1 + n_2)|n_1, n_2\rangle, \quad (2.61)$$

where

$$\hat{N} = \hat{\chi}^{\dagger}_{\alpha} \hat{\chi}_{\alpha}$$
, is the number operator. (2.62)

These states (2.61) are the simultaneous eigenstates of the radius squared operator  $\hat{\vec{x}}^2$  and  $\hat{x}^3$ ,

$$\hat{x}^2 |n_1, n_2\rangle = \theta_f^2 j(j+1) |n_1, n_2\rangle$$
 and  $\hat{x}_3 |n_1, n_2\rangle = \theta_f m |n_1, n_2\rangle$ , (2.63)

where  $j = \frac{n_1+n_2}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}^+/2$  and  $m = \frac{n_1-n_2}{2}$ ,  $-j \leq m \leq j$  so that we can relabel the states as  $|n_1, n_2\rangle \equiv |j, m\rangle$ . We have the ladder operators  $\hat{x}_{\pm} = \hat{x}^1 \pm i\hat{x}^2$  which satisfy the following relations:

$$[\hat{x}^3, \hat{x}_{\pm}] = \pm \theta_f \hat{x}_{\pm}, \quad [\hat{x}_+, \hat{x}_-] = 2\theta_f \hat{x}^3;$$
 (2.64)

$$\hat{x}_{\pm}|j,m\rangle = \theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m\pm 1)}|j,m\pm 1\rangle.$$
 (2.65)
With this, the classical configuration space  $\mathcal{F}_c$  of fuzzy space of type (1.19) can be constructed as

$$\mathcal{F}_c = \operatorname{span}\{|j,m\rangle \mid \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}/2, \ -j \le m \le j\}.$$
(2.66)

Each *j* corresponds to the fixed fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_j^2$  of radius  $r_j = \theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}$  such that for a fixed *j* the Hilbert space is restricted to a finite (2j+1)-dimensional sub-space

$$\mathcal{F}_j = \operatorname{span}\{|j,m\rangle \mid j \text{ is fixed}, -j \le m \le j\}.$$
(2.67)

Then the quantum Hilbert space, in which the physical states are represented, consists, however, of those operators generated by coordinate operators only and, since these commute with the Casimir, the elements of the quantum Hilbert space must in addition commute with the Casimir, i.e., must be diagonal in *j*. Therefore, the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^f$  of the fuzzy space of type (1.19) splits into the following direct sum:

$$\mathcal{H}_{q}^{f} = \{ \Psi \in Span\{ |j,m\rangle\langle j,m'|\} : \operatorname{tr}_{c}(\Psi^{\dagger}\Psi) < \infty \} = \bigoplus_{j} \mathcal{H}_{j}, \qquad (2.68)$$

where 
$$\mathcal{H}_j = \{\Psi \in Span\{|j,m\rangle\langle j,m|\} \equiv |m,m'): \operatorname{tr}_c(\Psi^{\dagger}\Psi) < \infty \text{ with fixed } j\}, (2.69)$$

represents the quantum Hilbert space of a fuzzy sphere  $S_j^2$  with fixed radius  $r_j$ .

The quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^f$  furnishes a unitary representation of analogue of noncommutative Heisenberg algebra (2.5) and given by

$$[\hat{X}^i, \hat{X}^j] = i\theta_f \epsilon^{ijk} \hat{X}^k , \quad [\hat{J}^i, \hat{X}^j] = i\epsilon^{ijk} \hat{X}^k , \quad [\hat{J}^i, \hat{J}^j] = i\epsilon^{ijk} \hat{J}^k , \qquad (2.70)$$

where the linear momentum operators is replaced by the angular momentum operators  $\hat{J}_i$ satisfying the su(2) Lie algebra. The position operators  $\hat{X}^i$  acts on  $\mathcal{H}_q^f$  by left multiplication and the angular momentum operators  $\hat{J}^i$  acts adjointly on  $\mathcal{H}_q^f$ :

$$\hat{X}^{i}|\psi) = |\hat{x}^{i}\psi) \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{J}^{i}|\psi) = \frac{1}{\theta_{f}}[\hat{x}^{i},|\psi\rangle], \quad \forall \ |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{q}^{f}.$$
(2.71)

Note that  $\hat{J}^i$  are the non-commutative analogs of the differential operators or more precisely the vector fields on  $\mathbb{S}^3$  which are discussed in appendix D.

# VOROS POSITION BASIS STATES ON 3D MOYAL SPACE

In 2D Moyal plane, the Voros position basis states are the maximally localized states, i.e. given by the normalized coherent states. But in 3D Moyal space, the Voros position basis states have no obvious connection with the coherent states. They are not maximally localized states in 3D configuration space even though they are maximally localized states in 6D phase space. We show this by using the symplectic invariant uncertainty relation in phase space.

#### 3.1 REVIEW OF SYMPLECTIC INVARIANT UNCERTAINTY RELATIONS

The most widely understood uncertainty relation in quantum mechanics is the Robertson uncertainty relation which takes the form:

$$\Delta \hat{A} \Delta \hat{B} \geq \frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle ; \quad \Delta \hat{A} = \sqrt{\langle \psi | A^2 | \psi \rangle - \langle \psi | A | \psi \rangle^2}$$
(3.1)

where  $\hat{A}$  and  $\hat{B}$  denote the quantum Hermitian operators and  $\Delta \hat{A}$  is the standard deviation of  $\hat{A}$  in a state  $|\psi\rangle$ . However, we also have the Schrödinger uncertainty relation which has the form:

$$\Delta \hat{A} \Delta \hat{B} \ge \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{A}, \hat{B}\} \rangle - \langle \hat{A} \rangle \langle \hat{B} \rangle \right)^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle \right)^2}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where  $\{.,.\}$  denotes anti-commutator and [.,.] denotes commutator. The latter (3.2) is the most generalized form of uncertainty relation in quantum mechanics [93] (see appendix B).

#### 3.1.1 Variance matrix and Williamson theorem

Let us recast the Schrödinger's uncertainty relation in terms of Variance matrix by renaming the position and momentum operators by a single phase-space operator  $\hat{Z}$  such that  $\hat{Z}_i = \hat{X}_c^i$  with i = 1, 2, 3. and  $\hat{Z}_{i+3} = \hat{P}_i$ . Here, we are considering the commutative quantum mechanics with the Heisenberg algebra:

$$[\hat{X}_{c}^{i}, \hat{X}_{c}^{j}] = 0 ; \quad [\hat{X}_{c}^{i}, \hat{P}_{j}] = i\delta_{j}^{i} ; \quad [\hat{P}_{i}, \hat{P}_{j}] = 0 .$$
(3.3)

Then the Schrödinger uncertainty relation for the phase-space operators will be given by

$$\Delta \hat{Z}_{a} \Delta \hat{Z}_{b} = \sqrt{(V_{ab}^{c})^{2} + (\Omega_{ab}^{c})^{2}} ; a, b = 1, 2, \dots, 6,$$
(3.4)

where  $V_{ab}^c$  is the *ab*-th element of the commutative variance matrix  $V^c$ :

$$V_{ab}^{c} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{ \hat{Z}_{a}, \hat{Z}_{b} \} \rangle - \langle \hat{Z}_{a} \rangle \langle \hat{Z}_{b} \rangle \Rightarrow V^{c} = \{ V_{ab}^{c} \} = \begin{pmatrix} V_{XX}^{c} & V_{XP}^{c} \\ V_{PX}^{c} & V_{PP}^{c} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.5)

and  $\Omega_{ab}^{c}$  is the *ab*-th element of the symplectic matrix  $\Omega^{c}$ :

$$\Omega_{ab}^{c} = \frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{Z}_{a}, \hat{Z}_{b}] \rangle \Rightarrow \Omega^{c} = \{\Omega_{ab}^{c}\} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{3} & \mathbb{I}_{3} \\ -\mathbb{I}_{3} & \mathbf{0}_{3} \end{pmatrix}; \quad \mathbb{I}\text{-unit matrix , } \mathbf{0}\text{-null matrix. } (3.6)$$

Here, the expectation values are taken in a certain state  $|\psi\rangle$ .

Let us now consider a generalized variance matrix V which is  $2n \times 2n$  square matrix corresponding to a 2n-dimensional phase space (above, we consider n = 3). By Williamson's theorem [94], we know that any arbitrary Variance matrix  $V^c$  can be brought to a diagonal form by a symplectic transformation i.e.,  $V^d = SV^cS^T$ , where  $S \in Sp(2n, R)$  is a symplectic matrix satisfying  $\Omega^c = S\Omega^cS^T$ . This 'symplectically' diagonalized Variance matrix  $V^d$  comprises of the the symplectic eigenvalues  $v_j/2$  (up to the orderings of  $v_j$ ) of  $V^c$ , which are at least doubly degenerate:

$$V^{d} = \operatorname{diag}(\nu_{1}/2, ..., \nu_{n}/2, \nu_{1}/2, ..., \nu_{n}/2).$$
(3.7)

This symplectic spectrum is not equal to the ordinary spectrum but can be obtained through the ordinary spectrum of  $|2i\Omega^c V^c|$ , as the composite object  $(\Omega^c V^c)$  undergoes a similarity transformation, if  $V^c$  undergoes a symplectic transformation [95]. Correspondingly, the density matrix  $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$  transforms a  $\rho \rightarrow U(S)\rho U^{\dagger}(S)$ , where  $\hat{U}(S)$  is a unitary operator implementing the symplectic transformation. This implies that this diagonal  $V^d$  in 2ndimensional phase space splits into *n*-copies of independent 2-dimensional phase space. It is therefore convenient to consider the Schrödinger's uncertainty relation (3.4) for 2D phase space re-written as,

$$\Delta \hat{Z}_{\alpha} \Delta \hat{Z}_{\beta} \ge \sqrt{(V_{\alpha\beta}^c)^2 + (\Omega_{\alpha\beta}^c)^2} .$$
(3.8)

Identifying  $\hat{Z}_1 = \hat{X}_c^1$  and  $\hat{Z}_2 = \hat{P}_1$ , this inequality is equivalent to  $\Delta \hat{X}_c^{12} \ge \frac{\nu_1}{2}$ ;  $\Delta \hat{P}_1^2 \ge \frac{\nu_1}{2}$ whereas  $\Delta \hat{X}_1 \Delta \hat{P}_1 \ge \frac{1}{2}$ . Here we have taken  $V_{11}^d = V_{22}^d = \frac{\nu_1}{2}$  and  $V_{12}^d = V_{21}^d = 0$  without loss of generality, so that the spread  $\Delta \hat{X}_1$  and  $\Delta \hat{P}_1$  are equal. Further, we have used the symplectic invariant form of  $\Omega^0$ :  $\Omega_{12}^c = -\Omega_{21}^c = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\Omega_{11}^c = \Omega_{22}^c = 0$ . Compatibility among these three inequalities implies

$$\nu_1 \ge 1$$
 or, equivalently det  $V^c \ge \frac{1}{4}$ . (3.9)

Thus for a bonafide Variance marix  $V^c$  we must have the symplectic spectrum to be such that  $v_j \ge 1 \ \forall j$  or more generally

$$\det V^c \ge \frac{1}{4^n} \tag{3.10}$$

for the general 2n-dimensional phase space. This provides a symplectic Sp(2n, R) invariant formulation of the uncertainty relation. Finally, note that both Robertson and Schrödinger form of uncertainty relations become equivalent in this diagonal form.

#### 3.2 COMPUTATION OF NON-COMMUTATIVE VARIANCE MATRIX

For a quantum system on non-commutative 3D Moyal space, the above formalism of obtaining a symplectic invariant form of uncertainty relation is not directly applicable as it is not known whether the Williamson's theorem remains valid or not for non-commutative quantum mechanics ( $\theta \neq 0$ ). Here, we denote the single space operator by  $\hat{Z}^{\theta}$ :

$$\hat{Z}_i^{\theta} = \hat{X}^i$$
,  $\hat{Z}_{i+3}^{\theta} = \hat{P}_i$ ; with the commutation relations (2.39) among them. (3.11)

Thus, we denote non-commutative variance matrix by  $V^{\theta}$  and the non-commutative symplectic matrix by  $\Omega^{\theta}$ . Since the commutative position operators  $\hat{X}_c^i$  is related to the non-commutative position operators  $\hat{X}^i$  by (1.22), we can define the following transformation matrix M:

$$\hat{X}_{c}^{i} = M_{j}^{i} \hat{X}^{j}; \text{ where } M = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I}_{3} & M_{3}^{\theta} \\ \mathbf{0}_{3} & \mathbb{I}_{3} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ with } M_{3}^{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\theta_{3}}{2} & -\frac{\theta_{2}}{2} \\ -\frac{\theta_{3}}{2} & 0 & \frac{\theta_{1}}{2} \\ \frac{\theta_{2}}{2} & -\frac{\theta_{1}}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.12)

With this, the non-commutative variance matrix  $V^{\theta}$  and symplectic matrix  $\Omega^{\theta}$  can be transformed into commutative ones  $V^{c}$  (3.5) and  $\Omega^{c}$  (3.6) as follows:

$$V^c = M V^{\theta} M^T$$
 and  $\Omega^c = M \Omega^{\theta} M^T$ . (3.13)

The *ab*-th element of non-commutative variance matrix  $V^{\theta}$  and symplectic matrix  $\Omega^{\theta}$  have the similar forms as those of commutative ones (3.5) and (3.6):

$$V_{ab}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{Z}_{a}^{\theta}, \hat{Z}_{b}^{\theta}\} \rangle - \langle \hat{Z}_{a}^{\theta} \rangle \langle \hat{Z}_{b}^{\theta} \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega_{ab}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{Z}_{a}^{\theta}, \hat{Z}_{b}^{\theta}] \rangle.$$
(3.14)

We can also rewrite the non-commutative variance matrix  $V^{\theta}$  and symplectic matrix  $\Omega^{\theta}$ 

$$V^{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} V_{XX}^{\theta} & V_{XP}^{\theta} \\ V_{PX}^{\theta} & V_{PP}^{\theta} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \Omega^{\theta} = -\frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \langle [\hat{X}_{i}, \hat{X}_{j}] \rangle & \langle [\hat{X}_{i}, \hat{P}_{j}] \rangle \\ \langle [\hat{P}_{i}, \hat{X}_{j}] \rangle & \langle [\hat{P}_{i}, \hat{P}_{j}] \rangle \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.15)

where the block matrices of  $V^{\theta}$  are given by

$$V_{XX}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{X}_i, \hat{X}_j\} \rangle - \langle \hat{X}_i \rangle \langle \hat{X}_j \rangle ; \quad V_{XP}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{X}_i, \hat{P}_j\} \rangle - \langle \hat{X}_i \rangle \langle \hat{P}_j \rangle$$
(3.16)

$$V_{PX}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{P}_i, \hat{X}_j\} \rangle - \langle \hat{P}_i \rangle \langle \hat{X}_j \rangle ; \quad V_{PP}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{P}_i, \hat{P}_j\} \rangle - \langle \hat{P}_i \rangle \langle \hat{P}_j \rangle.$$
(3.17)

In order to study the properties of Voros basis we compute the above expectation values in the physical Voros position basis  $|\vec{x}\rangle_V$  (2.43):

$$|\vec{x}\rangle_{V} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int d^{3}p \ e^{-\frac{\theta p^{2}}{4}} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} \ |\vec{p}\rangle \ ; \quad _{V}(\vec{x}|\vec{x})_{V} = 1.$$
(3.18)

First of all, we compute the block  $V_{XX}^{\theta}$ . For that, we compute the expectation values of  $\hat{X}_i$  and the composite  $\hat{X}_i \hat{X}_j$  in the normalized Voros states (3.18). Since going to the barred frame through  $\bar{R} \in SO(3)$  rotation (2.29) minimizes the non-commutativity of 3D Moyal space, the computation of expectation values also get simplified. For example,

$${}_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{i}|\vec{x})_{V} = \bar{R}_{ij}^{-1} {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{j}|\vec{x})_{V} = \bar{R}_{ij}^{-1} {}_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{j}|\vec{x})_{V}; \quad \hat{X}_{i}|\psi) = |\hat{x}_{i}\psi), \quad \forall \ |\psi) \in \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3}.$$
(3.19)

We find that

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{x}_{j}|\vec{x})_{V} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int \int d^{3}p \ d^{3}p' e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}(\vec{p}^{2}+\vec{p}'^{2})} \ e^{-i(\vec{p}-\vec{p}')\cdot\vec{x}}(\vec{p}'|\hat{x}_{j}|\vec{p})$$
, with (3.20)

$$(\vec{p}'|\hat{x}_{\alpha}|\vec{p}) = -i\delta(p_3 - p_3')\delta(p_{\beta} - p_{\beta}')e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}(p_{\alpha} - p_{\alpha}')^2 + \frac{i}{2}\theta\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}(p_{\alpha} - p_{\alpha}')p_{\beta}}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{\alpha}}\delta(p_{\alpha} - p_{\alpha}');$$
(3.21)

$$(\vec{p}'|\hat{x}_3|\vec{p}) = -i\delta(p_1 - p_1')\delta(p_2 - p_2')\frac{\partial}{\partial p_3}\delta(p_3 - p_3')$$
(3.22)

Thus, we obtain

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{j}|\vec{x})_{V} = \bar{x}_{j} \Rightarrow _{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{i}|\vec{x})_{V} = \bar{R}_{ij}^{-1} \ \bar{x}_{j} = x_{i} .$$
 (3.23)

Further, we need to calculate the expectation values of the composite  $\hat{X}_i \hat{X}_j$  and then its symmetrized  $\langle \{\hat{X}_i, \hat{X}_j\} \rangle$  and anti-symmetrized expectation values  $\langle [\hat{X}_i, \hat{X}_j] \rangle$ . One should note that the composite  $\hat{X}_i \hat{X}_j$  doesn't transform as a second rank tensor under  $\bar{R} \in SO(3)$ , as was shown in [47]. As already reviewed in chapter 2, if the operator  $\hat{x}_i$  transforms under  $R \in SO(3)$  rotation as  $\hat{x}_i^{\bar{R}} \equiv \hat{x}_i = \bar{R}_{ij}\hat{x}_j$ , then the composite operators  $\hat{x}_i \hat{x}_j$  transform as

$$(\hat{x}_i \hat{x}_j)^{\bar{R}} = m[\Delta_{\theta}(\bar{R})(\hat{x}_i \otimes \hat{x}_j)]$$
, to preserve the automorphism symmetry (2.58). (3.24)

After computation, we get

$$(\hat{x}_{i}\hat{x}_{j})^{\bar{R}} = m[\Delta_{\theta}(\bar{R})(\hat{x}_{i}\otimes\hat{x}_{j})] = \hat{x}_{i}^{\bar{R}}\hat{x}_{j}^{\bar{R}} + \frac{i}{2}\theta_{ij} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{R}_{ik}\theta_{kl}(\bar{R}^{T})_{lj}.$$
(3.25)

With this, we have the rotated anti-commutator and commutator of  $\hat{x}_i$ ,  $\hat{x}_j$ :

$$(\hat{x}_i \hat{x}_j)^R + (\hat{x}_j \hat{x}_i)^R = \hat{x}_i^R \hat{x}_j^R + \hat{x}_j^R \hat{x}_i^R, \quad \text{while} \quad (\hat{x}_i \hat{x}_j)^R - (\hat{x}_j \hat{x}_i)^R = i\theta_{ij}.$$
(3.26)

This means that the anti-commutator transforms as a tensor, whereas the commutator transforms as an invariant SO(3) scalar, as was observed earlier [47]. Thus, under the rotation  $\bar{R}$ , we have

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\{\hat{X}_{i},\hat{X}_{j}\}|\vec{x})_{V} = \bar{R}_{im}^{-1}\bar{R}_{jn}^{-1} \ _{V}(\vec{x}|\{\hat{X}_{m},\hat{X}_{n}\}|\vec{x})_{V}$$
(3.27)

This gives after a straightforward computation

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{i}\hat{X}_{j}|\vec{x})_{V} = x_{i}x_{j} + \frac{\theta}{2}\delta_{ij} - \frac{\theta_{i}\theta_{j}}{4\theta} + \frac{i}{2}\theta_{ij}.$$
(3.28)

so that upon symmetrization and anti-symmetrization, we respectively obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\langle\{\hat{X}_i,\hat{X}_j\}\rangle = x_i x_j + \frac{\theta}{2}\delta_{ij} - \frac{\theta_i\theta_j}{4\theta} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{1}{2}\langle[\hat{X}_i,\hat{X}_j]\rangle = \frac{i}{2}\theta_{ij}.$$
(3.29)

We then get

$$V_{XX}^{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_1^2}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_1\theta_2}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_1\theta_3}{4\theta} \\ -\frac{\theta_1\theta_2}{4\theta} & \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_2^2}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_2\theta_3}{4\theta} \\ -\frac{\theta_1\theta_3}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_2\theta_3}{4\theta} & \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_3^2}{4\theta} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega_{XX}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \theta_3 & -\theta_2 \\ -\theta_3 & 0 & \theta_1 \\ \theta_2 & -\theta_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.30)

Now to compute the second block matrices  $V_{XP}^c$  and  $\Omega_{XP}^c$ , we have to calculate the expectation values of  $\hat{P}_i$  and the composite  $\hat{X}_i \hat{P}_j$ . We can easily obtain

$${}_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{P}_{i}|\vec{x})_{V} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int d^{3}p \ p_{i} \ e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\vec{p}^{2}} = 0 \ .$$
(3.31)

In the same way as above, we go to the barred frame to calculate the expectation value of the composite,

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\{\hat{X}_{i},\hat{P}_{j}\}|\vec{x})_{V} = \bar{R}_{im}^{-1}\bar{R}_{jn}^{-1} _{V}(\vec{x}|\{\hat{X}_{m},\hat{P}_{n}\}|\vec{x})_{V}, \qquad (3.32)$$

where 
$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\hat{X}_{m}\hat{P}_{n}|\vec{x})_{V} = \frac{\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int \int d^{3}\bar{p} \ d^{3}\bar{p}' e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}(\vec{p}^{2}+\vec{p}'^{2})} \ e^{-i(\vec{p}-\vec{p}')\cdot\vec{x}} \bar{p}_{n}(\vec{p}'|\hat{x}_{m}|\vec{p}).$$
(3.33)

Putting (3.21), (3.22) in the above equation (3.33) and then integrating, we obtain

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|\{\hat{X}_{m},\hat{P}_{n}\}|\vec{x})_{V} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.34)

Using the expression of  $\bar{R}_{ij}$  in (2.29), and the fact that  $\langle \hat{P}_i \rangle = 0$ , we get the second block matrices as

$$V_{XP}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{X}_i, \hat{P}_j\} \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\theta_3}{2\theta} & \frac{\theta_2}{2\theta} \\ \frac{\theta_3}{2\theta} & 0 & -\frac{\theta_1}{2\theta} \\ -\frac{\theta_2}{2\theta} & \frac{\theta_1}{2\theta} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \Omega_{XP}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{I}_3.$$
(3.35)

Similarly, the third block matrices can be easily obtained as

$$V_{PX}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{P}_i, \hat{X}_j\} \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\theta_3}{2\theta} & -\frac{\theta_2}{2\theta} \\ -\frac{\theta_3}{2\theta} & 0 & \frac{\theta_1}{2\theta} \\ \frac{\theta_2}{2\theta} & -\frac{\theta_1}{2\theta} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \Omega_{PX}^{\theta} = -\frac{1}{2} \mathbb{I}_3.$$
(3.36)

Finally, the last block matrices are easily obtained as

$$V_{PP}^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{P}_i, \hat{P}_j\} \rangle - \langle \hat{P}_i \rangle \langle \hat{P}_j \rangle = \frac{1}{\theta} \mathbb{I}_3 \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega_{PP}^{\theta} = \mathbf{0}_3.$$
(3.37)

With these (3.30),(3.35), (3.36) and (3.37), the complete non-commutative variance matrix  $V^{\theta}$  and symplectic matrix  $\Omega^{\theta}$  are obtained as

$$V^{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_{1}^{2}}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{1}\theta_{3}}{4\theta} & 0 & -\frac{\theta_{3}}{2\theta} & \frac{\theta_{2}}{2\theta} \\ -\frac{\theta_{1}\theta_{2}}{4\theta} & \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_{2}^{2}}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{2}\theta_{3}}{2\theta} & \frac{\theta_{3}}{2\theta} & 0 & -\frac{\theta_{1}}{2\theta} \\ -\frac{\theta_{1}\theta_{3}}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{2}\theta_{3}}{4\theta} & \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_{3}^{2}}{4\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{2}}{2\theta} & \frac{\theta_{1}}{2\theta} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\theta_{3}}{2\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{2}}{2\theta} & \frac{1}{\theta} & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{\theta_{3}}{2\theta} & 0 & \frac{\theta_{1}}{2\theta} & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} & 0 \\ -\frac{\theta_{3}}{2\theta} & 0 & \frac{\theta_{1}}{2\theta} & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} & 0 \\ \frac{\theta_{2}}{2\theta} & -\frac{\theta_{1}}{2\theta} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} \end{pmatrix}; \ \Omega^{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \theta_{3} & -\theta_{2} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -\theta_{3} & 0 & \theta_{1} & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \theta_{2} & -\theta_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.38)

The corresponding commutative variance matrix  $V^c$  and the symplectic matrix  $\Omega^c$  can be obtained from the above respective non-commutative matrices by linear transformations (3.13) [96] as

$$V^{c} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\theta}{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\theta}{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{\theta}{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\theta} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega^{c} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.39)

We then calculate the symplectic eigenvalues of  $V^c$  i.e. the ordinary eigenvalues of  $|2i\Omega^0 V^0|$ [95] and obtain it as  $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$  i.e. 6-fold degenerate. These are the three pairs of symplectic eigenvalues, each of the form of  $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ . This can be obtained simply from the corresponding single mode of  $V^c$ :  $(\frac{\theta}{4}, \frac{1}{\theta})$  (3.39), which occurs symmetrically in all the directions  $x_1, x_2, x_3$ , by a simple canonical transformation  $(x_1, p_1) \rightarrow (\lambda x_1, \frac{1}{\lambda} p_1)$  for suitable  $\lambda \neq 0$ . In any case it is simple to see that both  $V^{\theta}$  (3.38) and  $V^c$  (3.39) satisfy the saturation condition (3.10) (since det M = 1)

$$\det V^{\theta} = \det V^{0} = \frac{1}{4^{3}}.$$
(3.40)

This indicates that the Voros basis represents a maximally localized state in phase space. But note that the Voros basis (2.43), can be factorized by going to the barred frame as

$$|\vec{x}\rangle_{V} = \left(\frac{\theta}{2\pi} \int d^{2}\bar{p} \ e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}(\bar{p}_{1}^{2} + \bar{p}_{2}^{2})} e^{i\bar{p}_{\alpha}(\hat{x}_{\alpha} - \bar{x}_{\alpha})}\right) \left(\sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2\pi}} \int d\bar{p}_{3} e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}\bar{p}_{3}^{2}} e^{i\bar{p}_{3}(\hat{x}_{3} - \bar{x}_{3})}\right) .$$
(3.41)

Here, the first factor is the 2D Voros basis (2.18) and the second :  $\int d\bar{p}_3 e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}\bar{p}_3^2} e^{i\bar{p}_3(\hat{x}_3-\vec{x}_3)} \sim e^{-\frac{1}{\theta}(\hat{x}_3-\vec{x}_3)^2}$  represents a one-dimensional Gaussian state centered at  $\bar{x}_3$  with a spread  $\Delta \bar{X}_3 \sim \sqrt{\theta}$ . Clearly, this  $\Delta \bar{X}_3$  can be made as small as we like by a suitable scaling factor and scaling up  $\Delta \bar{P}_3$  appropriately to preserve the saturation condition (obviously the resulting state is a non-Voros one). Even if  $\Delta \bar{X}_3$  is squeezed to the extreme such that  $\Delta \bar{x}_3 = 0$  we can still have  $\Delta \bar{X}_1 \Delta \bar{X}_2 \geq \frac{\theta}{2}$  for such a non-Voros state. More generally, we can write in this case

$$\Delta \bar{X}_1 \Delta \bar{X}_2 + \Delta \bar{X}_2 \Delta \bar{X}_3 + \Delta \bar{X}_3 \Delta \bar{X}_1 \ge \frac{\theta}{2}$$
(3.42)

It is therefore quite interesting to see the form of analogous inequality in the original fiducial frame for the Voros basis. Using  $\Delta \hat{X}_i = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{\theta_i^2}{4\theta}}$  from (3.38), we have

$$\Delta \hat{X}_{1} \Delta \hat{X}_{2} + \Delta \hat{X}_{2} \Delta \hat{X}_{3} + \Delta \hat{X}_{1} \Delta \hat{X}_{3} = \frac{1}{4\theta} \Big[ \sqrt{(2\theta^{2} - \theta_{1}^{2})(2\theta^{2} - \theta_{2}^{2})} + \sqrt{(2\theta^{2} - \theta_{2}^{2})(2\theta^{2} - \theta_{3}^{2})} + \sqrt{(2\theta^{2} - \theta_{1}^{2})(2\theta^{2} - \theta_{3}^{2})} \Big]$$
(3.43)

where the vector  $\vec{\theta}$  points in arbitrary direction. We can see that the expression (3.43) attains its minimum value  $\frac{\theta}{2}(1 + \sqrt{2})$  when the vector  $\vec{\theta}$  points in one of the three axes (e.g.  $\theta = \theta_3$ ;  $\theta_1 = \theta_2 = 0$ ). So we have the following condition

$$\Delta \hat{X}_1 \Delta \hat{X}_2 + \Delta \hat{X}_2 \Delta \hat{X}_3 + \Delta \hat{X}_1 \Delta \hat{X}_3 \ge \frac{\theta}{2} (1 + \sqrt{2}). \tag{3.44}$$

Thus, there exist non-Voros states on which the space-space uncertainty is lower than that of Voros states even though the phase-space uncertainty is saturated by the Voros states.

Finally, we would like to point out some subtle features of the commutative limit ( $\theta \rightarrow 0$ ). Firstly, note that one cannot take naively the commutative ( $\theta \rightarrow 0$ ) limit in (3.38). Although there is no problem in taking this limit in the block diagonal parts where  $V_{XX}^{\theta} \rightarrow \mathbf{0}_3$ ,  $\Omega_{XX}^{\theta} \rightarrow \mathbf{0}_3$  and  $V_{PP}^{\theta} \rightarrow \infty$ ,  $\Omega_{PP}^{\theta} \rightarrow \mathbf{0}_3$  as defined in (3.30) and (3.37), the off diagonal blocks  $V_{XP}^{\theta}$  and  $V_{PX}^{\theta}$  do not vanish in this limit, where one is left with terms involving trigonometric functions if one parametrizes  $\vec{\theta}$  as in (2.29). The source of this difficulty actually stems from the fact that the Voros basis written in the barred frame (3.41) is constructed by taking Fourier transform of a Gaussian state in momentum space which has the spread  $\sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\theta}}$  i.e. in terms of the non-commutative parameter  $\theta$  itself. Consequently, (3.34) which is the expression of  $V_{XP}^{\theta}$  in the barred frame turns out to be completely  $\theta$  independent, whereas the corresponding expression (3.32) in the unbarred fiducial frame is obtained by carrying out SO(3) rotation (2.29) and thus leaving the trigonometric functions as remnants. Had we considered momentum space wave function:

$$\psi(\vec{p};\alpha) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi\alpha}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\alpha}\vec{p}^2} , \qquad (3.45)$$

having a spread given by an independent parameter  $\alpha$  - distinct from  $\theta$  as was done in [96], the corresponding variance matrix in two-dimensional space would have the form :

$$V_{XP} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\theta\alpha}{4} \\ \frac{\theta\alpha}{4} & 0 \end{bmatrix} , \qquad (3.46)$$

which reduces to the corresponding  $2 \times 2$  diagonal block in (3.34) if  $\alpha = \frac{2}{\theta}$ . One can now see easily that the entire  $V_{XP}^{\theta}$  matrix vanishes in the commutative ( $\theta \rightarrow 0$ ) limit. It is therefore convenient to take the commutative limit from (3.39) itself which is the variance matrix for  $X^c - P$  space, where the off-diagonal block vanishes. Thus, in this commutative limit  $\Delta \hat{X}_i \rightarrow 0$  and  $\Delta \hat{P}_i \rightarrow \infty$ . Finally, regarding the symplectic matrix (3.38), it has a well-defined commutative limit as its value is independent of the state.

# MULTI-PARTICLE SYSTEM ON 3D MOYAL SPACE

In this chapter, we discuss the extension of Hilbert-Schimdt operator formalism of noncommutative quantum mechanics to multi-particle system. After carrying out the second quantization by introducing basis independent field operators, we compute the thermal correlation functions for a pair of free particles and then analyse the thermal effective potential between the pair of particles.

# 4.1 TWO-PARTICLE SYATEM

In commutative quantum mechanics, we consider a two particle system in terms of wavefunctions defined over  $R^6$  and therefore to think of classical configuration space as a tensor product  $R^3 \otimes R^3$ . One may therefore be tempted to take the same approach in noncommutative quantum mechanics and to introduce the non-commutative 3D configuration space for a two particle system as a tensor product of two single particle configuration spaces, i.e.,  $\mathcal{H}_c^{(2)} = \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathcal{H}_c$ . The quantum Hilbert space being the space of operators generated by the  $\hat{\vec{x}}_1$  and  $\hat{\vec{x}}_2$ , with the subscripts referring to the non-commutative coordinates of the two particles. That is, the elements of the quantum Hilbert space are operators  $\psi(\hat{\vec{x}}_1, \hat{\vec{x}}_2)$ . This is essentially the approach adopted in [97] where a Moyal-like star product between the functions  $\Psi(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)$  and  $\Phi(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)$  was introduced as

$$(\Psi \star \Phi)(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2) = \Psi(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta_{ij}(\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial x_{1i}} + \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial x_{2i}})(\frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial x_{1j}} + \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial x_{2j}})}\Phi(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)$$
(4.1)

which yields the following commutation relations which was also obtained in the approach of braided twisted symmetry [98]:

$$[\hat{x}_{\alpha i}, \hat{x}_{\beta j}] = i\theta_{ij};$$
 where  $\alpha, \beta$  are the particle labels. (4.2)

This is, however, a bit un-natural, as the  $x_1$  component of one particle does not commute with the  $x_2$  component of second particle, and that too it is independent of their separation! We therefor want to follow a different point of view by thinking of a two particle commutative system as two sets of 3D labels in the same 3D configuration space. We know that in non-commutative quantum mechanics, the notion of coordinates does not exists in classical configuration space but arise through the state  $|\psi(\hat{x})\rangle$  or, operator  $\psi(\hat{x})$  acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c$ , and describes the quantum state of the system. For example, in 2D Moyal plane, the state in quantum Hilbert space describing a single particle localized at  $z = (x_1 + ix_2) / \sqrt{2\theta}$ is given by  $|z, \phi) = |z\rangle \langle \phi | \in \mathcal{H}_q \equiv \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathcal{H}_c^*$ ,  $\forall |\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$ . Such state  $|z, \phi\rangle$  is an eigenstate of  $\hat{B}$  (2.8), i.e.  $\hat{B}|z, \phi\rangle = z|z, \phi\rangle$  and it is a minimum uncertainty state. Thus, the position measurement of the particle localized at z is insensitive to the right hand sector  $|\phi\rangle$  of the state  $|z, \phi\rangle$  as discussed earlier (2.16) [99]. More explicitly, let us calculate the Voros position representation of this state  $|z, \phi\rangle$ ,

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|z,\phi) \equiv (w|z,\phi) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}|z-w|^{2}} e^{\frac{1}{2}(\vec{w}z-w\bar{z})} \langle \phi|w\rangle ; \text{ where } |\vec{x}\rangle_{V} \equiv |w\rangle = |w\rangle \langle w|.$$
(4.3)

Setting  $\xi = w - z$ , we get

$$_{V}(\vec{x}|z,\phi) \equiv (w|z,\phi) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}|\xi|^{2}} e^{\frac{1}{2}(z\bar{\xi}-\bar{z}\xi)} \langle \phi|z+\xi \rangle.$$
(4.4)

Clearly, the state  $|z, \phi\rangle$  is localized at z with non-local corrections deriving from an expansion in  $\xi$ . Restoring dimensions,  $\xi$  is of the order  $\sqrt{\theta}$ , demonstrating that the non-local corrections are of the order of the length scale set by the non-commutative parameter. Keeping in mind that  $|z, \phi\rangle$  is an operator on  $\mathcal{H}_c$ , and therefore an element of the algebra generated by the  $\hat{x}_i$ , it can be written in the form  $|z, \phi\rangle = |\psi_{z,\phi}(\hat{x})\rangle \equiv |\psi_{\vec{x},\phi}(\hat{x})\rangle$ . Note that  $\vec{x}$  is a label and  $\hat{x}$  are operators. The two particle state is now described as the tensor product state:

$$|\vec{x}_1, \phi_1; \vec{x}_2, \phi_2) = |\psi_{\vec{x}_1, \phi_1}(\vec{x})) \otimes |\psi_{\vec{x}_2, \phi_2}(\vec{x})\rangle = \psi_{\vec{x}_1, \phi_1}(\vec{x}) \otimes \psi_{\vec{x}_2, \phi_2}(\vec{x}).$$
(4.5)

Thus, we retain the classical configuration space for multi-particle 3D non-commutative system as  $\mathcal{H}_c^3$  but take the quantum Hilbert space of multi-particle non-commutative system as the tensor product of single particle quantum Hilbert space:

$$\mathcal{H}_q^{3(2)} = \mathcal{H}_q^3 \otimes \mathcal{H}_q^3 \; \ni \; \psi_{\vec{x}_1, \phi_1}(\hat{\vec{x}}) \otimes \psi_{\vec{x}_2, \phi_2}(\hat{\vec{x}}) = \psi_1(\hat{\vec{x}}) \otimes \psi_2(\hat{\vec{x}}) \;. \tag{4.6}$$

The single particle coordinates, which are operators on quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(2)}$ , are given by  $\vec{X}_1 = \vec{X} \otimes 1_q$  and  $\vec{X}_2 = 1_q \otimes \vec{X}$ . It can be easily checked that the action of  $\vec{X}_1$  (respectively  $\vec{X}_2$ ) (or more precisely  $\hat{B}_1 = \hat{B} \otimes 1_q$  (respectively  $\hat{B}_2 = 1_q \otimes \hat{B}$ ) on the two-particle state (4.5) returns the coordinates of the first (respectively second) particle as  $z_1$  (respectively  $z_2$ ).

To define the action of these two-particle states  $\psi_1(\hat{\vec{x}}) \otimes \psi_2(\hat{\vec{x}}) \in \mathcal{H}_q^{3(2)}$  on the classical configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_c^3$ , let us recall the multiplication map  $m : \mathcal{H}_q^3 \otimes \mathcal{H}_q^3 \to \mathcal{H}_q^3$  introduced in (2.50) as

$$m[|\psi_1(\hat{x})) \otimes |\psi_2(\hat{x})|] = |(\psi_1\psi_2)(\hat{x})|.$$
(4.7)

With this, the quantum Hilbert space is endowed with the structure of an algebra [38]. Any diffeomorphism symmetry and in particular the SO(3) symmetry in our case, should therefore correspond to the automorphism symmetry of this algebra. As mentioned already in chapter 2, this automorphism symmetry of the algebra of states  $\{\psi(\hat{x})\}$  is attained at the cost of twisting the co-product of SO(3) rotation generators  $\hat{J}_i$  as  $\Delta_{\theta}(\hat{J}_i) = F\Delta_0(\hat{J}_i)F^{-1}$ , where  $\Delta_0(\hat{J}_i) = \hat{J}_i \otimes I + I \otimes \hat{J}_i$  and  $F = e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta^{ij}\hat{P}_i \otimes \hat{P}_j}$ . That is,

$$\hat{f}_i\left[m\left(|\psi_1(\hat{\vec{x}})) \otimes |\psi_2(\hat{\vec{x}})|\right)\right] = m\left[\Delta_\theta(\hat{f}_i)\left(|\psi_1(\hat{\vec{x}})| \otimes |\psi_2(\hat{\vec{x}})|\right)\right],\tag{4.8}$$

where

$$\Delta_{\theta}(\hat{f}_i) = \Delta_0(\hat{f}_i) + \frac{1}{2} \left[ \hat{P}_i \otimes (\vec{\theta} \cdot \vec{P}) - (\vec{\theta} \cdot \vec{P}) \otimes \hat{P}_i \right].$$
(4.9)

This forces us to twist the exchange operation  $\Sigma : \mathcal{H}_q^3 \otimes \mathcal{H}_q^3 \to \mathcal{H}_q^3 \otimes \mathcal{H}_q^3$ , where  $\Sigma : A \otimes B \to B \otimes A$ , to  $\Sigma_{\theta} = F \Sigma F^{-1}$  as we found that

$$\Sigma[\Delta_{\theta}(\hat{f}_i)(\psi_1(\hat{\vec{x}}) \otimes \psi_2(\hat{\vec{x}}))] \neq \Delta_{\theta}(\hat{f}_i)[\Sigma(\psi_1(\hat{\vec{x}}) \otimes \psi_2(\hat{\vec{x}})].$$
(4.10)

This deformation of the exchange operation is essential because we must have  $[\Sigma_{\theta}, \Delta_{\theta}] = 0$ . Otherwise, under a transformation like rotation the statistics of the physical state can get altered; a pure bosonic/fermionic state, obtained by projecting into symmetric/antisymmetric subspace by the projector  $P^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(I \pm \Sigma)$  will yield an admixture of bosonic/fermionic states under rotation. But this cannot be allowed as implied by the super-selection rules which says that a system of fermions or bosons should remain as the one under any transformation. Thus, corresponding to this deformed exchange operator, the deformed projection operator can be constructed as

$$P_{\theta}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (I \pm \Sigma_{\theta}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( I \pm e^{i\theta_{ij}\hat{P}_i \otimes \hat{P}_j} \Sigma \right) \quad , \quad \text{since} \quad \Sigma \ F^{-1} = F \ \Sigma \Rightarrow \Sigma_{\theta} = F^2 \Sigma \ . \tag{4.11}$$

We then obtain the twisted two-particle state as

$$|\psi_1(\hat{x}),\psi_2(\hat{x})|_{\pm\theta} = P_{\theta}^{\pm} \Big( \psi_1(\hat{x}) \otimes \psi_2(\hat{x}) \Big) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[ \psi_1(\hat{x}) \otimes \psi_2(\hat{x}) \pm e^{i\theta_{ij}\hat{P}_i \otimes \hat{P}_j} (\psi_2(\hat{x}) \otimes \psi_1(\hat{x})) \Big].$$
(4.12)

We refer to  $P_{\theta}^{\pm}$  as the twisted symmetric(+)/ antisymmetric(-) projection operator which give the twisted symmetric/ antisymmetric states corresponding to twisted bosons/ fermions system.

#### 4.2 MULTI-PARTICLE STATES

The construction of *N*-particle states proceed in complete analogy with the two particle states. The quantum Hilbert space of *N*-particle non-commutative system will be given by the following *N*-fold tensor product:

$$\mathcal{H}_{q}^{3(N)} = \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3} \otimes \dots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3}.$$
(4.13)

The elements of  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(N)}$  are of the form:

$$|\psi_{\vec{x}_{1},\phi_{1}}(\hat{\vec{x}})) \otimes |\psi_{\vec{x}_{2},\phi_{2}}(\hat{\vec{x}})) \dots \otimes |\psi_{\vec{x}_{N},\phi_{N}}(\hat{\vec{x}})) = \psi_{1}(\hat{\vec{x}}) \otimes \psi_{2}(\hat{\vec{x}}) \dots \otimes \psi_{N}(\hat{\vec{x}}).$$
(4.14)

As before the multiplication map can be extended to arbitrary N-particle state by making successive pair-wise composition and making use of the associative property of operator products to get:

$$m\left[\prod_{a=1}^{N}\otimes|\psi_a(\hat{\vec{x}}))\right] = |(\psi_1\psi_2\dots\psi_N)(\hat{\vec{x}})).$$
(4.15)

The corresponding transformation property of multi-particle states ((4.14)) can be easily obtained by making use of co-associativity of the co-product (see for example [100, 101]). The twisted *N*-particle symmetric and antisymmetric states [26] can be constructed as

$$|\psi_1,\psi_2,...,\psi_N\rangle_{\pm\theta} = P^N_{\pm\theta}(\psi_1\otimes\psi_2\otimes...\otimes\psi_N)$$
(4.16)

We need to find the form of the deformed projection operator  $P_{\pm\theta}^N$  for *N*-particle system. First of all, let us obtain the form of  $P_{\pm\theta}^3$  for 3-particle system. Here, we encounter with two deformed nearest neighbor exchange operators:  $\Sigma_{\theta}^{12} = \Sigma_{\theta} \otimes 1$  and  $\Sigma_{\theta}^{23} = 1 \otimes \Sigma_{\theta}$  acting on  $\mathcal{H}_q^3 \otimes \mathcal{H}_q^3 \otimes \mathcal{H}_q^3$ , where  $\Sigma_{\theta}^{12}$  exchanges the first and the second slots keeping the third slot fixed and  $\Sigma_{\theta}^{23}$  exchanges the second and the third slots keeping the first slot fixed. With this, we can write the deformed projection operator for 3-particle physical states as

$$P_{\pm\theta}^{3} = \frac{1}{3!} \left[ 1 \pm \left\{ \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} + \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} \right\} (\pm 1)^{2} \left\{ \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} + \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} \right\} (\pm 1)^{3} \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} \right]$$
(4.17)

where we should note that  $\Sigma_{\theta}$ 's satisfy  $(\Sigma_{\theta}^{12})^2 = 1 = (\Sigma_{\theta}^{23})^2$  and the braid equation:

$$\Sigma_{\theta}^{12} \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} = \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} \Sigma_{\theta}^{12} \Sigma_{\theta}^{23} .$$
(4.18)

In this way, for *N*-particle system we have (N - 1) deformed nearest neighbor exchange operators  $\Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1}$ , n = 1, 2..., (N - 1), acting on  $\mathcal{H}_{q}^{3(N)}$ , which exchanges only the entries at the *n*th and (n + 1)th slots, keeping all the entries at other slots fixed. That is,

$$\Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} = 1 \otimes 1 \otimes \dots \otimes \Sigma_{\theta} \otimes \dots \otimes 1 \otimes 1, \quad \Sigma_{\theta} \text{ is at the } n \text{th position.}$$
(4.19)

For an *N*-particle system, we have  $(\Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1})^2 = 1$ , and the braid equation:

$$\Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n+1,n+2} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} = \Sigma_{\theta}^{n+1,n+2} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n+1,n+2}.$$
(4.20)

Thus, the deformed projection operator  $P_{\pm\theta}^N$  for *N*-particle system is given by

$$P_{\pm\theta}^{N} = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} [1 \pm \Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} (\pm 1)^{2} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n+1,n+2} (\pm 1)^{3} \dots (\pm 1)^{N} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n,n+1} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n+1,n+2} \Sigma_{\theta}^{n+2,n+3} \dots ] (4.21)$$

Since  $\Sigma_{\theta} = F^2 \Sigma = e^{i\theta^{ij}\hat{p}_i \otimes \hat{P}_j} \Sigma$ , so in the above expression we have a phase factor for each deformed exchange operator. Thus in the last term of the above equation there are *N* phase factors for *N* deformed exchange operators. Needless to say that  $(\pm 1)^N = \pm$ , depending on whether *N* is even or odd. In this way, we can define a twisted symmetric/ antisymmetric state corresponding to the twisted bosons/fermions for *N*-particle system on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{q}^{(N)}$ .

# 4.2.1 Momentum Basis on $\mathcal{H}_{a}^{3(N)}$

Given a momentum basis  $|\vec{p}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q^3$ , we can construct the twisted symmetric/antisymmetric momentum basis on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(N)}$  as

$$|\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_N)_{\pm \theta} = P^N_{\pm \theta} \left( |\vec{p}_1\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_2\rangle \otimes \dots \otimes |\vec{p}_N\rangle \right).$$

$$(4.22)$$

For simplicity, let us first consider the momentum basis on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(2)}$ :

$$|\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{2}\rangle_{\pm\theta} = P_{\theta}^{\pm} \Big(|\vec{p}_{1}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{2}\rangle\Big) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[|\vec{p}_{1}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{2}\rangle \pm e^{ip_{2}\wedge p_{1}}|\vec{p}_{2}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{1}\rangle\Big] .$$
(4.23)

where the wedge ' $\wedge$ ' between the momenta  $\vec{p}_1$  and  $\vec{p}_2$  simply denotes the following factor:

$$p_2 \wedge p_1 = \theta^{ij} p_{2i} p_{1j}. \tag{4.24}$$

Because of the phase factor  $e^{ip_2 \wedge p_1}$ , these momentum states do not satisfy the orthogonality condition:

$$_{\pm\theta}(\vec{p}_1',\vec{p}_2'|\vec{p}_1,\vec{p}_2)_{\pm\theta} = \frac{1}{2}[\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_1)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_2) \pm e^{ip_2\wedge p_1}\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_2)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_1)].$$
(4.25)

But satisfy the following completeness relation:

$$\int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2\rangle_{\theta \ \theta} (\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2) = \mathbf{1}_q^2.$$
(4.26)

In this way, we can write the twisted symmetric/antisymmetric momentum states as

$$\begin{aligned} |\vec{p}_{1},..,\vec{p}_{n},\vec{p}_{n+1}..,\vec{p}_{N}\rangle_{\theta} &= \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} [|\vec{p}_{1}\rangle \otimes .. \otimes |\vec{p}_{n}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+1}\rangle \otimes .. \otimes |\vec{p}_{N}\rangle \\ & \pm e^{ip_{n+1}\wedge p_{n}} |\vec{p}_{1}\rangle \otimes ... \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+1}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n}\rangle \otimes ... \otimes |\vec{p}_{N}\rangle \\ (\pm 1)^{2} e^{ip_{n+1}\wedge p_{n}} e^{ip_{n+2}\wedge p_{n+1}} \{|\vec{p}_{1}\rangle \otimes .. \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+2}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+1}\rangle \otimes .. \otimes |\vec{p}_{N}\rangle \\ &+ |\vec{p}_{1}\rangle \otimes .. \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+1}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+2}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n}\rangle \otimes ... \otimes |\vec{p}_{N}\rangle \}...... \\ (\pm 1)^{N} e^{ip_{n+1}\wedge p_{n}} e^{ip_{n+2}\wedge p_{n+1}}......|\vec{p}_{N}\rangle \otimes ... \otimes |\vec{p}_{n+1}\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_{n}\rangle \otimes ... \otimes |\vec{p}_{1}\rangle] . \end{aligned}$$

These states satisfy the following relations:

$${}_{\theta}(\vec{p}_{1}',\vec{p}_{2}'...,\vec{p}_{N}'|\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{2},..,\vec{p}_{N})_{\theta} = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{n=0}^{(N-1)} [\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{1}'-\vec{p}_{1})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{2}'-\vec{p}_{2})...\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{N}'-\vec{p}_{N}) \quad (4.28)$$

$${}_{\pm}e^{ip_{n+1}\wedge p_{n}} \{\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{1}'-\vec{p}_{1}).....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n}'-\vec{p}_{n+1}).....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n+1}'-\vec{p}_{n}).....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{N}'-\vec{p}_{N})\}$$

$$(\pm 1)^{2}e^{ip_{n+1}\wedge p_{n}}e^{ip_{n+2}\wedge p_{n+1}} \{\delta(\vec{p}_{1}'-\vec{p}_{1}).....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n}'-\vec{p}_{n+2})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n+1}'-\vec{p}_{n})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n+2}'-\vec{p}_{n+1})$$

$$.....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{N}'-\vec{p}_{N}) + \delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{1}'-\vec{p}_{1}).....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n}'-\vec{p}_{n+1})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n+1}'-\vec{p}_{n+2})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{n+2}'-\vec{p}_{n})$$

$$.....\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{N}'-\vec{p}_{N})\} + .....(\pm 1)^{N}e^{ip_{n+1}\wedge p_{n}}e^{ip_{n+2}\wedge p_{n+1}}$$

$$\times \delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{1}'-\vec{p}_{N})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{2}'-\vec{p}_{N-1})......\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{N}'-\vec{p}_{2})\delta^{3}(\vec{p}_{N}'-\vec{p}_{1})].$$

and

$$\int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 \dots d^3 p_N |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2 \dots, \vec{p}_N)_{\theta \ \theta} (\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2 \dots, \vec{p}_N) = \mathbf{1}_q^N .$$
(4.29)

In addition to such non-orthogonal twisted symmetric/anti-symmetric momentum basis, we can introduce a new momentum basis which is different from the twisted one by a phase factor and it can be seen that such basis satisfies the orthonormality as well as completeness relations. Explicitly, let us introduce this new momentum basis on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{2(2)}$  as  $|\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2)$ ) (denoted henceforth by a "double ket"), given by

$$|\vec{p}_1,\vec{p}_2)) = e^{\frac{i}{2}p_1 \wedge p_2} |\vec{p}_1,\vec{p}_2\rangle_{\pm \theta} = \frac{1}{2} [e^{\frac{i}{2}p_1 \wedge p_2} |\vec{p}_1\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_2\rangle \pm e^{\frac{i}{2}p_2 \wedge p_1} |\vec{p}_2\rangle \otimes |\vec{p}_1\rangle] , \qquad (4.30)$$

with the following relations:

$$((\vec{p}_1', \vec{p}_2' | \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2)) = \frac{1}{2} [\delta^3(\vec{p}_1' - \vec{p}_1)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2' - \vec{p}_2) \pm \delta^3(\vec{p}_1' - \vec{p}_2)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2' - \vec{p}_1)]$$
(4.31)

and

$$\int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2|) ((\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2) = \mathbf{1}_q^2.$$
(4.32)

This basis will be referred to as "quasi-commutative" basis as it is found to be symmetric under the undeformed exchange operation  $\Sigma$  and so no notion of twisted statistics arises.

In the similar way we can define the new basis for 3-particle and so on as

$$\begin{aligned} |\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{3}) _{\pm} &= \frac{1}{3!} [e^{\frac{i}{2}(p_{1}\wedge p_{2}+p_{2}\wedge p_{3}+p_{1}\wedge p_{3})} |\vec{p}_{1}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{2}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{3}) \pm e^{\frac{i}{2}(p_{2}\wedge p_{1}+p_{2}\wedge p_{3}+p_{1}\wedge p_{3})} |\vec{p}_{2}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{1}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{3}) \\ &\pm e^{\frac{i}{2}(p_{1}\wedge p_{2}+p_{3}\wedge p_{2}+p_{1}\wedge p_{3})} |\vec{p}_{1}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{3}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{2}) (\pm 1)^{2} e^{\frac{i}{2}(p_{1}\wedge p_{2}+p_{3}\wedge p_{2}+p_{3}\wedge p_{1})} |\vec{p}_{3}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{1}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{2}) \\ &(\pm 1)^{2} e^{\frac{i}{2}(p_{2}\wedge p_{1}+p_{2}\wedge p_{3}+p_{3}\wedge p_{1})} |\vec{p}_{2}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{3}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{1}) (\pm 1)^{3} e^{\frac{i}{2}(p_{2}\wedge p_{1}+p_{3}\wedge p_{2}+p_{3}\wedge p_{1})} |\vec{p}_{3}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{2}) \otimes |\vec{p}_{1})]; \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.33)$$

where,

$$|\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \vec{p}_3)_{\theta} = e^{-\frac{i}{2}(p_1 \wedge p_2 + p_2 \wedge p_3 + p_1 \wedge p_3)} |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_3))_{\pm} .$$
(4.34)

These states satisfying the following orthogonality and completeness relations:

$${}^{\pm}((\vec{p}_1',\vec{p}_2',\vec{p}_3'|\vec{p}_1,\vec{p}_2,\vec{p}_3))_{\pm} = \frac{1}{3!} [\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_1)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_2)\delta^3(\vec{p}_3'-\vec{p}_3) \pm \delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_2)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_1)\delta^3(\vec{p}_3'-\vec{p}_3) \\ {}^{\pm}\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_1)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_3)\delta^3(\vec{p}_3'-\vec{p}_2)(\pm 1)^2\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_3)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_1)\delta^3(\vec{p}_3'-\vec{p}_2) \\ (\pm 1)^2\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_2)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_3)\delta^3(\vec{p}_3'-\vec{p}_1)(\pm 1)^3\delta^3(\vec{p}_1'-\vec{p}_3)\delta^3(\vec{p}_2'-\vec{p}_2)\delta^3(\vec{p}_3'-\vec{p}_1)]$$
(4.35)

and

$$\int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 d^3 p_3 |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \vec{p}_3))((\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \vec{p}_3) = \mathbf{1}_q^3.$$
(4.36)

In this way, we can get the symmetrized/anti-symmetrized quasi-commutative momentum basis for any arbitrary number of particles which satisfy the usual orthogonality and completeness relations.

# 4.3 SECOND QUANTIZATION

The second quantization method allows to create and destroy particles in a quantum system consisting of arbitrary number of indistinguishable particles. Let us consider the physical, full quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_Q^3$  which is just the direct sum of quantum Hilbert spaces with all possible number of particle states:

$$\mathcal{H}_{Q}^{3} \equiv \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3(0)} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3(1)} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3(2)} \oplus \dots \oplus \mathcal{H}_{q}^{3(n)} \oplus \dots, \qquad (4.37)$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(0)}}$  is the quantum Hilbert space with no particle and corresponds to the so called vacuum state. Clearly,  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(n)}}$  is the quantum Hilbert space with *n*-particles. We can then construct the raising/lowering operators which act on  $\mathcal{H}_Q^3$  creating a particle :  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(n)}} \to \mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(n+1)}}$  or destroying one:  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(n)}} \to \mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(n-1)}}$ . We have seen that dealing with the momentum basis on a particular quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3^{(N)}}$  with *N*-particles makes it easier. Moreover, we have two types of momentum basis in the multi-particle quantum system: the twisted symmetric/anti-symmetric momentum basis and the quasi-commutative mometum basis.

Following in the similar way as given in [102] for second quantization formalism of commutative quantum mechanics, we construct the two types of creation and annihilation operators in momentum space, corresponding to the above two types of momentum basis on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(N)}$ . Note that these ladder operators on twisted momentum basis have already been introduced on non-commutative quantum system on Moyal plane in [26, 97, 103, 104] where the use of Moyal star product is involved. Here, we proceed without using any position basis at first. We first construct the ladder operators in momentum basis, then the abstract ladder operators and at last we define the ladder operators in position basis. This will enable us to define the multi-particle states at different positions.

# 4.3.1 Creation and Annihilation operators in twisted momentum basis

The twisted symmetrized/anti-symmetrized momentum basis on the full quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_Q^3$  resolves to the identity operator as

$$\mathbf{I}_{Q} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int d^{3}p_{1} d^{3}p_{2} \dots d^{3}p_{n} |\vec{p}_{1}, \vec{p}_{2}, \dots, \vec{p}_{n}\rangle_{\pm \theta} \pm_{\theta} (\vec{p}_{1}, \vec{p}_{2}, \dots, \vec{p}_{n}|.$$
(4.38)

The overlap of any two such basis states with different number of particles on  $\mathcal{H}_Q$  vanishes. That is,

$${}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{p}_1',\vec{p}_2',...\vec{p}_N'|\vec{p}_1,\vec{p}_2,...\vec{p}_M)_{\pm\theta} = \delta_{NM\ \pm\theta}(\vec{p}_1',\vec{p}_2',...\vec{p}_N'|\vec{p}_1,\vec{p}_2,...\vec{p}_N)_{\pm\theta}.$$
(4.39)

The creation and annihilation operators in this twisted momentum basis can then be defined as

$$\hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 \dots d^3 p_n |\vec{p}, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n\rangle_{\pm \theta} |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n| ; \quad (4.40)$$

and 
$$\hat{a}(\vec{p}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 \dots d^3 p_n |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n|_{\pm \theta} (\vec{p}, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n|) .$$
 (4.41)

An arbitrary state on  $\mathcal{H}_Q$  containing *N*-particles can be created by the *N*-fold action of the creation operators on the vacuum state as

$$|\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ..., \vec{p}_N)_{\pm \theta} = \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}_1)\hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}_2)....\hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}_N)|0) ; \quad |0) \in \mathcal{H}_q^{3(0)}.$$
(4.42)

Note that any further action of the creation operator on an arbitrary state is taken as

$$\hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) | \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots \vec{p}_N)_{\pm \theta} = | \vec{p}, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_N)_{\pm \theta} .$$
(4.43)

Unlike the commutative quantum mechanics, the creation operator creating a new particle at the first slot is different from creating a particle at the last slot as these twisted field operators obey the deformed commutation relations:

$$\hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \ \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}') = \pm e^{ip' \wedge p} \ \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}') \ \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p})$$
(4.44)

$$\hat{a}(\vec{p}) \ \hat{a}(\vec{p}') = \pm e^{ip' \wedge p} \ \hat{a}(\vec{p}') \ \hat{a}(\vec{p})$$
(4.45)

and 
$$\hat{a}(\vec{p}) \ \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}') = \delta^3(\vec{p} - \vec{p}') \pm e^{ip \wedge p'} \ \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}') \ \hat{a}(\vec{p}).$$
 (4.46)

These equations essentially reproduce the results obtained in [26, 97, 103, 104]. On the other hand, the action of annihilation operator on an arbitrary state can be defined as

$$\hat{a}(\vec{p}) |\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{2},...,\vec{p}_{N}\rangle_{\theta} = \sum_{a=0}^{N} (\pm 1)^{a-1} e^{\frac{i}{2}(p \wedge p_{1}+...+p \wedge p_{a-1}+p \wedge p_{a+1}+...+p \wedge p_{n})} \delta^{3}(\vec{p}-\vec{p}_{a}) |\vec{p}_{1},...\vec{p}_{a-1},\vec{p}_{a+1},...,\vec{p}_{n}\rangle_{\theta}$$

$$(4.47)$$

# 4.3.2 Creation and Annihilation operators in quasi-commutative mometum basis

Similarly, the symmetrized/anti-symmetrized quasi-commutative orthonormal basis  $|\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ..., \vec{p}_n)$ ) resolve to the identity operator on the full quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_Q^3$  as

$$\mathbf{I}_{Q} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int d^{3}p_{1} d^{3}p_{2} \dots d^{3}p_{n} |\vec{p}_{1}, \vec{p}_{2}, \dots, \vec{p}_{n}\rangle) ((\vec{p}_{1}, \vec{p}_{2}, \dots, \vec{p}_{n}) ,$$
(4.48)

with the overlap between any two such states on  $\mathcal{H}_Q$  with distinct number of particles as

$$\pm ((\vec{p}_1', \vec{p}_2', ... \vec{p}_N' | \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ... \vec{p}_M)) \pm = \delta_{NM} \pm ((\vec{p}_1', \vec{p}_2', ... \vec{p}_N' | \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ... \vec{p}_M)) \pm .$$
(4.49)

In an analogous way, we can construct the creation and annihilation operators in the quasicommutative momentum basis as

$$\hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 \dots d^3 p_n |\vec{p}, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n))((\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n) ; \quad (4.50)$$

and 
$$\hat{c}(\vec{p}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2 \dots d^3 p_n |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n|) ((\vec{p}, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, \dots, \vec{p}_n)) , (4.51)$$

where these new operators are related to the ones of twisted basis (4.40, 4.41) as

$$\hat{a}(\vec{p}) = \hat{c}(\vec{p}) \ e^{\frac{i}{2}p_i\theta^{ij}\hat{P}_j}$$
 and  $\hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) = e^{-\frac{i}{2}p_i\theta^{ij}\hat{P}_j} \ \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p})$ . (4.52)

Here,  $\hat{P}_j$  is the total momentum. Note that similar expression also occurs in [26], but there  $\hat{c}(\vec{p})$  and  $\hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p})$  stand for entirely commutative case ( $\theta = 0$ ), in contrast to ours, where  $\theta$ -dependence persists in their defining expressions (4.50, 4.51) through the quasi-commutative basis. The fact that their (anti) commutation relations (see (4.53),(4.55) below) are just like

their commutative ( $\theta = 0$ ) counterparts, which however develops  $\theta$ -deformation in the correlation function through deformed thermal wavelength in the more physical Voros basis, as will be shown subsequently, is the reason behind adopting the terminology "quasi-commutative basis". The similar actions of these new creation/annihilation operators are given by

$$|\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ..., \vec{p}_N) = \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}_1)\hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}_2)....\hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}_N)|0) \quad \text{with} \quad \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \mid \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ..., \vec{p}_N)) = |\vec{p}, \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ..., \vec{p}_N));$$
  
and  $\hat{c}(\vec{p}) \mid \vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2, ..., \vec{p}_N)) = \sum_{a=0}^N \eta^{a-1} \delta^3(\vec{p} - \vec{p}_a) \mid \vec{p}_1, ... \vec{p}_{a-1}, \vec{p}_{a+1}, ..., \vec{p}_n)).$ 

We can easily verify that these field operators in quasi-commutative momentum basis obey the usual (i.e. like  $\theta = 0$ ) (anti) commutation relations:

$$\hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \ \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}') = \pm \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}') \ \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p})$$
(4.53)

$$\hat{c}(\vec{p}) \hat{c}(\vec{p}') = \pm \hat{c}(\vec{p}') \hat{c}(\vec{p})$$
 (4.54)

and 
$$\hat{c}(\vec{p}) \hat{c}^{\dagger}(\vec{p}') = \delta^3(\vec{p} - \vec{p}') \pm \hat{c}^{\dagger}(\vec{p}') \hat{c}(\vec{p}).$$
 (4.55)

Before we conclude this section, we would like to point out that a basis analogous to the quasi-commutative basis (4.30) was also occurred earlier in the literature (see e.g. the first formula of section 5 in [105]), by obtaining the images of the commutative (anti) symmetric wave functions under the generalized Weyl map-which is nothing but a unitary transformation from commutative to non-commutative wave functions. The emergence of the commutative ( $\theta = 0$ ) (anti) commutation relations (4.53-4.55) is therefore somewhat expected.

#### 4.4 FIELD OPERATORS

The abstract field operators, i.e. the basis independent ladder opeartors can be constructed as

$$\hat{\Psi} \equiv \hat{\Psi}(\hat{x}) = \int d^3 p \left( \hat{a}(\vec{p}) \otimes |\vec{p}) \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger} \equiv \hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\hat{x}) = \int d^3 p \left( \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \otimes (\vec{p}|) \right).$$
(4.56)

We should note that the first slot of tensor product is an operator acting on a particular quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(n)}$  to give an element of  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(n-1)}/\mathcal{H}_q^{3(n+1)}$  corresponding to one less or one more number of particles, while the second slot of the tensor product is the momentum eigenstate belonging to quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q^3$ . Thus, we can take the position representations in Voros  $|\vec{x}\rangle^V$  (2.43) or Moyal  $|\vec{x}\rangle^M$  (2.46) bases of the field operators (4.56) as

$$\hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\vec{x}^{M/V}) = \hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\hat{\vec{x}}) \left( 1 \otimes |\vec{x}|^{M/V} \right) = \int d^3p \ \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \ (\vec{p}|\vec{x})^{M/V} ; \qquad (4.57)$$

and 
$$\hat{\Psi}(\vec{x}^{M/V}) = (1 \otimes {}^{M/V}(\vec{x}|) \hat{\Psi}(\hat{\vec{x}}) = \int d^3p \ \hat{a}(\vec{p}) {}^{M/V}(\vec{x}|\vec{p}).$$
 (4.58)

We can clearly reproduce the momentum representations of the field operators (4.56) as the ones we defined in (4.40)-(4.41):

$$\hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) = \hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\hat{\vec{x}})(1 \otimes |\vec{p}\rangle) = \int_{a} d^{3}p' \, \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p'}) \, \delta^{3}(\vec{p} - \vec{p'}) = \hat{a}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) ; \qquad (4.59)$$

$$\hat{\Psi}(\vec{p}) = (1 \otimes (\vec{p}|)\hat{\Psi}(\hat{\vec{x}}) = \int d^3p' \, \hat{a}(\vec{p}') \, \delta^3(\vec{p} - \vec{p}') = \hat{a}(\vec{p}) \tag{4.60}$$

Similarly for the new oscillators  $\hat{c}(\vec{p})$  (4.50) and  $\hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p})$  (4.51), we have the field operators defined as

$$\hat{\Psi}_c \equiv \hat{\Psi}_c(\hat{\vec{x}}) = \int d^3 p \left( \hat{c}(\vec{p}) \otimes |\vec{p}) \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{\Psi}_c^{\ddagger} \equiv \hat{\Psi}_c^{\ddagger}(\hat{\vec{x}}) = \int d^3 p \left( \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \otimes (\vec{p}| \right)$$
(4.61)

with their actions defined in the analogous manner and the respective position and momentum representations can be obtained as

$$\hat{\Psi}_{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{x}^{M/V}) = \hat{\Psi}_{c}^{\ddagger}(\hat{\vec{x}}) \left( 1 \otimes |\vec{x}|^{M/V} \right) = \int d^{3}p \ \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) \ (\vec{p}|\vec{x})^{M/V} ; \qquad (4.62)$$

$$\hat{\Psi}_{c}(\vec{x}^{M/V}) = \left(1 \otimes {}^{M/V}(\vec{x}|\right) \hat{\Psi}_{c}(\hat{\vec{x}}) = \int d^{3}p \ \hat{c}(\vec{p}) {}^{M/V}(\vec{x}|\vec{p}) ; \qquad (4.63)$$

$$\hat{\Psi}_{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}) = \hat{c}^{\ddagger}(\vec{p}); \text{ and } \hat{\Psi}_{c}(\vec{p}) = \hat{c}(\vec{p}).$$
 (4.64)

Thus, we can write the twisted and the quasi-commutative two-particle Voros/Moyal bases with positions  $\vec{x}_1$  and  $\vec{x}_2$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q^{3(2)} \in \mathcal{H}_Q^3$ :

$$|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}\rangle_{\pm\theta}^{V/M} = \hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\vec{x}_{1}^{V/M})\hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}(\vec{x}_{2}^{V/M})|0) = \int d^{3}p_{1} d^{3}p_{2} (\vec{p}_{1}|\vec{x}_{1})^{V/M} (\vec{p}_{2}|\vec{x}_{2})^{V/M} |\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{2}\rangle_{\pm\theta};$$
(4.65)  
$$|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}\rangle)^{V/M} = \hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}_{c}(\vec{x}_{1}^{V/M})\hat{\Psi}^{\ddagger}_{c}(\vec{x}_{1}^{V/M})|0) = \int d^{3}p_{1} d^{3}p_{2} (\vec{p}_{1}|\vec{x}_{1})^{V/M} (\vec{p}_{2}|\vec{x}_{2})^{V/M} |\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{2}\rangle) .$$
(4.66)

Let us remind the overlaps of the Voros/Moyal position basis with the mometum eigenstate (2.45)/(2.48) as

$$(\vec{p}|\vec{x})^V = \left(\frac{\theta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}p^2} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}} \text{ and } (\vec{p}|\vec{x})^M = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-i\vec{p}.\vec{x}}.$$
 (4.67)

Putting these, we have all the possible two-particle states with positions  $\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2$  and momenta  $\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2$  (in all position bases and momentum bases that we encounter in non-commutative multi-particle system) as

$$|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2})_{\pm\theta}^{V} = \left(\frac{\theta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \int d^{3}p_{1} d^{3}p_{2} e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}(\vec{p}_{1}^{2}+\vec{p}_{2}^{2})} e^{-i(\vec{p}_{1}.\vec{x}_{1}+\vec{p}_{2}.\vec{x}_{2})} |\vec{p}_{1},\vec{p}_{2}\rangle_{\pm\theta}; \qquad (4.68)$$

$$|\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)_{\pm\theta}^M = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d^3p_1 \, d^3p_2 \, e^{-i(\vec{p}_1, \vec{x}_1 + \vec{p}_2, \vec{x}_2)} \, |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2)_{\pm\theta} ; \qquad (4.69)$$

$$|\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)|^V = \left(\frac{\theta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \int d^3p_1 \, d^3p_2 \, e^{-\frac{\theta}{4}(\vec{p}_1^2 + \vec{p}_2^2)} \, e^{-i(\vec{p}_1, \vec{x}_1 + \vec{p}_2, \vec{x}_2)} \, |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2)) ; \qquad (4.70)$$

$$|\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)|^M = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d^3 p_1 \, d^3 p_2 \, e^{-i(\vec{p}_1, \vec{x}_1 + \vec{p}_2, \vec{x}_2)} \, |\vec{p}_1, \vec{p}_2)) ; \qquad (4.71)$$

#### 4.5 TWO-PARTICLE CORRELATION FUNCTION

In order to see the effects of such extension of non-commutative quantum mechanics to many particle systems, let us consider a canonical ensemble of free gas. The application of this pure operator formalism, where we encounter so many types of multi-particle states, can be made vivid by calculating the two-particle correlation function for a free gas, consisting of a pair of non-interacting particles:

$$C(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2) = \frac{1}{Z}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | e^{-\beta H} | \vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2), \text{ where } Z = \int d^3 \vec{x}_1 d^3 \vec{x}_2 (\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | e^{-\beta H} | \vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2).$$
(4.72)

That is, *Z* is the canonical partition function;  $\beta$  is the inverse of thermodynamical temperature *T* of the canonical system with the Boltzmann constant  $k_B = 8.617 \times 10^{-5} eV.K^{-1}$ ; and *H* is the non-relativistic Hamiltonian for a pair of free particles, each of mass *m*. That is,

$$\beta = \frac{1}{k_B T}$$
 and  $H = \frac{1}{2m} (\vec{p}_1^2 + \vec{p}_2^2)$ . (4.73)

The two-particle correlation function  $C(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)$  gives us the probability of finding a particle at a position  $\vec{x}_1$ , given another particle at position  $\vec{x}_2$ . Thus, from the computation of this correlation function in different bases, we can check the nature of the twisted fermions/bosons and quasi-commutative fermions/bosons. It was found in [27] that the twisted fermions on 2D Moyal plane violates the Pauli exclusion principle. However, this result was obtained in the framework where only Moyal star product is employed and the one which employed the Voros star product is given in [106]. Thus, we compute this twisted two-particle correlation function on 3D Moyal space using the pure operatorial methods of non-commutative quantum mechanics, the Hilbert-Schimdt operator method. The difference between the two position bases: Voros and Moyal, corresponding to the two star products, should also get manifested from this computation. Moreover, we have defined another momentum basis (quasi-commutative) on the non-commutative maulti-particle system which shows commutative behaviour. So, from the computation of quasi-commutative two-particle correlation function, we expect to recover the Pauli's exclusion principle on non-commutative space.

# 4.5.1 Twisted correlation function

The twisted two-particle correlation functions for a canonical ensemble of a pair of free particles on 3D Moyal space will be of the form:

$$C_{\theta}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2) = \frac{1}{Z_{\theta}} \pm_{\theta} (\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | e^{-\beta H} | \vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)_{\pm \theta} , \qquad (4.74)$$

where  $Z_{\theta}$  is the non-commutative twisted partition function:

$$Z_{\theta} = \int d^{3}\vec{x}_{1} d^{3}\vec{x}_{2} {}^{V/M}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|e^{-\beta H}|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2})^{V/M}_{\pm\theta}, \qquad (4.75)$$

 $\beta$  is the same (4.73) and *H* is also the same, except for the notation of momenta:

$$H = \frac{1}{2m}(\vec{P}_1^2 + \vec{P}_2^2) , \qquad (4.76)$$

as we denote observables of non-commutative quantum system by capital letters. Using the completeness relation  $\int d^3k_1 d^3k_2 |\vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2|_{\pm \theta} \pm_{\theta} (\vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2) = \mathbf{1}_q^2$ , we can write

$$C_{\theta}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2) = \frac{1}{Z_{\theta}} \int d^3k_1 \ d^3k_2 \ e^{-\frac{\beta}{2m}(\vec{k}_1^2 + \vec{k}_2^2)} \left|_{\pm \theta}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | \vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2)_{\pm \theta}\right|^2.$$
(4.77)

Let us take the twisted Voros (4.68) and Moyal (4.69) bases for the above position basis and we then get followings after computation:

$$\left| \begin{array}{ccc} V \\ \pm \theta \end{array} (\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | \vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2)_{\pm \theta} \end{array} \right|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\theta}{2\pi} \right)^3 e^{-\frac{\theta}{2} (\vec{k}_1^2 + \vec{k}_2^2)} \left[ 1 \pm Re \cdot \left\{ e^{i \ k_2 \wedge k_1} \ e^{-i(\vec{k}_1 - \vec{k}_2) \cdot (\vec{x}_1 - \vec{x}_2)} \right\} \right] ; \quad (4.78)$$

$$\left| {}^{M}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|\vec{k}_{1},\vec{k}_{2})_{\pm\theta} \right|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \right)^{6} \left[ 1 \pm Re. \left\{ e^{i \ k_{2} \wedge k_{1}} \ e^{-i(\vec{k}_{1}-\vec{k}_{2}).(\vec{x}_{1}-\vec{x}_{2})} \right\} \right].$$
(4.79)

We know that, on 3D Moyal space where  $\theta^{ij}$  has a dual vector  $\theta_k$ , we can always perform an SO(3) rotation,  $\bar{R}$  (2.29) on the classical configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_c^3$ . This rotation  $\bar{R}$  will implement a unitary transformation on the single particle state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q^3$  and the two-particle state  $|\psi_1\rangle \otimes |\psi_2\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_q^{3(2)}$  through the deformed co-product  $\Delta_{\theta}(\bar{R})$  as

$$\hat{x}^i \to \hat{x}^i = \bar{R}^i_j \hat{x}^j \Rightarrow |\psi\rangle \to |\psi\rangle^{\bar{R}} = U(\bar{R})|\psi\rangle; \qquad (4.80)$$

and 
$$|\psi_1\rangle \otimes |\psi_2\rangle \rightarrow |\psi_1^R\rangle \otimes |\psi_2^R\rangle = \Delta_\theta(\bar{R})(|\psi_1\rangle \otimes |\psi_2\rangle)$$
. (4.81)

Let us remind ourselves that  $\Delta_{\theta}(\bar{R}) = F \Delta_0(\bar{R}) F^{-1}$  (2.57), where  $\Delta_0(\bar{R}) = U(\bar{R}) \otimes U(\bar{R})$  is the undeformed co-product and  $F = e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta^{ij}\hat{p}_i \otimes \hat{P}_j}$  is the Drinfeld twist. With this, we have

$${}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|e^{-\beta H}|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2})_{\pm\theta} \rightarrow {}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|e^{-\beta H}|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2})_{\pm\theta} = {}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|\left(F \ U^{\ddagger}(\bar{R}) \otimes \ U^{\ddagger}(\bar{R}) \ F^{-1}\right) \\ \times e^{-\beta H}\left(F \ U(\bar{R}) \otimes \ U(\bar{R}) \ F^{-1}\right)|\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2})_{\pm\theta}$$

$$(4.82)$$

Since the Hamiltonian of free particle is  $H = \frac{1}{2m} (\hat{\vec{P}} \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes \hat{\vec{P}})$ , it commutes with the twist F, i.e. [H, F] = 0. This implies that we can just take the factor  $e^{-\beta H}$  on the left or right side of F (4.82) and clearly we have

$$\left(F \ U^{\ddagger}(\bar{R}) \otimes \ U^{\ddagger}(\bar{R}) \ F^{-1}\right) \left(F \ U(\bar{R}) \otimes \ U(\bar{R}) \ F^{-1}\right) = \mathbb{I}.$$
(4.83)

Thus, there is overall no effect of rotation  $\overline{R}$  on the twisted two-particle correlation function for a pair of free particle, as we have

$${}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | e^{-\beta H} | \vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)_{\pm\theta} = {}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | e^{-\beta H} | \vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2)_{\pm\theta}, \quad \forall \ H : \ [H, F] = 0.$$

$$(4.84)$$

With this, let us go back to the computation of twisted two-particle correlation functions in Voros and Moyal bases. After the rotation  $\bar{R}$ , we get  $\theta_1 = \theta_2 = 0$  and  $\theta_3 = \theta_{12} = \theta$ . This simplifies the phase factor:  $e^{i k_2 \wedge k_1}$  in (4.78),(4.79) as

$$i k_2 \wedge k_1 = i \theta^{ij} k_{2i} k_{1j} = i \theta k_{2x_1} k_{1x_2} \Rightarrow e^{i k_2 \wedge k_1} = e^{i \theta k_{2x_1} k_{1x_2}}.$$
(4.85)

Denoting the interparticle distance as  $\vec{r} = \vec{x}_1 - \vec{x}_2$  , we have

$$\left| \begin{array}{ccc} V \\ \pm \theta \end{array} (\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | \vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2 )_{\pm \theta} \end{array} \right|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\theta}{2\pi} \right)^3 e^{-\frac{\theta}{2} (\vec{k}_1^2 + \vec{k}_2^2)} \left[ 1 \pm Re \cdot \left\{ e^{i \ \theta \ k_{2x_1} k_{1x_2}} \ e^{-i(\vec{k}_1 - \vec{k}_2) \cdot \vec{r}} \right\} \right]; \quad (4.86)$$

$$\left| {}^{M}_{\pm\theta}(\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|\vec{k}_{1},\vec{k}_{2})_{\pm\theta} \right|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \right)^{6} \left[ 1 \pm Re. \left\{ e^{i \ \theta \ k_{2x_{1}}k_{1x_{2}}} \ e^{-i(\vec{k}_{1}-\vec{k}_{2}).\vec{r}} \right\} \right].$$
(4.87)

Putting these in the expression of correlation functions, we get

$$C_{\theta}^{V}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{Z_{\theta}^{V}} \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\theta}{2\pi}\right)^{3} \int d^{3}k_{1} d^{3}k_{2} e^{-\left(\frac{\beta+m\theta}{2m}\right)(\vec{k}_{1}^{2}+\vec{k}_{2}^{2})} \left[1 \pm Re.\left\{e^{i\theta k_{2x_{1}}k_{1x_{2}}} e^{-i(\vec{k}_{1}-\vec{k}_{2}).\vec{r}}\right\}\right]; \quad (4.88)$$

$$C_{\theta}^{M}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{Z_{\theta}^{M}} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \right)^{6} \int d^{3}k_{1} d^{3}k_{2} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2m}(\vec{k}_{1}^{2} + \vec{k}_{2}^{2})} \left[ 1 \pm Re. \left\{ e^{i\theta k_{2x_{1}}k_{1x_{2}}} e^{-i(\vec{k}_{1} - \vec{k}_{2}).\vec{r}} \right\} \right] .$$
(4.89)

In the following, we introduce the mean thermal wavelength  $\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{2\pi\beta}{m}}$ ; and  $r_{\perp} = \sqrt{r_1^2 + r_2^2}$ and  $r_{\parallel} = r_3$  representing the relative separations along the transverse and longitudinal directions respectively, as determined by the  $\vec{\theta}$  vector. After integrating the above equations, we now obtain

$$C_{\theta}^{V}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{2Z_{\theta}^{V}} \left(\frac{2\pi\theta}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta}\right)^{3} \left[1 \pm \frac{1}{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta)^{2}}} \exp\left\{-\frac{2\pi r_{\perp}^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta) + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta)^{2}}} - \frac{2\pi r_{\parallel}^{2}}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta}\right\}\right] (4.90)$$

$$C_{\theta}^{M}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{Z_{\theta}^{M}} \frac{1}{2\lambda^{6}} \left[1 \pm \frac{1}{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{4}}} \exp\left\{-\frac{2\pi r_{\perp}^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{2}}} + \frac{2\pi r_{\parallel}^{2}}{\lambda^{2}}\right\}\right].$$

$$(4.91)$$

The corresponding partition functions can be obtained as follows:

$$Z_{\theta}^{V} = \int d^{3}\vec{x}_{1} d^{3}\vec{x}_{2} C_{\theta}^{V}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2\pi\theta}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta}\right)^{3} \left[V^{2} \pm V\left(\frac{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}\right]; \quad (4.92)$$

$$Z^{M}_{\theta} = \int d^{3}\vec{x}_{1} d^{3}\vec{x}_{2} C^{M}_{\theta}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{2\lambda^{6}} \left[ V^{2} \pm V \frac{\lambda^{3}}{2\sqrt{2}} \right], \qquad (4.93)$$

where *V* is the volume of the system. In the thermodynamic limit  $V \rightarrow \infty$ , we have

$$Z_{\theta}^{V} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{2\pi\theta}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta} \right)^{3} V^{2} \quad \text{and} \quad Z_{\theta}^{M} = \frac{1}{2\lambda^{6}} V^{2}.$$
(4.94)

Putting these in the expressions for twisted correlation functions (4.90) and (4.91), in the thermodynamic limit  $V \rightarrow \infty$ , we finally obtain the twisted two-particle correlation functions in Voros and Moyal bases as

$$C_{\theta}^{V}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{V^{2}} \left[ 1 \pm \frac{1}{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta)^{2}}} \exp\left\{ -2\pi \left\{ \frac{r_{\perp}^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta) + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta)^{2}}} + \frac{r_{\parallel}^{2}}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta} \right\} \right\} \right]; (4.95)$$

$$C^{M}_{\theta}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{V^{2}} \left[ 1 \pm \frac{1}{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{4}}} \exp\left\{-2\pi\left\{\frac{r_{\perp}^{2}}{\lambda^{2} + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{2}}} + \frac{r_{\parallel}^{2}}{\lambda^{2}}\right\}\right\} \right].$$
(4.96)

With this, we can now to discuss the above results. First of all, compare the two expressions (4.95) and (4.96) of two-particle correlation functions respectively for twisted Voros and Moyal basis. The two forms look exactly the same except for  $(\lambda^2 + 2\pi\theta)$  in Voros case wherever  $\lambda^2$  is there in Moyal case. This extra term  $2\pi\theta$  arises from the Gaussian term  $e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}\vec{p}^2}$  in Voros basis (2.43). This deformation of the mean thermal wavelength in Voros case,  $\lambda_V^2 = (\lambda^2 + 2\pi\theta)$ , implies a natural cut-off in the mean thermal wave-length because of the non-commutativity of space. Let us remind that in usual canonical system, the quantum nature of particles with average interparticle distance r and mean thermal wavelength  $\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{2\pi\beta}{m}}$  is given by the condition that  $r \leq \lambda$  where temperature T and mass m play the dominant role. However, in the non-commutative system, specially when represented in the Voros basis which is a physical position basis, we found that the non-commutative parameter  $\theta$  significantly contribute to this condition  $r \leq \lambda \mapsto r \leq \lambda_V$  for determining the quantum nature of particles. Clearly, the mean thermal wavelength for non-commutative space system cannot be made smaller than  $\sqrt{2\pi\theta}$ . This is an essential feature of the non-commutative space where oscillations with wavelngth  $\leq \sqrt{\theta}$  should be suppressed exponentially [38]. With this, the relative distance r occurring in the expression (4.95) can only be regarded as the physical distance a la Connes for the Voros case only. However, in both cases, there is a breaking of SO(3) symmetry which can be attributed non-orthogonality of the twisted momentum basis (4.25) which carries an extra phase factor  $e^{i\theta^{ij}p_{2i}p_{1j}}$  because of the twist.

Now let us discuss the crucial parts of the results. Let us put r = 0 and take the '-' sign for fermions in the expressions (4.95) and (4.96). We then get

$$C_{\theta}^{V}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{V^{2}} \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta)^{2}}} \right] \neq 0 \quad ; \quad C_{\theta}^{M}(\vec{r}) = \frac{1}{V^{2}} \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{4}}} \right] \neq 0, \tag{4.97}$$

which implies that there is finite probability that two fermions can sit on top of the other. This is the violation of Pauli exclusion principle. Note that in the commutative limit  $\theta \to 0$ and the low temperature limit  $\lambda \gg \sqrt{\theta}$ , we recover the commutative results [52].

# 4.5.2 Quasi-commutative Basis

In quasi-commutative basis, we can write the two-particle correlation function as

$$C_c(\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2) = \frac{1}{Z_c} \int d^3k_1 \, d^3k_2 \, e^{-\frac{\beta}{2m}(\vec{k}_1^2 + \vec{k}_2^2)} \left| \left( (\vec{x}_1, \vec{x}_2 | \vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2) \right) \right) \right|^2, \tag{4.98}$$

where in the Voros and Moyal bases, we have

$$\left| {}^{V}((\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|\vec{k}_{1},\vec{k}_{2})) \right|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\theta}{2\pi} \right)^{3} e^{-\frac{\theta}{2}(\vec{k}_{1}^{2}+\vec{k}_{2}^{2})} \left[ 1 \pm Re. \left\{ e^{-i(\vec{k}_{1}-\vec{k}_{2}).(\vec{x}_{1}-\vec{x}_{2})} \right\} \right]; \quad (4.99)$$

$$\left| {}^{M}((\vec{x}_{1},\vec{x}_{2}|\vec{k}_{1},\vec{k}_{2})) \right|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \right)^{6} \left[ 1 \pm Re. \left\{ e^{-i(\vec{k}_{1}-\vec{k}_{2}).(\vec{x}_{1}-\vec{x}_{2})} \right\} \right].$$
(4.100)

Putting these (4.99) and (4.100) in (4.98) for different position bases, we get the following with same partition functions in the thermodynamic limit  $V \rightarrow \infty$  as

$$C_{c}^{V}(r) = \frac{1}{Z_{c}} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{2\pi\theta}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta} \right)^{3} \left[ 1 \pm e^{-\frac{2\pi}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta}r^{2}} \right] \text{ and } C_{c}^{M}(r) = \frac{1}{Z_{c}} \frac{1}{2\lambda^{6}} \left[ 1 \pm e^{-\frac{2\pi}{\lambda^{2}}r^{2}} \right], \quad (4.101)$$

$$Z_{c}^{V} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{2\pi\theta}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta} \right)^{3} V^{2} \text{ and } Z_{c}^{M} = \frac{1}{2\lambda^{6}} V^{2} .$$
 (4.102)

With this, our final expressions for the quasi-commutative two-particle correlation functions look like

$$C_{c}^{V}(r) = \frac{1}{V^{2}} \left[ 1 \pm e^{-\frac{2\pi}{\lambda^{2} + 2\pi\theta}r^{2}} \right] \quad \text{and} \quad C_{c}^{M}(r) = \frac{1}{V^{2}} \left[ 1 \pm e^{-\frac{2\pi}{\lambda^{2}}r^{2}} \right].$$
(4.103)

Again there is structural similarity between Moyal and Voros cases, except that in Voros case, the mean thermal wavelength gets deformed as before. Moreover, the SO(3) symmetry and Pauli's exclusion principle are recovered. Note that the quasi-commutative two-particle correlation function in Moyal basis is exactly the commutative two-particle correlation function [52]. Hence, the unphysical nature of Moyal position basis regarding the non-commutativity of configuration space is revealed again by the computation of two-particle correlation function.

# 4.5.3 Thermal Effective Potential

We can then compute the effective potential for each case by putting the above expressions in the relation  $V(\vec{r}) = -k_B T \ln C(\vec{r})$ . For the convenience of comparison, we recast these

┘

expressions in terms of the dimensionless variables  $(\frac{r_{\perp}}{\lambda})$ ,  $(\frac{r_{\parallel}}{\lambda})$ ,  $(\frac{r}{\lambda})$  and  $(\frac{\theta}{\lambda^2})$ , involving the un-deformed thermal wavelength  $\lambda$ :

$$V_{\theta}^{V}(r_{\perp},r_{\parallel}) = -k_{B}T\ln C_{\theta}^{V}$$

$$= -k_{B}T\ln \left[1 + \frac{1}{\left\{1 \pm \frac{4\pi^{2}\frac{\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{4}}}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})\left\{1 + \frac{4\pi^{2}\frac{\theta^{2}}{\lambda^{4}}}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2}\theta^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi^{2})^{2}}\right\}}e^{-\left\{\frac{2\pi}{(1+4\pi$$

For the quasi-commutative Moyal and Voros bases, we have

and

$$V_{c}^{V}(r) = -k_{B}T\ln C_{c}^{V} = -k_{B}T\ln \left[1 \pm e^{-\frac{2\pi}{1+2\pi\frac{\theta}{\lambda^{2}}}\frac{r^{2}}{\lambda^{2}}}\right] ; \qquad (4.106)$$

and 
$$V_c^M(r) = -k_B T \ln C_c^M = -k_B T \ln \left[1 \pm e^{-2\pi \frac{r^2}{\lambda^2}}\right].$$
 (4.107)

The respective plots of the thermal effective potentials versus the interparticle distance  $\frac{r}{\lambda}$ are given in the following by taking the value  $\frac{\theta}{\lambda^2} = 0.1$ . Clearly, the these potential for twisted cases behave differently from the commutative potential [52], which is exactly the plot of  $V_c^M(r)$ . The difference is not significance for the twisted bosons from the usual bosons, however, the behaviour of twisted fermions is in quite constrast to that of usual fermions.







Figure 4.1: Thermal effective potential vs distance for  $\frac{\theta}{\lambda^2} = 0.1$  for each case in three-dimension. Note that, in the twisted case, this depends functionally on  $r_{\perp} = \sqrt{r_x^2 + r_y^2}$  and  $r_{\parallel}$ , in contrast to quasi commutative case, where it depends only on r.

# Part II

# Spectral distances on Non-commutative spaces

# SPECTRAL TRIPLE AND CONNES' SPECTRAL DISTANCE

Non-commutative geometry is the most generalized form of geometry which even take care of discrete space and fractals as well [1] where the notion of points and paths are generalized with the means of algebraic structures associated with the corresponding space.

#### 5.1 SPECTRAL TRIPLE METHOD OF NON-COMMUTATIVE GEOMETRY

As mentioned already, Connes' approach to non-commutative geometry [54] replaces the notion of a compact differentiable manifold by the spectral triple ( $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{D}$ ). This is given by an involutive unital algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  of operators acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  through a representation, denoted say by  $\pi$  and a self-adjoint operator  $\mathcal{D}$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  with the conditions:

- 1. the resolvent  $(\mathcal{D} \lambda)^{-1}$ ,  $\lambda \notin \text{Sp}.\mathcal{D}$  of  $\mathcal{D}$  is compact (if  $\mathcal{A}$  is non-unital corresponding to a locally compact Hausdorff space, the condition is  $\pi(a)(\mathcal{D} \lambda)^{-1}$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}$  is compact [107]),
- 2. the commutators  $[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]$  are bounded,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}$ .

With this,  $\mathcal{D}^{-1}$  (if  $0 \notin \text{Sp}.\mathcal{D}$ ) or, in general,  $(\mathcal{D} - \lambda)^{-1}$  plays the role of infinitesimal *ds* and the pure states of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  play the role of points such that the generalized distance between a pair of pure states  $\omega$  and  $\omega'$  is given by

$$d(\omega, \omega') \doteq \sup_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ |\omega(a) - \omega'(a)| : \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} \le 1 \right\},\tag{5.1}$$

called the spectral distance. This reduces to the usual geodesic distance between two points on the commutative differentiable manifold.

A spectral triple is said to be **even** if there exists a self adjoint unitary operator called grading or chirality operator  $\gamma$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  which commutes with  $\pi(a)$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}$  and anticommutes with the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}$ . Moreover, the spectral triple is said to be **real** if there exists an antilinear isometry  $J : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  such that the representation  $\pi^0$  of the opposite algebra  $\mathcal{A}^0 = \{a^0 = Ja^*J^\dagger : a \in \mathcal{A} \text{ with product } a^0b^0 = (ba)^0\}$  commutes with  $\pi(\mathcal{A})$ . Moreover, Jshould commute/anticommute with  $\gamma$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  according to the *KO*-dimension [54, 90].

There are more axioms for the spectral triple to satisfy so that it gives a complete description of topological and geometrical properties of a general space. However, for the computation of spectral distance these additional axioms are not necessary. The most important thing about the spectral distance is the computation of the operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{op}$  which is usually difficult. This is the challenge we take up in this thesis. In a spectral triple, it is the Dirac operator which gives the geometric information and hence plays an important role in studying the metric properties of the given  $C^*$ -algebra.

To understand the spectral triple formalism in a better way, let us consider the commutative spin geometry. Then we will go through the non-commutative generalization of spin manifold by introducting an spectral triple and compare the geometric properties.

# 5.2 SPIN GEOMETRY

In this section, we are reviewing the definition of a spin manifold and its corresponding Dirac operator. Here, we provide a brief outline of the spin geometry given in [90, 91, 108].

# 5.2.1 Clifford algebras

A real vector space V is said to be equipped with a nondegenerate symmetric bilinear form g if we have

$$g: V \times V \to \mathbb{R} \; ; \; g(u,v) = g(v,u) \; \forall \; u,v \in V \; . \tag{5.2}$$

We can then define a real Clifford algebra Cl(V) over V as an associative algebra generated by V where the Clifford product '.' is subjected to the relation:

$$u.v + v.u = 2g(u,v) \quad \forall \ u,v \in V.$$
(5.3)

As a vector space, this Clifford algebra Cl(V) is isomorphic with the exterior algebra  $\Lambda(V)$ with the exterior product ' $\wedge$ ' subject to the relation:  $u \wedge v + v \wedge u = 0$ ,  $\forall u, v \in V$  and  $dim(Cl(V)) = dim(\Lambda(V)) = 2^n$  if dim(V) = n.

Given a unital real algebra A and  $f : V \to A$  a real linear map satisfying  $[f(v)]^2 = g(v,v).\mathbb{I}_A$ ,  $\forall v \in V$ , we have a unique algebra homomorphism  $\tilde{f} : Cl(V) \to A$ . If A = Cl(V), then the linear map  $v \to -v$  on V extends to an automorphism  $\chi \in Aut(Cl(V))$ , given by

$$\chi(v_1....v_n) := (-1)^n v_1....v_n$$
, satisfying  $\chi^2 = \mathrm{id}_A.$  (5.4)

This  $\chi$  gives the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading spliting of Cl(V) into an even subalgebra (which consists of all linear combination of Clifford product of an even number of elements of *V*) and odd subspace:

$$Cl(V) = Cl(V)^+ \oplus Cl(V)^-$$
, where  $Cl(V)^{\pm}$  denotes the (±)-eigenspace of  $\chi$ . (5.5)

Complexification of Clifford algebras Cl(V) is obtained by complexifying the vector space V as  $V^{\mathbb{C}} = V \oplus iV$  extending the symmetric bilinear form g on V as  $g(u_1 + iv_1, u_2 + iv_2) = g(u_1, v_1) + ig(u_1, v_2) + ig(v_1, u_2) - g(v_1, v_2)$  on  $V^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Thus, the complex Clifford algebra  $\mathbb{C}l(V) = Cl(V) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  over V is an associative algebra generated by  $V^{\mathbb{C}}$  with the Clifford product '.', subjected to the relation:  $u.v + v.u = 2g(u, v) \quad \forall u, v \in V^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Such complex Clifford algebras  $\mathbb{C}l(V)$  are found to be isomorphic to the matrix algebras as

$$\mathbb{C}l(V) \cong \begin{cases} M_{2^m}(\mathbb{C}) & \text{if } dim.V = n = 2m, \text{ even}; \\ M_{2^m}(\mathbb{C}) \oplus M_{2^m}(\mathbb{C}) & \text{if } dim.V = n = 2m + 1, \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

The relationship between the two copies of  $M_{2^m}(\mathbb{C})$  for odd *n* is clarified by the introduction of the chirality element:

$$\gamma = (-1)^m e_1 \dots e_n; \quad \text{with either } n = 2m \text{ or } n = 2m+1 \text{ and } m = \left[\frac{n}{2}\right], \tag{5.7}$$

where  $\{e_i\}$  is an orthonormal basis of *V*. We can regard a matrix algebra  $M_{2^m}(\mathbb{C})$  as the space of endomorphisms of an  $2^m$ -dimensional complex vector space S. Thus, we have the following isomorphisms:

$$\mathbb{C}l(V) \cong \begin{cases} \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{S}) & \text{if } \dim V = n = 2m, \text{ even;} \\ \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{S}^+) \oplus \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{S}^-) & \text{if } \dim V = n = 2m+1, \text{ odd,} \end{cases}$$
(5.8)

where  $S, S^+, S^-$  are  $2^m$ -dimensional complex vector spaces. This yields a representation of the Clifford algebra  $\mathbb{C}l(V)$  on the spinor space *S* for even *n* and  $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$  for odd *n*, given by  $c : \mathbb{C}l(V) \to \operatorname{End}(S)$ . With this, we can define the Clifford multiplication in  $\mathbb{C}l(V)$  as a map  $\hat{c} : \mathbb{C}l(V) \otimes S \to S$ .

#### 5.2.2 Spin Manifold

Let us consider an *n*-dimensional differentiable manifold M with a metric  $g = g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} \otimes dx^{\nu}$ . Then we have the tangent space  $T_x M$  and co-tangent space  $T_x^* M$  which are vector spaces at each point  $x \in M$ , equipped with the symmetric bilinear forms as g(x) and  $g^{-1}(x)$  respectively. We can then define real Clifford algebras  $Cl(T_x^*M)$  over each point  $x \in M$  of the manifold. We can complexify our co-tangent spaces  $T_x^*M$  so that we get the complex Clifford algebras  $Cl(T_x^*M)$ . The **Clifford bundle**  $Cl(M) \to M$  is then defined as the bundle of complex Clifford algebras generated by the co-tangent bundle  $T^*M \to M$  with the symmetric bilinear form  $g^{-1}$  and is denoted by

$$\mathbb{C}l(M) := \mathbb{C}l(T^*M) = \bigcup_{x \in M} \mathbb{C}l(T^*_x M).$$
(5.9)

At each point  $x \in M$ , the Clifford algebra  $\mathbb{C}l(T_x^*M)$  has a representation on a spinor space  $S_x$ . Even though all these Clifford algebras  $\mathbb{C}l(T_x^*M)$  at every point  $x \in M$  join to form the Clifford bundle, one question arises whether these spinor spaces  $S_x$  at every point  $x \in M$  join to form an appropriate vector bundle. The answer is in affirmative iff they satisfy certain conditions. Let A := C(M) represents an algebra of continuous functions on M and the space of sections of the Clifford bundle be

$$B := \begin{cases} \Gamma(M, \mathbb{C}l(T^*M)) &, n = \text{even}; \\ \Gamma(M, \mathbb{C}l^+(T^*M)) &, n = \text{odd.} \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  denote the restrictions of A and B to smooth functions and smooth sections respectively. The spinor spaces  $S_x$  at each point  $x \in M$  can then be joined to form a vector bundle called spinor bundle S if the Dixmier-Douady class  $\delta(\underline{B})^{1}$  and the second Stiefel-Whitney class  $\kappa(B)$  both vanish identically [90, 91]. The manifold satisfying these conditions is called a spin manifold. If M is a spin manifold without boundary M, we can define the spinor module as the *B*-*A*-bimodule  $S := \Gamma(M, S)$  such that the vector space  $S_x \cong S$  at each point  $x \in M$  is an irreducible representation of the Clifford algebra  $B_x \cong \mathbb{C}l(T_x^*M)$ . Therefore, any spinor module S has a partner  $S^{\sharp} = \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(S, A)$  such that  $S \otimes_{A} S^{\sharp} \simeq B$ and  $S^{\sharp} \otimes_B S \simeq A$ . Note that  $S^{\sharp} \simeq \Gamma(M, S^*)$  where  $S^* \to M$  is the dual vector bundle to the spinor bundle  $S \rightarrow M$ . Given a complex vector bundle  $E \rightarrow M$  and the space of sections  $\mathcal{E} := \Gamma(E)$  is equipped with the  $C^{\infty}(M)$ -bilinear form  $g^E : \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{E} \to C^{\infty}(M)$ , we can define a  $C^{\infty}(M)$ -valued Hermitian pairing  $(s|t) = g^{E}(s^{*}, t)$ ,  $\forall s, t \in \mathcal{E}$  with the scalar product on  $\mathcal{E}$  as  $\langle s|t\rangle = \int_M (s|t)v_g$ , where  $v_g$  is the volume form on M. With such scalar product  $\langle s|t\rangle$ , the square-integrable spinors form a Hilbert space  $L^2(M, S)$  as the completion of  $\{\psi \in S = \Gamma(M, S) ; \langle s | t \rangle < \infty\}$  in the norm  $\|\psi\| = \sqrt{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle}$ ,  $\forall \psi \in S$ . Then, there is a *B-A* – bimodule isomorphism  $S^{\sharp} \simeq S$  if and only if there is an antilinear endomorphism *C* of *S* which becomes antiunitary operator called the **charge conjugation** on the Hilbert space completion  $L^2(M, S)$  of S.

# 5.2.3 Spin Connection

A connection  $\nabla^E$  on a vector bundle  $E \to M$  with smooth sections  $\mathcal{E} = \Gamma(M, E)$  is a linear map  $\nabla^E : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ , where  $\mathcal{A}^1(M) = \Gamma(M, T^*M)$ , satisfying the Leibniz rule,

$$\nabla^{E}(\sigma f) = \nabla^{E}(\sigma)f + \sigma \otimes df$$
,  $\forall \sigma \in \mathcal{E}$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$ ; *d* is the exterior derivative. (5.11)

We can equivalently define a map  $\nabla_X^E : \mathfrak{X}(M) \otimes \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$  called covariant derivative, which includes a vector field  $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$  satisfying the Leibniz rule: $\nabla_X^E(\sigma f) = \nabla_X^E(\sigma)f + \sigma X(f)$ . If

1  $\underline{B}$  denotes the collection of fibres:  $\underline{B} := \begin{cases} \{B_x = \mathbb{C}l(T^*M) : x \in M\}, & \text{if } dim.M \text{ is even} \\ \{B_x = \mathbb{C}l^+(T^*M) : x \in M\}, & \text{if } dim.M \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$  which is locally trivial.

 $\mathcal{E} = \mathfrak{X}(M) = \Gamma(M, TM)$ , then the connection which is torsion-free:  $\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X - [X, Y] = 0$ ,  $\forall X, Y \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$  and compatible with the metric  $g: g(\nabla_Z X, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Z Y) = Z(g(X, Y))$  is called the **Levi-Civita connection**  $\nabla^g$ . The dual connection on the co-tangent bundle  $T^*M$  with smooth sections  $\mathcal{A}^1(M)$  is referred to as the Levi-Civita connection on 1-forms and is also denoted by  $\nabla^g$ . If  $\mathcal{E}$ , which is an  $\mathcal{A}$ -module, is equipped with an  $\mathcal{A}$ -valued Hermitian pairing (.|.) then the connection  $\nabla$  is said to be Hermitian if  $(\nabla s|t) + (s|\nabla t) = d(s|t)$ .

To define the connection<sup>2</sup> on the spinor bundle *S* with the finitely generated projective spinor module  $S = \Gamma(M, S)$ , let us extend the Clifford multiplication  $\hat{c} : \mathcal{B}_x \otimes S_x \to S_x$  to the spinor module *S* which carries an action of *B* as

$$\hat{c}(b\otimes\psi)(x) = \hat{c}(b(x)\otimes\psi(x))$$
,  $\forall b\in\mathcal{B}$  and  $\psi\in\mathcal{S}$   $\Leftrightarrow$   $\hat{c}(b\otimes\psi) = c(b)\psi$ . (5.12)

Using the inclusion  $\mathcal{A}^1(M) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}$ , we can define a map  $\hat{c} : \mathcal{A}^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{S}$ . In odd dimensional case,  $\mathcal{B}$  consists of only even elements and the inclusion is given by  $c(\alpha) := c(\alpha\gamma)$ ,  $\forall \alpha \in \mathcal{A}^1(M)$ . On a local basis  $dx^{\mu}$  of  $\mathcal{A}^1(M)$ , let us introduce  $\gamma^{\mu} := c(dx^{\mu})$ .

The **spin connection** on the spinor bundle  $S \to M$  is a Hermitian connection  $\nabla^S : S \to A^1(M) \otimes_A S$  which is compatible with the action of  $\mathcal{B}$  in the following way

$$\nabla^{S}(c(\alpha)\psi) = c(\nabla^{g}\alpha)\psi + c(\alpha)\nabla^{S}\psi, \quad \forall \ \alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{1}(M), \ \psi \in \mathcal{S};$$
(5.13)

where  $\nabla^g$  is the Levi-Civita connection on  $\mathcal{A}^1(M)$  and  $\nabla^S_X C = C \nabla^S_X$ , where  $\nabla^S_X : \mathfrak{X}(M) \otimes S \to S$ , for real  $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ .

The **Dirac operator**  $\mathcal{D} : S \to S$  is a first-order partial differential operator associated to the spin connection  $\nabla^S$  as

$$\mathcal{D} := -i\hat{c} \circ \nabla^{S} , \quad \text{where} \quad S \xrightarrow{\nabla^{S}} \mathcal{A}^{1}(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} S \xrightarrow{\hat{c}} S.$$
(5.14)

In local coordinates, where the spin connection is given locally as  $\nabla^S = dx^{\mu} \otimes \nabla^S_{\mu}$ , by applying the Clifford multiplication  $\hat{c}$  on  $dx^{\mu}$  we can locally write the Dirac operator as

$$D = -i\gamma^{\mu}\nabla^{S}_{\mu}$$
, where  $\nabla^{S}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma_{a}\gamma_{b}$ . (5.15)

Note that  $\nabla^g_\mu e_a = \omega^b_{\mu a} e_b$  where  $\{e_a\}$  is the local veilbein such that  $c(e_a) = \gamma_a$ .

# 5.3 CONNES' SPECTRAL TRIPLE OF A COMPACT SPIN MANIFOLD

Given a compact orientable Riemannian spin manifold (M, g), we can define the following spectral triple:

<sup>2</sup> the lift of the Levi-Civita connection

The action  $\pi$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  is defined through the pointwise multiplication :  $(\pi(a)\psi)(x) = a(x)\psi(x), \forall a \in \mathcal{A}, \psi \in \mathcal{H}.$ 

The pure states of A are the evaluations at points:  $\delta_x(a) = a(x)$  and the commutator  $[D, \pi(a)]$  can be obtained as

$$\begin{split} [D, \pi(a)] &= -i\hat{c}\big(\nabla^{S}(a\psi)\big) + ia\hat{c}(\nabla^{S}\psi) \\ &= -i\hat{c}\{a\nabla^{S}\psi + da\otimes\psi\} + ia\hat{c}(\nabla^{S}\psi) \text{ , where } \hat{c}(a) = a \\ &= -i\hat{c}(da)\psi \text{ , } \forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}. \end{split}$$

Thus,  $[D, \pi(a)] = -i\hat{c}(da) = -i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}a$  so that its operator norm is

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|^{2} = \sup_{x \in M} \|c_{x}(da(x))\|^{2} = \sup_{x \in M} \|\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}a\|^{2}; \ \|\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}a\|^{2} = (\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}a|\gamma^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}a),$$
(5.17)

where  $(\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}a|\gamma^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}a) = (\partial_{\mu}a)^*\partial_{\nu}a g^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu},\gamma^{\nu}) = \partial_{\mu}a^*\partial_{\nu}a g^{\mu\nu} = \|\text{grad }a|_x\|^2$ , where  $g^{-1}$  is the symmetric bilinear form on  $T^*M$  and grad  $a|_x \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$  is the gradient of  $a \in C^{\infty}(M)$  at point  $x \in M$ . That is,

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|^2 = \sup_{x \in M} \|c_x(da(x))\|^2 = \sup_{x \in M} \|\text{grad } a|_x\|^2 = \|\text{grad } a\|_{\infty}^2.$$
(5.18)

Now the Connes' spectral distance formula between two pure states  $\delta_x$  and  $\delta_y$  is given by

$$d_{\mathcal{D}}(\delta_{x},\delta_{y}) = \sup_{a\in\mathcal{A}} \left\{ |\delta_{x}(a) - \delta_{y}(a)| : \|[\mathcal{D},\pi(a)]\| \le 1 \right\}$$
  
$$= \sup_{a\in\mathcal{A}} \left\{ |a(x) - a(y)| : \|\operatorname{grad} a\|_{\infty} \le 1 \right\}.$$
(5.19)

Let us introduce a curve  $\lambda : [0,1] \to M$  such that  $\lambda(0) = x$  and  $\lambda(1) = y$ . We define the geodesic distance between two points *x* and *y* on the Riemannian manifold (*M*, *g*) as

$$d_{geo}(x,y) = \inf_{\lambda \in M} \{ \text{length of curve } \lambda \text{ from } x \text{ to } y \} = \inf_{\lambda \in M} \int_0^1 \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}}.$$
(5.20)

Let us now see how the Connes' spectral distance between two pure states  $\delta_x$  and  $\delta_y$  reduces to the geodesic distance between two points *x* and *y*. Clearly, we can write

$$|a(x) - a(y)| = |a(\lambda(0)) - a(\lambda(1))| = \left| \int_0^1 \frac{d}{dt} \{a(\lambda(t))\} dt \right| = \left| \int_0^1 \operatorname{grad} a|_{\lambda(t)} \dot{\lambda}(t) dt \right|.$$
(5.21)

Since  $\left|\int_{0}^{1} \operatorname{grad} a|_{\lambda(t)}\dot{\lambda}(t)dt\right| \leq \int_{0}^{1} |\operatorname{grad} a|_{\lambda(t)}|\dot{\lambda}(t)|dt \leq \|\operatorname{grad} a\|_{\infty} \int_{0}^{1} |\dot{\lambda}(t)|dt$ , we get

$$|a(x) - a(y)| \le \|\text{grad } a\|_{\infty} \text{ {Length of } } \lambda \text{ from } x = \lambda(0) \text{ to } y = \lambda(1) \text{ }. \tag{5.22}$$

Thus we can see that the Connes' spectral distance is bounded above by the geodesic distance as

$$d_{\mathcal{D}}(\delta_x, \delta_y) = \sup_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ |a(x) - a(y)| : \| \text{grad } a \|_{\infty} \le 1 \right\} \le d_{geo}(x, y).$$
(5.23)

To prove that this inequality gets saturated for some  $a \in C^{\infty}(M)$  such that Connes' spectral distance is indeed a geodesic distance on a Riemannian spin manifold, we first note that our search here can be restricted to real functions only [110]. We therefore introduce some function  $a'_p(x) = d_{geo}(x, p)$  for a fixed given point  $p \in M$ . We know that the geodesic distance function saturates the triangle inequality:  $|a'_p(x) - a'_p(y)| \leq d_{geo}(x, y)$  for p lying on the geodesic connecting the points x and y and  $||\text{grad } a'_p||_{\infty} = ||[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a'_p)]|| = 1$ . This implies that  $a'_p(x) = d_{geo}(x, p) \in \mathcal{A}$  saturates the inequality (5.23). Hence, the Connes' spectral distance between two pure states  $\delta_x$  and  $\delta_y$  for the commutative spectral triple (5.16) gives the geodesic distance between two points x and y of the manifold M:

$$d_{\mathcal{D}}(\delta_x, \delta_y) = d_{geo}(x, y). \tag{5.24}$$

# 5.4 Spectral distance on real line $\mathbb{R}^1$



Figure 5.1: Computation of Connes' spectral distance in 1D

To illustrate the ideas perhaps in the simplest possible way, let us consider a "down-to-earth" example of the 1D real line, where the spectral triple is  $(\mathcal{A} = C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^1), \mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^1), \mathcal{D} = -i\frac{d}{dx})$  with the action of  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ :  $(\pi(f)\psi)(x) = f(x)\psi(x), \forall \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^1)$ , we have the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}, \pi(f)]\psi = -i\left(\frac{df}{dx}\right)\psi$  yielding the ball condition  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(f)]\| =$ 

 $\left\|\frac{df}{dx}\right\| \leq 1$ . The pure states of  $f \in A$  are just evaluations at point  $x \in \mathbb{R}^1$ :  $\delta_x(f) = f(x)$ . The Connes' spectral distance in 1D real space  $\mathbb{R}^1$  is then given by

$$d(\delta_{x}, \delta_{y}) = \sup_{f \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ |\delta_{x_{0}}(f) - \delta_{y_{0}}(f)| : \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(f)]\| \le 1 \right\}$$
  
= 
$$\sup_{f \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ |f(x_{0}) - f(y_{0})| : \|\frac{df}{dx}\| \le 1 \right\} = |x_{0} - y_{0}|.$$
(5.25)

In the spirit of Gelfand and Naimark [55], this can be regarded as the distance between the points *x* and *y*.

Note that  $\forall f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^1)$ , as shown in fig. 5.1, the ball condition  $\left\|\frac{df}{dx}\right\| \leq 1$  chooses those functions for which the slope  $\left|\frac{df}{dx}\right| \leq 1$  such that the supremum of the difference of the functions is bounded by the distance between the points at which the functions are evaluated. The functions which saturate this bound are  $f(x_0) = \pm x_0 + k$ , where *k* is some constant.

# 5.5 SPECTRAL DISTANCE ON TWO-POINT SPACE, A DISCRETE SPACE [107, 109]

Now, let us consider the simplest example of finite space which is the space consisting of only two points  $X_2 = (a, b)$ . For this space, the algebra is  $A_2 = \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}$  with the elements f which are given by a pair of complex numbers f(a) and f(b) which are the evaluations of the function  $f \in A_2$  at the points a, b. A pair  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  of such functions necessarily satisfy [107]

$$(f_1f_2)(a) = f_1(a)f_2(a)$$
,  $(f_1f_2)(b) = f_1(b)f_2(b)$ . (5.26)

Clearly,  $A_2$  can be written as the diagonal sub-algebra of  $A_2$  and itself can be defined to be the representation  $\pi$  of  $f \in A_2$  which in turn acts on  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , taken to be also as  $\mathbb{C}^2$  as,

$$f\begin{pmatrix}\lambda_1\\\lambda_2\end{pmatrix} = \pi(f)\begin{pmatrix}\lambda_1\\\lambda_2\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}f(a) & 0\\ 0 & f(b)\end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix}\lambda_1\\\lambda_2\end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix}\lambda_1\\\lambda_2\end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^2 \equiv \mathcal{H}_2.$$
(5.27)

The Dirac operator can be taken as an off-diagonal matrix [109]:

$$\mathcal{D}_2 = \mathcal{D}_2^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda \\ \bar{\Lambda} & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \quad \Lambda \in \mathbb{C} .$$
(5.28)

The commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_2, \pi(a)] = (f(a) - f(b)) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda \\ -\bar{\Lambda} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  such that the operator norm is  $\|[\mathcal{D}_2, \pi(a)]\| = |f(a) - f(b)||\Lambda|$ . The spectral distance between these two pure (normal) states  $\omega_a(f) = \operatorname{Tr}\{\rho_a \pi(f)\} = f(a)$  and  $\omega_b(f) = \operatorname{Tr}\{\rho_b \pi(f)\} = f(b)$  representing the two
points *a* and *b* on X<sub>2</sub> in terms of the associated density matrices  $\rho_a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ 

and 
$$\rho_b = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0&1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0&0\\0&1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 is given by  

$$d_{\mathcal{D}_2}(\omega_1, \omega_2) = \sup_{a \in \mathcal{A}_2} \left\{ |f(a) - f(b)| \ : \ |f(a) - f(b)| |\Lambda| \le 1 \right\} = \frac{1}{|\Lambda|}.$$
(5.29)

If  $\Lambda = 0$ , then the spectral distance becomes infinite.

# 5.6 Spectral distance on the state space $\mathbb{CP}^1$ of $M_2(\mathbb{C})$ [82, 110]

Let us now consider a non-commutative spectral triple i.e., for which the algebra is noncommutative. This is perhaps the simplest example of non-commutative spectral triples where the algebra is the algebra of complex  $2 \times 2$  matrices :

$$\mathcal{A} = M_2(\mathbb{C}) , \quad \mathcal{H}_2 = \mathbb{C}^2 , \quad \mathcal{D}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda \\ \bar{\Lambda} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = |\Lambda| \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{i\lambda} \\ e^{-i\lambda} & 0 \end{pmatrix} ; \quad \Lambda = |\Lambda|e^{i\lambda} . \quad (5.30)$$

The Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_2$ , being a Hermitian matrix, can be brought to a diagonal form:

$$\mathcal{D}_{2}^{U} = U^{\dagger} \mathcal{D}_{2} U = \begin{pmatrix} -|\Lambda| & 0\\ 0 & |\Lambda| \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} D_{1} & 0\\ 0 & D_{2} \end{pmatrix} ; \text{ where } U = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e^{i\lambda}\\ -e^{-i\lambda} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.31)

Clearly,  $D_1 = -|\Lambda|$  and  $D_2 = |\Lambda|$  are the real and distinct eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{D}$ .

Now any normalized vector  $\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1 = x_1 + ix_2 \\ \chi_2 = x_3 + ix_4 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^2$  with the normalization condition  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = |\chi_1|^2 + |\chi_2|^2 = 1$  can be used to define a map  $\omega : M_2(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\forall \ a \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{C}), \ a \mapsto \chi^{\dagger}a\chi$ . Such maps  $w(a) = \chi^{\dagger}a\chi \in \mathbb{C}$  are referred to as the vector states of  $a \in M_2(\mathbb{C})$  and are gauge invariant under the U(1) transformation  $\chi \to \chi' = e^{i\theta}\chi$ . This implies that the space of vector states  $\mathcal{S}(M_2(\mathbb{C})) \simeq \mathbb{CP}^1$ . Then choosing a local gauge, say  $\chi_2 = \chi_2^* = x_3$ , the above normalization condition  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = 1$  reduces from  $\mathbb{S}^3(x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 + x_4^2 = 1)$  to  $\mathbb{S}^2(x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = 1)$  so that we can identify  $\mathbb{CP}^1 \simeq \mathbb{S}^2$ . We can then use the local parametrization  $\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}e^{i\phi} \\ \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix}$  with the further association of  $\chi \in \mathbb{C}P^1$  to  $\vec{x} \in S^2$  satisfying  $\vec{x}^2 = 1$  where the respective components are  $x_1 = \sin \theta \cos \phi$ ,  $x_2 = \sin \theta \sin \phi$ ,  $x_3 = \cos \theta$ .

We can now associate a density operator  $\rho$  on  $S(M_2(\mathbb{C}))$  as  $\rho = \chi \chi^{\dagger}$  so that we can define the normal state on the algebra  $M_2(\mathbb{C})$  as  $\omega_{\rho}(a) = \text{Tr}(\rho a)$ . The spectral distance between two normal states can then be written as

$$d_{\mathcal{D}_{2}}(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \sup_{a \in M_{2}(\mathbb{C})} \{ |\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| : \| [\mathcal{D}_{2},\pi(a)] \|_{\mathrm{op}} \le 1 \}.$$
(5.32)

It is shown in [110] that the above supremum value will be attained by the positive and hermitian elements of algebra. This implies that we can restrict our search to the subset of positive and hermitian elements only. And since such elements remain so after a unitary transformation like (5.31). Parametrising this as  $a \to U^{\dagger}aU \equiv a^{U} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{12}^{*} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix}$ , we get the simplified commutator as

$$[\mathcal{D}_2, \pi(a)] \xrightarrow{U} [\mathcal{D}_2^U, \pi(a^U)] = (D_1 - D_2) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_{12} \\ -a_{12}^* & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.33)

Clearly, the ball condition gives the following bound on the off-diagonal elements of  $a^{U}$  only

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_2, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \|[\mathcal{D}_2^U, \pi(a^U)]\|_{\text{op}} = |a_{12}||D_1 - D_2| \le 1 \implies |a_{12}| \le \frac{1}{|D_1 - D_2|}, \quad (5.34)$$

leaving the diagonal elements  $a_{11}$  and  $a_{22}$  completely unconstrained. This can result in divergent distances between certain pair of states, as we shall see.

Now, to find the difference between two normal states  $\omega_{\rho'}(a)$  and  $\omega_{\rho'}(a)$  with the density operators  $\rho'$  and  $\rho$  respectively, let us introduce  $\Delta \rho = \rho' - \rho$  which can be written as a matrix

$$\Delta \rho = \chi' \chi'^{\dagger} - \chi \chi^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} \chi'_1 \chi'_1^* - \chi_1 \chi_1^* & \chi'_1 \chi'_2^* - \chi_1 \chi_2^* \\ \chi'_2 \chi'_1^* - \chi_2 \chi_1^* & \chi'_2 \chi'_2^* - \chi_2 \chi_2^* \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.35)

We then have

$$\begin{aligned} |\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| &= |\operatorname{Tr}(\Delta\rho \ a)| = \Big| \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} (\chi'_{i}\chi'_{j}^{*} - \chi_{i}\chi_{j}^{*})a_{ij} \Big| &= |a_{11}(|\chi'_{1}|^{2} - |\chi_{1}|^{2}) + a_{22}(|\chi'_{2}|^{2} - |\chi_{2}|^{2}) \\ &+ 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{a_{12}(\chi'_{1}\chi'_{2}^{*} - \chi_{2}\chi_{1}^{*})\right\} \Big|. \end{aligned}$$
(5.36)

To proceed further, we parametrize  $\chi$  and  $\chi'$  as  $\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1 = \sin \frac{\theta}{2} e^{i\varphi} \\ \chi_2 = \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix}$  and  $\chi' = \begin{pmatrix} \chi'_1 = \sin \frac{\theta'}{2} e^{i\varphi'} \\ \chi'_2 = \cos \frac{\theta'}{2} \end{pmatrix}$ . With this, the computation of the spectral distance can be carried on for two different cases:

1. Distance between a pair of states with different lattitudes:

Here,  $\theta \neq \theta'$  so that  $|\chi'_1|^2 \neq |\chi_1|^2$  and  $|\chi'_2|^2 \neq |\chi_2|^2$ . Since the spectral distance is the supremum of (5.36) with the condition (5.34), which imposes no bound on  $a_{11}$  and  $a_{22}$  and hence the spectral distance between two points lying on different lattitudes on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_2$  diverges.

2. Distance between a pair of states lying on the same lattitude:

Here,  $|\chi'_1|^2 = |\chi_1|^2$  and  $|\chi'_2|^2 = |\chi_2|^2$  so that (5.36) reduces to

$$|\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| = |\text{Tr}(\Delta\rho)| = |2\text{Re.}\{a_{12}(\chi'_{1}\chi'_{2}^{*} - \chi_{2}\chi_{1}^{*})\}|, \qquad (5.37)$$

which depends on just  $a_{12}$ , as the diagonal entries  $a_{11}$  and  $a_{22}$  get eliminated.

Taking  $a_{12} = |a_{12}|e^{i\alpha}$ , we get

$$a_{12}(\chi'_1\chi'_2^* - \chi_2\chi_1^*) = |a_{12}|\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}(e^{i\varphi'} - e^{-i\varphi})e^{i\alpha}.$$
(5.38)

Choosing  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(\pi + \varphi - \varphi')$ , we can write

$$a_{12}(\chi_{1}'\chi_{2}'^{*}-\chi_{2}\chi_{1}^{*}) = |a_{12}|\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}i\Big(e^{\frac{i}{2}(\varphi'-\varphi)} - e^{-\frac{i}{2}(\varphi'-\varphi)}\Big) = -|a_{12}|\sin\theta\sin\Big(\frac{\varphi'-\varphi}{2}\Big),$$
(5.39)

which take real values. Thus, we have using (5.34),

$$|\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| = |\operatorname{Tr}(\Delta\rho)| = 2|a_{12}||\sin\theta| \left|\sin\left(\frac{\varphi'-\varphi}{2}\right)\right| \le \frac{2\sin\theta}{|D_1 - D_2|} \left|\sin\left(\frac{\varphi'-\varphi}{2}\right)\right|.$$
(5.40)

Hence, the spectral distance between a pair of points  $(\theta, \varphi)$  and  $(\theta, \varphi')$  lying on the same latitude of  $CP^1 \approx S^2$  or more precisely between the associated states  $\omega_{\rho'}$  and  $\omega_{\rho}$  is obtained as

$$d_{\mathcal{D}_2}(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \frac{2\sin\theta}{|D_1 - D_2|} \left| \sin\left(\frac{\phi - \phi'}{2}\right) \right| = \frac{\sin\theta}{|\Lambda|} \left| \sin\left(\frac{\phi - \phi'}{2}\right) \right|.$$
(5.41)

This can be identified as the chordal distance.

As a corollary, the infinitesimal spectral distance can be obtained by replacing  $\varphi' - \varphi \rightarrow d\varphi$  as

$$d_{\mathcal{D}_2}(\omega_{\rho+d\rho},\omega_{\rho}) = \frac{\sin\theta \,\,d\varphi}{2|\Lambda|} \,\,. \tag{5.42}$$

However, the important point to emphasise at this stage is that this process cannot be inverted. Unlike the case of Riemannian differentiable manifold this infinitesimal distance cannot be integrated to yield finite distance (5.41). This is related to the fact that the interpolating states of the chord can be shown to correspond to the mixed states in contrast to the extremal points, associated to the pure states.

With this, we will follow up in the next chapters the computation of Connes' spectral distance on non-commutative spaces: Moyal plane and fuzzy sphere by introducing appropriate spectral triples which is adaptable to the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics, which we reviewed in chapter 2.

We have seen that the configuration spaces of a non-commutative spaces like Moyal plane and Fuzzy sphere, which are themselves Hilbert sapces and furnish the unitary representaions of the respective coordinate algebras of types (1.17),(1.19) are analogous to the Hilbert space of a commutative quantum system. In [80], it was shown that the quantum state space of a commutative quantum system has a natural Riemannian metric and other geometrical properties like curvature tensor was presented for the generalized coherent states manifolds. For this, we will review the construction of coherent states on Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$  and fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2_{\star}$  so that the corresponding manifolds of these coherent states can be compared with the respective undeformed spaces: Euclidean plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and commutative 2-sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2$ .

## 5.7 COHERENT STATES

Let a Lie group *G* be a dynamical symmetry group of a given quantum system described by the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let T(g) be a unitary irreducible representation of  $g \in G$ acting on the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . We can then define the system of coherent states  $\{|\psi_g\rangle\}$  by the action of T(g) on a fixed normalized reference state  $|\psi_0\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$  [111]:

$$|\psi_g\rangle = T(g)|\psi_0\rangle. \tag{5.43}$$

Let  $H \subset G$  be a subgroup with elements h which leave reference state  $|\psi_0\rangle$  invariant up to a phase factor,

$$T(h)|\psi_0\rangle = e^{i\phi(h)}|\psi_0\rangle , \quad |e^{i\phi(h)}| = 1 \quad \forall h \in H.$$
(5.44)

This implies that every element  $g \in G$  can be decomposed as

$$g = \Omega h$$
;  $h \in H$  and  $\Omega \in X = G/H$ , Coset space. (5.45)

Then, elements g and g' of G with different h and h' but with same  $\Omega$  produce coherent states which differ only by a phase factor:

$$|\psi_g\rangle = e^{i\delta}|\psi_{g'}\rangle$$
, where  $\delta = \phi(h) - \phi(h')$ . (5.46)

Thus, the corresponding density matrices are equal :  $|\psi_g\rangle\langle\psi_g| = |\psi_{g'}\rangle\langle\psi_{g'}|$  and characterises the space of equivalence classes i.e., points of coset space X = G/H. A coherent state  $|\Omega\rangle \equiv$  $|\psi_\Omega\rangle$  is determined by a point  $\Omega = \Omega(g)$  in the coset space X = G/H.

In case, if  $G = H_3$ , the Heisenberg-Weyl group then Glauber coherent states are defined on the complex plane  $\mathbb{C} = H_3/U(1)$  which serve as the homogeneous space of Moyal plane. If G = SU(2), the spin coherent states are defined on the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2 = SU(2)/U(1)$  which serve as the homogeneous space of fuzzy sphere.

### 5.7.1 Moyal plane

Let us remind that the coherent states (2.12) on the configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_c$  (2.2) of Moyal plane are quantum states which are the eigenstates of the annihilation operator  $\hat{b} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\theta}}(\hat{x}_1 + i\hat{x}_2)$  (2.1) as

$$|z\rangle = U(z)|0\rangle = e^{-z\bar{z}/2} e^{z\hat{b}^{\dagger}}|0\rangle = e^{-z\bar{z}/2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n!}} z^n |n\rangle ; \ \hat{b}|z\rangle = z|z\rangle , \ \langle z|\hat{b}^{\dagger} = \bar{z}\langle z|. \ (5.47)$$

where

$$U(z) = e^{z\hat{b}^{\dagger} - \bar{z}\hat{b}} = e^{-z\bar{z}/2} e^{z\hat{b}^{\dagger}} e^{-\bar{z}\hat{b}} .$$
(5.48)

These coherent states are the quantum states which saturates the Heisenberg's uncertainty relation:  $\Delta \hat{x}_1 \Delta \hat{x}_2 = \frac{\theta}{2}$ . Each state  $|z\rangle$  which is obtained by the action of a unitary operator U(z) on some fixed vector, say the vacuum state  $|0\rangle$ , is specified by a complex number z. It is well-known that  $||z\rangle - |z'\rangle|| \rightarrow 0$  as  $|z - z'| \rightarrow 0$  and hence implies that coherent states have the properties of the classical states.

They admit a resolution of the identity on  $\mathcal{H}_c$  but they are not orthogonal

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z |z\rangle \langle z| = \mathbb{1}_c \quad \text{and} \quad \langle z_1 | z_2 \rangle = e^{-z_1 \bar{z}_1/2 - -z_2 \bar{z}_2/2 + z_2 \bar{z}_1} \neq \delta(z_1 - z_2) , \qquad (5.49)$$

as they furnish an over-complete basis.

## 5.7.2 Fuzzy sphere

Let us review the construction of generalized coherent states of SU(2) group [86] such that the non-commutative analog of the homogeneous space of the fuzzy sphere can be constructed by using the Perelomov's SU(2) coherent states [87]. Note that the Heisenberg uncertainty relations for fuzzy sphere is given by

$$\Delta \hat{x}_1 \Delta \hat{x}_2 \ge \frac{\theta_f}{2} |\langle \hat{x}_3 \rangle| \Longrightarrow \Delta \hat{x}_1 \Delta \hat{x}_2 = \frac{1}{2} \theta_f^2 j \quad \text{for both} \quad |j, j\rangle, \ |j, -j\rangle$$
(5.50)

Thus, we can choose the "vacuum state" as the highest weight state  $|j,j\rangle$  associated to the north pole and the Perelomov SU(2) coherent states can be obtained by the action of representation T(g) of  $g \in SU(2)$  acting on  $|j,j\rangle$ . Note that any action of  $\hat{X}_3$  on the vacuum state does not change it so that the group element generated by  $\hat{X}_3$  is the stability subgroup U(1) of SU(2). This implies that the set of generalized coherent states of SU(2) is topologically isomorphic to the coset space  $SU(2)/U(1) \simeq S^2$ . However, geometrically it reduces to  $S^2$  only in the limit  $j \to \infty$ .

We know that the operator T(g),  $\forall g \in SU(2)$  can be expressed in terms of Euler angles as  $T(g) = e^{-i\frac{\phi}{\theta_f}\hat{X}_3}e^{-i\frac{\phi}{\theta_f}\hat{X}_2}e^{-i\frac{\psi}{\theta_f}\hat{X}_3}$  [86]. For  $S^2$ ,  $\psi = 0$  locally such that a generic spin coherent state specified by a point on  $S^2$  is given by

$$|z\rangle = e^{-i\frac{\phi}{\theta_f}\hat{X}_3} e^{-i\frac{\theta}{\theta_f}\hat{X}_2} |j,j\rangle .$$
(5.51)

Further, setting the azimuthal angle  $\phi = 0$ , we get

$$|z\rangle = e^{-i\frac{\theta}{\theta_f}\hat{X}_2}|j,j\rangle = e^{\frac{\theta}{2\theta_f}(\hat{X}_- - \hat{X}_+)}|j,j\rangle.$$
(5.52)

This parametrises the points along the geodesic (meridian) connecting north and south pole. Note that *z* is the stereographic variable of  $S^2$  projected from the south pole to the complex plane z = 1 and  $z = -\tan \frac{\theta}{2}e^{i\phi}$ . We can also express it as

$$|z\rangle \equiv |\theta\rangle = \sum_{m=-j}^{j} {\binom{2j}{j+m}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{j+m} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{j-m} |j,m\rangle.$$
(5.53)

These spin coherent states  $|z\rangle$  [92] for a given spin *j* belongs to the configuration space  $\mathcal{F}_j$  of a fuzzy sphere with radius  $r_j = \theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}$ . To every  $|z\rangle \in \mathcal{F}_j$ , we can define a density matrix  $\rho_z = |z\rangle\langle z| \in \mathcal{H}_j$  and this pure quantum states  $\rho_z$  plays the role of generalized points on the homogeneous space of fuzzy sphere.

# 6

# CONNES' SPECTRAL DISTANCE ON MOYAL PLANE

In this chapter, we study the metric properties of Moyal plane by introducing a spectral triple adaptable to the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism of non-commutative quantum mechanics, reviewed in chapter 2. As mentioned earlier, a legitimate spectral triple (1.27) for Moyal plane was first given in [74]. Using this triple (1.27), the spectral distance on the configuration space of Moyal plane was obtained in [77, 78] where the Moyal star product (1.4) is employed. But different star products and hence different position bases associated to them for a given quantum system is not always equivalent, as explained in [38] through the examples of Moyal and Voros bases. Indeed, it is the Voros position basis which is the physical basis on Moyal plane as this conforms to POVM. This motivates us to introduce an algorithm [79] by introducing an appropriate spectral triple, adaptable to the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism and hence independent of any star products. One of the advantages of this algorithm is that we can extend it to other non-commutative space like fuzzy sphere also. In fact, for the example like fuzzy sphere, where the concerned Hilbert space is finite dimensional, this algorithm is readily applicable-at least in principle. In contrast, if the concerned Hilbert space is of infinite dimension, like in the Moyal plane this algorithm turns out to be not so user-friendly-as we explain in the sequel. Nevertheless, it can definitely be used to improve the estimate over and above the lower bound - as follows from this algorithm itself. Moreover, employing this algorithm, it is possible to compute infinitesimal spectral distance (up to a numerical factor) on the quantum Hilbert space of Moyal plane and fuzzy sphere by exploiting the presence of additional degrees of freedom, indicating a deep connection between geometry and statistics.

We would like to point out in this context that the above mentioned lower bound yields the exact distance for a pair of infinitesimally separated discrete basis states and an almost exact distance i.e., up to a constant numerical factor for infinitesimally separated coherent states [79, 82]. We thus need to modify this formula to compute the finite distance, since as pointed out earlier, that in generic noncommutative space the notion of conventional geodesic does not exist preventing one from computing finite distance by integrating infinitesimal distance. Here, we have proposed a generalized distance formula [92] which should, in principle, yield the exact distance between any pair of states. We take up the case of Moyal plane in this chapter and derive our general algorithm taking this as a prototype example. We show, however, why this formula turns out to be not so user-friendly-as mentioned above.

Consequently, we are forced to adopt a different approach to tackle this problem. And it is only in the next chapter that this algorithm will find its non-trivial application in the computation of finite spectral distance on fuzzy sphere.

The construction of Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_M$  on Moyal plane is given in appendix D. It is one of the major ingredients of the corresponding spectral triple and plays the most important role in the computation of spectral distance.

# 6.1 EIGENSPINORS OF DIRAC OPERATOR

The Dirac operator on Moyal plane takes the following hermitian form (see appendix D):

$$\mathcal{D}_M = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \hat{b}^{\dagger} \\ \hat{b} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.1}$$

acting on  $\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} |\psi_1\rangle \\ |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$  through the left multiplication as

$$\mathcal{D}\Psi = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & b^{\dagger} \\ b & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} |\psi_1\rangle \\ |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} b^{\dagger} |\psi_2\rangle \\ b |\psi_1\rangle \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.2)

We can then easily obtain the following normalized eigen-spinors of  $\mathcal{D}_M$ :

$$|0\rangle\rangle := \begin{pmatrix} |0\rangle\\0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 \; ; \; |m\rangle\rangle_{\pm} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} |m\rangle\\\pm |m-1\rangle \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 \; ; \; m = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$$
(6.3)

with the eigenvalues  $\lambda_m$  for any state  $|m\rangle\rangle_{\pm}$  as,

$$\lambda_0 = 0$$
 ;  $\lambda_m^{\pm} = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2m}{ heta}}$ 

Further, they furnish a complete and orthonormal set of basis for  $\mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ , so that the resolution of identity takes the form

$$\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}_{q}\otimes M_{2}(\mathbb{C})} = |0\rangle\rangle\langle\langle 0| + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(|m\rangle\rangle_{+} + \langle\langle m| + |m\rangle\rangle_{-} - \langle\langle m|\right);$$
(6.4)

with 
$$\pm \langle \langle m | n \rangle \rangle_{\pm} = \delta_{mn}; \ \pm \langle \langle m | n \rangle \rangle_{\mp} = 0.$$
 (6.5)

# 6.2 Spectral triple for moyal plane $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$ and the spectral distance

To study the metric properties of the Moyal plane, we work with the same spectral triple that was introduced in [79]:

$$\mathcal{A}_M = \mathcal{H}_q, \ \mathcal{H}_M = \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 \text{ and } \mathcal{D}_M = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \hat{b}^{\dagger} \\ \hat{b} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
 (6.6)

The module of the algebra  $A_M$  is given by the space of sections of appropriate "spinor bundle" defined through  $H_M$  on which it acts through the diagonal representation  $\pi$ :

$$\pi(a)\Psi = \pi(a) \begin{pmatrix} |\psi_1\rangle \\ |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} |\psi_1\rangle \\ |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a |\psi_1\rangle \\ a |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} ; \quad \Psi \in \mathcal{H}_M.$$
(6.7)

In order to define the Connes' spectral distance on  $\mathcal{H}_c$ , we have to define the pure states on the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_M$  which play the role of generalized points on  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$ . Note that the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_M \equiv \mathcal{H}_q \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_c)$  has the tensor product structure:  $\mathcal{H}_q \equiv \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathcal{H}_c^*$ , where  $\mathcal{H}_c^*$  denotes the dual of  $\mathcal{H}_c$ . This implies that  $\mathcal{H}_q$  is self dual. This motivates us to consider the normal states [112, 113] on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  which are given by

$$\omega_{\rho}(a) := \operatorname{tr}_{c}(\rho a) , \quad \forall \ a \in \mathcal{H}_{q} ; \quad \rho^{\dagger} = \rho \in \mathcal{H}_{q} , \quad \rho \ge 0 , \quad \operatorname{tr}_{c}(\rho) = 1.$$

$$(6.8)$$

Note that  $\rho$  is a density matrix as viewed from  $\mathcal{H}_c$  but is valued in  $\mathcal{H}_q$ . And this feature is the reason behind employing the Hilbert-Schmidt formalism, which facilitates the present geometrical analysis. If the density matrix is of the form of rank-one projection operator  $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| \in \mathcal{H}_q$  for some  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$ , then the normal state  $\omega_\rho$  is a pure state. In constrast, a mixed state is given by a convex sum of such pure states.

Now, we can define Connes' spectral distance (1.25) between two normal states on  $\mathcal{H}_a$  as

$$d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \sup_{a\in B} |\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| = \sup_{a\in B} |\operatorname{tr}_{c}(\Delta\rho a)| \; ; \; \Delta\rho = (\rho' - \rho). \tag{6.9}$$

where *B* is the set of those elements of  $\mathcal{H}_q$  which satisfy the ball condition, i.e.

$$B = \{a \in \mathcal{A} : \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} \le 1\}, \text{ where } \|A\|_{\text{op}} = \sup_{\phi \in \mathcal{H}} \left\{\frac{\|A\phi\|}{\|\phi\|}\right\}.$$
 (6.10)

Let us impose the following condition:

$$|\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| = 0, \ \forall \ a \in V_0; \quad V_0 = \{a \in \mathcal{H}_q : \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{op} = 0\}.$$
(6.11)

Note that  $\forall a \in \mathcal{H}_q$ , we can write  $a = ||a||_{\text{tr}} \hat{a}$  where  $||\hat{a}||_{\text{tr}} = 1$ . If the condition (6.11) is not obeyed i.e.  $|\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| \neq 0$  for some  $a \in V_0$ , then the ball condition (6.10) gives no

upper bound on  $||a||_{tr}$  such that the supremum of  $|\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| \neq 0$  will just diverge. This is just reminescent of the divergent distance between a pair of states at different latitudes in the  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  model introduced in section 5.6. Hence spectral distance between normal states of  $a \notin V_0$  can be infinite making it a pseudo-distance<sup>1</sup> [114]. Moreover, we can see that this condition (6.11) is obeyed by all elements of  $\mathcal{H}_q$ . Since the operator norm of an operator A is given by the square-root of the highest eigenvalue of  $A^{\dagger}A$ , we then have

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(a) \end{bmatrix} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & [\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a] \\ [\hat{b}, a] & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(a) \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & [\hat{b}, a]^{\dagger} \\ [\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a]^{\dagger} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, (6.12)$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(a) \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(a) \end{bmatrix} = \frac{2}{\theta} \begin{pmatrix} [\hat{b}, a]^{\dagger} [\hat{b}, a] & 0 \\ 0 & [\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a]^{\dagger} [\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.13)

This shows that  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{op} = 0 \Rightarrow \|[[\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a]]\|_{op} = 0 = \|[\hat{b}, a]\|_{op} \Rightarrow [\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a] = 0 = [\hat{b}, a]$ which is true only for  $a \propto \mathbb{1}_c$ . This implies that  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{op} = 0$  for  $a \propto \mathbb{1}_c$  but  $\mathbb{1}_c \notin \mathcal{A}_M = \mathcal{H}_q$  as this is a non-unital algebra. Thus, the set  $V_0$  contains only the null element. Here, we can introduce an orthogonal complement  $V_0^{\perp}$  of  $V_0$ , i.e.,  $V_0^{\perp} = \{a \in \mathcal{H}_q : \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{op} \neq 0\}$ . It is shown in [110] that the positive elements  $a^+ \in \mathcal{A}^+$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  reach the supremum in the distance formula (5.1). With this, we will consider the following subspace  $B_s$  of  $\mathcal{H}_q$ :

$$B_s = \{ a \in \mathcal{H}_q : a^{\dagger} = a = cc^{\dagger}, c \in \mathcal{H}_q ; 0 < \| [\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)] \|_{\text{op}} \le 1 \},$$
(6.14)

such that the spectral distance on  $\mathbb{R}^2_*$  is given by

$$d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \sup_{a\in B_s} |\omega_{\rho'}(a) - \omega_{\rho}(a)| = \sup_{a\in B_s} |\operatorname{tr}_c(\Delta\rho a)| = \sup_{a\in B_s} \{ \|a\|_{\operatorname{tr}} |\operatorname{tr}_c(\Delta\rho\hat{a})| \}.$$
(6.15)

Clearly, the ball condition (6.10) yields upper bound on  $||a||_{tr}$ :

$$\|a\|_{\rm tr} \leq \frac{1}{\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\hat{a})]\|_{\rm op}} \leq \sup_{a \in B_s} \left\{ \frac{1}{\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\hat{a})]\|_{\rm op}} \right\} = \frac{1}{\inf_{a \in B_s} \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\hat{a})]\|_{\rm op}}.$$
 (6.16)

We can also write  $\Delta \rho = \|\Delta \rho\|_{tr} \widehat{\Delta \rho}$  with  $\|\widehat{\Delta \rho}\|_{tr} = 1$  such that we can decompose  $\hat{a} \in B_s$  into "longitudinal" ( $\widehat{\Delta \rho}$ ) and "transverse" ( $\widehat{\Delta \rho}_{\perp}$ ) components as

$$\hat{a} = \cos\theta \,\widehat{\Delta\rho} + \sin\theta \,\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp}$$
, where  $\|\widehat{\Delta\rho}\|_{tr} = \|\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp}\|_{tr} = 1$  and  $tr_c(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp}\widehat{\Delta\rho}) = 0$ . (6.17)

Here, we can choose  $\theta$  to be  $0 \le \theta < \frac{\pi}{2}$  as only positive values of  $\sin \theta$  and  $\cos \theta$  are required. This is implied by the distance formula (6.9) itself which includes the absolute value. We

<sup>1</sup> which satisfy all the properties of a distance but can be infinite.

exclude  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$  as for this case  $\hat{a} = \widehat{\Delta \rho}_{\perp}$  and hence the distance would collapse to zero as  $|\operatorname{tr}_{c}(\widehat{\Delta \rho} \ \widehat{\Delta \rho}_{\perp})| = 0$ . Now, using this decomposition (6.17), we have

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\hat{a})]\|_{\text{op}} = \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \cos\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \sin\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})]\|_{\text{op}}.$$
(6.18)

Putting (6.16) and (6.18) in the distance formula (6.15), we get

$$d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \sup_{a\in B_s} \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}|\cos\theta|}{\|[\mathcal{D}_M,\pi(\hat{a})]\|_{\mathrm{op}}} = \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}}{\inf_{a\in B_s}\|[\mathcal{D}_M,\pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \tan\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})]\|_{\mathrm{op}}}.$$
 (6.19)

By using the traingle inequality, we have

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \tan\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})]\|_{\text{op}} \le \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho})]\|_{\text{op}} + |\tan\theta| \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})]\|_{\text{op}},$$
(6.20)

such that

$$\inf_{a \in B_{s}} \| [\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \tan\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})] \|_{\text{op}} \leq \inf_{\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})} \left\{ \| [\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho})] \|_{\text{op}} + |\tan\theta| \| [\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})] \|_{\text{op}} \right\} \\
= \| [\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho})] \|_{\text{op}}.$$
(6.21)

This implies that

$$\frac{1}{\inf_{a \in B_s} \left\{ \| [\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \tan\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})] \|_{\text{op}} \right\}} \geq \frac{1}{\| [\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho})] \|_{\text{op}}}.$$
(6.22)

That is, we find an exact spectral distance formula:

$$d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}}{\inf_{\theta\in[0,\frac{\pi}{2}),\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp}}\|[\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \tan\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})]\|_{\mathrm{op}}} = \tilde{N}\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}; \quad (6.23)$$

$$= \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}^2}{\inf_{\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \Delta\rho_{\perp}} \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\Delta\rho) + \kappa \pi(\Delta\rho_{\perp})]\|_{\mathrm{op}}} = N \|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}^2, \qquad (6.24)$$

where 
$$\kappa = \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\text{tr}}}{\|\Delta\rho_{\perp}\|_{\text{tr}}} \tan\theta$$
; (6.25)

$$\tilde{N} = \frac{1}{\inf_{\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp}} \| [\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}) + \tan\theta \ \pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho}_{\perp})] \|_{\text{op}}};$$
(6.26)

$$N = \frac{1}{\inf_{\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \Delta \rho_{\perp}} \| [\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\Delta \rho) + \kappa \pi(\Delta \rho_{\perp})] \|_{\text{op}}} .$$
(6.27)

This exact distance formula has a lower bound:

$$d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) \geq \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}}{\|[\mathcal{D}_{M},\pi(\widehat{\Delta\rho})]\|_{\mathrm{op}}} = \frac{\|\Delta\rho\|_{\mathrm{tr}}^{2}}{\|[\mathcal{D}_{M},\pi(\Delta\rho)]\|_{\mathrm{op}}}.$$
(6.28)

This lower bound was obtained in [79] to compute the infinitesimally separated pure states on the configuration space of Moyal plane. Note at this stage that this lower bound will yield the exact distance iff the optimal element  $a_s \propto \Delta \rho$ . Note that the Connes' distance function depend on  $\Delta \rho$  as it can be seen from (6.9) and under a unitary transformation *U*, we have

$$d(\omega_{\rho+\Delta\rho},\omega_{\rho}) = d(\Delta\rho) \xrightarrow{U} d(U\Delta\rho U^{\dagger}) = d(\Delta\rho) .$$
(6.29)

Since  $||U\Delta\rho U^{\dagger}||_{tr} = ||\Delta\rho||_{tr}$ , we have

$$\tilde{N}(U\Delta\rho U^{\dagger}) = \tilde{N}(\Delta\rho), \quad N(U\Delta\rho U^{\dagger}) = N(\Delta\rho).$$
 (6.30)

From (6.26) and (6.27), we can see that  $\tilde{N}$  and N depend on the 'direction' of  $\Delta \rho$ , in the sense that even if  $\|\Delta \rho'\|_{tr} = \|\Delta \rho\|_{tr}$ ,  $N(\Delta \rho') \neq N(\Delta \rho)$ . However, if  $\|\Delta \rho'\|_{tr} = \|\Delta \rho\|_{tr}$  implies  $\Delta \rho' = U\Delta \rho U^{\dagger}$ , this dependence disappears using (6.30),  $\tilde{N}$  is a constant as  $\Delta \rho'$  and  $\Delta \rho$  both have norm one and  $N = \frac{\tilde{N}}{\|\Delta \rho\|_{tr}}$ . This is the case for the coherent state basis in the Moyal plane, where equality of the trace norms implies that  $\Delta \rho'$  and  $\Delta \rho$  differ by a rotation of the form  $R = e^{i\phi b^{\dagger}b}$ . This explains why the Connes' distance on the Moyal plane is proportional to the trace norm, which is simply the Euclidean distance, infinitesimally and for finite distances. We corroborate this result in the next section through a more explicit calculation.

#### 6.3 SPECTRAL DISTANCE ON THE CONFIGURATION SPACE OF MOYAL PLANE

From the above discussion, we see that it is quite simple to compute and matches with the exact distance if we consider the "infinitesimally separated" discrete pure states, i.e. taking  $\rho' = |n+1\rangle\langle n+1|$  and  $\rho = |n\rangle\langle n|$  where  $|n\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$  is referred to as the "harmonic oscillator state". However, for finite distance, computation the exact distance formula (6.24) is not favourable but we can obtain the exact distance from the first principle.

In case, we consider infinitesimally separated coherent pure states i.e. taking  $\rho' = |z + dz\rangle\langle z + dz|$  and  $\rho = |z\rangle\langle z|$   $(|z\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$  (2.12)), the lower bound (6.28) result differs from the exact distance by a numerical factor. However, the exact distance can be obtained through the introduction of projection operators on the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  which is spanned by the eigen-spinor basis (6.3) of Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_M$ . This will be discussed in next upcoming sections.

## 6.3.1 Ball condition with the Eigenspinors of $\mathcal{D}_M$

The most important part for the computation of Connes' spectral distance is the computation of  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}}$  which we will compute using the eigenspinors (6.3) of  $\mathcal{D}_M$ . That is,  $\forall m, m' = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$ , we have

$$\pm \langle \langle m | [\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)] | m' \rangle \rangle_{\pm} = \pm (\lambda_m^{\pm} - \lambda_{m'}^{\pm})_{\pm} \langle \langle m | \pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_{\pm} = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} (\sqrt{m} - \sqrt{m'}) A_{mm'}^{\pm}; (6.31)$$

$$\pm \langle \langle m | [\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)] | m' \rangle \rangle_{\mp} = \pm (\lambda_m^{\pm} - \lambda_{m'}^{\mp})_{\pm} \langle \langle m | \pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_{\mp} = \pm \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} (\sqrt{m} + \sqrt{m'}) B_{mm'}^{\pm}; (6.32)$$
  
where,  $A_{ll'}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\pi} (a_{ll'} + a_{l-1l'-1}); \quad B_{ll'}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\pi} (a_{ll'} - a_{l-1l'-1}); \quad l, l' = 1, 2, \cdots (6.33)$ 

ere, 
$$A_{ll'}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (a_{l,l'} + a_{l-1,l'-1}); \quad B_{ll'}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (a_{l,l'} - a_{l-1,l'-1}); \quad l, l' = 1, 2, \cdots$$
 (6.33)

$$E_{0l}^{\pm} \equiv \langle \langle 0|\pi(a)|l \rangle \rangle_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} a_{0l} ; \qquad (6.34)$$

$$E_{l0}^{\pm} \equiv \pm \langle \langle l | \pi(a) | 0 \rangle \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} a_{l0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} a_{0l}^{*} .$$
(6.35)

With these, we can write the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]$  where the rows and coloumns for each four block matrices are labeled by  $|0\rangle\rangle$ ,  $|1\rangle\rangle_+$ ,  $|1\rangle\rangle_-$ ,  $|2\rangle\rangle_+$ ,  $|2\rangle\rangle_-$ ,  $\cdots$ :

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{M},\pi(a)\right] = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} (\sqrt{m} - \sqrt{m'})_{+} \langle \langle m | \pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_{+} & (\sqrt{m} + \sqrt{m'})_{+} \langle \langle m | \pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_{-} \\ \hline -(\sqrt{m} + \sqrt{m'})_{-} \langle \langle m | [\pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_{+} & -(\sqrt{m} - \sqrt{m'})_{-} \langle \langle m | \pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_{-} \end{array} \right)$$

$$(6.36)$$

#### 6.3.2 Distance between discrete/harmonic oscillator states

In this section we compute the Connes' spectral distance between discrete/harmonic oscillator states. Since the formal algorithm (6.24) and (6.27), devised in the preceding section, is not very user-friendly, as  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  depends upon infinitely large number of parameters so that looking for the infimum (6.27) is an extremely difficult job. However, we can follow up the prescription (which is used in [77]) performed in section 5.3 of chapter 5 where we first found an upper bound (5.23) to the distance and then searched for an optimal element which saturates the upper bound. If we can identify at least one  $a_s$  (note that this may not be unique!) then we can identify the upper bound to be the true distance. Note that we also have a lower bound (6.28) to the spectral distance and it can be easily computed [79]. It may happen in some situations that both upper and lower bounds coincide. In this case, their common value can be identified as the distance. For example, for the spectral distances between infinitesimally separated discrete pure states in Moyal plane [79] and fuzzy sphere [82] the upper and lower bounds coincide, as we shall see below.

# 6.3.2.1 Infinitesimal distance between discrete/harmonic oscillator states

Let us consider a pair of pure states represented by the respective density matrices:  $\rho_{n+1} = |n+1\rangle\langle n+1|$  and  $\rho_n = |n\rangle\langle n|$ . Then, the spectral distance is

$$d(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{n+1}a) - \operatorname{tr}(\rho_n a)| = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\langle n+1|a|n+1\rangle - \langle n|a|n\rangle|.$$
(6.37)

By simply using  $\hat{b}|n+1\rangle = \sqrt{n+1}|n\rangle$  and  $\hat{b}|n\rangle = \sqrt{n}|n-1\rangle$ , we can easily get

$$\langle n+1|a|n+1\rangle = \frac{1}{n+1} \langle n|\hat{b}a\hat{b}^{\dagger}|n\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} \langle n|[\hat{b},a]|n+1\rangle + \langle n|a|n\rangle.$$
(6.38)

Thus, the distance (6.37) reduces to

$$d(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \sup_{a \in B_s} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} |\langle n|[\hat{b},a]|n+1\rangle| = \sup_{a \in B_s} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} |[\hat{b},a]_{n,n+1}|.$$
(6.39)

Using the Bessel's inequality:

$$\|A\|_{\rm op}^2 \ge \sum_i |A_{ij}|^2 \ge |A_{ij}|^2 \tag{6.40}$$

We get the distance as

$$d(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \sup_{a \in B_s} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} |[\hat{b},a]_{n,n+1}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} \sup_{a \in B_s} ||[\hat{b},a]||_{\text{op}}.$$
(6.41)

From (6.13), we find that  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \|[\hat{b}, a]\|_{\text{op}} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \|[\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a]\|_{\text{op}}$  so that the ball condition yields

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\|_{\mathrm{op}} \le 1 \Longrightarrow \|[\hat{b}, a]\|_{\mathrm{op}} \le \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} .$$
(6.42)

Hence, we get an upper bound on the infinitesimal spectral distance as

$$d(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) \le \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2(n+1)}} \quad . \tag{6.43}$$

Let us now hold the search for optimal element which saturates the above in-equality (6.43) and compute the lower bound (6.28). For the computation of operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{op}$ , we can use the Dirac eigenspinors (6.3). Here  $d\rho = |n+1\rangle\langle n+1| - |n\rangle\langle n|$  is a diagonal matrix so that the block matrices of the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(d\rho)]$  (6.36) will be zero as m = m' in (6.31). With this, we get

$$\left[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)\right] = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0 & B \\ \hline -B^{\dagger} & 0 \end{array} \right); \quad \text{where} \quad B = \begin{pmatrix} -\sqrt{n} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2\sqrt{n+1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\sqrt{n+2} \end{array} \right) \quad (6.44)$$

with the rows and columns labeled from top to bottom and left to right respectively by  $|n\rangle\rangle_+$ ,  $|n+1\rangle\rangle_+$ ,  $|n+2\rangle\rangle_+$  and  $|n\rangle\rangle_-$ ,  $|n+1\rangle\rangle_-$ ,  $|n+2\rangle\rangle_-$ . From this, we get the operator norm

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{op} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \|B\|_{op} = 2\sqrt{\frac{2(n+1)}{\theta}}.$$
(6.45)

Since  $tr(d\rho)^2 = 2$ , we have

$$d(\omega_{n+1}, \omega_n) = \frac{\operatorname{tr}(d\rho)^2}{\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{op}} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2(n+1)}},$$
(6.46)

which is exactly the upper bound (6.43). That is, the true distance is

$$d(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2(n+1)}}.$$
(6.47)

Clearly, the optimal element  $a_s \in B_s$  is

$$a_s = \frac{d\rho}{\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{\text{op}}} \,. \tag{6.48}$$

This implies that the spectral distance between infinitesimally separated discrete pure states  $\rho_{n+1}$  and  $\rho_n$  is

$$d(\omega_{n+1}, \omega_n) = |\omega_{n+1}(a_s) - \omega_n(a_s)| = \frac{\operatorname{tr}(d\rho)^2}{\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{op}} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2(n+1)}}.$$
(6.49)

This has been obtained in [77] where Moyal star product is employed to define the spectral triple and also in [79] within the context of Hilbert-Schmidt operator formalism.

## 6.3.2.2 Finite distance between discrete/harmonic oscillato states

Let us consider a pair of "finitely separated" discrete pure states  $\omega_m$  and  $\omega_n$  with the corresponding density matrices  $\rho_m = |m\rangle\langle m|$  and  $\rho_n = |n\rangle\langle n|$  with  $k \equiv m - n \geq 2$ . Now the distance between these states can be written as

$$d(\omega_m, \omega_n) = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\operatorname{tr}\{(\rho_m - \rho_n)a\}| = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{n+k}a) - \operatorname{tr}(\rho_n a)|.$$
(6.50)

Clearly, we can write

$$\left| \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{n+k}a) - \operatorname{tr}(\rho_n a) \right| = \left| \sum_{i=1}^k \operatorname{tr}\left[ \left\{ \rho_{n+i} - \rho_{n+(i-1)} \right\} a \right] \right| = \left| \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \operatorname{tr}\left\{ (\rho_{p+1} - \rho_p) a \right\} \right|, \quad (6.51)$$

where we relabel the summing index as p = n + i - 1 so that we can easily make the comparison with the infinitesimal case. We had

$$\operatorname{tr}\{(\rho_{p+1}-\rho_p)a\} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} |\langle p|[\hat{b},a]|p+1\rangle| \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} ||[\hat{b},a]||_{\operatorname{op}},$$
(6.52)

along with the ball condition (6.42). This implies that the finite spectral distance has the upper bound which is just sum over each upper bound of infinitesimal distances:

$$d(\omega_m, \omega_n) \le \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}}.$$
(6.53)

Now, we need to find an optimal element  $a_s \in B$  which saturates the above inequality.

Let us demand  $a_s \in B_s$  is the one such that

$$\Big|\sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} \langle p|[\hat{b}, a_s]|p+1\rangle \Big| \equiv \Big|\sum_{p=n}^{m-1} (a_s)_{p+1,p+1} - (a_s)_{p,p} \Big| = |(a_s)_{m,m} - (a_s)_{n,n}| = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \sum_{p=n}^{m$$

Taking  $(a_s)_{m,m} = 0$  which implies that  $|(a_s)_{n,n}| = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}}$ , the optimal element can be constructed as

$$a_{s} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \sum_{p'=n}^{m-1} \sum_{i=1}^{m-n} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+i}} |p'\rangle \langle p'|.$$
(6.54)

This gives the finite spectral distance between  $\omega_m$  and  $\omega_n$  as

$$d(\omega_m, \omega_n) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p+1}} > \frac{\operatorname{tr}\{(\Delta \rho)^2\}}{\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(\Delta \rho)]\|_{\operatorname{op}}}; \ \Delta \rho = \rho_m - \rho_n ,$$
(6.55)

where the RHS of the in-equality is the lower bound (6.28) and the reason behind the strict greater than sign is that  $a_s$  is not proportional to  $\Delta \rho$  unlike the infinitesimal case. We can, however, easily check that this spectral distance (6.55) saturates the triangle inequality [77]:

$$d_{\mathcal{D}_M}(\omega_m, \omega_n) = d_{\mathcal{D}_M}(\omega_m, \omega_l) + d_{\mathcal{D}_M}(\omega_l, \omega_n), \quad n \le l \le m.$$
(6.56)

## 6.3.3 Distance between coherent states

Coherent states are maximally localized states which have the properties similar to the classical states so that we expect the spectral distance between any pair of pure coherent states should give the same metric data of the classical manifold. Note that every coherent state  $|z\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$  is obtained by the action of unitary transformation  $U(z) = e^{z\hat{b}^{\dagger} - z\hat{b}}$  on the "vacuum

state"  $|0\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_c$ . Let us consider a pair of density matrices  $\rho_z = |z\rangle \langle z|$  and  $\rho_w = |w\rangle \langle w|$  such that the distance between them is

$$d(\omega_z, \omega_w) = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\omega_z(a) - \omega_w(a)| = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho a)| , \quad \Delta \rho = (\rho_z - \rho_w) .$$
(6.57)

Let us apply a unitary transformation U(z') which represents a symmetry transformation on the homogeneous space of coherent states such that  $\Delta \rho \rightarrow \Delta \rho^{U} = U(z')\Delta \rho U(z')^{\dagger}$ . Then, the distance with the transformed  $\Delta \rho^{U}$  is

$$d(\omega_{(\rho+\Delta\rho)^{U}},\omega_{\rho^{U}}) = \sup_{a\in B_{s}}\left\{\left|\operatorname{tr}\left\{(\Delta\rho)^{U}a\right\}\right|\right\} = \sup_{a^{U}\in B_{s}^{U}}\left\{\left|\operatorname{tr}\left\{\Delta\rho a^{U}\right\}\right|\right\}; \ a^{U} = U(z')^{\dagger}aU(z').$$
(6.58)

Here,  $B_s^U = \{a^U \in \mathcal{H}_q : a^{\dagger U} = a^U, 0 < \|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a^U)]\|_{\text{op}} \le 1\}$ . Now, we can check that  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a^U)]\|_{\text{op}} = \|[\mathcal{D}_M^U, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}}$  where  $\mathcal{D}_M^U = U(z')\mathcal{D}_M U^{\dagger}(z')$  since

$$\mathcal{D}_{M}^{U} \equiv e^{z'\hat{b}^{\dagger} - \bar{z'}\hat{b}} \mathcal{D}_{M} e^{-z'\hat{b}^{\dagger} + \bar{z'}\hat{b}} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \hat{b}^{\dagger} - \bar{z'} \\ \hat{b} - z' & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{D}_{M} - \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{z'} \\ z' & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(6.59)

This implies  $[\mathcal{D}_{M}^{U}, \pi(a)] = [\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi(a)]$ . This, in turn, implies that the ball remains invariant under unitary transformation :  $B_{s} = B_{s}^{U}$ . Consequently, the distance between a pair of states remains invariant if both the states are subjected to same unitary transformation, as the supremum in (6.58) is computed by varying the algebra elements in the same ball.

$$d(\omega_{(\rho+\Delta\rho)^{U}},\omega_{\rho^{U}}) = \sup_{a^{U}\in B_{s}^{U}} \left| \operatorname{tr}\left\{\Delta\rho a^{U}\right\} \right| = \sup_{a\in B_{s}} \left| \operatorname{tr}(\Delta\rho \ a) \right| = d(\omega_{\rho+\Delta\rho},\omega_{\rho}).$$
(6.60)

We can now choose z' such that  $U(z')\rho_w U^{\dagger}(z') = \rho_0 \equiv |0\rangle\langle 0|$ , i.e. z' = -w and then  $U(-w)\rho_z U^{\dagger}(-w) = |z-w\rangle\langle z-w|$  so that the spectral distance depends on  $\Delta \rho = \rho_z - \rho_w \equiv U(\rho_{z-w} - \rho_0)U^{\dagger}$ :

$$d(\omega_z, \omega_w) \equiv d(\omega_{z-w}, \omega_0) , \qquad (6.61)$$

indicating the translational invariance in the complex plane, parametrizing coherent states. This implies we can always choose, without loss of generality, a pure state to be  $\rho_0 = |0\rangle\langle 0|$  at the origin and another being  $\rho_z = |z\rangle\langle z| = U(z)\rho_0 U^{\dagger}(z)$ , translated state of  $\rho_0$  by the action of U(z). The spectral distance can then be written as

$$d(\omega_z, \omega_0) = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\omega_z(a) - \omega_0(a)| = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\langle 0|U^{\dagger}(z)aU(z) - a|0\rangle|.$$
(6.62)

Note that this is the same thing as done in [79] where we can define new translated boson operators as  $\hat{b} = \hat{b} - z'$  and  $\hat{b}^{\dagger} = \hat{b}^{\dagger} - \bar{z'}$  with the new "vacuum":  $|z'\rangle = |\tilde{0}\rangle$  for which  $\hat{b}|\tilde{0}\rangle = 0$ ,  $\hat{b}^{\dagger}|\tilde{0}\rangle = |\tilde{1}\rangle$ , etc.

This distance (6.61) can be thought as the maximum change in the expectation values of an operator *a* and the translated operatore  $U^{\dagger}(z)aU(z)$  in the same state  $|0\rangle$  [78]. This reminds us of the transition from the Schrödinger to Heisenberg picture, where the operators are subjected to the unitary evolution in time through an adjoint action of the unitary operator, while the states are held frozen in time. Thus, we can introduce a one-parameter family of pure states  $\omega_{zt}$  [78] given by the pure density matrices

$$\rho_{zt} = |zt\rangle\langle zt|, \quad \text{with} \quad t \in [0, 1]$$
(6.63)

. With this, we can define a function  $W : [0,1] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$  [78] as

$$W(t) = \omega_{zt}(a) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{zt}a) = \langle 0|U^{\dagger}(zt)aU(zt)|0\rangle$$
; with  $W(0) = \omega_0(a)$ ,  $W(1) = \omega_z(a)$ . (6.64)

We can then write

$$|\omega_z(a) - \omega_0(a)| = \left| \int_0^1 \frac{dW(t)}{dt} \, dt \right| \le \int_0^1 \left| \frac{dW(t)}{dt} \right| \, dt.$$
(6.65)

Using the Hadamard identity with  $U(zt) = e^{G(zt)}$  where  $G(zt) = zt\hat{b}^{\dagger} - \bar{z}t\hat{b}$ , we have

$$U(zt)aU^{\dagger}(zt) = e^{G(zt)} a e^{-G(zt)} = a + [G(zt), a] + \frac{1}{2!}[G(zt), [G(zt), a]] + \cdots,$$
(6.66)

$$\Rightarrow \frac{dW(t)}{dt} = \langle 0|[G(z),a]|0\rangle + t\langle 0|[G(z),[G(z),a]]|0\rangle + \frac{t^2}{2!}\langle 0|[G(z),[G(z),[G(z),a]]]|0\rangle + \cdots \\ = \langle 0|e^{G(zt)} [G(z),a] e^{-G(zt)}|0\rangle = \omega_{zt}([G(z),a]) = \bar{z}\omega_{zt}([b,a]) + z\omega_{zt}([b,a]^{\dagger})$$
(6.67)

Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$|\bar{z}\omega_{zt}([b,a]) + z\omega_{zt}([b,a]^{\dagger})| \le \sqrt{2}|z|\sqrt{|\omega_{zt}([b,a])^2 + |\omega_{zt}([b,a]^{\dagger})^2|}.$$
(6.68)

Since for every state  $\omega$ , we have  $\omega(a) \leq ||a||$  and  $||a|| = ||a^{\dagger}||$ , we further have

$$\sqrt{2}|z|\sqrt{|\omega_{zt}([b,a])^2 + |\omega_{zt}([b,a]^{\dagger})^2|} \le \sqrt{2}|z|\sqrt{\|[b,a]\|_{\text{op}}^2 + \|[b,a]^{\dagger}\|_{\text{op}}^2} = 2|z|\|[b,a]\|_{\text{op}}.$$
 (6.69)

With these results and the ball condition (6.42), we finally get the spectral distance as

$$d_{\mathcal{D}_{M}}(\omega_{z},\omega_{0}) = \sup_{a \in B_{s}} |\omega_{z}(a) - \omega_{0}(a)| \le 2|z| \sup_{a \in B_{s}} ||[b,a]||_{\text{op}} \le \sqrt{2\theta}|z| .$$
(6.70)

As follows from (6.66), the optimal element  $a_s$  which gives the exact distance should satisfy

$$[G(z), a_s] = \sqrt{2\theta} |z| \text{ and } [G(z), [G(z), a_s]] = 0.$$
(6.71)

A simple inspection suggests the following form for optimal element *a*<sub>s</sub>:

$$a_{s} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \left( \hat{b}e^{-i\alpha} + \hat{b}^{\dagger}e^{i\alpha} \right) , \quad \text{where} \quad z = |z|e^{i\alpha} , \qquad (6.72)$$

reproducing the result of [78]. But note here that although  $\|[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a_s)]\|_{op} = 1$ , we found that  $\|a_s\|_{tr}^2 = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (2n+1) = \infty$  which means  $a_s \notin \mathcal{H}_q = \mathcal{A}_M$ , but can be thought of as belonging to the multiplier algebra<sup>2</sup>. However, one can obtain this  $a_s$  (6.72) as the limit point of a sequence (by Proposition 3.5 of [78]):

$$a_n = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \left( b e^{-i\alpha} e^{-\lambda_n b^{\dagger} b} + e^{-\lambda_n b^{\dagger} b} b^{\dagger} e^{i\alpha} \right) \in \mathcal{A}_M .$$
(6.73)

We briefly review the proof of proposition 3.5 of [78] which says 'Let  $z = |z|e^{i\alpha}$  be a fixed translation and  $\lambda > 0$ . Define  $a = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} (\hat{b}' + \hat{b}'^{\dagger})$ , where  $\hat{b}' = \hat{b}e^{-i\alpha} (e^{-\lambda\hat{b}^{\dagger}\hat{b}})$ . Then there exists a  $\gamma > 0$  s.t.  $a \in B_s$  for any  $\lambda \leq \gamma$ . Using this proposition, any generic element of the sequence (6.73) can be written in terms of above  $\hat{b}'$  as  $a = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}}(\hat{b}' + \hat{b}'^{\dagger}) \in B_s$  with  $\lambda \leq \gamma$ . Now, it can be easily shown that  $\omega_0(a) = 0$  and  $\omega_z(a) = \sqrt{2\theta} |z| \exp(-|z|^2(1 - e^{-\lambda}))$ . Therefore, we have

$$d(\omega_z,\omega_0) = \lim_{n \to \infty} |\omega_z(a) - \omega_0(a)| = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \sqrt{2\theta} |z| \exp\left(-|z|^2(1 - e^{-\lambda})\right) = \sqrt{2\theta} |z|.$$
(6.74)

But here we propose an alternative approach [92] to obtain the optimal element. For that we define

$$\pi^{N}(a) = \mathbb{P}_{N}\pi(a)\mathbb{P}_{N}, \quad \mathbb{P}_{N} = |0\rangle\rangle\langle\langle 0| + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \{|n\rangle\rangle_{+} + \langle\langle n| + |n\rangle\rangle_{-} - \langle\langle n|\}, \quad (6.75)$$

where  $|n\rangle\rangle_{\pm}$  are the eigenspinors of  $\mathcal{D}_M$  (6.3) and  $\pi^N(a) \in (2N+1)$ -dimensional subspace of  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  and obtained by projecting using the projector  $\mathbb{P}_N$ . As it turns out that in the case of Moyal plane that the computation of infinitesimal distance is quite adequate to compute finite distance, as we shall discuss shortly.

Let us now make use of the eigenbasis (6.3) of Dirac opeartor  $\mathcal{D}_M$  such that the infinitesimal separation  $\Delta \rho = d\rho = \rho_{dz} - \rho_0 = d\bar{z}|0\rangle\langle 1| + dz|1\rangle\langle 0|$  can be represented by a 5 dimensional subspace of  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  as

$$\pi(d\rho) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} d\rho & 0\\ 0 & d\rho \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{dz}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{dz}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{dz}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & \frac{d\bar{z}}{2} & -\frac{d\bar{z}}{2}\\ \frac{dz}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{d\bar{z}}{2} & \frac{d\bar{z}}{2}\\ 0 & \frac{dz}{2} & -\frac{dz}{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{dz}{2} & \frac{dz}{2} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C}),$$
(6.76)

where the columns and rows are labelled by  $|0\rangle\rangle, |1\rangle\rangle_+, |1\rangle\rangle_-, |2\rangle\rangle_+, |2\rangle\rangle_-$  of (6.3) respectively.

<sup>2</sup> Multiplier algebra  $M = M_L \cap M_R$  where  $M_L = \{T \mid \psi T \in \mathcal{H}_q \forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}_q\}$  and  $M_R = \{T \mid T\psi \in \mathcal{H}_q \forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}_q\}$ 

Since  $\pi(d\rho)$  lives on 5-dimensional subspace of  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$ , let us now put N = 2 in (6.75) which gives

$$\pi^{2}(a_{s}) \equiv \mathbb{P}_{2}\pi(a_{s})\mathbb{P}_{2} = \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{2}\\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{2}\\ 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{2} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.77)

We then get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi^{2}(a_{s}) \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad \text{yielding}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi^{2}(a_{s}) \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi^{2}(a_{s}) \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1_{3\times 3}}{2} & 0_{3\times 2} \\ 0_{2\times 3} & B_{2\times 2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{where} \quad B_{2\times 2} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}. \quad (6.78)$$

For any *N*, we find that

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi^{N}(a_{s})\right]^{\dagger}\left[\mathcal{D}_{M}, \pi^{N}(a_{s})\right] = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \mathbb{1}_{(2N-1)\times(2N-1)} & O_{(2N-1)\times2} \\ \hline O_{2\times(2N-1)} & B \end{array}\right) ; B = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{array}\right) . (6.79)$$

This gives the operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi^N(a_s)]\|_{op} = 1$  for each  $N, 2 \leq N \leq \infty$ :

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a_s)\|_{\rm op} \equiv \lim_{N \to \infty} \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi^N(a_s)]\|_{\rm op} \equiv \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi^N(a_s)]\|_{\rm op} = 1.$$
(6.80)

Note that the basis (6.3) can be obtained naturally from a different orthonormal and complete basis

$$\left\{ |n,\uparrow\rangle\rangle = |n\rangle \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} |n\rangle\\0 \end{pmatrix} \quad ; \quad |n,\downarrow\rangle\rangle = |n\rangle \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\|n\rangle \end{pmatrix} \right\} , \tag{6.81}$$

by first leaving out  $\begin{pmatrix} |0\rangle\\0 \end{pmatrix} \equiv |0\rangle\rangle$  separately and then pairing  $|n,\uparrow\rangle\rangle$  and  $|n-1,\downarrow\rangle\rangle$  as

$$|n\rangle\rangle_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(|n,\uparrow\rangle\rangle \pm |n-1,\downarrow\rangle\rangle\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix}|n\rangle\\\pm|n-1\rangle\end{pmatrix}; \quad n = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
(6.82)

The projector  $\mathbb{P}_N$  constructed from the basis (6.3), rather than from (6.81) for its natural association with the Dirac operator.

Let  $\langle \langle . | . \rangle \rangle$  denotes an inner product between a pair of elements  $A_1, A_2 \in \mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$ ,

$$\langle \langle A_1 | A_2 \rangle \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_M}(A_1^{\dagger}A_2) .$$
(6.83)

Note that  $\mathcal{H}_M \equiv \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$  and the above inner product (6.83) is the counter part of the inner product (2.4) on  $\mathcal{H}_c$ . Since for a given pair of operators  $a_1, a_2 \in \mathcal{H}_q$ , we can define its representations  $A_1 = \pi(a_1), A_2 = \pi(a_2) \in \mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  such that the inner product (2.4) between  $a_1, a_2$  can be related to the inner product (6.83) of  $\pi(a_1), \pi(a_2)$  as

$$(a_1, a_2) = \frac{1}{2} \langle \langle \pi(a_1) \mid \pi(a_2) \rangle \rangle .$$
(6.84)

Thus, we now have

$$(d\rho, a_s) = \frac{1}{2} |\langle \langle \pi(d\rho) \mid \pi(a_s) \rangle \rangle| = \sqrt{2\theta} |dz|.$$
(6.85)

Here one can easily see that  $\nexists$  any  $a \in \mathcal{H}_q$  s.t.  $\pi(a) = \mathbb{P}_2 \pi(a_s) \mathbb{P}_2$  and one can not simply relate (6.8<sub>3</sub>) with any inner products (.,.) of  $\mathcal{H}_q$ . Indeed, if it were to exist, we could have identified this '*a*', using (6.8<sub>0</sub>) and (6.8<sub>5</sub>), to be the optimal element itself, which by definition has to belong to  $\mathcal{H}_q = \mathcal{A}$ , or at best to the multiplier algebra. In fact, this will be a persistent feature with any finite (2*N* + 1)-dimensional projection  $\pi^N(a_s) = \mathbb{P}_N \pi(a_s) \mathbb{P}_N$  (6.75) as

$$\frac{1}{2} |\langle \langle \pi(d\rho) \mid \mathbb{P}_N \pi(a_s) \mathbb{P}_N \rangle \rangle| = \sqrt{2\theta} |dz| , \qquad (6.86)$$

is independent of N if  $N \ge 2$ . One can note at this stage, however, that one can keep on increasing the rank of the projection operator  $\mathbb{P}_N$  indefinitely. That is, even in the limit  $N \to \infty$ ,  $\mathbb{P}_N \to \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}_q \otimes \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{C})}$  (6.5) where  $\mathbb{P}_N \pi(a_s) \mathbb{P}_N \to \pi(a_s)$ , we can interpret with (6.80)

$$(d\rho, a_s) = \frac{1}{2} \left| \left\langle \left\langle \pi(d\rho) \mid \pi(a_s) \right\rangle \right\rangle \right| \equiv \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{2} \left| \left\langle \left\langle \pi(d\rho) \mid \mathbb{P}_N \pi(a_s) \mathbb{P}_N \right\rangle \right\rangle \right| = \sqrt{2\theta} \left| dz \right| \,. \tag{6.87}$$

Thus, instead of inserting a Gaussian factor, as in (6.73), we have a sequence  $\{\mathbb{P}_N \pi(a_s)\mathbb{P}_N\}$  of trace-class operators living in  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  (note that  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  can be regarded as Hilbert-Schmidt operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ ) and each of them satisfy the ball condition (6.42), (6.80).

It is finally clear from the above analysis that the upper bound (6.70) is saturated in the infinitesimal case through the sequence  $\{\mathbb{P}_N \pi(a_s)\mathbb{P}_N\}$  in the limit  $N \to \infty$ , allowing one to identify

$$d(\rho_0, \rho_{dz}) = d(|0\rangle \langle 0|, |dz\rangle \langle dz|) = \sqrt{2\theta} |dz| , \qquad (6.88)$$

with the optimal element now belonging to the multiplier algebra. Invoking translational symmetry (6.61) it is clear that

$$d(\rho_0, \rho_{dz}) = d(\rho_z, \rho_{z+dz}) = \sqrt{2\theta} |dz| \quad \forall \ z \in \{zt, t \in [0, 1]\}$$
(6.89)

and one concludes that for finitely separated states, one can write

$$d(\rho_0, \rho_z) = \sqrt{2\theta} |z|, \tag{6.90}$$

reproducing the result (6.74) and identify the straight line joining z = 0 to z to be geodesic of the Moyal plane enabling one to integrate the infinitesimal distance (6.89) along this geodesic to compute finite distance. As we shall subsequently see this feature will not persist for other generic non-commutative spaces and we will demonstrate this through the example of the fuzzy sphere later. In fact, one can easily see at this stage that the distance (6.90) can be written as the sum of distances  $d(\rho_0, \rho_{zt})$  and  $d(\rho_0, \rho_{zt})$  as,

$$d(\rho_0, \rho_z) = d(\rho_0, \rho_{zt}) + d(\rho_{zt}, \rho_z), \tag{6.91}$$

where  $\rho_{zt}$  is an arbitrary intermediate pure state from the one-parameter family of pure states, introduced in (6.63), so that the respective triangle inequality becomes an equality.

# 6.4 spectral triple on $\mathcal{H}_q$ and the connection of geometry with statistics

Here we provide a brief review of the computation of infinitesimal distance on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  [79] which on exploiting the presence of the additional degrees of freedom reveals a deep connection between geometry and statistics [79]. We shall carry out a similar analysis on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2_*$  in the next chapter.

On the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q$  of Moyal, the following spectral triple is defined in [79]:

$$\mathcal{A}_{M}^{q} = \mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{H}_{q})^{3} ; \quad \mathcal{H}_{M}^{q} = \mathcal{H}_{q} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{2} ; \quad \mathcal{D}_{M}^{q} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \hat{B}^{\ddagger} \\ \hat{B} & 0 \end{bmatrix} , \qquad (6.92)$$

where  $\hat{B}$  and  $\hat{B}^{\ddagger}$  are the ones introduced in (2.8). Here too we consider the usual action of  $\mathcal{A}_{M}^{q}$  on  $\mathcal{H}_{M}^{q}$  through the diagonal representation analogous to the action of  $\mathcal{A}_{M}$  (6.7) on the configuration space  $\mathcal{H}_{c}$ . Here, the density matrices on  $\mathcal{H}_{q}$  are of the form  $\rho_{\psi,\phi} \equiv |\psi,\phi\rangle(\psi,\phi) \in \mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{H}_{q})$  where  $|\psi,\phi\rangle \equiv |\psi\rangle\langle\phi| \in \mathcal{H}_{q}$  with  $|\psi\rangle, |\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{c}$ .

We know that for the infinitesimal distance between a pair of discrete states  $\rho_{m+1,\phi'} \equiv |m+1,\phi'\rangle (m+1,\phi'|$  and  $\rho_{m,\phi} \equiv |m,\phi\rangle (m,\phi|$  where  $\langle \phi | \phi' \rangle = \delta_{\phi,\phi'}$ , we can use the lower bound formula (6.28) as it gives the exact infinitesimal distance. For simplicity, we can further

<sup>3</sup> Hilbert space of Hilbert-Schmidt operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}_q$ 

simplify the distance computation by computing the trace norm instead of operator norm in the denominator of (6.28) as these two norms differ only by a numerical factor [79]. So, we can define a modified infinitesimal spectral distance on the quantum Hilbert space as

$$\tilde{d}(\omega_{\rho_{m+1,\phi'}},\omega_{\rho_{m,\phi}}) = \frac{\mathrm{tr}_q\{(d\rho)^2\}}{\|[\mathcal{D}_M^q,\pi(d\rho)]\|_{\mathrm{tr}}}; \quad d\rho = \rho_{m+1,\phi'} - \rho_{m,\phi}.$$
(6.93)

It is found that the distance between a pair of discrete pure states given by  $\rho_{m+1,\phi}$  and  $\rho_{m,\phi}$  is always less than the one between  $\rho_{m+1,\phi'}$  and  $\rho_{m,\phi}$ . That is,

$$d(\omega_{\rho_{m+1,\phi'}}, \omega_{\rho_{m,\phi}}) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{2(m+1)}}, & \text{if } \phi = \phi'; \\ \sqrt{\frac{2\theta}{m+2}}, & \text{if } \phi \neq \phi'. \end{cases}$$
(6.94)

This reveals the importance of right-hand sector  $|\phi\rangle$  for the states  $|m, \phi\rangle \equiv |m\rangle\langle\phi| \in \mathcal{H}_q$ [81] and hence the additional degrees of freedom (reviewed in section 1.1.2) present in noncommutative space like Moyal plane. In [79], a more general situation has been considered by taking the right-hand sector to be a statistical mixture that changes from point to point. That is, the following density matrix on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  is considered:

$$\rho_q(n) = \sum_k p_k(n) |n, k| \in \mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{H}_q) , \quad \sum_k p_k(n) = 1, \ \forall n.$$
(6.95)

The physical meaning of such states has been understood by computing the average of the radial operator in  $\rho_q(n)$  which yields  $\operatorname{tr}_q(\hat{B}_L^{\dagger}\hat{B}_L \rho_q(n)) = n$ . That is, these states are localized at a fixed radial distance n as the fluctuations vanish. Then the infinitesimal distance between a pair of mixed states  $\rho_q(n+1)$  and  $\rho_q(n)$  can be computed using the lower bound formula (6.28) as mentioned earlier for infinitesimally separated discrete states (6.28) gives the exact infinitesimal distance. In case  $d\rho = \rho'_q - \rho_q \equiv \rho_q(n+1) - \rho_q(n)$ , the following distance is obtained:

$$\tilde{d}(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \frac{\sqrt{\theta}}{2} \frac{\sum_k \left\{ p_k^2(n+1) + p_k^2(n) \right\}}{\sqrt{\sum_k \left\{ (2n+3)p_k^2(n+1) + (2n+1)p_k^2(n) + 2(n+1)p_k(n+1)p_k(n) \right\}}}.$$
(6.96)

This depends on the probabilities  $p_k(n+1)$  and  $p_k(n)$ . Two particular choices of probabilities  $p_k(n)$  were considered in [79] which we can briefly review here. However, the details of similiar computations on quantum Hilbert space of fuzzy sphere is given in chapter 7.

1. Choosing  $p_k$ 's such that the distance between a pair of points is minimized, it is found that

$$\tilde{d}(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \frac{\sqrt{\theta}}{6\Omega} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}}; \quad \Omega \to \text{a cut-off for } \sum_k.$$
 (6.97)

2. Choosing  $p_k$ 's that maximize the local entropy  $S(n) = -\sum_k p_k(n) \log p_k(n)$ ; with  $\sum_k p_k(n)E_k = E(n)$  held fixed, yielding a local Boltzmann distribution:

$$p_k(n) = \frac{e^{-\beta(n)E_k}}{Z(\beta(n))}$$
;  $Z(\beta(n)) = \sum_k e^{-\beta(n)E_k}$ , (6.98)

where  $\beta(n)$  is the local inverse temperature. From this, the following distance has been obtained

$$\tilde{d}(\omega_{n+1},\omega_n) = \frac{\theta}{6} \frac{\sqrt{Z(2\beta)}}{Z(\beta)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}}, \quad Z(\beta) = \sum_k e^{-\beta E_k}$$
(6.99)

This clearly shows the connection between the distance and partition function describing the statistical properties of the 2D Moyal plane with quantum states in thermal equilibrium. However, in this case the distance decreases as the temperature *T* increases since the value of the factor  $\frac{\sqrt{Z(2\beta)}}{Z(\beta)}$  lies within 0 to 1 and goes to 0 for  $T \to \infty$  [79].

# SPECTRAL DISTANCES ON FUZZY SPHERE

As mentioned earlier, fuzzy sphere  $\$^2_{\star}$  can be considered as a quantized 2-sphere  $\$^2$ . We know the metric properties of  $\$^2$  from usual Riemannian geometry. Here, we study the metric properties of its quantized version  $\$^2_{\star}$ . Using the generalized Perelomov's SU(2) coherent states (5.52), we try to make comparison between the metric properties of  $\$^2$  and the non-commutative analogue of homogeneous space of  $\$^2_{\star}$  i.e. the space of Perelomov's SU(2) coherent states [87]. As we have seen it is the Dirac operator, one of the most important ingredients of spectral triple, that gives the metric properties of a generalized space associated with a given spectral triple. For a review of the construction of Dirac operator on fuzzy sphere given in [88] see appexndix D.

# 7.1 Spectral triple on the configuration space $\mathcal{F}_{j}$ of fuzzy sphere

Let us denote by  $\mathbb{S}_{j}^{2}$ , a single fuzzy sphere with a fixed radius  $r_{j} = \theta_{f} \sqrt{j(j+1)}$ . Then, the spectral triple of a fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{j}^{2}$  can be constructed [82] in the same way as done for Moyal plane [79]:

- The Algebra  $\mathcal{A}_f = \mathcal{H}_j = \text{Span}\{|j, m\rangle \langle j, m'|, -j \leq m, m' \leq j\}.$
- The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_f = \mathcal{F}_j \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} |j, m\rangle \\ |j, m'\rangle \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$
- Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_f = \frac{1}{r_j} \hat{\vec{J}} \otimes \vec{\sigma}$ , obtained in (D.35).

This triple is also introduced in [89]. Here, the algebra  $A_f$  acts on the Hilbert sapce  $\mathcal{H}_f$  through the diagonal representation

$$\pi(a)\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 \\ \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix}; \quad a \in \mathcal{A}, \quad \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 \\ \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_f.$$
(7.1)

This spectral triple is a legitimate spectral triple as the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_f$  satisfy the conditions that  $[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]$  are bounded for all  $a \in \mathcal{A}_f$  and the resolvent  $(\mathcal{D}_f - \mu)^{-1}$  is compact for all  $\mu \notin \mathbb{R}$ . For a given *j*, we have  $-j \le m \le j$  so the configuration space  $\mathcal{F}_j$  (2.67) and the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_j$  (2.69) of a given fuzzy sphere with radius  $r_j$  are all finite dimensional. For an operator *A* acting on a Hilbert space of dimension *d*, the operator norm and trace norms are equivalent, in the sense that,

$$||A||_{\text{op}} \leq ||A||_{\text{tr}} \leq \sqrt{d} ||A||_{\text{op}}.$$
 (7.2)

Note that the Dirac operator  $D_f$  can be effectively written as

$$\mathcal{D}_f = \frac{1}{r_j} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{J}_3 & \hat{J}_1 - i\hat{J}_2 \\ \hat{J}_1 + i\hat{J}_2 & -\hat{J}_3 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(7.3)

By a simple computation, we can see that

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{\mathrm{tr}}^2 = \frac{1}{r_j^2} \left(2\|[\hat{J}_3, a]\|_{\mathrm{tr}}^2 + \|[\hat{J}_+, a]\|_{\mathrm{tr}} + \|[\hat{J}_-, a]\|_{\mathrm{tr}}\right).$$
(7.4)

We know that  $||A + B||_{tr} \le ||A||_{tr} + ||B||_{tr}$  and  $||AB||_{tr} \le ||A||_{tr} ||B||_{tr}$ , which are, of course, true for all norms. Moreover, we have  $||\hat{J}_3||_{tr}^2 = \frac{1}{2}||\hat{J}_+||_{tr}^2 = \frac{1}{2}||\hat{J}_-||_{tr}^2 = \frac{1}{3}j(j+1)(2j+1)$ . With these, we can conclude that

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_{f},\pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} \le \|[\mathcal{D}_{f},\pi(a)]\|_{\text{tr}} \le \frac{2}{\theta_{f}}\sqrt{2(2j+1)}\|\pi(a)\|_{\text{tr}} \le \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\theta_{f}}(2j+1)\|\pi(a)\|_{\text{op}} < \infty.$$
(7.5)

The reslovent of  $\mathcal{D}_f$  can be explicitly computed as

$$(\mathcal{D}_f - \mu)^{-1} = r_j^2 \{ j(j+1) - \mu r_j(\mu r_j + 1) \}^{-1} \Big( \mathcal{D}_f + \frac{1}{r_j} + \mu \Big),$$
(7.6)

the only singuralities occur at  $\mu = \frac{j}{r_j} \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mu = \frac{-(j+1)}{r_j} \in \mathbb{R}$ . For  $\mu \notin \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(\mathcal{D}_f - \mu)^{-1}$  is non-singular and bounded which maps  $\mathcal{H}_f$  into itself and thus it is a finite rank operator and hence a compact operator. Note that these properties are valid only for a particular fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_j^2$  with finite *j* but these cannot be extended to the union of all the fuzzy spheres  $\bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^+/2} \mathbb{S}_j^2 \equiv \mathbb{R}^3_{\theta_f}$ . In fact our distance computation will be restricted to a particular fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_j^2$  with a fixed radius  $r_j = \theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}$ .

## 7.1.1 Eigenspinors of Dirac operator $D_f$ [89]

The eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{D}_f$  with the corresponding eigenspinors are obtained in [89] as

$$\mathcal{D}_{f}|m\rangle\rangle_{+} = \frac{j}{r_{j}}|m\rangle\rangle_{+}; \quad \mathcal{D}_{f}|m'\rangle\rangle_{-} = -\frac{j+1}{r_{j}}|m'\rangle\rangle_{-},$$
(7.7)

where, 
$$|m\rangle\rangle_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2j+1}} \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{j+m+1}|j,m\rangle \\ \sqrt{j-m}|j,m+1\rangle \end{bmatrix}$$
,  $m = -j-1, ..., j$  (7.8)

$$|m'\rangle\rangle_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2j+1}} \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{j-m'}|j,m'\rangle\\ \sqrt{j+m'+1}|j,m'+1\rangle \end{bmatrix}, \ m' = -j,, ..., j-1.$$
(7.9)

Note that the eigenvalues for a particular j is independent of m or m' and is responsible for a (2j + 2)-fold degeneracy in the positive eigenvalue sector and a 2j-fold degeneracy in the negative eigenvalue sector. This can be understood from the tensor product structure of Dirac operator (D.35) and the Clebsch-Gordon decomposition of a tensor product of a pair of SU(2) representations. For example, if  $\hat{f}$  in (D.35) corresponds to the j = 1/2 representation i.e.  $\hat{f} = \vec{\sigma}/2$ , then it will split into the direct sum of j = 1 (triplet) and j = 0 (singlet) representations of three and one dimension, respectively. Lastly, we would like to mention that the positive eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{D}_f$  obtained in [89] is  $\frac{j+1}{r_j}$  and the negative is  $-\frac{j}{r_j}$ , unlike the above (7.7). This is because of the fact that we ignore the identity term (responsible of chiral symmetry) in the Dirac operator of [89], also the one obtained in [88], as this term does not survive in the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]$ .

## 7.1.2 Ball condition with Dirac eigenspinors

As in the case of Moyal plane, the computation of operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{op}$  for fuzzy sphere is simplified drastically using the eigenspinors (7.7) basis. A straightforward computation yields,

$${}_{+}\langle\langle j,m|[\mathcal{D}_{f},\pi(a)]|j,m'\rangle\rangle_{-} = \frac{1}{r_{j}}A_{(2j+2)\times 2j}; {}_{+}\langle\langle j,m|[\mathcal{D}_{f},\pi(a)]|j,n\rangle\rangle_{+} = 0; \quad (7.10)$$

$$-\langle\langle j, m' | [\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(a)] | j, m \rangle\rangle_{+} = -\frac{1}{r_{j}} A^{\dagger}_{2j \times (2j+2)}; \quad -\langle\langle j, m' | [\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(a)] | j, n' \rangle\rangle_{-} = 0 , (7.11)$$

where  $m, n = -j - 1, -j, \cdots, j$  and  $m', n' = -j, -j - 1, \cdots, j - 1$  with *A*'s, given by

$$\begin{aligned} A_{(2j+2)\times 2j} &= (2j+1)_+ \langle \langle j,m | \pi(a) | j,m' \rangle \rangle_- \\ &= \left\{ \sqrt{(j-m)(j+m'+1)} \, a_{m+1,m'+1} - \sqrt{(j-m')(j+m+1)} \, a_{m,m'} \right\}; (7.12) \\ A_{2j\times (2j+2)}^+ &= (2j+1)_- \langle \langle m' | \pi(a) | m \rangle \rangle_+ \\ &= \left\{ \sqrt{(j-m)(j+m'+1)} \, a_{m'+1,m+1} - \sqrt{(j-m')(j+m+1)} \, a_{m',m} \right\}. (7.13) \end{aligned}$$

That is, in the matrix form we get

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(a)\right] = \frac{1}{r_{j}} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0_{(2j+2)\times(2j+2)} & A_{(2j+2)\times2j} \\ \hline -A_{2j\times(2j+2)}^{\dagger} & 0_{(2j)\times(2j)} \end{array} \right) ,$$
(7.14)

which yields

$$[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]^{\dagger}[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)] = \frac{1}{r_j^2} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} (AA^{\dagger})_{(2j+2)\times(2j+2)} & 0_{(2j+2)\times2j} \\ \hline 0_{2j\times(2j+2)} & (A^{\dagger}A)_{2j\times2j} \end{array} \right) .$$
(7.15)

With this, we get the operator norm as

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{\rm op}^2 = \|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]^{\dagger}[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_j^2} \|AA^{\dagger}\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_j^2} \|A^{\dagger}A\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_j^2} \|A\|_{\rm op}^2 .$$
(7.16)

Thus, the computation of operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}}$  reduces to the computation of  $\|A\|_{\text{op}}$ and that too by computing  $\|A^{\dagger}A\|_{\text{op}}$ , rather than  $\|AA^{\dagger}\|_{\text{op}}$  as the former involves  $A^{\dagger}A$  which is a matrix of smaller rank. With this, the ball condition reduces to

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{\mathrm{op}} \leq 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \|A\|_{\mathrm{op}} \leq r_j \,. \tag{7.17}$$

## 7.1.3 Spectral distance between discrete states

The role of generalized points on  $\mathcal{F}_j$  will be played by the pure states  $\omega_{\rho}$  where  $\rho$  is the pure density matrix. We can take  $\rho = |j, m\rangle \langle j, m|$ , giving us the discrete pure states and we can also take  $\rho = |z\rangle \langle z|$  where  $|z\rangle$  is the Perelomov's coherent state (5.52).

## 7.1.3.1 Infinitesimal distance

Let us define the Connes' spectral distance between two infinitesimally separated discrete pure states  $\omega_{\rho_{m+1}} \equiv \omega_{m+1}$  and  $\omega_{\rho_m} \equiv \omega_m$ , where  $\rho_m = |j,m\rangle\langle j,m| \equiv |m\rangle\langle m|$  (suppressing *j*, as the value of *j* is fixed). We have

$$d_{j}(\omega_{m+1},\omega_{m}) = \sup_{a \in B_{s}} |\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{m+1}a) - \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{m}a)| = \sup_{a \in B_{s}} |\langle m+1|a|m+1\rangle - \langle m|a|m\rangle|; \quad (7.18)$$

where  $B_s = \{a \in A_f : a^{\dagger} = a = c^{\dagger}c, 0 < \|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{op} \le 1\}$ . In the same way as done for Moyal case, we get

$$d_j(\omega_{m+1},\omega_m) = \sup_{a \in B_s} \left| \langle m | \frac{\hat{J}_{-a} \hat{J}_{+}}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}} - a | m \rangle \right| = \sup_{a \in B_s} \frac{|\langle m | [\hat{J}_{-,a}] | m+1 \rangle|}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}} .$$
(7.19)

Using again the Bessel's inequality (6.40), we get the distance to be bounded above by

$$d_{j}(\omega_{m+1},\omega_{m}) \leq \frac{\|[\hat{f}_{-},a]\|_{op}}{\sqrt{j(j+1)-m(m+1)}} = \frac{\|[\hat{f}_{+},a]\|_{op}}{\sqrt{j(j+1)-m(m+1)}} \leq \frac{r_{j}}{\sqrt{j(j+1)-m(m+1)}}.$$
(7.20)

The last inequality follows from the ball condition and (7.4) to get

$$\frac{1}{r_j} \| [\hat{J}_{-}, a] \|_{\text{op}} \le \| [\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)] \|_{\text{op}} \le 1 \implies \| [\hat{J}_{-}, a] \|_{\text{op}} \le r_j .$$
(7.21)

It is now quite straightforward to check that this upper bound in (7.20) coincides exactly with the lower bound (6.28) i.e, the optimal element  $a_s \in B_s$  saturating the above inequality (7.20) is given by

$$a_s = \frac{d\rho}{\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \ \pi(d\rho)]\|_{\text{op}}}, \quad \text{where} \quad d\rho = \rho_{m+1} - \rho_m = |m+1\rangle\langle m+1| - |m\rangle\langle m| \quad . \tag{7.22}$$

All that we need to do is to compute the operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{op}$  the using Dirac operator's eigen-spinor basis (7.7). To that end, note that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(d\rho) \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{r_{j}} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0 & A \\ \hline -A^{\dagger} & 0 \end{array} \right), \text{ where } A = (2j+1)_{+} \langle \langle j, m | \pi(d\rho) | j, m' \rangle \rangle_{-} \quad (7.23)$$
  
i.e.  $A = \left\{ \sqrt{(j-m)(j+m'+1)} & (d\rho)_{m+1,m'+1} - \sqrt{(j-m')(j+m+1)} & (d\rho)_{m,m'} \right\}$   
 $= \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a_{22} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a_{33} \end{pmatrix}; \text{ (note that } d\rho = |m+1\rangle\langle m+1| - |m\rangle\langle m|) \quad (7.24)$   
with,  $a_{11} = -\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m-1)}$ 

with, 
$$a_{11} = -\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m-1)}$$
  
 $a_{22} = 2\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}$   
 $a_{33} = -\sqrt{j(j+1) - (m+1)(m+2)}$ . (7.25)

Here, the rows and columns of the matrix *A* are labeled from top to bottom and left to right respectively by  $|j, m - 1\rangle\rangle_+, |j, m\rangle\rangle_+, |j, m + 1\rangle\rangle_+$  and  $|j, m - 1\rangle\rangle_-, |j, m\rangle\rangle_-, |j, m + 1\rangle\rangle_-$ . This readily yields  $\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{2}{r_j}\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}$ . The lower bound formula (6.28) then gives, on using tr $\{(d\rho)^2\} = 2$ 

$$d_{j}(\omega_{m+1},\omega_{m}) \geq \frac{\|d\rho\|_{\text{tr}}^{2}}{\|[\mathcal{D}_{f},\pi(d\rho)]\|_{\text{op}}} = \frac{\theta_{f}\sqrt{j(j+1)}}{\sqrt{j(j+1)-m(m+1)}}.$$
(7.26)

Thus, the distance is given by

$$d_j(\omega_{m+1}, \omega_m) = \frac{\theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}} .$$
(7.27)

Finally, we show that this  $a_s$  is not unique and there exists another optimal element  $a'_s$ :

$$a'_{s} = \frac{r_{j}}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}} |m+1\rangle\langle m+1| , \qquad (7.28)$$

which too saturates inequality (7.20). This reproduces the result of [89].

# 7.1.3.2 A heuristic derivation of the above distance formula (7.27)



Figure 7.1: Infinitesimal change on the surface of sphere with respect to the change in m

To clarify the adjective "infinitesimal" in this context, let us recall from the theory of angular momentum that the state  $|j, m\rangle$  can be visualized as the vector  $\vec{x}$  precessing the  $x_3$ - axis along a cone, in such a manner that the tip of the vector  $\vec{x}$  lies on the circle of latitude on a sphere of radius  $\theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}$ , maintaining a fixed  $x_3$ - component  $\theta_f m$  with m varying in the interval  $-j \le m \le j(j \in \mathbb{Z}/2)$  in the steps of unity (see fig.1). The associated polar angles are therefore quantized as,

$$\theta_m = \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{m}{\sqrt{j(j+1)}} \right). \tag{7.29}$$

Now, let us treat *m* to be a continuous variable for a moment. This yields

$$d\theta_m = \frac{dm}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - m^2}}.$$
(7.30)

The distance, which is identified with arc length in figure 1, is then obtained by multiplying with the quantized radius to get

$$ds(m) = \frac{\theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)} \, dm}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - m^2}}.$$
(7.31)

This almost matches with the distance expression (7.27); in fact with the formal replacement  $dm \rightarrow \Delta m = 1$  and  $m^2 \rightarrow m(m+1)$  one reproduces (7.27) exactly. Further, (7.31) can be shown to follow, albeit somewhat heuristically, from (7.27) by taking the average of the *m* dependence in (7.27), which gives d(m, m+1) and that of the *m* -dependence occurring in d(m-1,m):  $\frac{1}{2}[m(m+1) + m(m-1)] = m^2$ .

## 7.1.3.3 Finite Distance

Let us consider a pair of finitely separated discrete pure states  $\omega_m$  and  $\omega_n$  with  $\rho_m = |m\rangle\langle m|$ and  $\rho_n = |n\rangle\langle n|$  respectively, such that  $k = m - n \ge 2$  where  $-j \le m, n \le j$ . We follow here the same technique as adopted in Moyal plane, i.e., we can write

$$\left| \operatorname{tr}\{(\rho_m - \rho_n)a\} \right| = \left| \sum_{i=1}^k \operatorname{tr}\{(\rho_{n+i} - \rho_{n+i-1})a\} \right| = \left| \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \operatorname{tr}\{(\rho_{p+1} - \rho_p)a\} \right|; \ p = m + i - 1.$$
(7.32)

From the infinitesimal case, we found

$$|\mathrm{tr}\{(\rho_{p+1} - \rho_p)a\}| \le \frac{r_j}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - p(p+1)}},$$
(7.33)

so that the finite distance is bounded by

$$d_{j}(\omega_{m},\omega_{n}) = \sup_{a\in B_{s}} |\mathrm{tr}\{(\rho_{m}-\rho_{n})a\}| \leq \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \frac{r_{j}}{\sqrt{j(j+1)-p(p+1)}}$$
(7.34)

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{r_j}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - (n+i)(n+i-1)}} . \quad (7.35)$$

We can easily see that the optimal element  $a_s \in B_s$  saturating this inequality is of the form:

$$a_{s} = \theta_{f} \sum_{p=n}^{m-1} \left( \sum_{i=1}^{m-p} \frac{\sqrt{j(j+1)}}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - (p+i)(p+i-1)}} \, |p\rangle\langle p| \right) \,. \tag{7.36}$$

This gives the finite distance between a pair of discrete pure states  $\omega_m$  and  $\omega_n$  as

$$d_j(\omega_m, \omega_n) = |\mathrm{tr}\{(\rho_m - \rho_n) a_s\}| = \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{r_j}{\sqrt{j(j+1) - (n+i)(n+i-1)}} .$$
(7.37)

We can easily check that this distance is additive, i.e, it saturates the triangle inequality [89]:

$$d_j(\omega_m, \omega_n) = d_j(\omega_m, \omega_l) + d_j(\omega_l, \omega_n), \text{ for any } l \in n \le l \le m.$$
(7.38)

In particular, we can check the distance between north pole (*N*), represented by the pure state  $\omega_j = |j\rangle\langle j|$  and south pole (*S*), by  $\omega_{-j} = |-j\rangle\langle -j|$  is given by

$$d_j(N,S) = d_j(\omega_j, \omega_{-j}) = \theta_f \sum_{k=1}^{2j} \frac{\sqrt{j(j+1)}}{\sqrt{k(2j+1-k)}}, \quad \forall j.$$
(7.39)

Note that both the discrete pure states  $\omega_j$  and  $\omega_{-j}$  representing north and south poles are also coherent states. This implies that we should be able to reproduce the same results from the computation of finite distance between coherent pure states which will be discussed in the next subsection. Let us see for  $j = \frac{1}{2}$ , which corresponds to a fuzzy sphere with maximal



Figure 7.2: Fuzzy spheres,  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{3}{2}}^2$ 

non-commutativity, the distance between north (*N*) and south poles (*S*); also for j = 1 and  $j = \frac{3}{2}$  respectively can be obtained as

$$d_{\frac{1}{2}}(N,S) = r_{\frac{1}{2}}; \ d_{1}(N,S) = \sqrt{2} r_{1} = 1.4142 r_{1}; \ d_{\frac{3}{2}}(N,S) = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{3}\right)r_{\frac{3}{2}} = 1.6547 r_{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(7.40)

This indicates that the fuzzy spheres:  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{1}^2$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{3}{2}}^2$  are highly deformed spaces as the corresponding distances (7.40) are way below the corresponding commutative spheres  $\pi r_{\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\pi r_1$  and  $\pi r_{\frac{3}{2}}$  respectively. However, we can expect the commutative results can be obtained in the limit  $j \to \infty$ , i.e.,  $\mathbb{S}_j^2 \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \mathbb{S}^2$ . In the limit  $j \to \infty$ , we can take  $\frac{k}{j} = x_k$  and  $\Delta x = x_k - x_{k-1} = \frac{1}{j}$  as the increment such that  $\Delta x \to 0$  as  $j \to \infty$ .

That is, in the limit  $j \rightarrow \infty$ , we can write the ratio of distance  $d_j$  with radius  $r_j$  as

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{d_j(N,S)}{r_j} = \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{2j} \frac{1}{\sqrt{k(2j+1-k)}} = \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{2j} \frac{\frac{1}{j}}{\sqrt{\frac{k}{j}(2+\frac{1}{j}-\frac{k}{j})}}$$
(7.41)

$$= \lim_{\Delta x \to 0} \sum_{x=x_1}^{x_{2j}=2} \frac{\Delta x}{\sqrt{x_k (2 + \Delta x - x_k)}}$$
(7.42)

$$= \int_{0}^{2} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{x(2-x)}} = 2 \int_{0}^{1} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{1-t^{2}}} = \pi , \quad (x = 1-t) .$$
 (7.43)

This is exactly the ratio between the distance of north pole and south pole of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  with its radius [89] which implies that indeed  $\mathbb{S}_j^2 \xrightarrow{j \to \infty} \mathbb{S}^2$ .

## 7.1.4 Spectral distance between coherent states

The space of Perelomov's SU(2) coherent states is constructed in [87] on fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{j}^{2}$  which serves as a non-commutative analogue of homogeneous space of  $\mathbb{S}_{j}^{2}$ . Such coherent states along the meridien i.e. the great circle connecting north and south poles are given by (5.52)

$$|z\rangle = U_f(z)|j,j\rangle \equiv e^{-i\hat{f}_2\theta}|j\rangle = e^{\frac{\theta}{2}(\hat{f}_--\hat{f}_+)}|j\rangle$$
; where  $\frac{\theta}{2} = \tan^{-1}(|z|)$ ,  $\phi = 0.$  (7.44)

The corresponding pure coherent states on  $\mathcal{F}_i$  are given by

$$\omega_z(a) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho_z a) = \langle j | U_f^{\dagger}(z) a U_f(z) | j \rangle , \quad \text{where} \quad \rho_z = |z\rangle \langle z| = U_f(z) | j \rangle \langle j | U_f^{\dagger}(z) . \quad (7.45)$$

By using the Hadamard identity and putting  $G(\theta) = \frac{\theta}{2}(\hat{J}_+ - \hat{J}_-)$ , we get

$$U_{f}^{\dagger}(z)aU_{f}(z) = e^{G(\theta)}a \ e^{-G(\theta)} = a + [G(\theta), a] + \frac{1}{2!}[G(\theta), [G(\theta), a]] + \cdots$$
(7.46)

## 7.1.4.1 An upper bound on $d_i(\omega_z, \omega_0)$ which is unsaturated for finite j

The difference between the pure states  $\omega_z$  and  $\omega_0$  (note that  $\omega_0 \equiv \omega_{\rho_0}$  with  $\rho_0 = |j\rangle\langle j|$  as we take  $|j\rangle \equiv |z = 0\rangle$ ) as the highest weight state can be written as

$$|\omega_{z}(a) - \omega_{0}(a)| = \left| \langle j | U_{f}^{\dagger}(z) a U_{f}(z) - a | j \rangle \right| = \left| \langle j | [G(\theta), a] + \frac{1}{2!} [G(\theta), [G(\theta), a]] + \dots | j \rangle \right|.$$
(7.47)

Like in the case of Moyal plane here also, we can introduce a one-parameter family of pure states:

$$\rho_{zt} = |zt\rangle\langle zt| = U_f(zt)|j\rangle\langle j|U_f^{\dagger}(zt) \quad (\text{with } t \in [0,1]) , \qquad (7.48)$$

and define the function

$$W(t) = \omega_{zt}(a) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{zt}a) = \langle j | U_f^{\dagger}(zt) \ a \ U_f(zt) | j \rangle .$$
(7.49)

Note that we have  $U_f(zt)$  as

$$U_f(zt) = e^{-G(\theta_t)}, \quad G(\theta_t) = \frac{\theta_t}{2}(\hat{J}_+ - \hat{J}_-), \quad \text{where} \quad \theta_t = 2\tan^{-1}(|z|t).$$
(7.50)

We can rewrite (7.47) in terms of this function W(t) (7.49) to get the following inequality

$$|\omega_z(a) - \omega_0(a)| = \left| \int_0^1 \frac{dW(t)}{dt} dt \right| \le \int_0^1 \left| \frac{dW(t)}{dt} \right| dt .$$
 (7.51)

From the computation, we get

$$\left| \frac{dW(t)}{dt} \right| = \frac{|z|}{1+|z|^2t^2} \left| \left\{ [\hat{J}_+ - \hat{J}_-, a] + [G(\theta_t), [\hat{J}_+ - \hat{J}_-, a]] + \frac{1}{2!} [G(\theta_t), [G(\theta_t), [\hat{J}_+ - \hat{J}_-, a]]] + \cdots \right\} \right| \\
= \frac{|z|}{1+|z|^2t^2} \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_+ - \hat{J}_-, a]) = \frac{|z|}{1+|z|^2t^2} \left| \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_-, a]) + \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_-, a]^\dagger) \right|.$$
(7.52)

Using Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, we get

$$\left| \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_{-}, a]) + \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_{-}, a]^{\dagger}) \right| \leq \sqrt{2} \sqrt{ \left| \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_{-}, a]) \right|^{2} + \left| \omega_{zt} ([\hat{J}_{-}, a]^{\dagger}) \right|^{2} } \\ \leq 2 \| [\hat{J}_{-}, a] \|_{\text{op}} \leq 2r_{j} ,$$
 (7.53)

since every state is bounded as  $\omega_{zt}([\hat{J}_{-}, a]) \leq \|[\hat{J}_{-}, a]\|_{op}$  and  $\|[\hat{J}_{-}, a]\|_{op} = \|[\hat{J}_{-}, a]^{\dagger}\|_{op}$ .

Thus, from (7.51), (7.52) and (7.53) , we get

$$|\omega_{z}(a) - \omega_{0}(a)| \leq (2r_{j}) \int_{0}^{1} \left( \frac{|z|dt}{1 + |z|^{2}t^{2}} \right) = 2r_{j} \tan^{-1}(|z|) = r_{j}\theta$$
(7.54)

That is, the Connes' spectral distance between two pure states  $\omega_z$  and  $\omega_0$  is bounded above by the geodesic distance on  $S^2$  as

$$d_j(\omega_z, \ \omega_0) = \sup_{a \in B_s} |\omega_z(a) - \omega_0(a)| \le r_j \ \theta \ . \tag{7.55}$$

This Connes' spectral distance would have corresponded to geodesic distance on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  if we were able to find an optimal element  $a_s \in \mathcal{A}_f \equiv \mathcal{H}_j$  saturating this upper bound. However, it has already been indicated in the previous subsection that spectral distance between north and south poles on  $\mathbb{S}_j^2$  is always less than the geodesic distance  $\pi r_j$  for any finite j (see for example (7.40)) and reduces to it only in the limit  $j \to \infty$  (7.43). Thus, there simply does not exist any optimal element  $a_s$  saturating the above inequality (7.55) for any finite j. This feature displays a stark difference between Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$  and fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}^2_{\star}$ . For the latter case, we shall see later, the notion of conventional geodesics do not exist; we need to consider interpolating the extremal pure states  $\omega_0 \equiv \rho_0$  and  $\omega_z \equiv \rho_z$  by a one-parameter family of suitable mixed states, rather than pure states  $\rho_{zt}$  (7.48) as we show in the sequel.

# 7.1.5 Lower bound to the spectral distance between infinitesimally separated continuous pure states

From above computation of the spectral distance between finitely separated coherent states, we cannot obtain the exact distance function, in absence of any optimal element  $a_s$  saturating (7.55). Moreover, computation using the exact distance formula (6.24) obtained in chapter 6 involves computation of operator norm i.e. the eigenvalues of matrices of the form:  $(A^{\dagger}A)_{2j\times 2j}$  (7.16). This is, however, virtually impossible to carry out for any  $S_j^2$  for large *j*. However, we can easily compute the lower bound (6.28) of the distance for a pair of infinites-

imally separated coherent states for any *j*. Expectedly, this lower bound distance will differ from the exact one by just a numerical factor, as in case of Moyal plane.

To that end, let us consider a pair of infinitesimally separated coherent states  $\omega_{dz} \equiv \omega_{\rho_{dz}}$  $(\rho_{dz} = |dz\rangle\langle dz|)$  and  $\omega_0 \equiv \omega_{\rho_0}$   $(\rho_0 = |j\rangle\langle j|)$ . The latter can be taken to correspond to the north pole. Here,

$$|dz\rangle = U_f(dz)|j\rangle = e^{\frac{d\theta}{2}(\hat{j}_- - \hat{j}_+)}|j\rangle = |j\rangle + \frac{d\theta}{2}\sqrt{2j}|j-1\rangle.$$
(7.56)

We then introduce the following difference:

$$d\rho = \rho_{dz} - \rho_0 = |dz\rangle\langle dz| - |j\rangle\langle j| = \frac{d\theta}{2}\sqrt{2j}(|j\rangle\langle j-1| + |j-1\rangle\langle j|), \qquad (7.57)$$

We can easily see that  $\|d\rho\|_{tr} = \sqrt{j} d\theta$  and we are left with the computation of  $\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{op}$ . We know that the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(d\rho)]$  will take the following form in its eigenbasis (7.7,7.8,7.9) just like (7.14) where the matrix A, given by (7.12). Substituting  $d\rho$  (7.57), we get

$$[\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(d\rho)] \equiv \frac{1}{r_{j}} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0 & A \\ \hline -A^{\dagger} & 0 \end{array} \right) ; \quad A = d\theta \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{j(j+\frac{1}{2})} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{j(j-\frac{1}{2})} & 0 \\ -j\sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(7.58)

Here, rows (columns) of *A* are labeled from up to down (left to right) respectively by  $|j\rangle\rangle_+, |j-1\rangle\rangle_+, |j-2\rangle\rangle_+ (|j-1\rangle\rangle_-, |j-2\rangle\rangle_-, |-3\rangle\rangle_-)$ . We then get

$$A^{\dagger}A = j(d\theta)^{2} \begin{pmatrix} 3j + \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & j - \frac{1}{2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Rightarrow ||A||_{\text{op}} = d\theta \sqrt{j(3j + \frac{1}{2})}$$
(7.59)

Thus, we get

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(d\rho)]\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_j} \|A\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_j} \, d\theta \sqrt{j(3j+\frac{1}{2})} \tag{7.60}$$

With this, we get the lower bound to the spectral distance as

$$d_{j}(\omega_{dz},\omega_{0}) \geq \frac{\|d\rho\|_{\text{tr}}^{2}}{\|[\mathcal{D},\pi(d\rho)]\|_{\text{op}}} = r_{j} \ d\theta \sqrt{\frac{2j}{6j+1}} \ .$$
(7.61)

For the specific cases of first three smallest fuzzy spheres :  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{1}^2$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{3}{2}}^2$ , we get

$$r_{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{d\theta}{2} \leq d_{\frac{1}{2}}(\omega_{dz}, \omega_0) < r_{\frac{1}{2}} d\theta;$$
 (7.62)

$$r_1 d\theta \sqrt{\frac{2}{7}} \leq d_1(\omega_{dz}, \omega_0) < r_1 d\theta ; \qquad (7.63)$$

$$r_{\frac{3}{2}} d\theta \sqrt{\frac{3}{10}} \leq d_{\frac{3}{2}}(\omega_{dz}, \omega_0) < r_{\frac{3}{2}} d\theta$$
 (7.64)

In general, we have the following estimation for spectral distance between a pair of infinitesimally separated coherent states, given by  $\rho_{dz}$  and  $\rho_0$ :

$$r_j d\theta \sqrt{\frac{2j}{6j+1}} \leq d_j(\omega_{dz}, \omega_0) < r_j d\theta.$$
(7.65)

However, we shall show that it is possible to compute the exact finite and infinitesimal spectral distance for  $j = \frac{1}{2}$  coinciding with the lower bound in (7.62) and we can also find an almost exact distance for j = 1. At the level of infinitesimal distance itself, however, we get an improvement over and above the lower bound given in (7.63), indicating a non-trivial role played by the transverse component  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  in (6.24). Needless to say that this feature with persist at the level of finite distance computation as well.

# 7.1.6 Spectral distance on the configuration space of fuzzy sphere $\mathbb{S}^2_{\frac{1}{2}}$

Clearly, for  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ , the configuration space is  $\mathcal{F}_{\frac{1}{2}} = \operatorname{Span}\{|\frac{1}{2}\rangle, |-\frac{1}{2}\rangle\}$  and the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\frac{1}{2}}$  consists of elements which are complex 2 × 2 matrices. Since we know that the spectral distance gets saturated by positive elements of the algebra [110], we can consider only the Hermitian 2 × 2 matrices. The elements of  $\mathcal{H}_{\frac{1}{2}}$  have the following form:

$$a = a_0 \mathbb{I}_2 + a_i \sigma_i$$
;  $a_\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ ,  $\mathbb{I}_2 \to \text{Identity matrix}$ ,  $\sigma_i \to \text{Pauli matrices}$ . (7.66)

Since the first term including  $a_0$  does not survive in the commutator  $[D_f, \pi(a)]$ , we can dis regard this term and simply take  $a_0 = 0$ , without loss of generality. Thus, we have the algebra elements

$$a = \vec{a}.\vec{\sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} a_3 & a_1 - ia_2 \\ a_1 + ia_2 & -a_3 \end{pmatrix} \in su(2) , \quad \vec{a} \in \mathbb{R}^3 .$$
(7.67)

We can compute the commutator (7.14) for this a(7.67) as follows

$$[\mathcal{D}_{f},\pi(a)] \equiv \frac{1}{r_{\frac{1}{2}}} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0_{3\times3} & A_{3\times1} \\ \hline -A_{1\times3}^{\dagger} & \mathbf{0} \end{array} \right) , \text{ where } A_{3\times1} = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}(a_{1}+ia_{2}) \\ 2a_{3} \\ -\sqrt{2}(a_{1}-ia_{2}) \end{pmatrix} .$$
(7.68)
Note that  $A_{3\times 1} = 2_+ \langle \langle m | \pi(a) | m' \rangle \rangle_-$ , where  $m = -\frac{3}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}$  and  $m' = -\frac{1}{2}$  and cealrly, we labeled the rows of A from top to bottom by  $|-\frac{3}{2}\rangle\rangle_+, |-\frac{1}{2}\rangle\rangle_+, |\frac{1}{2}\rangle\rangle_+$  respectively and the single column by  $|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle\rangle_-$ . Clearly, we get  $A^+A = 4(a_1^2 + a_2^2 + a_3^2) = 4|\vec{a}|^2$ , just a number. We had (7.16) which can be written as

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_f, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{1}{r_{\frac{1}{2}}} \|A\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{2}{r_{\frac{1}{2}}} |\vec{a}| \le 1 \implies |\vec{a}| \le \frac{1}{2} r_{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(7.69)

Interestingly, this reduces to usual ball of radius  $\frac{1}{2} r_{\frac{1}{2}}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Now, we want to compute the spectral distance between a pair of coherent states which are of the form:  $\omega_{\theta}(a) = \text{tr}(\rho_{\theta} a)$ . For  $j = \frac{1}{2}$ , we know that all pure states are coherent states [89]. Let us consider the following pair of pure density matrices (see figure 7.3 for the points *N* and *P*):

1. 
$$\rho_N = \rho_{\theta=0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
.  
2.  $\rho_P = \rho_{\theta_0} = U(\theta_0) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} U^{\dagger}(\theta_0) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \cos \theta_0 & \sin \theta_0 \\ \sin \theta_0 & 1 - \cos \theta_0 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  
where  $U(\theta_0) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \frac{\theta_0}{2} & -\sin \frac{\theta_0}{2} \\ \sin \frac{\theta_0}{2} & \cos \frac{\theta_0}{2} \end{pmatrix} \in SU(2)$ .



Figure 7.3: Space of Perelomov's SU(2) coherent states for  $j = \frac{1}{2}$ .

Introducing  $\Delta \rho = \rho_{\theta_0} - \rho_0$  which is a traceless Hermitian matrix, we can also expand it as follows (7.67):

$$\Delta \rho = \vec{\Delta \rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma} , \quad \text{where} \quad (\Delta \rho)_1 = \frac{\sin \theta_0}{2} ; \quad (\Delta \rho)_2 = 0 ; \quad (\Delta \rho)_3 = \frac{-1 + \cos \theta_0}{2} . \tag{7.70}$$

With this, we can write

$$|\omega_{\theta_0}(a) - \omega_0(a)| = |\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho \ a)| = 2|\vec{a}.\vec{\Delta \rho}|. \tag{7.71}$$

Since both  $\vec{a}$  and  $\vec{\Delta \rho} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , the supremum of  $|\vec{a}.\vec{\Delta \rho}|$  will be attained when  $\vec{a}$  and  $\vec{\Delta \rho}$  are parallel or anti-parallel to each other. Thus, with the ball condition (7.69) and (7.70), we get the spectral distance between  $\omega_{\theta_0}$  and  $\omega_0$  as

$$d_{\frac{1}{2}}(\omega_{\theta_0},\omega_0) = \sup_{|\vec{a}| \le \frac{r_{1/2}}{2}} |\omega_{\theta_0}(a) - \omega_0(a)| = r_{\frac{1}{2}}\sqrt{(\Delta\rho)_1^2 + (\Delta\rho)_3^2} = r_{\frac{1}{2}}\sin\frac{\theta_0}{2}.$$
 (7.72)

This is just half of the chordal distance connecting NP (see figure 7.3), reproducing the result of [89]. The corresponding infinitesimal  $d(\omega_{d\theta}, \omega_0) = r_{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{d\theta}{2}$  which is exactly the lower bound obtained (7.62). It is important to point out in this context that the optimal element  $a_s$  in this case is associated with the 3-vector  $\vec{a}_s \in \mathbb{R}^3$  is proportional to  $\Delta \vec{\rho}$ , as we have observed. Consequently, the lower bound (6.28) itself yields the exact finite distance, with  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  playing no role.

Let us now consider a one-parameter family of mixed states  $\{\rho_t\}$ ,  $0 \le t \le 1$  (as shown in the figure 7.3). A generic mixed state  $\rho_Q$ , represented by the point Q on the chord NP inside the sphere), obtained by the following convex sum:

$$\rho_t = (1-t)\rho_N + t\rho_P = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 2 - t(1 - \cos\theta_0) & t\sin\theta_0 \\ t\sin\theta_0 & t(1 - \cos\theta_0) \end{pmatrix};$$
(7.73)

Clearly,  $\rho_0 = \rho_N$  and  $\rho_1 = \rho_P$ . Introducing  $(\Delta \rho)_{QN} = \rho_t - \rho_N$  and  $(\Delta \rho)_{PN} = \rho_P - \rho_t$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} &((\Delta\rho)_{QN})_1 &= \frac{t\,\sin\theta_0}{2}\,, \quad ((\Delta\rho)_{QN})_2 = 0\,, \quad ((\Delta\rho)_{QN})_3 = -\frac{t(1-\cos\theta_0)}{2}\\ &((\Delta\rho)_{PN})_1 &= \frac{(1-t)\sin\theta_0}{2}\,, \quad ((\Delta\rho)_{PN})_2 = 0\,, \quad ((\Delta\rho)_{PN})_3 = -\frac{(1-t)(1-\cos\theta_0)}{2}\,, \end{aligned}$$

we get the spectral distances between the mixed state  $\omega_t$  and  $\omega_N$  and  $\omega_P$  respectively as

$$d(\omega_t, \omega_N) = t r_{\frac{1}{2}} \sin \frac{\theta_0}{2}$$
 and  $d(\omega_P, \omega_t) = (1 - t) r_{\frac{1}{2}} \sin \frac{\theta_0}{2}$ . (7.74)

The fact that the distance of this mixed state  $\omega_t$  from the extremal, pure states  $\omega_N$  and  $\omega_P$  are proportional to the parameters t and (1 - t) respectively indicates that we can identify a unique pure state Q' (see fig 1) nearest to a given mixed state Q just by extending the straight line OQ from the center O to the surface of the sphere. This distance can therefore be used alternatively to characterize the 'mixedness' of a spin-1/2 system. Further, we have

$$d(\omega_{\theta_0}, \omega_0) = d(\omega_P, \omega_N) = d(\omega_P, \omega_t) + d(\omega_t, \omega_N).$$
(7.75)

This is just analogous to (6.91), except that the intermediate state  $\omega_t$  is not pure. This chord <u>cannot</u> therefore be identified as a conventional geodesic. This same family can be parametrised alternatively [89] as

$$\rho_{\theta} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbb{1}_2 + \vec{\sigma}.\vec{n_{\theta}}) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + |\vec{n_{\theta}}|\cos\theta & |\vec{n_{\theta}}|\sin\theta \\ |\vec{n_{\theta}}|\sin\theta & 1 - |\vec{n_{\theta}}|\cos\theta \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.76)

where,  $|\vec{n_{\theta}}|$  is the magnitude the vector  $\vec{n_{\theta}}$  parametrising each of the mixed states between the two extremal pure states and is given by

$$\vec{n_{\theta}} = |\vec{n_{\theta}}| \left( \sin \theta, \ 0, \ \cos \theta \right) \tag{7.77}$$

Clearly,  $|\vec{n_{\theta}}|$  is strictly less than  $1 : |\vec{n_{\theta}}| < 1$  except for the extremal pure states at  $\theta = 0$ and  $\theta = \theta_0$ . Further the mixed state  $\rho_{\theta}$  for the open interval  $(0, \theta_0)$  represents a point Q in the chord connecting the north pole  $N(\theta = 0)$  and point  $P(\theta = \theta_0)$ , and therefore lies in the interior of the sphere. Indeed, these two different parameters t and  $\theta$  for the same state can be related by setting  $\rho_{\theta} = \rho_t$ , to get

$$t = \frac{1 - |\vec{n}_{\theta}|\cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta_0} = \frac{|\vec{n}_{\theta}|\sin\theta}{\sin\theta_0} \Rightarrow |\vec{n}_{\theta}| = \frac{\cos\left(\frac{\theta_0}{2}\right)}{\cos\left(\theta - \frac{\theta_0}{2}\right)} \equiv \frac{OQ}{r_{1/2}}, \quad ON = OP = r_{1/2}.$$
(7.78)

Thus, we can recast the spectral distance between mixed state represented by  $\rho_{\theta}$  and the pure states  $\rho_N$  and  $\rho_P$  (7.74) respectively as

$$d(\omega_{\theta}, \omega_{N}) = \frac{r_{\frac{1}{2}} \sin \theta}{2\cos\left(\theta - \frac{\theta_{0}}{2}\right)} \quad \text{and} \quad d(\omega_{P}, \omega_{\theta}) = \frac{r_{\frac{1}{2}} \sin(\theta_{0} - \theta)}{2\cos\left(\theta - \frac{\theta_{0}}{2}\right)}.$$
(7.79)

For the case  $\theta = \theta_0$ , we get  $d(\omega_{\theta_0}, \omega_N) = r_{\frac{1}{2}} \sin \frac{\theta_0}{2}$  and  $d(\omega_P, \omega_{\theta_0}) = 0$ .

Finally, we can also obtain the distance between pure states represented by  $\rho_{\pi} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  (South pole S) and  $\rho_{\theta_0}$  (P) as

$$d(\rho_{\pi}, \rho_{\theta_0}) = r_{\frac{1}{2}} \cos \frac{\theta_0}{2}.$$
(7.80)

This implies that

$$[d(\rho_0, \rho_{\theta_0})]^2 + [d(\rho_\pi, \rho_{\theta_0})]^2 = r_{1/2}^2.$$
(7.81)

That is, the Pythagoras identity  $(NP^2 + SP^2 = NS^2)$  is obeyed.

All these features, however, will not persist for higher 'n', as we shall see.

# 7.1.6.1 Analogy with $\mathbb{CP}^1$ model and mixed states

For the spectral triple (5.30), the space of vector states is  $CP^1$  [110] which we have reviewed in section 5.6 of chapter 5. We had parametrized a pair of  $CP^1$ -doublets, associated to the pair of points lying in the same latitude (i.e. the same polar angle  $\theta$ ) [82] as

$$\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \sin \frac{\theta}{2} e^{i\phi} \\ \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \rho = \chi \chi^{\dagger}; \quad \chi' = \begin{pmatrix} \sin \frac{\theta}{2} e^{i\phi'} \\ \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \rho' = \chi' \chi'^{\dagger}. \tag{7.82}$$

The spectral distance between these two points is obtained as (5.41)

$$d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho}) = \frac{2\sin\theta}{|D_1 - D_2|} \left| \sin\left(\frac{\phi - \phi'}{2}\right) \right|.$$
(7.83)

which corresponds to the distance measured along the chord connecting the pair of points  $(\theta, \phi)$  and  $(\theta, \phi')$ , at the same latitude  $\theta$ . Recall that the distance between a pair of states belonging to different lattitudes ( $\theta \neq \theta'$ ) diverges.

Again, let us define a one-parameter family of mixed states out of this pair of pure states  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$ , in an analogous way as defined for n = 1/2 representation (7.73), as

$$\rho_t = (1 - t)\rho + t\rho'. \tag{7.84}$$

Similarly, we obtain the distances between the mixed state  $\rho_t$  and the corresponding pure states  $\rho$  representing the point ( $\theta$ ,  $\phi$ ) and  $\rho'$  representing ( $\theta$ ,  $\phi'$ ) as

$$d(\omega_{\rho_t},\omega_{\rho}) = t \frac{2\sin\theta}{|D_1 - D_2|} \left| \sin\left(\frac{\phi - \phi'}{2}\right) \right|; \text{ and } d(\omega_{\rho'},\omega_{\rho_t}) = (1-t) \frac{2\sin\theta}{|D_1 - D_2|} \left| \sin\left(\frac{\phi - \phi'}{2}\right) \right|.$$
(7.85)

Clearly, we have

$$d(\omega_{\rho'}, \omega_{\rho}) = d(\omega_{\rho'}, \omega_{\rho_t}) + d(\omega_{\rho_t}, \omega_{\rho}).$$
(7.86)

### 7.1.7 Spectral distance on the configuration space of fuzzy sphere $\mathbb{S}_1^2$

The computation of spectral distance on  $\mathbb{S}_1^2 j = 1$  is expected to be much more complicated than the computation on  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$  because here the algebra  $\mathcal{H}_1$  consists of complex  $3 \times 3$  matrices. Here, just like for the case of  $j = \frac{1}{2}$ , we will consider only the Hermitian traceless complex  $3 \times 3$  as the identity matrix  $\mathbb{I}_3$  commutes with the Dirac operator and hence will give no contribution in the operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{op}$ . The algebra element with some extra restrictions provide us with a simple expression of the distance using (6.9), which we then corroborate with a more rigorous calculation using (6.24). The role of  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  turns out to be very important in (6.24) for j = 1 fuzzy sphere and we employ the most general form of  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  possible to improve the estimate of the spectral distance as best as we can from the lower bound (6.28). The determination of an exact value, even with the help of *Mathematica*, remains a daunting task.

### 7.1.7.1 Ball condition using Dirac eigenspinors

For j = 1, the positive and negative eigenspinors (7.7) of Dirac operator  $D_f$  have the ranges:  $-2 \le m \le 1$  and  $-1 \le m' \le 0$  respectively such that the commutator (7.14) takes following off-block diagonal form:

$$[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)] = \frac{1}{r_1} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0_{4 \times 4} & A_{4 \times 2} \\ \hline -A_{2 \times 4}^{\dagger} & 0_{2 \times 2} \end{array} \right) , \qquad (7.87)$$

where  $A_{4\times 2} = 3_+ \langle \langle j, m | \pi(a) | j, m' \rangle \rangle_-$  (7.12) and  $A_{2\times 4}^+ = 3_- \langle \langle j, m' | \pi(a) | j, m \rangle \rangle_+$  (7.13) take the following forms:

$$A_{4\times2} = \begin{pmatrix} -\sqrt{3}a_{1,0} & -\sqrt{6}a_{1,-1} \\ \sqrt{2}(a_{1,1}-a_{0,0}) & (a_{1,0}-2a_{0,-1}) \\ (2a_{0,1}-a_{-1,0}) & \sqrt{2}(a_{0,0}-a_{-1,-1}) \\ \sqrt{6}a_{-1,1} & \sqrt{3}a_{-1,0} \end{pmatrix};$$
(7.88)  
$$A_{2\times4}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} -\sqrt{3}a_{0,1} & \sqrt{2}(a_{1,1}-a_{0,0}) & (2a_{1,0}-a_{0,-1}) & \sqrt{6}a_{1,-1} \\ -\sqrt{6}a_{-1,1} & (a_{0,1}-2a_{-1,0}) & \sqrt{2}(a_{0,0}-a_{-1,-1}) & \sqrt{3}a_{0,-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.89)

Note that here  $a_{m,n}$  are the usual matrix elements  $\langle m | a | n \rangle$ , with  $m, n \in \{1, 0, -1\}$ . Using above result for  $[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]$  we readily obtain:

$$[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)]^{\dagger}[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho)] = \frac{1}{r_1^2} \left( \begin{array}{c|c} (AA^{\dagger})_{4 \times 4} & 0_{4 \times 2} \\ \hline 0_{2 \times 4} & (A^{\dagger}A)_{2 \times 2} \end{array} \right) .$$
(7.90)

By exploiting the property of operator norm one has the freedom to choose between the two block-diagonal square matrices as  $\frac{1}{r_1^2} ||AA^{\dagger}||_{op} = \frac{1}{r_1^2} ||A^{\dagger}A||_{op} = ||[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]^{\dagger}[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]||_{op} = ||[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]||_{op}$ . We choose to work with the more convenient one i,e the 2 × 2 matrix  $(A^{\dagger}A)_{2\times 2}$  which turns out to be:

$$M := (A^{\dagger}A)_{2 \times 2} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{11} & M_{12} \\ M_{12}^{*} & M_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.91)

where,

$$\begin{split} M_{11} &= 3|a_{0,1}|^2 + 2(a_{0,0} - a_{1,1})^2 + |a_{0,-1} - 2a_{1,0}|^2 + 6|a_{1,-1}|^2 \\ M_{22} &= 3|a_{0,-1}|^2 + 2(a_{0,0} - a_{-1,-1})^2 + |a_{1,0} - 2a_{0,-1}|^2 + 6|a_{1,-1}|^2 \\ M_{12} &= \sqrt{2} \left\{ 3a_{1,-1}(a_{0,1} + a_{-1,0}) + (a_{0,0} - a_{1,1})(2a_{0,-1} - a_{1,0}) + (a_{0,0} - a_{-1,-1})(2a_{1,0} - a_{0,-1}) \right\} \end{split}$$

This matrix *M* has the following two eigenvalues  $E_{\pm}$  which can be obtained by solving a quadratic equation to get,

$$E_{\pm} := \frac{1}{2} \left( P \pm \sqrt{Q} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( (M_{11} + M_{22}) \pm \sqrt{(M_{11} - M_{22})^2 + 4|M_{12}|^2} \right) .$$
(7.92)

Here, both *P* and *Q* can be written as a sum of several whole square terms and thus they are both positive definite for any algebra elements *a*. Clearly,

$$E_+ \ge E_- \quad \forall \ a \in B \tag{7.93}$$

yielding, for a particular  $a \in B$ ,

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_1}\sqrt{E_+}.$$
(7.94)

Now the corresponding infimum  $\inf_{a \in B} ||[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]||_{op}$  is computed by varying the entries in the algebra elements, within the admissible ranges and obtaining the global minimum of  $E_+$ . This gives

$$\inf_{a \in B} \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{1}{r_1} \min(\sqrt{E_+}) = \frac{1}{r_1} \sqrt{\min(E_+)}$$
(7.95)

Now the eigenvalue  $E_+$  will always have a "concave-up" structure in the parametric space as it can be written as the sum of square terms only (7.91,7.92). There can be points in the parametric space where  $E_+$  and  $E_-$  are equal, namely points where Q becomes 0, but since  $E_+$  can not become less than  $E_-$ , determining the minimum of  $E_+$  will alone suffice in calculating the infimum of the operator norm as is clear from (7.94). So we work with  $E_+$ alone and take the help of *Mathematica* again to get the desired result.

### 7.1.7.2 General form of $\Delta \rho$

The pure states corresponding to points on the fuzzy sphere  $S_1^2$  can be obtained by the action of the SU(2) group element:

$$\hat{U} = e^{i\theta\hat{f}_2} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2\frac{\theta}{2} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta & \sin^2\frac{\theta}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta & \cos\theta & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta \\ \sin^2\frac{\theta}{2} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\theta & \cos^2\frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.96)

on the pure state  $|1\rangle\langle 1|$  corresponding to the north pole (*N*) of  $\mathbb{S}_1^2$ :  $\rho_\theta = \hat{U} |1\rangle\langle 1| \hat{U}^{\dagger}$ . Note that we have taken for convenience the azimuthal angle  $\phi = 0$ . This can be done without loss of generality. Correspondingly,

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \rho &= \rho_{\theta} - \rho_{0} = \hat{U} |1\rangle \langle 1| \hat{U}^{\dagger} - |1\rangle \langle 1| \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} \cos^{4} \frac{\theta}{2} - 1 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin \theta \cos^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} & \sin^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} \cos^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin \theta \cos^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \sin^{2} \theta & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin \theta \sin^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} \\ \sin^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} \cos^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin \theta \sin^{2} \frac{\theta}{2} & \sin^{4} \frac{\theta}{2} \end{pmatrix} . \end{aligned}$$
(7.97)

Clearly, all entries are real here just like the case of  $j = \frac{1}{2}$  (7.70); indeed by writing  $\Delta \rho = (\Delta \rho)_i \lambda_i$  ( $\lambda_i$ 's are the Gell-Mann matrices) the coefficients of  $\lambda_2$ ,  $\lambda_5$  and  $\lambda_7$  vanishes. This  $\Delta \rho$  however only provides us with a lower bound (6.28) of the distance in Connes' formula and the actual distance is reached by some optimal algebra element ( $a_s$ ) of the form

$$a_s = \Delta \rho + \kappa \Delta \rho_{\perp}$$
;  $\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho \ \Delta \rho_{\perp}) = 0$ , (7.98)

for which the infimum is reached in (say in (6.24)). This should be contrasted with the optimal element, for which the supremum is reached in (7.55). In any case, let us first try to have an improved estimate of the upper bound of the distance. This will be followed by the computation involving  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$ .

### 7.1.7.3 An improved but realistic estimate using Gell-mann matrices

The upper bound for the spectral distance, obtained previously in (7.55) corresponded to that of a commutative sphere S<sup>2</sup>, but that lies much above the realistic distance for any fuzzy sphere  $\mathbb{S}_{i}^{2}$  associated to the *j*-representation of SU(2), as discussed in section 6.2. It is therefore quite imperative that we try to have a more realistic estimate of this where this upper bound will be lowered considerably. At this stage, we can recall the simple example of  $H_2$ atom, where the energy gap between the ground state (n = 1) and first excited state (n = 2)is the largest one and the corresponding gaps in the successive energy levels go on decreasing and virtually become continuous for very large n ( $n \gg 1$ ). One can therefore expect a similar situation here too. Indeed, a preliminary look into the distance between north and south poles (7.40) already support this in the sense that  $\frac{\left(d_{3/2}(N,S)/r_{3/2}\right)}{\left(d_1(N,S)/r_1\right)} < \frac{\left(d_1(N,S)/r_1\right)}{\left(d_{1/2}(N,S)/r_{1/2}\right)}.$  One can therefore expect the distance function  $d_1(\rho_0, \rho_\theta)$  to be essentially of the same form as that of  $d_{\frac{1}{2}}(\rho_0, \rho_\theta)$ , except to be scaled up by a  $\sqrt{2}$ -factor (7.40) and a miniscule deformation in the functional form. For large-values of *j*, the corresponding ratios  $\frac{(d_j(N,S)/r_j)}{(d_{j-1}(N,S)/r_{j-1})} \rightarrow 1$ , and the functional deformations are expected to be pronounced over a large variation in *j*. However, the exact determination of this form is extremely difficult and we will have to be contended with a somewhat heuristic analysis in this sub-section and a more careful analysis, using (6.27) in the next subsection. To that end, we start here with the most general form of algebra

element *a*, as a linear combination of all the 8 Gell-Mann matrices ( $\lambda_i$ ) as follows and look for an optimal element form  $a \in B$  giving sup  $|(\Delta \rho, a)|$ , with some additional restrictions which are to be discussed later. We write

$$a = x_i \lambda_i = \begin{pmatrix} x_3 + \frac{x_8}{\sqrt{3}} & x_1 - ix_2 & x_4 - ix_5 \\ x_1 + ix_2 & -x_3 + \frac{x_8}{\sqrt{3}} & x_6 - ix_7 \\ x_4 + ix_5 & x_6 + ix_7 & -\frac{2x_8}{\sqrt{3}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(7.99)

in analogy with (7.67) in  $j = \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\mathbb{S}_{\frac{1}{2}}^2$ . Again the rows/columns are labeled from top to bottom/left to right by  $(\langle 1|, \langle 0|, \langle -1| \rangle)/(|1\rangle, |0\rangle, |-1\rangle)$ . Now we calculate tr( $\Delta \rho a$ ) using the  $\Delta \rho$  matrix (7.97) and the above algebra element (7.99) to get

$$\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho \ a) = \left( x_3 + \frac{x_8}{\sqrt{3}} \right) \left( \cos^4 \frac{\theta}{2} - 1 \right) - \frac{2x_8}{\sqrt{3}} \sin^4 \frac{\theta}{2} + \frac{x_4}{2} \sin^2 \theta + \frac{1}{2} \sin^2 \theta \left( \frac{x_8}{\sqrt{3}} - x_3 \right) \\ -\sqrt{2} \sin \theta \left( x_1 \cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2} + x_6 \sin^2 \frac{\theta}{2} \right) .$$
 (7.100)

This clearly demonstrates the expected independence of imaginary components viz.  $x_2$ ,  $x_5$  and  $x_7$ . We therefore set  $x_2 = x_5 = x_7 = 0$  to begin with. This simplifies the matrix elements of M (7.91), using (7.99), as,

$$M_{11} = 3x_1^2 + 6x_4^2 + 8x_3^2 + (x_6 - 2x_1)^2$$
(7.101)

$$M_{22} = 3x_6^2 + 6x_4^2 + (x_1 - 2x_6)^2 + 2\left(\sqrt{3}x_8 - x_3\right)^2$$
(7.102)

$$M_{12} = \sqrt{2} \left( 3x_4(x_1 + x_6) + 2x_3(x_1 - 2x_6) - (2x_1 - x_6) \left( x_3 - \sqrt{3}x_8 \right) \right)$$
(7.103)

Like-wise the above expression (7.100) simplifies as

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho \, a)| = \left| \left[ \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \left\{ \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \left\{ x_3 + 3x_3 \cos^2\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) + \sqrt{3}x_8 \sin^2\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \right\} + \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \left\{ 2\sqrt{2}x_1 \cos^2\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) + 2\sqrt{2}x_6 \sin^2\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) - 2x_4 \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \right\} \right\} \right|$$

$$(7.104)$$

Since our aim is to obtain a simple form of the "Ball" condition and eventually that of Connes spectral distance (6.24) so that we might obtain an improved estimate for the spectral distance over the lower bound (6.28), obtained by making use of  $\Delta\rho$  (7.97) and more realistic than (7.63). We shall see shortly that with few more additional restrictions, apart from the ones (like vanishing of  $x_2$ ,  $x_5$  and  $x_7$  imposed already) it is possible to simplify the analysis to a great extent, which in turn yields a distance estimate which has a same mathematical structure as that of the exact distance (7.72) for j = 1/2 case upto an overall factor. To that end, we impose the following new constraints:

$$x_1 = x_6; \ x_3 = \frac{x_8}{\sqrt{3}}; \ x_4 = 0,$$
 (7.105)

as a simple observation of (7.104) suggests that it simplifies it even further to the following form:

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\Delta\rho \,a)| = \left| \left[ \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \left\{ 4x_3 \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) + 2\sqrt{2}x_1 \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \right\} \right] \right| = 2\sqrt{2}\sqrt{x_1^2 + 2x_3^2} \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \cos\left(\zeta - \frac{\theta}{2}\right) \right|,$$
(7.106)

where  $\cos \zeta = \frac{x_1}{\sqrt{x_1^2 + 2x_3^2}}$  and  $\sin \zeta = \frac{\sqrt{2}x_3}{\sqrt{x_1^2 + 2x_3^2}}$ . Moreover, putting the above constraints (7.105) in the equation (7.101)- (7.103), we get

$$M_{11} = M_{22} = 4x_1^2 + 8x_3^2 \quad ; \quad M_{12} = 0. \tag{7.107}$$

With this, the eigenvalue  $E_+$  (7.92) and the corresponding ball condition (7.94) can be obtained as

$$E_{+} = 4x_{1}^{2} + 8x_{3}^{2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{1}{r_{1}} 2\sqrt{x_{1}^{2} + 2x_{3}^{2}} \le 1.$$
(7.108)

Putting this ball condition on the above (7.106), we get

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho \ a)| \le \sqrt{2}r_1 \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \cos\left(\zeta - \frac{\theta}{2}\right).$$
 (7.109)

Hence, a suggestive form of the spectral distance between a pair of pure states  $\rho_0 = |1\rangle\langle 1|$ and  $\rho_{\theta} = U|1\rangle\langle 1|U^{\dagger}$  for j = 1 representation can be easily obtained by identifying the optimal value of the last free parameter  $\zeta$  to be given by  $\zeta = \frac{\theta}{2}$ . This yields

$$d_1^a = \sup_{a \in B} \left\{ |\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \rho a)| \right\} = \sqrt{2}r_1 \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right).$$
(7.110)

The corresponding form of the optimal algebra element  $a_s$  is obtained after a straightforward computation to get

$$\hat{a}_{s} = \frac{r_{1}}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}\sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) & \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) & 0\\ \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) & 0 & \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\\ 0 & \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) & -\sqrt{2}\sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.111)

When  $\theta = \pi$ , the distance is exactly the same between the two pure coherent states  $|1\rangle\langle 1|$ and  $|-1\rangle\langle -1|$  and the above distance (7.110) gives  $d_1^a(\rho_0, \rho_\pi) = \sqrt{2}r_1$  which exactly matches with the one (7.40), computed using the discrete formula (7.39).

Note that we have made use of all the restrictions  $x_2 = x_4 = x_5 = x_1 - x_6 = x_3 - \frac{x_8}{\sqrt{3}} = 0$ and  $\zeta = \frac{\theta}{2}$ , imposed at various stages. Finally, we would like to mention that this simple form (7.110) was obtained by imposing the above ad-hoc constraints resulting in  $M_{11} - M_{22} =$  $M_{12} = 0$ . Consequently, one cannot expect, a priori this to reflect the realistic distance either. At best, this can be expected to be closer to the realistic one, compared to (7.63). The only merit in (7.110) being that it has essentially the same structure as that of (7.72) for  $j = \frac{1}{2}$  case. Nevertheless, as we shall show below that the computation involving  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$ , using (6.24),(6.27) matches with (7.110) to a great degree of accuracy.

Note that we are denoting the analytical distanceas as  $(d^a)$ , to distinguish it from other distances to be calculated in the next section. Also note that since the analytical distance (7.110) has the same form (7.72), it therefore corresponds to  $\sqrt{2}$ -times the half of chordal distance. Further, it satisfies the Pythagoras equality (7.81) just like the  $n = \frac{1}{2}$  case.

Before we conclude this subsection, we would like to point out that we could have perhaps reversed our derivation by simply requiring the matrix M(7.91) to be diagonal:  $M_{12} = 0$ . But in that case  $E_+ = \max\{M_{11}(a), M_{22}(a)\}$  for a particular choice of algebra element, satisfying the aforementioned conditions viz  $x_2 = x_5 = x_7 = M_{12} = 0$ . Now given the structures of  $M_{11}$ (7.101) and  $M_{22}$  (7.102) they will have shapes which are concave upwards, when the hypersurfaces are plotted against the set of independent parameters occurring in ' $a' \in \mathcal{R}$ , where  $\mathcal{R}$ represents the sub-region in the parameter space, defined by these conditions. Now it may happen that  $M_{11}(a) \neq M_{22}(a)$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{R}$ , in which case one of them, say  $M_{11}(a)$ , exceeds the other:  $M_{11} > M_{22}$ . Then clearly

$$\inf_{a \in \mathcal{R}} \|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{1}{r_1} \sqrt{\min_{a \in \mathcal{R}}(M_{11})}.$$
(7.112)

Otherwise, the hyper-surfaces given by  $M_{11}(a)$  and  $M_{22}(a)$  will definitely intersect and (7.112) will reduce to

$$\inf_{a\in\bar{\mathcal{R}}} \|[\mathcal{D},\pi(a)]\|_{\rm op} = \frac{1}{r_1} \sqrt{\min_{a\in\bar{\mathcal{R}}}(M_{11})} = \frac{1}{r_1} \sqrt{\min_{a\in\bar{\mathcal{R}}}(M_{22})}.$$
(7.113)

where  $\bar{\mathcal{R}} \subset \mathcal{R}$  represents the sub-region where  $M_{11}(a) = M_{22}(a)$ . In fact, this is a scenario, which is more likely in this context, as suggested by our analysis of infinitesimal distance presented in the next subsection (see also Fig. 2). We therefore set also  $M_{11} = M_{22}$ . With the additional condition like  $x_1 = x_6$  (7.105), we can easily see that one gets, apart from (7.105), another set of solutions like,

$$x_1 = x_6, \ x_3 = -\sqrt{3}x_8, \ x_4 = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}x_8.$$
 (7.114)

This, however, yields the following ball condition

$$\sqrt{x_1^2 + 8x_8^2} \le \frac{r_1}{2},\tag{7.115}$$

the counterpart of (7.108), and in contrast to (7.106), cannot in anyway be related to its counterpart here, given by

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\Delta\rho a)| = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\sin\theta \left(\sqrt{2}x_8\sin\theta - \sqrt{3}x_1\right). \tag{7.116}$$

We therefore reject (7.114) from our consideration, as it will not serve our purpose.

### 7.1.7.4 Spectral distance using $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$

In this section we will employ the modified distance formula (6.24) by constructing a most general form of  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  for both finite as well as infinitesimal distances. We show that in both of the cases the distance calculated using this more general (numerical) method matches with the corresponding result given by  $d_a$  (7.110) to a very high degree of accuracy suggesting that  $d_a$  should be the almost correct distance for arbitrary  $\theta$ .

<u>INFINITESIMAL DISTANCE</u>: In this case the  $d\rho$  takes a simpler form by expanding (7.97) and keeping only up to the first order in the infinitesimal angle  $d\theta$ , we get

$$d\rho = \rho_{d\theta} - \rho_0 = -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} \left( |1\rangle \langle 0| + |0\rangle \langle 1| \right) . \tag{7.117}$$

The most general structure of the transverse part  $d\rho_{\perp}$  here is obtained by taking all possible linear combinations of generic state like  $|i\rangle\langle j|$  i.e.

$$d\rho_{\perp} = \sum_{i,j} C_{ij} |i\rangle \langle j| \; ; \; i,j \in \{-1,0,+1\} \; , \tag{7.118}$$

where  $C_{ij} = C_{ji}^*$  because of the hermiticity of  $d\rho_{\perp}$ . Clearly, the complex parameters  $C_{ij}$  are exact analogues of suitable combinations of  $x_i$ 's in (7.99). The orthogonality condition (7.98) here requires the coefficient  $C_{10}$  to be purely imaginary. Moreover we can demand that the matrix representation of  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  should be traceless as discussed in section 7.1.7. We thus impose  $C_{11} + C_{22} + C_{33} = 0$ . To better understand the significance of each term we write (7.118) in matrix form as follows:

$$d\rho_{\perp} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1 & i\alpha_1 & \gamma \\ -i\alpha_1 & \mu_0 & \beta \\ \gamma^* & \beta^* & -(\mu_1 + \mu_0) \end{pmatrix} ; \quad \mu_1, \mu_0, \mu_{-1}, \alpha_1 \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{C}.$$
 (7.119)

With this our optimal algebra element  $a_S$  (7.98) would become:

$$a_{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_{1} & -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} + i\alpha_{1} & \gamma \\ -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} - i\alpha_{1} & \mu_{0} & \beta \\ \gamma^{*} & \beta^{*} & -(\mu_{1} + \mu_{0}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.120)

where we have absorbed  $\kappa$  inside the coefficients of  $d\rho_{\perp}$  (7.119). With 7 independent parameters, it is extremely difficult to vary all the parameters simultaneously to compute the infimum analytically. However, as far as infinitesimal distances are concerned, it may be quite adequate to take each parameter to be non-vanishing one at a time. Thus, by keeping

one of these diagonal/complex conjugate pairs like  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  to be non-zero one at a time and computing the eigen values of the 2 × 2 matrix (7.91) using (7.98), (7.117) and (7.119), it is found that only the real part of  $\beta$  to be contributing non-trivially to the infimum of the operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}}$  in the sense that the operator norm of this object with

$$a_{S} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0\\ -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & \beta\\ 0 & \beta^{*} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 in (7.98) is a monotonically increasing function of  $Im(\beta)$  but

yields a non-trivial value for the infimum which is less than the one with vanishing  $\beta$  i.e.  $d\rho$  itself. Like-wise, both real and imaginary parts of  $\gamma$  and  $\alpha_1$  in (7.119) do not contribute to the infimum. On computation, we get



Figure 7.4: Infimum corresponding to the plots of  $M_{11}/(d\theta)^2$  and  $M_{22}/(d\theta)^2$  vs  $\beta_1/d\theta$ 

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{1}{r_1} \sqrt{\max\{M_{11}, M_{22}\}}, \qquad (7.121)$$
  
where  $M_{11} = \beta_1^2 + 2\sqrt{2}\beta_1 d\theta + \frac{7}{2} d\theta^2$  and  $M_{22} = 7\beta_1^2 + 2\sqrt{2}\beta_1 d\theta + \frac{1}{2} d\theta^2;$ 

where  $\beta_1 = Re(\beta)$  and the 2 × 2 matrix (7.91) takes a diagonal form  $diag\{M_{11}, M_{22}\}$  thus yielding eigenvalues trivially (7.121). From the plot of these eigen values(see figure 7.4) it is clear that the infimum of the operator norm over the full range of  $\beta_1$  is given by the minimum value of the two intersections at A ( $\beta_1 = -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}}$ ) and B ( $\beta_1 = +\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}}$ ) which comes out to be  $\frac{\sqrt{2}d\theta}{r_1}$  i.e.  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{\text{op}} = \frac{\sqrt{2}d\theta}{r_1}$ . Note that in this context

$$E_{+} = \begin{cases} M_{22}, \text{ for } \beta_{1} < -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} \text{ and } \beta_{1} > +\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} \text{ i.e. left of A and right of B} \\ M_{11}, \text{ for } -\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} < \beta_{1} < +\frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} \text{ i.e. in between A and B.} \end{cases}$$

Also since  $||d\rho||_{tr}^2 = d\theta^2$ , as follows from (7.117), the infinitesimal spectral distance (6.24) is given by

$$d_1(\rho_{d\theta},\rho_0) = r_1 \frac{d\theta}{\sqrt{2}} . \tag{7.122}$$

We now corroborate the same result by varying all the 7 parameters simultaneously. Of course we shall have to employ *Mathematica* now. To that end, first note that P, Q (7.91, 7.92) are now given as:

$$P = 2\{1 + \mu_1^2 + 2\beta_1^2 + 3\alpha^2 + 4\mu_0^2 + 6|\gamma|^2 + (\mu_1 + \mu_0)^2 + (\sqrt{2}\beta_1 + 1)^2 + (2\beta_2 - \alpha)^2\}$$
(7.123)

$$Q = 9\{-1 + 4\mu_0\mu_1 + 2(|\beta|^2 + \mu_0^2 - \alpha^2)\}^2 + 4\{3(\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \gamma_1) + 4.242(\beta_1\mu_1 - \beta_2\gamma_2 - \alpha\gamma_2 - \beta_1\gamma_1)\}^2$$

$$+4\{3\gamma_2+4.242(\beta_2\mu_1+\beta_2\gamma_1+\alpha\gamma_1-\beta_1\gamma_2-\alpha\mu_0-\alpha\mu_1)\}^2,$$
(7.124)

where  $\beta = \beta_1 + i\beta_2$  and  $\gamma = \gamma_1 + i\gamma_2$ . Interestingly enough we get the same infimum i.e.  $2d\theta^2$  by finding the minimum of the eigenvalue  $E_+$  as discussed in section 7.1.7.1 with the 7 parameter eigenvalue (7.92) where P and Q are given by (7.123,7.124). We therefore recover the distance (7.122) which also matches with (7.110) for  $\theta \rightarrow d\theta$ .

FINITE DISTANCE For any finite angle  $\theta$ , the  $\Delta \rho$  matrix (7.97) can be directly used to compute the square of the trace norm  $\|\Delta \rho\|_{tr}^2$ . Moreover, this  $\Delta \rho$  can be used as the algebra element *a* to compute the eigenvalues of (7.92) and then the operator norm  $\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(a)]\|_{op}$ , yielding the lower bound for the spectral distance using (6.28). More specifically for  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$  (i.e. the distance between the north pole *N* and any point *E* on equator) the lower bound is found to be

$$d_1(N,E) \ge 0.699r_1 \tag{7.125}$$

Contrasting with the corresponding value (7.110) of  $d_1^a = \sqrt{2}r_1 \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right) = r_1$ , we see that the transverse component  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  must play a vital role here. On the other hand for  $\theta = \pi$  (i.e. distance between north and south pole) we find  $d(N, S) = \sqrt{2}r_1$  which matches exactly with the result of (7.40) for the distance between discrete states  $|1\rangle\langle 1|$  and  $|-1\rangle\langle -1|$ . This means that there is no contribution of  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  to this distance for  $\theta = \pi$ . There are however non-trivial contribution from  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  in the distance for any general value of angle  $0 < \theta < \pi$  as we have illustrated above through the example of  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ . Now the most general  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  in this case can be constructed as follows:

$$\Delta \rho_{\perp} = [\mu_{1} |1\rangle\langle 1| + \mu_{0} |0\rangle\langle 0| + \mu_{-1} |-1\rangle\langle -1| + \alpha |1\rangle\langle 0| + \alpha^{*} |0\rangle\langle 1| + \gamma |1\rangle\langle -1| + \gamma^{*} |-1\rangle\langle 1| + \beta |0\rangle\langle -1| |+\beta^{*} |-1\rangle\langle 0|]$$
(7.126)

where  $\mu_1, \mu_0, \mu_{-1} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Again we can take  $a_5$  (7.98) to be traceless as before, which implies  $\mu_1 + \mu_0 + \mu_{-1} = 0$  and we can eliminate one of them, say  $\mu_{-1}$ . Further imposing the orthogonality condition (7.98) we have a relation between all the remaining 8 parameters and one of

them can be eliminated from that. In this case, using the  $\Delta \rho$  (7.97) and  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  (7.126) in (7.98) while absorbing  $\kappa$  inside the coefficients of  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\Delta\rho\;\Delta\rho_{\perp}\right) = 0 \implies \mu_{1} = -\frac{1}{2}\mu_{0}\sin^{2}\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\beta_{1}\sin\theta + \cos^{2}\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\left(\gamma_{1} + \mu_{0} - \sqrt{2}\alpha_{1}\cot\frac{\theta}{2}\right)$$
(7.127)

where  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\beta_1$  and  $\gamma_1$  are the real components and  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\beta_2$  and  $\gamma_2$  are the imaginary components of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  respectively. With these substitutions the eigenvalues of the matrix (7.91) become a function of 7 parameters. We now calculate P,Q (7.92) for  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$  case to get

$$P = 5 + \frac{45}{4}\mu_0^2 + 8(|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2) + 2(\alpha_1^2 + \beta_1^2) + \gamma_1^2 + 12|\gamma|^2 - 4\gamma_1 + 6\mu_0$$
  

$$- 3\sqrt{2}\mu_0(\beta_1 + \alpha_1) - 4\alpha_1\beta_1 + 3\gamma_1\mu_0 - 2\sqrt{2}\gamma_1(\beta_1 + \alpha_1) - 8\alpha_2\beta_2; \qquad (7.128)$$
  

$$Q = 9\left[\left\{1 + 2|\alpha|^2 - 3\mu_0^2 - 2|\beta|^2 - \gamma_1 + \frac{1}{2}\mu_0 + 2\sqrt{2}\beta_1 - 2\mu_0\gamma_1 + 2\sqrt{2}\mu_0(\alpha_1 + \beta_1)\right\}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left\{\left(\sqrt{2} + 2\sqrt{2}\alpha_1^2 - 2\sqrt{2}\beta_1^2 + 2\sqrt{2}\gamma_1 - 4\beta_1 + \sqrt{2}\mu_0 + \mu_0\beta_1 - 4\gamma_2\beta_2 - 6\gamma_1\alpha_1 - 4\gamma_2\alpha_2 - 5\alpha_1\mu_0\right)^2 + (2\beta_2 - 2\sqrt{2}\gamma_2 - 2\alpha_2 - 6\gamma_1\beta_2 - 2\sqrt{2}\alpha_1\alpha_2 + 4\alpha_1\gamma_2 + 2\sqrt{2}\alpha_1\beta_2 + \beta_2\mu_0 + 4\gamma_2\beta_1 + 2\sqrt{2}\beta_1\beta_2 - 2\gamma_1\alpha_2 + 5\alpha_2\mu_0 - 2\sqrt{2}\beta_1\alpha_2\right)^2\right]. \qquad (7.129)$$

We now minimize  $E_+$  as before to get

$$d(N,E) = r_1 (7.130)$$

which exactly matches with the result of (7.110), which is quite remarkable. As for  $\theta = \pi$ , the terms P,Q (7.92) of eigen values  $E_{\pm}$  comes out to be

$$P = 4 + 9\mu_0^2 + 8(|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2) + 12|\gamma|^2 - 8(\alpha_1\beta_1 + \alpha_2\beta_2)$$
(7.131)  

$$Q = 36(|\beta|^2 - |\alpha|^2 - 2\mu_0)^2 + 18\left[\left\{(\beta_1 + \alpha_1)(2\gamma_1 + \mu_0) + 2(\beta_1 - \alpha_1) + 2\gamma_2(\alpha_2 + \beta_2)\right\}^2 + \left\{(\beta_2 + \alpha_2)(2\gamma_1 - \mu_0) - 2(\beta_2 - \alpha_2) - 2\gamma_2(\alpha_1 + \beta_1)\right\}^2\right]$$
(7.132)

Again we need to calculate the spectral distance by minimizing  $E_+$  which gives  $d_1(\rho_{\theta=\pi}, \rho_0) = \sqrt{2}r_1$ . This is precisely the lower bound result  $d_1(N, S)$  (7.63) as discussed previously and hence support our claim that  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  will not contribute here at all. For arbitrary angle  $\theta$ , we present here [see table 1] both the distances i.e. the one calculated using the formula (7.110) and another one calculated using the global minima of eigenvalue  $E_+$  (say  $d_1$ ) for various angles between 0 to  $\pi$ .

Angle (degree)	$d_1^a / r_1$	$d_1/r_1$
10	0.1232568334	0.1232518539
20	0.2455756079	0.2455736891
30	0.3660254038	0.3660254011
40	0.4836895253	0.4836894308
50	0.5976724775	0.5976724773
60	0.7071067812	0.7071067811
70	0.8111595753	0.8111595752
80	0.9090389553	0.9090389553
90	1	0.99999999998
100	1.0833504408	1.0833504407
110	1.1584559307	1.1584559306
120	1.2247448714	1.2247448713
130	1.2817127641	1.2817127640
140	1.3289260488	1.3289260487
150	1.3660254038	1.3660254037
160	1.3927284806	1.3927284806
170	1.4088320528	1.4088320527

Table 7.1: Data set for various distances corresponding to different angles

It is very striking that the distance  $d_1^a$  (7.110) matches almost exactly with  $d_1$  for all these angles as one see from the table 1. This strongly suggests that (7.110) is indeed very very close to the exact distance! In fact, for larger angles like 50° and above the results agree upto 9 decimal places, whereas for smaller angles (< 50°) they agree upto 5 decimal places and show some miniscule deviations from 6 decimal point onwards. One can expect to see more pronounced deformations in the functional form, away from the like of (7.110), when the overall scale of magnification of size will start reducing monotonically with  $n \to \infty$  and eventually merge with commutative results.

#### 7.2 SPECTRAL TRIPLE AND DISTANCE ON QUANTUM HILBERT SPACE OF FUZZY SPHERE

Here we present our final computation of the infinitesimal distance on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q$ . This is the counterpart of the computation, presented in section 6.4 for Moyal plane and here too the presence of additional degrees of freedom will be exploited to uncover an intriguing connection between geometry and statistics. The quantum Hilbert space is

spanned by the Hilbert-Schmidt operators acting on the fuzzy sphere described by  $\mathcal{F}_j$ . That is,

$$\mathcal{H}_{j} = Span\{|j,m\rangle\langle j,m'| \equiv |m,m'\rangle: \ \mathrm{tr}_{c}(\Psi^{\dagger}\Psi) < \infty\}.$$

$$(7.133)$$

Since we consider a particular fuzzy sphere indexed by j, we have suppressed the index j above and by taking analogy with the case of Moyal plane, we can construct the spectral triple for this case as:

- 1. The Algebra  $\mathcal{A} = \text{Span}\Big\{|m, m')(l, l'| : -j \le m, m, l, l' \le j$ , with *j* being fixed  $\Big\}$ .
- 2. The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_j \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} |m, m'\rangle \\ |l, l' \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$
- 3. Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D} = \frac{1}{r_j} \hat{\vec{J}} \otimes \vec{\sigma}$ ,

where the action of  $\hat{J}_i$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  is given in (D.39).

In this case, we can define spectral distance between both pure and mixed states of the algebra. First consider the pure states of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  corresponding to the density matrices  $\rho_q(m,m') = |m,m'\rangle(m,m'|$  and  $\rho_q(m+1,l') = |m+1,l'\rangle(m+1,l'|$ . Then we have the operator  $d\rho_q = |m+1,l'\rangle(m+1,l'| - |m,m'\rangle(m,m'|)$ , which should reproduce the infinitesimal distance between states computed earlier in (7.27) when we take m' = l'. To this end, let us begin by computing

$$[\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(d\rho_{q})] = \frac{1}{r_{j}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{\theta_{f}} [\hat{X}_{-}, d\rho_{q}] \\ \frac{1}{\theta_{f}} [\hat{X}_{+}, d\rho_{q}] & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(7.134)

so that

$$[\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(d\rho_{q})]^{\ddagger}[\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(d\rho_{q})] = \frac{1}{r_{j}^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\theta_{f}^{2}} [\hat{X}_{-}, d\rho_{q}]^{\ddagger} [\hat{X}_{-}, d\rho_{q}] & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{\theta_{f}^{2}} [\hat{X}_{+}, d\rho_{q}]^{\ddagger} [\hat{X}_{+}, d\rho_{q}] \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (7.135)

Here,  $\hat{X}_i$  and  $\hat{X}_{\pm}$  (2.65) are the position operators and the corresponding ladder operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}_q$ .

After computation, we get

$$\|[\mathcal{D}_{f}, \pi(d\rho_{q})]\|_{\text{op}} = \begin{cases} \frac{2\sqrt{[j(j+1)-m(m+1)]}}{\theta_{f}\sqrt{j(j+1)}}, & \text{if } m' = l'.\\ \frac{\sqrt{[j(j+1)-m^{2}+|m|]}}{\theta_{f}\sqrt{j(j+1)}}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(7.136)

Since here we also have  $tr_q (d\rho_q)^2 = 2$ , we get the infinitesimal distance on the quantum Hilbert space by using a formula with the same form as that of (??):

$$d(\rho_q(m+1,l'),\rho_q(m,m')) = \begin{cases} \frac{\theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}}{\sqrt{[j(j+1)-m(m+1)]}}, & \text{if } m' = l'.\\ \frac{2\theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}}{\sqrt{[j(j+1)-m^2+|m|]}}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(7.137)

This shows that just like in the Moyal case [79] the distance on quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_j$  of the fuzzy sphere depends on the right hand sectors and it increases when the right hand sectors are taken differently, although the Dirac operator acts only on the left hand sector.

This motivates us to consider a more general situation where the density matrices are of the mixed form, given by

$$\rho_q(m) = \sum_l P_l(m) \ |m, l\rangle(m, l|, \quad \sum_l P_l = 1, \ \forall \ m.$$
(7.138)

Clearly  $P_l$  are probabilities that are position-dependent. As mentioned in [79], the distance formula (6.28) will yield the true Connes' distance between the mixed states for which the probabilities  $P_l$  are position independent.

However, instead of using the operator norm to calculate the infinitesimal distance, one can use trace norm which will give the closely related distance function

$$\tilde{d}(\rho_q(m+1,\rho_q(m)) = \frac{\mathrm{tr}_c(d\rho_q)^2}{\|[\mathcal{D},\pi(d\rho_q)]\|_{\mathrm{tr}}}.$$
(7.139)

This distance given by (7.139) will expectedly be different from the Connes infinitesimal distance given by (6.28) by a numerical factor only so we can employ (7.139) instead of (6.28) for computational simplicity.

Now, introducing  $d\rho_q(m+1,m) = \rho_q(m+1) - \rho_q(m)$ , we can compute the closely related distance function between the mixed states on the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_j$  of quantum Hilbert space using the formula (7.139). After the straightforward computation, we get

$$\operatorname{tr}_{q}(d\rho_{q}(m+1,m))^{2} = \sum_{l} \left[ P_{l}^{2}(m+1) + P_{l}^{2}(m) \right],$$
(7.140)

$$\|[\mathcal{D}, \pi(d\rho_q(m+1,m))]\|_{\rm tr} = \frac{2}{r_j} \sqrt{\sum_l [P_l^2(m+1)s_1 + P_l^2(m)s_2 + P_l(m+1)P_l(m)s_3]}, \quad (7.141)$$
  
where,  $s_1 = \{j(j+1) - (m+1)^2\};$   
 $s_2 = \{j(j+1) - m^2\};$   
 $s_3 = \{j(j+1) - m(m+1)\}.$  (7.142)

so that we obtain the distance function as

$$\tilde{d}(m+1,m) = \frac{r_j}{2} \frac{\sum_l [P_l^2(m+1) + P_l^2(m)]}{\sqrt{\sum_l [P_l^2(m+1)s_1 + P_l^2(m)s_2 + P_l(m+1)P_l(m)s_3]}},$$
(7.143)

where  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$ . $s_3$  are given in the above equation (7.142) Clearly, the distance depends upon the probabilities which shows the connection between geometry and statistics. Proceeding in the same way as [79], we can take two choices of probability distribution: one that minimize the distance between two generalized points and another that maximize the local entropy, while fixing the local average energy.

Let us consider the first choice. Since we have the infinitesimal distance between the mixed states, we can define the distance between two generalized points  $n_i$  and  $n_f$  on  $\mathcal{H}_i$  as

$$\tilde{d}(n_f, n_i) = \sum_{m=n_i}^{n_f - 1} \tilde{d}(m+1, m).$$
(7.144)

After long computation, we obtain that the probabilities that minimize the distance must satisfy

$$\Delta P_l = 2\alpha, \quad \forall \ l, \tag{7.145}$$

where

$$\Delta = \begin{pmatrix} a(n_i) & b(n_i) & 0 & . & . \\ b(n_i) & a(n_i+1) & b(n_i+1) & 0 & . \\ 0 & . & . & . & . \\ . & 0 & . & . & . & . \\ . & 0 & b(n_f-2) & a(n_f-1) & b(n_f-1) \\ . & . & 0 & b(n_f-1) & a(n_f) \end{pmatrix}; \quad (7.146)$$

$$P_l = \begin{pmatrix} P_l(n_i) \\ P_l(n_i+1) \\ . \\ . \\ P_l(n_f-1) \\ P_l(n_f) \end{pmatrix}; \quad \alpha = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha(n_i) \\ \alpha(n_i+1) \\ . \\ \alpha(n_f-1) \\ \alpha(n_f) \end{pmatrix}. \quad (7.147)$$

Here,  $\alpha(m)$  (*m* taking value from  $n_i$  to  $n_f - 1$ ) are the Lagrange multipliers imposing the constraints that the probabilities sum to 1 and the matrix elements of  $\Delta$  are given by

$$a(m) = r_j[g(m) + g(m-1) - \{j(j+1) - m^2\}\{f(m) + f(m-1)\}],$$
  

$$b(m) = -r_j[\{j(j+1) - m(m+1)\}f(m)],$$

with f(m) and g(m) given by

$$f(m) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sum_{l} [P_{l}^{2}(m+1) + P_{l}^{2}(m)]}{\left[\sum_{l} [P_{l}^{2}(m+1) s_{1} + P_{l}^{2}(m) s_{2} + P_{l}(m+1)P_{l}(m) s_{3}]\right]^{\frac{3}{2}}},$$
(7.148)

$$g(m) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sum_{l} [P_{l}^{2}(m+1) s_{1} + P_{l}^{2}(m) s_{2} + P_{l}(m+1)P_{l}(m) s_{3}]}}$$
 (7.149)

From equation (7.145), we see that  $P_l$  is independent of l since both  $\Delta$  and  $\alpha$  are independent of l so that we get

$$\sum_{l=-n}^{n} P_l(m) = 1 \Rightarrow P_l(m) = \frac{1}{(2j+1)}.$$
(7.150)

Substituting this in the equation (7.143), we get the distance function as

$$\tilde{d}(m+1,m) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2j+1)}} \frac{r_j}{\sqrt{3\{j(j+1) - m(m+1) - \frac{1}{3}\}}}.$$
(7.151)

This distance differs from the true Connes infinitesimal distance just by a numerical factor resulting from the use of the trace instead of operator norm.

Let us consider the second choice where we introduce a local entropy as

$$S(m) = \sum_{l} P_{l}(m) \log P_{l}(m),$$
(7.152)

with the further condition that

$$\sum_{l} P_l(m) E_l = E(m) \quad \text{in addition to} \quad \sum_{l} P_l(m) = 1 . \tag{7.153}$$

After maximizing the local entropy, we get the following Maxwell-Boltzmann form:

$$P_{l}(m) = \frac{e^{-\beta(m)E_{l}}}{\sum_{l} e^{-\beta(m)E_{l}}} = \frac{e^{-\beta(m)E_{l}}}{Z(\beta(m))},$$
(7.154)

where  $\beta(m)$  is the local inverse temperature introduced as a Lagrange multiplier imposing the local energy constraint (7.153) and  $Z(\beta(m)) = \sum_{l} e^{-\beta(m)E_{l}}$  is the partition function.

If we take the local average energy and so the temperature to be independent of m, then putting (7.154) in (7.143), we get the distance function as

$$\tilde{d}(m+1,m) = \frac{\sqrt{Z(2\beta)}}{Z(\beta)} \frac{r_j}{\sqrt{3\{j(j+1) - m(m+1) - \frac{1}{3}\}}}.$$
(7.155)

This clearly shows the connection between the distance and partition function describing the statistical properties of a system with quantum states given by (7.138) in thermal equilibrium.

However, in this case the distance decreases as the temperature increases since the value of the factor  $\frac{\sqrt{Z(2\beta)}}{Z(\beta)}$  lies within 0 to 1 and goes to o for  $T = \frac{1}{\beta} \to \infty$ .

# 8

# CONCLUSION

The issue of maximal localization of the physical Voros position basis on 3D Moyal space has been studied in the first part of the thesis. Although, the Voros basis states are maximally localized states on the 6D phase space, they are not maximally localized states on the 3D configuration space unlike its 2D counterpart [38]. Besides, the Voros basis has an isotropic structure, in the sense that the symplectic eigenvalues of the corresponding commutative variance matrix yield the same pair of eigenvalues for three independent "modes", which are now essentially decoupled from each other.

We have also re-visited the issue of twisted symmetry on 3D Noncommutative Moyal space in a completely operatorial framework using Hilbert-Schmidt operators to investigate whether the twisted bosons/fermions [26] necessarily occurs in conjunction with the twisted deformed coproduct on Moyal space [23], where the twisted fermions were shown to violate Pauli principle [27]. Further, even within this scheme, we have shown that there exists a basis in the multi-particle sector called "quasi-commutative basis" which satisfies orthonormality and completeness relation and is symmetric/antisymmetric under the usual i.e. un-deformed exchange operator so that one has usual bosons/fermions and can avoid introducing twisted bosons/fermions. The correlation functions and the associated thermal effective potential is then shown to conform to Pauli principle, apart from preserving the SO(3) symmetry, both in Moyal and Voros basis, in contrast to the case of twisted bosons/fermions, where there is a  $SO(3) \rightarrow SO(2)$  symmetry breaking. In all these cases, the resulting expressions in Moyal and Voros bases exhibit the same structural form, except that in the Voros case, one gets a  $\theta$ -deformed thermal wavelength ensuring that it has a nonvanishing lower bound, which is in conformity with the requirement that wavelengths  $\leq \sqrt{\theta}$ are suppressed exponentially. Thus, in Voros basis one gets a non-commutative deformation even in the quasi-commutative basis and this Voros basis should be regarded as physical as one can talk sensibly about the inter-particle separation, as one can introduce spectral distance a la Connes, unlike its "Moyalian" counterpart [79].

In the second part of the thesis, we have provided a general algorithm to compute the finite spectral distance on non-commutative spaces viz Moyal plane and fuzzy sphere, adaptable with the Hilbert-Schmidt operator formulation of noncommutative quantum mechanics. We have extensively studied the geometry of the Moyal plane ( $\mathbb{R}^2_*$ ) and that of the Fuzzy sphere ( $\mathbb{S}^2_*$ ) using both the mentioned general algorithm and also emulated the method of [77]

to compute the upper bound and then look for an optimal element saturating this upper bound. In the case of the Moyal plane, we succeed in identifying such optimal element ' $a_s$ ' belonging to the multiplier algebra. We then constructed a sequence of projection operators  $\pi^{N}(a_{s})$  in the finite dimensional subspace spanned by eigen-spinors of the Dirac operator that converge to  $\pi(a_s)$  and saturates the upper bound, allowing us to identify the upper bound itself with the distance. Eventually, this enables us to relate the one parameter family of pure states to the geodesic of the Moyal plane which is nothing but the straight line. In contrast, on the fuzzy sphere, although an analogous upper bound can be constructed for any finite *j*-representation of su(2), there simply does not exist an optimal element  $a_s$ saturating the inequality. Indeed, for the case of extremal non-commutativity  $j = \frac{1}{2}$ , the finite distance turns out to be half the chordial distance. Here, except for the extremal points, the interpolating "points" correspond to mixed states. This in turn helps us to find the distance between a given mixed state and a uniquely defined nearest pure state lying on the "surface" of  $\mathbb{S}^2_*$ . The corresponding distance can then be taken as an alternative characterization of the "mixedness" of a state. This exercise shows that in Connes' framework no discrimination is made between pure and mixed states; it scans through the entire set of pure and mixed states to compute the supremum in (1.25).

All these calculations are enormously simplified by working in the eigen-spinor basis of the respective Dirac operator so that we are able to compute the distance in the 'j = 1' fuzzy sphere, using this revised algorithm. Since this algorithm involves also the transverse  $\Delta \rho_{\perp}$  components in addition to the longitudinal  $\Delta \rho$  component, this becomes somewhat less user-friendly. For the 'j = 1' case, for example, it involves a minimization in seven parameters. Needless to say that we have to make use of *Mathematica* after solving the quadratic characteristic equation. For higher j's, the corresponding characteristic equations will not only involve higher degree polynomials, it will also involve a very large number of independent parameters to be varied. Consequently, the computation for the j > 1 fuzzy sphere, even with the help of *Mathematica*, remains virtually intractable and for the Moyal plane the number of parameters is simply infinite! To put our findings in a nutshell, we observe that the finite distance for j = 1 and that of  $j = \frac{1}{2}$  have almost the same functional form except for an overall scaling by a factor of  $\sqrt{2}$  and a miniscule deformation at small ' $\theta$ ' and that too only from the sixth decimal onwards.

Moreover, we have computed the infinitesimal spectral distance between a pair of discrete mixed states on the quantum Hilbert space of fuzzy sphere using the lower bound formula (6.28). Just like the Moyal plane case [79], we find a deep connection between the geometry of the quantum Hilbert space and the statistical properties of the quantum system associated with the fuzzy sphere.

Part III

Appendices

# A

# **BASIC THEORY OF HOPF ALGEBRA**

### A.1 ALGEBRA [115]

A unital algebra *A* is a vector space over a field K with the following maps:

- 1. the multiplication map  $m : A \otimes A \to A$  (the product) which is associative in the sense  $(ab)c = a(bc), \forall a, b, c \in A$ . Note that  $m(a \otimes b) = ab$ .
- 2. the map  $\eta : \mathbb{K} \to A$  (the unit) such that  $\eta(1) = \mathbb{I}_A$ , where  $\mathbb{I}_A$  is the unit element of A which satisfies  $a\mathbb{I}_A = a\mathbb{I}_A a$ ,  $\forall a \in A$ .

A.2 CO-ALGEBRA [115]

A co-algebra *C* is a vector space over the field  $\mathbb{K}$  with the following maps:

1. the map  $\Delta : C \to C \otimes C$  (the co-product) which is co-associative in the sense

$$\sum c_{(1)(1)} \otimes c_{(1)(2)} \otimes c_{(2)} = \sum c_{(1)} \otimes c_{(2)(1)} \otimes c_{(2)(2)}, \quad \forall \ c \in C.$$
(A.1)

Note that we have used the notation  $\Delta c \equiv \sum c_{(1)} \otimes c_{(2)}$  in the above equation (A.1).

2. the map  $\epsilon : C \to \mathbb{K}$  (the co-unit) obeying  $\sum \epsilon(c_{(1)})c_{(2)} = c = \sum c_{(1)}\epsilon(c_{(2)}), \forall c \in C.$ 

### A.3 BI-ALGEBRA [115]

A bi-algebra *H* is both a unital algebra *H* with the maps *m* and  $\eta$  and a co-algebra *H* with the co-product  $\Delta$  and the co-unit  $\epsilon$  where  $H \otimes H$  has the tensor product algebra structure  $(h \otimes g)(h' \otimes g') = hh' \otimes gg', h, h', g, g' \in H.$ 

### A.4 HOPF ALGEBRA [115]

A Hopf algebra *H* is a bi-algebra *H* i.e., it satisfies the properties of both algebra and coalgebra with the algebra maps: product *m* and co-product  $\Delta$ ; and the unit map  $\eta$  and the co-unit  $\epsilon$  with an additional map  $S : H \to H$ , called the antipode such that  $\sum (Sh_{(1)})h_{(2)} = \epsilon(h) = \sum h_{(1)}Sh_{(2)}, \quad \forall h \in H.$ 

The definition of a Hopf algebra can be summarized by the commutativity of the diagram:



Figure A.1: Commutative diagram showing the axioms on the bi-algebra *H* that make it Hopf algebra.

### A.4.1 Co-commutative

A Hopf algebra *H* is commutative if it is commutative as an algebra and co-commutative if it is co-commutative as a co-algebra i.e. if  $\Sigma \circ \Delta = \Delta$  where  $\Sigma : H \otimes H \rightarrow H \otimes H$  is the flip map,  $\Sigma(h \otimes g) = g \otimes h$ ,  $\forall h, g \in H$ .

### A.4.2 Almost Co-commutative

A Hopf algebra *H* is said to be almost cocommutative if there exists an invertible element  $\mathcal{R} \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}$  such that  $\Sigma \circ \Delta = \mathcal{R} \Delta \mathcal{R}^{-1}$ .

### A.4.3 Quasi-triangular

An almost cocommutative Hopf algebra *H* is said to be quasi-triangular if

$$(\Delta \otimes id)\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_{13}\mathcal{R}_{23} \quad \text{and} \quad (id \otimes \Delta)\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_{13}\mathcal{R}_{12}$$
(A.2)

where the product is in  $H \otimes H \otimes H$ ; and  $\mathcal{R}_{12} = \mathcal{R}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{1}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}_{13} = \mathcal{R}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{1} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{\alpha}$  and  $\mathcal{R}_{23} = \mathbf{1} \otimes \mathcal{R}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{\alpha}$  (denoting  $\mathcal{R} = \sum_{\alpha} \mathcal{R}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{\alpha} \in H \otimes H$ ) are the embedding of  $\mathcal{R}$  in higher tensor powers of H. This element  $\mathcal{R}$  is called **quasi-triangular structure** or **universal R-matrix**.

Additionally, if  $\mathcal{R}_{21} = \mathcal{R}^{-1}$ , *H* is said to be **triangular**. Every co-commutative Hopf algebra is trivially triangular with  $\mathcal{R} = \mathbf{1} \otimes \mathbf{1}$ .

### A.4.4 Twisted Hopf algebra

Given a co-commutative Hopf algebra  $(H, \mu, \eta, \Delta, \varepsilon, S)$ , an invertible element  $\mathcal{F} \in H \otimes H$  is said to be a **twist** (**Drinfel'd twist**) if it satisfies the following conditions:

$$(\mathbf{1} \otimes \mathcal{F})(id \otimes \Delta)\mathcal{F} = (\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathbf{1})(\Delta \otimes id)\mathcal{F} \rightarrow \text{co-cycle condition};$$
 (A.3)

$$(\varepsilon \otimes id)\mathcal{F} = \mathbf{1} = (id \otimes \varepsilon)\mathcal{F}. \tag{A.4}$$

Further, if we have an invertible element of H as

$$\chi = m(id \otimes S)\mathcal{F}$$
 with  $\chi^{-1} = m(S \otimes id)\mathcal{F}^{-1}$ , (A.5)

then the twist element  $\mathcal{F}$  determines a new Hopf algebra structure on  $\mathcal{H}$  with twisted coproduct  $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$  and twisted antipode  $S_{\mathcal{F}}$  defined respectively as

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{F} \Delta \mathcal{F}^{-1}$$
 and  $S_{\mathcal{F}} = \chi S \chi^{-1}$ .

This resulting Hopf algebra is called a **twisted Hopf algebra**,  $H_{\mathcal{F}}$  with the same underlying algebra structure  $\mu_{\mathcal{F}} = \mu$  and counit  $\varepsilon_{\mathcal{F}} = \varepsilon$  as H but with twisted co-product  $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$  and twisted anti-pode  $S_{\mathcal{F}}$ . It can be shown that  $H_{\mathcal{F}}$  or  $(H_{\mathcal{F}}, m, \eta, \Delta_{\mathcal{F}}, \varepsilon, S_{\mathcal{F}})$  is a triangular Hopf algebra with universal  $\mathcal{R}$ -matrix given by  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{F}_{21}\mathcal{F}^{-1}$  which satisfies the quantum Yang-Baxter equation:

$$\mathcal{R}_{12}\mathcal{R}_{13}\mathcal{R}_{23} = \mathcal{R}_{23}\mathcal{R}_{13}\mathcal{R}_{12}.$$
 (A.6)

This twisted or deformed Hopf algebra  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{F}}$  is usually called the **Quantum group**. The concept of quantum group is important in non-commutative spaces because it serves as a proper mathematical structure to capture the properties of symmetry in noncommutative spaces.

# B

# **ROBERTSON AND SCHRÖDINGER UNCERTAINTY RELATIONS**

The Schrödinger Uncertainty relation represents the most generalized form of uncertainty relation. It can be shown in the following:

The variance  $\Delta \hat{A}^2$  of any Hermitian operator  $\hat{A}$  in a state  $|\Psi\rangle$  can be written as

$$\Delta \hat{A}^2 = \langle \Psi | (\hat{A} - \langle \hat{A} \rangle)^2 | \Psi \rangle = \langle f_A | f_A \rangle , \text{ where } | f_A \rangle = | (\hat{A} - \langle \hat{A} \rangle) \Psi \rangle. \tag{B.1}$$

Using the Schwarz inequality for a pair of such observables  $\hat{A}$  and  $\hat{B}$ , we have

$$\Delta \hat{A}^2 \Delta \hat{B}^2 = \langle f_A | f_A \rangle \langle f_B | f_B \rangle \ge |\langle f_A | f_B \rangle|^2. \tag{B.2}$$

We can then split  $\langle f_A | f_A \rangle \langle f_B | f_B \rangle \ge |\langle f_A | f_B \rangle|^2$  into real and imaginary terms as

$$|\langle f_A | f_B \rangle|^2 = \left(\frac{\langle f_A | f_B \rangle + \langle f_B | f_A \rangle}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\langle f_A | f_B \rangle - \langle f_B | f_A \rangle}{2i}\right)^2.$$
(B.3)

Using the fact that  $\langle f_A | f_B \rangle = \langle \hat{A} \hat{B} \rangle - \langle \hat{A} \rangle \langle \hat{B} \rangle$  we see that

$$\langle f_A | f_B \rangle - \langle f_B | f_A \rangle = \langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle$$
 and  $\langle f_A | f_B \rangle + \langle f_B | f_A \rangle = \langle \{\hat{A}, \hat{B}\} \rangle - 2 \langle \hat{A} \rangle \langle \hat{B} \rangle.$  (B.4)

Robertson Uncertainty Relation

Ignoring the square of real part in (B.<sub>3</sub>), i.e.

$$|\langle f_A | f_B \rangle|^2 \ge (Im.\langle f_A | f_B \rangle)^2 = \left(\frac{\langle f_A | f_B \rangle - \langle f_B | f_A \rangle}{2i}\right)^2,\tag{B.5}$$

we get the Robertson Uncertainty Relation:

$$\Delta \hat{A} \Delta \hat{B} \ge \frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle. \tag{B.6}$$

# Schrödinger Uncertainty Relation

If we retain both the squares of real and imaginary parts of  $(B._3)$ , i.e.

$$|\langle f_A | f_B \rangle|^2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{A}, \hat{B}\} \rangle - \langle \hat{A} \rangle \langle \hat{B} \rangle \right)^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle \right)^2 ; \text{ using } \mathbb{B}_{.3} \text{ and } \mathbb{B}_{.4}$$
(B.7)

we finally get the Schrödinger Uncertainty Relation:

$$\Delta \hat{A} \Delta \hat{B} \ge \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{2} \langle \{\hat{A}, \hat{B}\} \rangle - \langle \hat{A} \rangle \langle \hat{B} \rangle\right)^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2i} \langle [\hat{A}, \hat{B}] \rangle\right)^2}.$$
(B.8)

# C

# SOME DEFINITIONS

# C.1 C\*-ALGEBRA [113, 116]

A complex vector space  $\mathcal{A}$  equipped with a multiplication map  $f : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  such that  $\forall f, g \in \mathcal{A}, f \times g \in \mathcal{A}$  is called an **algebra**. Suppose we can define an anti-linear mapping  $* : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  called an involution or adjoint operation such that the following properties are satisfied:

- 1.  $\forall f \in \mathcal{A}, f^{**} = f;$
- 2.  $\forall f,g \in \mathcal{A}, (f \times g)^* = g^* \times f^*;$
- 3.  $\forall f, g \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } a, b \in \mathbb{C}, \quad (af + bg)^* = \bar{a}f^* + \bar{b}g^*;$

then  $\mathcal{A}$  is called a **\*-algebra or an involutive algebra**. If  $\forall f \in \mathcal{A}$ , we can associate a real number ||f|| called the norm of f such that  $\forall f, g \in X$  and  $c \in \mathbb{C}$ 

1.  $||f|| \ge 0$  and ||f|| = 0 if and only if f = 0,

2. 
$$\|cf\| = |c| \|f\|$$
,

- 3.  $||f + g|| \le ||f|| + ||g||$ , (triangle inequality)
- 4.  $||f \times g|| \le ||f|| ||g||$ , (product inequality or Cauchy-Schwarz inequality),

then A is called a **normed or Banach algebra**. An involutive as well as normed algebra is called a **Banach** \*-algebra.

A *C*\*-algebra is a Banach \*-algebra with the property, called *C*\*-identity:

$$\|f^* \times f\| = \|f\|^2, \quad \forall f \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(C.1)

For example, given a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , the set  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  of all bounded operators on  $\mathcal{H}$  is a  $C^*$ -algebra with the adjoint operation and operator norm:

$$||A|| = \sup\{||A\psi|| ; \psi \in \mathcal{H}, ||\psi|| = 1\},$$
(C.2)

which satisfies the *C*<sup>\*</sup>-norm property:  $||A^* \times A|| = ||A||^2$ .

A C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is a **unital** if it has an identity element 1, i.e.  $f = 1 \times f = f \times 1$ ,  $\forall f \in \mathcal{A}$ . Otherwise, it is called **non-unital** C\*-algebra. A **commutative unital** C\*-algebra is the one with  $f \times g = g \times f$ ,  $\forall f, g \in \mathcal{A}$ . An element f of a unital C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is said to be **normal** iff  $f \times f^* = f^* \times f$ ; **self-adjoint** iff  $f = f^*$ ; **unitary** iff  $f \times f^* = f^* \times f = 1$ ; **projection** iff  $f = f^* = f^2$ ; **positive** iff  $f = g \times g^*$  for some  $g \in \mathcal{A}$ ; and **invertible** iff  $\exists g \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $f \times g = g \times f = 1$ . The **resolvent set**  $R_{\mathcal{A}}(f)$  of an element  $f \in \mathcal{A}$  is defined as the set of  $r \in \mathbb{C}$  such that r1 - f is invertible. The **spectrum**  $\Sigma_{\mathcal{A}}(f)$  of f is defined as the complement of  $R_{\mathcal{A}}(f)$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ . And the inverse  $(r1 - f)^{-1}$  where  $r \in R_{\mathcal{A}}(f)$  is called the **resolvent** of fat r.

# c.2 \*-homomorphism and functional of $C^*$ -algebra

Given a pair of  $C^*$ -algebras  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ , an algebra homomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  is called a \*homomorphism if  $\phi(f^*) = \phi(f)^*$ ,  $\forall f \in \mathcal{A}$ . A linear functional on  $\mathcal{A}$  is a linear mapping  $\omega : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$  and the space of all continuous linear functionals is called the **dual**  $\mathcal{A}'$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ .

- 1. <u>Character</u>: A non-zero \*-homomorphism  $\mu : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ , i.e.,  $\mu(f)\mu(g) = \mu(f \times g)$ ,  $\forall f, g \in \mathcal{A}$ ;  $\mu(f^*) = \mu(f)^* \mu(f) \neq 0$ ,  $\forall f \in \mathcal{A}$ . The set of all characters of  $\mathcal{A}$  is called the character space of  $\mathcal{A}$  and is a subset of  $\mathcal{A}'$ , denoted by  $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$ . The characters of commutative unital  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A} = C(X)$ , the algebra of all continuous functions on a compact set X are the evaluations  $\mu_x(f) = f(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in X$ . The characters of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_n^D$  of  $n \times n$  diagonal matrices are the maps  $\mu_m : a \to a_{mm}$ ,  $1 \leq m \leq n$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}_n^D$ .
- State: A positive and normalized linear functional, i.e. ω : A → C with ω(f\* × f) ≥ 0, ∀ f ∈ A and ||ω|| = 1. If ω₁ and ω₂ are the states over A and 0 < t < 1, then ω = tω₁ + (1 t)ω₂ is also a state. Thus, the space of all states S(A) over A form a convex subset of the dual A'. The extremal elements of S(A) are called the **pure states** of A and so they cannot be expressed in terms of states ω₁ and ω₂. The set of pure states is denoted by P(A).

Since the characters of a  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  are the algebraic \*-homomorphisms, the existence of  $(r\mathbb{1} - f)^{-1}$  implies that of  $(r\mathbb{1} - \mu(f))^{-1}$ ,  $\forall f \in \mathcal{A}$  and hence for all  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$ ,  $\mu(f) \in \Sigma(f)$  with  $|\mu(f)| \leq ||f||$ . For a commutative unital  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ , the character space  $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$  is identified with the spectrum  $\Sigma(\mathcal{A})$ . Moreover,  $\mu(f^* \times f) = \mu(f^*)\mu(f) = |\mu(f)|^2 \geq 0$  and  $\mu(\mathbb{1}) = 1$  so that every character is a state. Suppose  $\mu = \alpha \mu_1 + (1 - \alpha)\mu_2$  ( $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$ ) with  $\mu_1(f) > \mu_2(f)$  for some f > 0 such that  $\mu(f) = c\mu_1(f)$  with c < 1, then we have

$$\alpha \mu_1(f^n) \le \mu(f^n) = \mu(f)^n = c^n (\mu_1(f))^n \le c^n \mu_1(f^n), \ \forall \ n \ \Rightarrow \ \alpha = 0.$$
(C.3)

Thus,  $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})$  contains all pure states. As a subset of the dual  $\mathcal{A}'$  of the commutative unital  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ , the character space can be topologized through restriction of any of the topologies of  $\mathcal{A}'$ .

### C.3 REPRESENTATIONS OF A $C^*$ -Algebra

A **representation**  $\pi$  of a *C*<sup>\*</sup>-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is a \*-homomorphism from  $\mathcal{A}$  into  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , the algebra of bounded operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . That is,  $\forall a_i \in \mathcal{A}, \lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$\pi(\lambda_1 a_1 + \lambda_2 a_2) = \lambda_1 \pi(a_1) + \lambda_2 \pi(a_2); \pi(a_1 a_2) = \pi(a_1) \pi(a_2); \pi(a_i^*) = \pi(a_i)^*.$$
(C.4)

If  $\pi(a) \neq 0$  whenever  $a \neq 0$  or, ker $\pi = \{0\}$  then the representation  $\pi$  is called **faith-ful**. Each representation  $\pi$  a *C*\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  defines a faithful representation on the quotient algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{\pi} = \mathcal{A}/\text{ker}\pi$ . For any *C*\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ , the range  $\mathcal{B}_{\pi} = \{\pi(a); a \in \mathcal{A}\}$  of representation  $\pi$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  is a *C*\*-subalgebra of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a *C*\*-subalgebra of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $\mathcal{T}$  be a subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  such that  $\mathcal{MT} \subset \mathcal{T}$ , then  $\mathcal{T}$  is called an invariant subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let  $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{B}_{\pi}$  such that  $\mathcal{H}$  has no non-trivial invariant subspaces, then the representation  $\pi$  is called an **irreducible**.

In any representation  $\pi$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ , every vector  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $\|\psi\| = \sqrt{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle} = 1$  produces a state  $\omega_{\psi}(a) = \langle \psi | \pi(a) | \psi \rangle$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{A}$  called **vector state** of  $\mathcal{A}$ . The vector state corresponding to an irreducible representation is always a pure state.

### C.4 HILBERT-SCHIMDT OPERATORS

For a separable infinite dimensional Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , if  $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  denotes a space of operators of finite rank i.e. an  $a \in \mathcal{L}$  maps  $\mathcal{H}$  to a finite-dimensional space, then the completion of  $\mathcal{L}$  in the norms:

- 1.  $||a||_1 = \text{Tr}(|a|)$ ,  $|a| = \sqrt{a^*a}$ , is denoted by  $\mathcal{L}^1$  and such operators are called traceclass operators;
- 2.  $||a||_2^2 = \text{Tr}(a^*a)$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{L}^2$  and such operators are called Hilbert-Schimdt operators;
- 3.  $||a||_{\infty} = ||a||$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{K}$  and such operators are called compact operators.

For example, diagonal matrices with eigenvalues  $\alpha_i$  belong to

- 1.  $\mathcal{L}^1$  provided that  $\sum_i |\alpha_i| < \infty$ ;
- 2.  $\mathcal{L}^2$  provided that  $\sum_i |\alpha_i|^2 < \infty$ ;
- 3.  $\mathcal{K}$  provided that  $\lim_{i\to\infty} \alpha_i = 0$ .

With this, we have the following inclusions:

$$\mathcal{L} \subset \mathcal{L}^1 \subset \mathcal{L}^2 \subset \mathcal{K} \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}). \tag{C.5}$$

If the dimension of the underlying Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is finite, say *n* i.e.,  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \simeq \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , then all linear functionals on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  are of the form:

$$\omega(a) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho a) \equiv (\rho|a) , \forall a \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n) \text{ where } \rho \in (\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n))' \equiv \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n).$$
(C.6)

### C.5 NORMAL STATE

If the dimension of the underlying Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is infinite, then the dual of  $\mathcal{L}$  is  $\mathcal{L}^1$ and that of  $\mathcal{L}^1$  is  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  such that all trace-class operators provide linear functionals on the bounded operators by  $a \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(\rho a)$ ,  $a \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ ,  $\rho \in \mathcal{L}^1$  [113]. Note that a Hermitian trace-class operator  $\rho = \rho^*$  such that  $\rho \ge 0$  and  $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho) = 1$  is called a **density operator**. The positive and normalized linear functionals provided by density operators  $\rho \in \mathcal{L}^1$  on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  are called **normal states** and they are given by

$$\omega_{\rho}(a) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho a) , \ a \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}).$$
(C.7)

If the density matrix  $\rho$  is one-dimensional projection such that  $\rho^2 = \rho$ , then the corresponding normal state is pure. Otherwise, it is a mixed state.

### c.6 module

A **left module** *M* over an algebra *A* (or, left *A*-module) is an abelian group *M* together with the scalar multiplication  $A \times M \rightarrow M$  i.e.  $(a, u) \mapsto au$  such that

$$a(u+v) = au + av$$
;  $(a+b)u = au + av$ ;  $a(bu) = (ab)u$ ,  $\forall a, b \in A, u, v \in M$ . (C.8)

Similarly, we can define the **right module** *M* over *B* (or, right *B*-module) as the abelian group *M* with the scalar multiplication  $M \times B \rightarrow M$  i.e.  $(u, a) \mapsto ua$  satisfying the similar conditions:

$$(u+v)a = ua + va$$
;  $u(a+b) = ua + va$ ;  $(ua)b = u(ab)$ ,  $\forall a, b \in B, u, v \in M$ . (C.9)

Given two algebras *A* and *B*, an abelian group *M* with the scalar multplications  $A \times M \rightarrow M$ and  $M \times B \rightarrow M$  satisfying (C.8) and (C.9) with the compatibility condition: a(ub) = (au)b = aub is called a (*A*, *B*)-module. If A = B, then the (*A*, *A*)-module is called a **bi-module**. A module *M* over *A* is a **free module** if there exists a linearly independent generating set *E* which form a basis for *M*. That is,  $\forall m \in M$ ,  $\exists e_i \in E \subseteq M$ ,  $a_i \in A$  such that  $m = \sum_{i=1}^n a_i e_i$  where  $\sum_{i=1}^n a_i e_i = 0_m \Rightarrow a_1 = a_2 = ... = a_n = 0_A$ . Every vector space is a free module.

A module *M* over *A* is a **finitely generated** if there exists a generating set  $\{f_1, f_2, ..., f_n\}$ ,  $f_i \in M$  such that  $\forall m \in M$ ,  $\exists a_1, a_2, ..., a_n \in A$  with  $m = \sum_{i=1}^n a_i f_i$ . Here,  $\{f_1, f_2, ..., f_n\}$ ,  $f_i \in M$  may not be linearly independent.

A module *M* over *A* is a **projective** if there exists a set  $\{m_1, m_2, ..., m_n\}$ ,  $m_i \in M$  and another set  $\{f_i \in Hom(M, A)\}$  such that  $\forall m \in M$ ,  $f_i(m)$  is only nonzero for finitely many  $i \in \mathcal{I}$ and  $m = \sum f_i(m)a_i$ ,  $a_i \in A$ . Or, a module *M* over *A* is a projective if and only if there is a free module *F* and another module *N* such that  $F = M \oplus N$ .

If *A* is a unital *C*\*-algebra and *p* is a projection in  $End_A(A^n)$ , i.e.  $p^2 = p = \begin{pmatrix} p_{11} & \dots & p_{1s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ p_{s1} & \dots & p_{ss} \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $p_{ij} \in p_{s1}$ 

*A*, then  $\mathcal{E} = pA^n$  is a **finitely generated projective right** *A***-module**. Further,  $\mathcal{E}$  is a pre-Hilbert *A*-module with *A*-valued inner product:  $\langle u|v\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i^* v_i$ ,  $u, v \in \mathcal{E}$ .

If *M* is a differentiable manifold and we have a vector bundle  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  with the space of sections  $\Gamma(M, E) \equiv \Gamma(E) = \{s : M \to E : \pi \circ s = \text{Id}_M\}$ , then  $\Gamma(E)$  is finitely generated projective right module over  $A = C^{\infty}(M)$  with  $s \circ f \in \Gamma(E)$ ,  $\forall f \in A$  defined as  $(s \circ f)(x) = s(x)f(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in M$ .

# D

# CONSTRUCTION OF DIRAC OPERATORS

Here we will review the construction of Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_M$  on Moyal plane and  $\mathcal{D}_f$  on fuzzy sphere. Dirac operator is one of the major ingredients of a spectral triple and plays the most important role in the computation of spectral distance.

### D.1 MOYAL PLANE

The Moyal plane  $\mathbb{R}^2_{\star}$  is the quantization of Euclidean plane  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and we know that for the latter  $\mathbb{R}^2$  the Dirac operator is

$$\mathcal{D} = -i(\sigma_1\partial_1 + \sigma_2\partial_2)$$
, where  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  are the first two Pauli matrices. (D.1)

For Moyal plane where  $[\hat{x}_{\alpha}, \hat{x}_{\beta}] = i\theta\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$ ;  $\alpha, \beta = 1, 2$ , we can define an analogous operator  $\partial_{\alpha} \rightarrow \hat{\partial}_{\alpha}$ 's only through the momentum operator  $\hat{P}_{\alpha}$  acting adjointly on  $\mathcal{H}_q$  with the noncommutative Heisenberg algebra (2.5). Since it is only the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_q$  that furnish a complete representation of the entire Heisenberg algebra we need to construct our Dirac operator on this space. Thus, we can construct the Dirac operator for Moyal plane as

$$\mathcal{D}_M \equiv \sigma_{\alpha} \hat{P}_{\alpha} = \sigma_1 \hat{P}_1 + \sigma_2 \hat{P}_2 , \quad \text{acting adjointly on} \quad \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} |\phi_1\rangle \\ |\phi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_q \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 . \tag{D.2}$$

Using (2.10), we get  $\mathcal{D}_M \Phi = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} [i\hat{b}^{\dagger}, \phi_2] \\ [-i\hat{b}, \phi_1] \end{pmatrix}$ . Let us define a diagonal representation  $\pi$  of

$$a \in \mathcal{H}_q \text{ as } \pi(a) = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \text{ and its action on the same } \Phi \in \mathcal{H}_q \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 \text{ as}$$
$$\pi(a)\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} |\phi_1\rangle \\ |\phi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a|\phi_1\rangle \\ a|\phi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix}, \tag{D.3}$$

such that the action of the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]$  on  $\Phi$  gives

$$[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]\Phi = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & [i\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a] \\ [-i\hat{b}, a] & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi \Rightarrow [\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)] \equiv \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & [i\hat{b}^{\dagger}, a] \\ [-i\hat{b}, a] & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(D.4)

Since  $\hat{b}/\hat{b}^{\dagger}$  and  $a \in \mathcal{H}_q$  are the operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c$  and the diagonal action  $\pi(a) = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$  on  $\mathcal{H}_q \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$  can be understood as a diagonal representation  $\pi(a)$  acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ , the commutator  $[\mathcal{D}_M, \pi(a)]$  thus yields the following form of Dirac operator acting on  $\mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ :

$$\mathcal{D}_M = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\hat{b}^{\dagger} \\ -i\hat{b} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.5)

This is further simplified by considering the transformations  $\hat{b} \rightarrow i\hat{b}$  and  $\hat{b}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -i\hat{b}^{\dagger}$ , which just corresponds to a SO(2) rotation by an angle  $\frac{\pi}{2}$  in  $\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2$  space. With this transformation the Dirac operator takes the following hermitian form :

$$\mathcal{D}_M = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \hat{b}^{\dagger} \\ \hat{b} & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{D.6}$$

Clearly, this Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}_M$  has a well-defined left action on  $\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} |\psi_1\rangle \\ |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_c \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ :

$$\mathcal{D}\Psi = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & b^{\dagger} \\ b & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} |\psi_1\rangle \\ |\psi_2\rangle \end{pmatrix} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\theta}} \begin{pmatrix} b^{\dagger} |\psi_2\rangle \\ b |\psi_1\rangle \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.7)

### D.2 FUZZY SPHERE [88]

The construction of Dirac operator for fuzzy sphere can be understood by first understanding the construction of Dirac operator for 3-sphere and hence for 2-sphere. Here, we provide a review of the same by essentially following [88].

# D.2.1 Dirac operator on $S^3$ and $S^2$

Let us consider a flat  $\mathbb{C}^2_0$  manifold, isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^4 - \{0\}$  which can be defined as

$$\mathbb{C}_0^2 = \left\{ \chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1 \\ \chi_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^2 : \chi^{\dagger} \chi > 0 \right\}.$$
(D.8)

With the imposition of the constraint  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = |\chi_1|^2 + |\chi_2|^2 = 1$  on (D.8), we get the 3-sphere  $\mathbb{S}^3$  which is the SU(2) group manifold [117]. Note that Hopf has shown that  $\mathbb{S}^3$  is a U(1) bundle over  $\mathbb{S}^2$  [118]. This can be easily seen by making use of the U(1) freedom  $\chi \to e^{i\alpha}\chi$  (for arbitrary  $\alpha$ ) in (D.8). That is, we can choose  $\alpha$  such that either  $\chi^* = \chi_1$  or  $\chi_2^* = \chi_2$  in local neighborhoods giving either  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = \chi_1^2 + |\chi_2|^2 = 1$  or,  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = |\chi_1|^2 + \chi_2^2 = 1$  which is clearly  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . Now, we know that a  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  manifold is defined as

$$\mathbb{CP}^{1} = \left\{ \chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_{1} \\ \chi_{2} \end{pmatrix} \approx \lambda \chi \in \mathbb{C}^{2} : \lambda \neq 0 \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$
(D.9)

This implies that by first normalising i.e. setting  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = 1$  and then choosing a suitable section from the U(1) bundle over  $\mathbb{S}^2$ , we can identify  $SU(2)/U(1) \simeq \mathbb{S}^2 \simeq \mathbb{CP}^1$ . This can be obtained in two ways which we can be explained clearly by choosing a standard parametrization of  $\mathbb{S}^3$ .

Let  $\theta$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $\psi$  be the three Euler angles on  $\mathbb{S}^3$  which have the following identification with the complex doublets of  $\mathbb{C}^2_0$  manifold (D.8):

$$\mathbb{S}^{3} = \left\{ \chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_{1} \\ \chi_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)e^{\frac{i}{2}(\phi+\psi)} \\ \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)e^{-\frac{i}{2}(\phi-\psi)} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{2} : \chi^{\dagger}\chi = |\chi_{1}|^{2} + |\chi_{2}|^{2} = 1 \right\}.$$
(D.10)

Let us choose the following two charts:

1.  $U_+ = \{ \chi \in \mathbb{S}^3 : \chi_1^* = \chi_1 \}$  in the neighbourhood  $\chi_1 \neq 0$  by setting  $\psi = -\phi$ 

$$\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1 \\ \chi_2 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \chi' = \begin{pmatrix} \chi'_1 \\ \chi'_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \\ \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)e^{i\phi} \end{pmatrix}; \tag{D.11}$$

2.  $U_{-} = \{ \chi \in \mathbb{S}^3 : \chi_2^* = \chi_2 \}$  in the neighbourhood  $\chi_2 \neq 0$  by setting  $\psi = \phi$ 

$$\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1 \\ \chi_2 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \chi'' = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_1'' \\ \chi_2'' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)e^{-i\phi} \\ \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.12)

Clearly,  $\chi'$  and  $\chi''$  can be interpreted as the local coordinates of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  on the northern hemisphere  $V_+$  and southern hemisphere  $V_-$  respectively (which can be expressed as familiar coordinates  $x_1 = \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\cos\phi$ ,  $x_2 = \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\sin\phi$  and  $x_3 = \cos\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)$  of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ ). On the overlap region  $V_+ \cap V_-$ , we have the transition function as

$$\chi' = e^{i\varphi}\chi'' \,. \tag{D.13}$$
Let us now consider the spinor bundle  $S(C_0^2)$  over  $\mathbb{C}_0^2$  manifold, which is actually a trivial one. The sections of  $S(\mathbb{C}_0^2)$  have the following form in terms of homogeneous coordinates  $\chi_1$  and  $\chi_2$ :

$$\Psi(\chi,\chi^*) = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_1(\chi,\chi^*) \\ \Psi_2(\chi,\chi^*) \end{pmatrix} ; \ \Psi_\alpha = \sum_{n_1,n_2,m_1,m_2} a^{\alpha}_{n_1,n_2,m_1,m_2} \chi_1^{*n_1} \chi_2^{*n_2} \chi_1^{m_1} \chi_2^{m_2} ; \ \alpha = 1,2.$$
 (D.14)

Here,  $n_1, n_2, m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The sections of the spinor bundle  $S(S^3)$  over  $S^3$  can be easily obtained from the sections of  $S(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  (D.14) by putting the constraint  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = 1$ . The spinor bundle  $S(S^3)$  persists to be a trivial one. In terms of the Euler angles (D.10), we can write the sections (D.14) as

$$\Psi_{\alpha} = \sum_{n_1, n_2, m_1, m_2} a^{\alpha}_{n_1, n_2, m_1, m_2} \Big( \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \Big)^{n_1 + m_1} \Big( \sin \frac{\theta}{2} \Big)^{n_2 + m_2} e^{-i\frac{\phi}{2}(m_1 - m_2 - n_1 + n_2)} e^{-ik\frac{\phi}{2}} , \qquad (D.15)$$

where

$$k = (m_1 + m_2 - n_1 - n_2) \in \mathbb{Z} . \tag{D.16}$$

The sections of  $S(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  and  $S(\mathbb{S}^3)$  have a natural grading where the subbundles  $S_k(C_0^2)$  and  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^3)$  are formed by sections of the form (D.15) with fixed *k*.

The differential operators acting on sections of  $S(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  are

$$J_{i} = \frac{1}{2} (\chi_{\alpha} \sigma_{i}^{\beta \alpha} \partial_{\chi_{\beta}} - \chi_{\alpha}^{*} (\sigma^{*})_{i}^{\beta \alpha} \partial_{\chi_{\beta}^{*}}) \text{ and } K = \frac{1}{2} (\chi_{\alpha} \partial_{\chi_{\alpha}} - \chi_{\alpha}^{*} \partial_{\chi_{\alpha}^{*}}).$$
(D.17)

The actions of differential operators (D.17) on sections of  $\mathbb{S}^3$  remains unchanged. The differential operators  $J_i$  satisfy the su(2) algebra:  $[J_i, J_j] = i\epsilon_{ijk}J_k$  and can be identified with the orbital angular momenta. The sections of  $S_k(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  or,  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^3)$  are eigenstates of the dilatation operator K:

$$K\Psi = k\Psi$$
,  $\Psi \in S_k(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  or,  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^3)$ . (D.18)

In terms of the Euler angles (D.10), these differential operators (D.17) have the following form:

$$J_{1} = i \sin \varphi \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} + i \cos \varphi \cot \theta \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} - i \frac{\cos \varphi}{\sin \theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \psi},$$
  

$$J_{2} = -i \cos \varphi \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} + i \cot \theta \sin \varphi \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} - i \frac{\sin \varphi}{\sin \theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \psi},$$
  

$$J_{3} = -i \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi},$$
  

$$K = i \frac{\partial}{\partial \psi}.$$
(D.19)

The sections of  $S_k(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  or,  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^3)$  are modules with respect to multiplication by elements of the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_0$ , formed by functions of the form:

$$f(\chi,\chi^*) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,m_1,m_2} a^{\alpha}_{n_1,n_2,m_1,m_2} \chi_1^{*n_1} \chi_2^{*n_2} \chi_1^{m_1} \chi_2^{m_2} \text{ with } k = 0 \Rightarrow n_1 + n_2 = m_1 + m_2.$$
(D.20)

Since  $\chi^{\dagger}\chi = 1$  and we have the Hopf map  $\mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbb{S}^2$ :

$$x_i = \chi^{\dagger} \sigma_i \chi$$
;  $i = 1, 2, 3$ , (D.21)

satisfying  $\vec{x}^2 = x_i x_i = 1$ . Note that the algebra of  $A_0$  is isomorphic to the algebra of functions  $C(\$^2)$  on  $\$^2$ . Further, note that the Jordan-Schwinger map (2.59) is the operatorial version of this Hopf map (D.21).

The sections of spinor bundle  $S(\mathbb{S}^2)$  have the following form:

$$\Psi'(\chi',\chi'^*) = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1'(\chi',\chi'^*) \\ \psi_2'(\chi',\chi'^*) \end{pmatrix} \text{ on } V_+ ; \ \Psi''(\chi'',\chi''^*) = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1''(\chi'',\chi''^*) \\ \psi_2''(\chi'',\chi''^*) \end{pmatrix} \text{ on } V_- .$$
(D.22)

On the overlap region  $V_+ \cap V_-$ , we have the relation:

$$\Psi'(\chi',\chi'^*) = e^{ik\phi} \Psi''(\chi'',\chi''^*) , \qquad (D.23)$$

up to a global phase factor  $e^{i\delta}$ . This k, which can be identified with the topological index (Chern class), classifies the spinor bundles  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^2)$  over  $\mathbb{S}^2$  and the angle  $\phi$  is given by (D.13). Two sections  $\Psi_0$  and  $\Psi_1$  of  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^2)$  are said to be equivalent if  $\Psi'_0 = \Psi'_1$ ,  $\Psi''_0 = e^{i\delta}\Psi''_1$ . The equivalence class  $\tilde{\Psi}$  of a given section  $\Psi$  of  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^2)$  can be represented as

$$\tilde{\Psi}'_{\alpha}(\chi',\chi'^{*}) = \sum_{n_{1},n_{2},m_{1},m_{2}} a^{\alpha}_{n_{1},n_{2},m_{1},m_{2}} \chi'^{*n_{1}}_{1} \chi'^{*n_{2}}_{2} \chi'^{m_{1}}_{1} \chi'^{m_{2}}_{2} \text{ on } V_{+},$$

$$\tilde{\Psi}''_{\alpha}(\chi'',\chi''^{*}) = \sum_{n_{1},n_{2},m_{1},m_{2}} a^{\alpha}_{n_{1},n_{2},m_{1},m_{2}} \chi''^{*n_{1}}_{1} \chi''^{*n_{2}}_{2} \chi''^{m_{1}}_{1} \chi''^{m_{2}}_{2} \text{ on } V_{-}.$$
(D.24)

Note that the coefficients  $a_{n_1,n_2,m_1,m_2}^{\alpha}$  are the same in both charts  $V_+$  and  $V_-$  with  $k = n_1 + n_2 - m_1 - m_2$  such that the following transition rule is satisfied:

$$\tilde{\Psi}'_{\alpha}(\chi',\chi'^{*}) = e^{-ik\phi} \tilde{\Psi}''_{\alpha}(\chi'',\chi''^{*}).$$
(D.25)

Denoting the bundle formed by the sections of the form (D.24) as  $\tilde{S}_k(\mathbb{S}^2)$ , we can see a one-toone mapping between the sections of  $\tilde{S}_k(\mathbb{S}^2)$  (D.24) and the sections of  $S_k(\mathbb{C}^2_0)$  or,  $S_k(\mathbb{S}^3)$  (D.14) with the same coefficients  $a^{\alpha}_{n_1,n_2,m_1,m_2}$  with  $k = n_1 + n_2 - m_1 - m_2$ . This gives the following mapping of the section  $\Psi \in S(\mathbb{S}^3)$  to the section  $\tilde{\Psi} \in \tilde{S}(\mathbb{S}^2)$ :

$$\tilde{\Psi}'(\chi',\chi'^{*}) = e^{\frac{i}{2}k(\phi+\psi)}\Psi(\chi,\chi^{*}) \text{ on } V_{+}, 
\tilde{\Psi}''(\chi'',\chi''^{*}) = e^{-\frac{i}{2}k(\phi-\psi)}\tilde{\Psi}_{\alpha}(\chi,\chi^{*}) \text{ on } V_{-},$$
(D.26)

where the bundle  $\tilde{S}(\mathbb{S}^2)$  is defined as the direct Whitney sum :  $\tilde{S}(\mathbb{S}^2) = \bigoplus \tilde{S}_k(\mathbb{S}^2)$ .

The free Dirac operator  $\tilde{D}_k : \tilde{S}(\mathbb{S}^2) \to \tilde{S}(\mathbb{S}^2)$  is defined by

$$\tilde{D}'_{k} = [i\sigma'^{\alpha}(\partial'_{\alpha} + iA'_{\alpha})] \text{ on } V_{+} ; \quad \tilde{D}''_{k} = [i\sigma''^{\alpha}(\partial''_{\alpha} + iA''_{\alpha})] \text{ on } V_{-} ; \quad \alpha = 1,2 >$$
 (D.27)

Here,  $\partial_{\alpha}$  denotes the derivative  $\partial_{\theta}$ ,  $\partial_{\phi}$  in the local coordiantes  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  in  $V_{+} \cap V_{-}$  and  $(\partial_{\alpha} + iA_{\alpha})$  represents covariant derivative. The  $\sigma$ 's ( $\sigma^{\theta}$  and  $\sigma^{\phi}$ ) satisfies the following Clifford algebra:

$$\{\sigma^{\alpha}, \sigma^{\beta}\} = 2g^{\alpha\beta}, \text{ on } V_{+} \bigcap V_{-}$$
 (D.28)

where  $\{g^{\alpha\beta}\} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/\sin^2\theta \end{pmatrix}$  is the inverse of the metric tensor of the unit sphere  $S^2(\vec{x}^2 = 1)$  and A is the *k*-monopole field given by [110]:

1) and  $A_{\mu}$  is the *k*- monopole field given by [119]:

$$A'_{\alpha} = ik\chi'^{\dagger}\partial_{\alpha}\chi' \quad \text{on} \quad V_{+} \quad ; \quad A''_{\alpha} = ik\chi''^{\dagger}\partial_{\alpha}\chi'' \quad \text{on} \quad V_{-}. \tag{D.29}$$

The field  $A'_{\alpha}$  and  $A''_{\alpha}$  in  $V_+ \cap V_-$  are related by the gauge transformation

$$A'_{\alpha} = A''_{\alpha} + k\partial_{\alpha}\phi \implies A'_{\theta} = A''_{\theta} = 0; \quad A'_{\phi} = \frac{k}{2}(\cos\theta - 1); \quad A''_{\phi} = \frac{k}{2}(\cos\theta + 1), \quad (D.30)$$

since on  $V_+ \cap V_-$ , we have  $\sigma^{\theta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\cot \theta e^{-i\phi} \\ -\cot \theta e^{i\phi} & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $\sigma^{\phi} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -ie^{-i\phi} \\ ie^{i\phi} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ . The eigenvalue problem of the Dirac operator in  $\tilde{S}(\mathbb{S}^2)$ :

$$\tilde{D}'_k \tilde{\Psi}'(\chi', {\chi'}^*) = \lambda \tilde{\Psi}'(\chi', {\chi'}^*)$$
 on  $V_+$ ;  $\tilde{D}''_k \tilde{\Psi}''(\chi'', {\chi''}^*) = \lambda \tilde{\Psi}''(\chi'', {\chi''}^*)$  on  $V_-$ , (D.31)

is switched to a problem in  $S_k(S^3)$  ,  $D_k \Psi = \lambda \Psi$  ,  $\Psi \in S_k(S^3)$  where we use

$$\Psi = e^{-\frac{i}{2}k(\phi+\psi)}\tilde{\Psi}'$$
 on  $V_{+}$ ;  $\Psi = e^{\frac{i}{2}k(\phi-\psi)}\tilde{\Psi}''$  on  $V_{-}$ ; (D.32)

and 
$$D_k = e^{-\frac{i}{2}k(\phi+\psi)}\tilde{D}_k e^{\frac{i}{2}k(\phi+\psi)}$$
 on  $V_+$ ;  $D_k = e^{\frac{i}{2}k(\phi-\psi)}\tilde{D}_k e^{-\frac{i}{2}k(\phi-\psi)}$  on  $V_-$ . (D.33)

On both  $V_+$  and  $V_-$ , a straightforward computation shows that the Dirac operator on  $\mathbb{S}^3$  with radius *r* is given by

$$D_k = \frac{1}{r} \sigma_j (J_j - \frac{k}{2} \frac{x_j}{r}).$$
 (D.34)

The Dirac operator on  $S^2$  with radius *r* can be obtained by putting k = 0 as

$$D_0 = \frac{1}{r} \sigma_j J_j = \frac{1}{r} \vec{J} \otimes \vec{\sigma} . \tag{D.35}$$

## **D.2.2** Dirac operator on fuzzy sphere $\mathbb{S}^2_{\star}$

We have the algebra  $\mathcal{A}_0$  of functions on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  which have the form:

$$\mathcal{A}_{0} = \left\{ \Phi = \sum_{n_{1}, n_{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}} a^{\alpha}_{n_{1}, n_{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}} \chi_{1}^{*n_{1}} \chi_{2}^{*n_{2}} \chi_{1}^{m_{1}} \chi_{2}^{m_{2}} : k = n_{1} + n_{2} - m_{1} - m_{2} = 0 \right\}.$$
(D.36)

Note that this algebra  $A_0$  is analogous to the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_j$  (2.69) of fuzzy sphere with radius  $r_j = \theta_f \sqrt{j(j+1)}$  which form an algebra:

$$H_{j} = \left\{ \hat{\Phi} = \sum_{n_{1}, n_{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}} a_{n_{1}, n_{2}, m_{1}, m_{2}}^{\alpha} \hat{\chi}_{1}^{\dagger n_{1}} \hat{\chi}_{2}^{\dagger n_{2}} \hat{\chi}_{1}^{m_{1}} \hat{\chi}_{2}^{m_{2}} : k = n_{1} + n_{2} - m_{1} - m_{2} = 0 \right\}.$$
(D.37)

The actions of angular mometum operators  $\hat{J}_i$  and the dilatation operator  $\hat{K}$  on fuzzy sphere can be obtained by replacing the derivatives in (D.17) with the following commutators:

$$\partial_{\chi_{\alpha}} \Psi \sim [\chi_{\alpha}^{\dagger}, \Psi] ; \quad \partial_{\chi_{\alpha}^{\dagger}} \Psi \sim [\chi_{\alpha}, \Psi].$$
 (D.38)

This gives the adjoint action of  $\hat{J}_i$  and  $\hat{K}$  on the quantum Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_j$  as

$$\hat{f}_i \Phi = \frac{1}{\theta_f} [\hat{x}_i, \Phi] \quad ; \quad \hat{K} \Phi = [\hat{N}, \Phi] = 0 , \quad \Phi \in \mathcal{H}_j , \tag{D.39}$$

since all elements of  $\mathcal{H}_j$  are of the form  $\Phi \sim |j, m\rangle(m', j|$ . The action of  $\hat{J}_i$  on the configuation space  $\mathcal{F}_j$  is given by

$$\hat{J}_i|j,m\rangle = \frac{1}{\theta_f} \hat{x}_i|j,m\rangle , \quad |j,m\rangle \in \mathcal{F}_j .$$
(D.40)

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- <sup>1</sup>A. Connes, *Noncommutative geometry* (Academic Press, 1994) (cit. on pp. 1, 8, 56).
- <sup>2</sup>H. S. Snyder, "Quantized space-time," Phys. Rev. 71, 38–41 (1947) (cit. on p. 1).
- <sup>3</sup>H. S. Snyder, "The electromagnetic field in quantized space-time," Phys. Rev. **72**, 68–71 (1947) (cit. on p. 1).
- <sup>4</sup>M. Bronstein, "Republication of: quantum theory of weak gravitational fields," General Relativity and Gravitation 44, 267–283 (2012) (cit. on p. 1).
- <sup>5</sup>S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen, and J. E. Roberts, "Spacetime quantization induced by classical gravity," Physics Letters B **331**, 39 –44 (1994) (cit. on pp. 1, 2).
- <sup>6</sup>S. Doplicher, K. Fredenhagen, and J. E. Roberts, "The quantum structure of spacetime at the Planck scale and quantum fields," Communications in Mathematical Physics 172, 187–220 (1995) (cit. on p. 1).
- <sup>7</sup>N. Seiberg and E. Witten, "String theory and noncommutative geometry," Journal of High Energy Physics **1999**, 032 (1999) (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>8</sup>M. R. Douglas and N. A. Nekrasov, "Noncommutative field theory," Rev. Mod. Phys. 73, 977–1029 (2001) (cit. on pp. 2, 3, 6).
- <sup>9</sup>P. Aschieri, "Noncommutative symmetries and gravity," Journal of Physics: Conference Series **53**, 799 (2006) (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>10</sup>L. D. Landau and E. Lifshitz, *Course of theoretical physics vol* 3 *quantum mechanics* (Pergamon Press, 1958) (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>11</sup>R. E. Prange and S. M. Girvin, *The Quantum Hall Effect, Graduate texts in contemporary Physics*, 1987 (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>12</sup>T. L. C. Cosmas K. Zachos, David B. Fairlie, *Quantum mechanics in phase space : an overview with selected papers* (World Scientific, 2005) (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>13</sup>H. J. Groenewold, "On the principles of elementary quantum mechanics," in *On the principles of elementary quantum mechanics* (Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1946), pp. 1–56 (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>14</sup>H Weyl, "Quantum mechanics and group theory," Z. Phys **46** (1927) (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>15</sup>E. Wigner, "On the quantum correction for thermodynamic equilibrium," Phys. Rev. **40**, 749–759 (1932) (cit. on p. 2).
- <sup>16</sup>V. G. Drinfel'd, "Structure of quasitriangular quasi—Hopf algebras," Functional Analysis and Its Applications **26**, 63–65 (1992) (cit. on p. 3).

- <sup>17</sup>R. J. Szabo, "Quantum field theory on noncommutative spaces," Physics Reports **378**, 207 –299 (2003) (cit. on pp. 3, 6).
- <sup>18</sup>J. E. Moyal, "Quantum mechanics as a statistical theory," Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society **45**, 99–124 (1949) (cit. on p. <u>3</u>).
- <sup>19</sup>A. Voros, "Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin method in the Bargmann representation," Phys. Rev. A **40**, 6814–6825 (1989) (cit. on pp. 3, 4).
- <sup>20</sup>T. Filk, "Divergencies in a field theory on quantum space," Physics Letters B **376**, 53 –58 (1996) (cit. on p. 3).
- <sup>21</sup>S. Minwalla, M. V. Raamsdonk, and N. Seiberg, "Noncommutative perturbative dynamics," Journal of High Energy Physics **2000**, 020 (2000) (cit. on p. 3).
- <sup>22</sup>R. Banerjee, B. Chakraborty, S. Ghosh, P. Mukherjee, and S. Samanta, "Topics in noncommutative geometry inspired physics," Foundations of Physics **39**, 1297–1345 (2009) (cit. on p. 3).
- <sup>23</sup>M. Chaichian, P. Kulish, K. Nishijima, and A. Tureanu, "On a Lorentz-invariant interpretation of noncommutative space-time and its implications on noncommutative {QFT}," Physics Letters B 604, 98 –102 (2004) (cit. on pp. 4, 120).
- <sup>24</sup>M. Chaichian, P. Pre šnajder, and A. Tureanu, "New Concept of Relativistic Invariance in Noncommutative Space-Time: Twisted Poincaré Symmetry and Its Implications," Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 151602 (2005) (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>25</sup>M. Chaichian and A. P. Demichev, *Introduction to quantum groups* (World Scientific, 1996) (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>26</sup>A. P. Balachandran, G. Mangano, A. Pinzul, and S. Vaidya, "Spin and Statistics on the Groenewold-Moyal plane: Pauli-forbidden levels and transitions," International Journal of Modern Physics A 21, 3111–3126 (2006), eprint: http://www.worldscientific.com/ doi/pdf/10.1142/S0217751X06031764 (cit. on pp. 4, 7, 40, 44, 45, 120).
- <sup>27</sup>B. Chakraborty, S. Gangopadhyay, A. G. Hazra, and F. G. Scholtz, "Twisted Galilean symmetry and the Pauli principle at low energies," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General **39**, 9557 (2006) (cit. on pp. 4, 7, 48, 120).
- <sup>28</sup>F. Lizzi, P. Vitale, and A. Zampini, "The fuzzy disc: a review," Journal of Physics: Conference Series 53, 830 (2006) (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>29</sup>P. Vitale and J.-C. Wallet, "Noncommutative field theories on R<sup>3</sup><sub>λ</sub>: Toward UV/IR mixing freedom," JHEP 04, [Addendum: JHEP03,115(2015)], 115 (2013), arXiv:1212.5131 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>30</sup>L. Cohen, "Generalized phase-space distribution functions," Journal of Mathematical Physics
  7 (1966) (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>31</sup>K. E. Cahill and R. J. Glauber, "Ordered expansions in boson amplitude operators," Phys. Rev. **177**, 1857–1881 (1969) (cit. on p. 4).

- <sup>32</sup>L. Castellani, "Quantization rules and Dirac's correspondence," Il Nuovo Cimento A (1965-1970) 48, 359–368 (1978) (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>33</sup>N. Cartwright, "A non-negative wigner-type distribution," Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications **83**, 210–212 (1976) (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>34</sup>K. Takahashi, "Distribution functions in classical and quantum mechanics," Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement **98**, 109–156 (1989), eprint: http://ptps.oxfordjournals. org/content/98/109.full.pdf+html (cit. on p. 4).
- <sup>35</sup>S. Galluccio, F. Lizzi, and P. Vitale, "Twisted noncommutative field theory with the Wick-Voros and Moyal products," Phys. Rev. D **78**, 085007 (2008) (cit. on pp. 5, 18).
- <sup>36</sup>A. Balachandran and M Martone, "Twisted quantum fields on Moyal and Wick–Voros planes are inequivalent," Modern Physics Letters A **24**, 1721–1730 (2009) (cit. on pp. **5**, **18**).
- <sup>37</sup>A. P. Balachandran, A. Ibort, G. Marmo, and M. Martone, "Inequivalence of quantum field theories on noncommutative spacetimes: Moyal versus Wick-Voros planes," Phys. Rev. D 81, 085017 (2010) (cit. on p. 5).
- <sup>38</sup>P. Basu, B. Chakraborty, and F. G. Scholtz, "A unifying perspective on the Moyal and Voros products and their physical meanings," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 44, 285204 (2011) (cit. on pp. 5, 7, 21, 26, 39, 51, 70, 120).
- <sup>39</sup>J. M. Gracia-BondÃa, F. Lizzi, G. Marmo, and P. Vitale, "Infinitely many star products to play with," Journal of High Energy Physics **2002**, 026 (2002) (cit. on p. 5).
- <sup>40</sup>J. Gomis and T. Mehen, "Space-time noncommutative field theories and unitarity," Nuclear Physics B **591**, 265 –276 (2000) (cit. on p. 5).
- <sup>41</sup>A. P. Balachandran, T. R. Govindarajan, C. M. Mendes, and P. Teotonio-Sobrinho, "Unitary quantum physics with time-space noncommutativity," Journal of High Energy Physics **2004**, 072 (2004) (cit. on p. 5).
- <sup>42</sup>J. Madore, S. Schraml, P. Schupp, and J. Wess, "Gauge theory on noncommutative spaces," The European Physical Journal C-Particles and Fields 16, 161–167 (2000) (cit. on p. 5).
- <sup>43</sup>V. Nair and A. Polychronakos, "Quantum mechanics on the noncommutative plane and sphere," Physics Letters B **505**, 267 –274 (2001) (cit. on p. 6).
- <sup>44</sup>F. G. Scholtz, B Chakraborty, J Govaerts, and S Vaidya, "Spectrum of the non-commutative spherical well," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **40**, 14581 (2007) (cit. on pp. 6, 18–21).
- <sup>45</sup>F. G. Scholtz, L Gouba, A Hafver, and C. M. Rohwer, "Formulation, interpretation and application of non-commutative quantum mechanics," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **42**, 175303 (2009) (cit. on pp. 6, 7, 18–21).
- <sup>46</sup>K. Kumar, S. Prajapat, and B. Chakraborty, "On the role of Schwinger's SU(2) generators for simple harmonic oscillator in 2D Moyal plane," The European Physical Journal Plus 130, 120 (2015) (cit. on p. 6).

- <sup>47</sup>D. Sinha, B. Chakraborty, and F. G. Scholtz, "Non-commutative quantum mechanics in three dimensions and rotational symmetry," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 45, 105308 (2012) (cit. on pp. 6, 7, 22–26, 32, 33).
- <sup>48</sup>V. Galikova and P. Presnajder, "Coulomb problem in non-commutative quantum mechanics," Journal of Mathematical Physics 54, 052102 (2013) http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.
  4803457 (cit. on pp. 6, 27, 28).
- <sup>49</sup>N Chandra, H. W. Groenewald, J. N. Kriel, F. G. Scholtz, and S Vaidya, "Spectrum of the three-dimensional fuzzy well," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 47, 445203 (2014) (cit. on p. 6).
- <sup>50</sup>S. Gangopadhyay and F. G. Scholtz, "Path-integral action of a particle in the noncommutative plane," Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 241602 (2009) (cit. on p. 7).
- <sup>51</sup>J. A. Bergou, "Quantum state discrimination and selected applications," Journal of Physics: Conference Series **84**, 012001 (2007) (cit. on p. 7).
- <sup>52</sup>R. Pathria, *Statistical mechanics, international series in natural philosophy*, 1986 (cit. on pp. 8, 51–53).
- <sup>53</sup>Y. C. Devi, K. J. B. Ghosh, B. Chakraborty, and F. G. Scholtz, "Thermal effective potential in two- and three-dimensional non-commutative spaces," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **47**, 025302 (2014) (cit. on p. 8).
- <sup>54</sup>A. Connes and M. Marcolli, *Noncommutative geometry, quantum fields and motives*, Vol. 55 (American Mathematical Soc., 2008) (cit. on pp. 8, 56).
- <sup>55</sup>I. Gelfand and M. Neumark, "On the imbedding of normed rings into the ring of operators in Hilbert space," Rec. Math. [Mat. Sbornik] N.S. **12(54)**, 197–213 (1943) (cit. on pp. 8, 63).
- <sup>56</sup>John Von Neumann, *Mathematical foundations of quantum mechanics*, 2 (Princeton university press, 1955) (cit. on p. 8).
- <sup>57</sup>M. Khalkhali, *Basic noncommutative geometry* (European mathematical society, 2009) (cit. on pp. 8, 9).
- <sup>58</sup>R. G. Swan, "Vector Bundles and Projective Modules," Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **105**, 264–277 (1962) (cit. on p. 9).
- <sup>59</sup>S. L. Woronowicz, "Pseudospaces, pseudogroups and Pontriagin duality," in *Mathematical problems in theoretical physics: proceedings of the international conference on mathematical physics held in lausanne, switzerland august 20 25, 1979*, edited by K. Osterwalder (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1980), pp. 407–412 (cit. on p. 9).
- <sup>60</sup>P. Kruszynski and S. L. Woronowicz, "A non-commutative Gelfand-Naimark theorem," J. Operator Theory 8, 361–389 (1982) (cit. on p. 9).
- <sup>61</sup>A Sitarz, "31/2 Lectures on Noncommutative Geometry," Acta Polytechnica **48** (2008) (cit. on p. 9).

- <sup>62</sup>J. C. Varilly, *An introduction to noncommutative geometry* (European Mathematical Society, 2006) (cit. on p. 9).
- <sup>63</sup>J. Milnor, "Eigenvalues of the Laplace operator on certain manifolds," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **51**, 542–542 (1964) (cit. on p. 10).
- <sup>64</sup>A. Connes, "Non-commutative differential geometry," Publications Mathématiques de l'Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques **62**, 41–144 (1985) (cit. on p. 10).
- <sup>65</sup>A. Connes, "Gravity coupled with matter and foundation of noncommutative geometry," Commun. Math. Phys. 182, 155–176 (1996), arXiv:hep-th/9603053 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 10, 11).
- <sup>66</sup>J. Bellissard, A. van Elst, and H. Schulz-Baldes, "The noncommutative geometry of the quantum hall effect," Journal of Mathematical Physics **35** (1994) (cit. on p. **11**).
- <sup>67</sup>K. Van den Dungen and W. D. Van Suijlekom, "Particle physics from almost-commutative spacetimes," Reviews in Mathematical Physics **24**, 1230004 (2012) (cit. on p. **11**).
- <sup>68</sup>A. H. Chamseddine and A. Connes, "Resilience of the spectral standard model," Journal of High Energy Physics 2012, 104 (2012) (cit. on p. 11).
- <sup>69</sup>M. Blagojevic, *Gravitation and gauge symmetries* (CRC Press, 2001) (cit. on p. 11).
- <sup>70</sup>J. Madore, An introduction to noncommutative differential geometry and its physical applications,
   Vol. 257 (Cambridge University Press, 1999) (cit. on p. 11).
- <sup>71</sup>A. Salam and J Strathdee, "On Kaluza-Klein theory," Annals of Physics **141**, 316 –352 (1982) (cit. on p. **11**).
- <sup>72</sup>J. N. Mather, "Simplicity of certain groups of diffeomorphisms," Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 80, 271–273 (1974) (cit. on p. 11).
- <sup>73</sup>W. Thurston, "Foliations and groups of diffeomorphisms," Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society **80**, 304–307 (1974) (cit. on p. **11**).
- <sup>74</sup>J. M. Gracia-BondÃa and J. C. VÃ<sub>i</sub>rilly, "Algebras of distributions suitable for phase-space quantum mechanics. i," Journal of Mathematical Physics **29** (1988) (cit. on pp. **12**, 70).
- <sup>75</sup>V. Gayral, J. Gracia-Bondía, B. Iochum, T. Schücker, and J. Várilly, "Moyal planes are spectral triples," Communications in Mathematical Physics **246**, 569–623 (2004) (cit. on p. 12).
- <sup>76</sup>A. Connes and G. Landi, "Noncommutative Manifolds, the Instanton Algebra and Isospectral Deformations," Communications in Mathematical Physics 221, 141–159 (2001) (cit. on pp. 12, 14).
- <sup>77</sup>E. Cagnache, F. D'Andrea, P. Martinetti, and J.-C. Wallet, "The spectral distance in the Moyal plane," Journal of Geometry and Physics **61**, 1881 –1897 (2011) (cit. on pp. 12, 16, 70, 76, 78, 79, 120).

- <sup>78</sup>P. Martinetti and L. Tomassini, "Noncommutative Geometry of the Moyal Plane: Translation Isometries, Connes' Distance on Coherent States, Pythagoras Equality," Communications in Mathematical Physics 323, 107–141 (2013) (cit. on pp. 12, 16, 70, 81, 82).
- <sup>79</sup>F. G. Scholtz and B Chakraborty, "Spectral triplets, statistical mechanics and emergent geometry in non-commutative quantum mechanics," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **46**, 085204 (2013) (cit. on pp. 12–16, 70, 72, 74, 76, 78, 80, 85–88, 116, 117, 120, 121).
- <sup>80</sup>J. P. Provost and G. Vallee, "Riemannian structure on manifolds of quantum states," Communications in Mathematical Physics **76**, 289–301 (1980) (cit. on pp. 12, 67).
- <sup>81</sup>C. M. Rohwer, "Additional degrees of freedom associated with position measurements in non-commutative quantum mechanics," MA thesis (Stellenbosch U., 2010), arXiv:1206.
  1242 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 12, 13, 86).
- <sup>82</sup>Y. C. Devi, S. Prajapat, A. K. Mukhopadhyay, B. Chakraborty, and F. G. Scholtz, "Connes distance function on fuzzy sphere and the connection between geometry and statistics," Journal of Mathematical Physics 56, 041707 (2015) http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1. 4918648 (cit. on pp. 13, 16, 64–66, 70, 76, 88, 103).
- <sup>83</sup>J Madore, "The fuzzy sphere," Classical and Quantum Gravity 9, 69 (1992) (cit. on pp. 13, 14).
- <sup>84</sup>J. C. Varilly and J. M. Gracia-Bondia, "The moyal representation for spin," Annals of Physics 190, 107–148 (1989) (cit. on p. 14).
- <sup>85</sup>A. B. Klimov and P Espinoza, "Moyal-like form of the star product for generalized SU (2) Stratonovich-Weyl symbols," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 35, 8435 (2002) (cit. on p. 14).
- <sup>86</sup>A. Perelomov, "Generalized coherent states and some of their applications," Soviet Physics Uspekhi 20, 703 (1977) (cit. on pp. 14, 68, 69).
- <sup>87</sup>H. Grosse and P. Prešnajder, "The construction of noncommutative manifolds using coherent states," Letters in Mathematical Physics 28, 239–250 (1993) (cit. on pp. 14, 68, 88, 96).
- <sup>88</sup>H. Grosse and P. Prešnajder, "The Dirac operator on the fuzzy sphere," Letters in Mathematical Physics 33, 171–181 (1995) (cit. on pp. 14, 88, 90, 134–139).
- <sup>89</sup>F. D'Andrea, F. Lizzi, and J. C. Várilly, "Metric properties of the fuzzy sphere," Letters in Mathematical Physics **103**, 183–205 (2013) (cit. on pp. 14, 16, 88, 90, 93–95, 100–102).
- <sup>90</sup>J. M. Gracia-Bondía, J. C. Várilly, and H. Figueroa, *Elements of noncommutative geometry* (Springer Science & Business Media, 2013) (cit. on pp. 15, 56, 57, 59).
- <sup>91</sup>J. C. Várilly and P. l Witkowski, "Dirac operators and spectral geometry," (2006) (cit. on pp. 15, 57, 59).

- <sup>92</sup>Y. C. Devi, A. Patil, A. N. Bose, K. Kumar, B. Chakraborty, and F. G. Scholtz, "Revisiting Connes' Finite Spectral Distance on Non-commutative Spaces : Moyal Plane and Fuzzy Sphere," (2016), arXiv:1608.05270 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 16, 69, 70, 82).
- <sup>93</sup>D. J. Griffiths and E. G. Harris, "Introduction to quantum mechanics," American Journal of Physics **63**, 767–768 (1995) (cit. on p. 29).
- <sup>94</sup>J. Williamson, "On the algebraic problem concerning the normal forms of linear dynamical systems," American Journal of Mathematics **58**, 141–163 (1936) (cit. on p. 30).
- <sup>95</sup>L.-M. Duan, G. Giedke, J. I. Cirac, and P. Zoller, "Inseparability criterion for continuous variable systems," Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, 2722–2725 (2000) (cit. on pp. 30, 35).
- <sup>96</sup>S. Adhikari, B. Chakraborty, A. S. Majumdar, and S. Vaidya, "Quantum entanglement in a noncommutative system," Phys. Rev. A 79, 042109 (2009) (cit. on pp. 35, 36).
- <sup>97</sup>P. Aschieri, F. Lizzi, and P. Vitale, "Twisting all the way: from classical mechanics to quantum fields," Phys. Rev. D 77, 025037 (2008) (cit. on pp. 37, 44, 45).
- <sup>98</sup>G. Fiore and J. Wess, "Full twisted Poincaré symmetry and quantum field theory on Moyal-Weyl spaces," Phys. Rev. D 75, 105022 (2007) (cit. on p. 37).
- <sup>99</sup>C. M. Rohwer, K. G. Zloshchastiev, L Gouba, and F. G. Scholtz, "Noncommutative quantum mechanics-a perspective on structure and spatial extent," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **43**, 345302 (2010) (cit. on p. 38).
- <sup>100</sup>P. Aschieri, "Lectures on Hopf Algebras, Quantum Groups and Twists," in 2nd Modave Summer School in Theoretical Physics Modave, Belgium, August 6-12, 2006 (2007), arXiv:hep-th/0703013 [HEP-TH] (cit. on p. 40).
- <sup>101</sup>P. G. Castro, B. Chakraborty, R. Kullock, and F. Toppan, "Noncommutative oscillators from a Hopf algebra twist deformation. A first principles derivation," Journal of Mathematical Physics 52, 032102 (2011) http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.3562510 (cit. on p. 40).
- <sup>102</sup>L. S. Brown, *Quantum field theory* (Cambridge University Press, 1994) (cit. on p. 44).
- <sup>103</sup>A. P. Balachandran, A. Pinzul, B. A. Qureshi, and S. Vaidya, "Twisted gauge and gravity theories on the Groenewold-Moyal plane," Phys. Rev. D 76, 105025 (2007) (cit. on pp. 44, 45).
- <sup>104</sup>A. P. Balachandran, A. Pinzul, and B. A. Qureshi, "Twisted Poincaré invariant quantum field theories," Phys. Rev. D 77, 025021 (2008) (cit. on pp. 44, 45).
- <sup>105</sup>G. Fiore, "On second quantization on noncommutative spaces with twisted symmetries," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **43**, 155401 (2010) (cit. on p. 46).
- <sup>106</sup>S. Gangopadhyay, A. Saha, and F. G. Scholtz, "Voros product and the Pauli principle at low energies," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **44**, 175401 (2011) (cit. on p. 48).

- <sup>107</sup>A. Connes, "Noncommutative geometry and reality," Journal of Mathematical Physics **36** (1995) (cit. on pp. 56, 63).
- <sup>108</sup>N. Landsman, *Notes on noncommutative geometry*, 2010 (cit. on p. 57).
- <sup>109</sup>G. Landi, "An Introduction to Noncommutative Spaces and their Geometry," ArXiv High Energy Physics Theory e-prints (1997), eprint: hep-th/9701078 (cit. on p. 63).
- <sup>110</sup>B. Iochum, T. Krajewski, and P. Martinetti, "Distances in finite spaces from noncommutative geometry," Journal of Geometry and Physics 37, 100–125 (2001) (cit. on pp. 62, 64–66, 73, 99, 103).
- <sup>111</sup>C Brif and A Mann, "A general theory of phase-space quasiprobability distributions," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General **31**, L9 (1998) (cit. on p. 67).
- <sup>112</sup>O. Bratteli and D. W. Robinson, "Operator algebras and quantum statistical mechanics, vol.
  1. c\*-and w\*-algebras. symmetry groups. decomposition of states," Texts and Monographs in Physics, Springer-Verlag, New York, (1987) (cit. on p. 72).
- <sup>11</sup><sup>3</sup>W. Thirring, *Quantum mathematical physics: atoms, molecules and large systems* (Springer Science & Business Media, 2013) (cit. on pp. 72, 128, 131).
- <sup>114</sup>C. Villani, *Optimal transport: old and new*, Vol. 338 (Springer Science & Business Media, 2008) (cit. on p. 73).
- <sup>115</sup>S. Majid, *A quantum groups primer*, Vol. 292 (Cambridge University Press, 2002) (cit. on pp. 123–125).
- <sup>116</sup>O. Bratteli and D. W. Robinson, "Operator algebras and quantum statistical mechanics, vol.
  1. c\*-and w\*-algebras. symmetry groups. decomposition of states," Texts and Monographs in Physics, Springer-Verlag, New York, (1987) (cit. on p. 128).
- <sup>117</sup>T. Eguchi, P. B. Gilkey, and A. J. Hanson, "Gravitation, gauge theories and differential geometry," Physics Reports **66**, 213–393 (1980) (cit. on p. 135).
- <sup>118</sup>M. Nakahara, *Geometry, topology and physics* (CRC Press, 2003) (cit. on p. 135).
- <sup>119</sup>M. F. Atiyah, *Geometry of Yang-Mills fields; extended version*, Fermi lectures given in Pisa, June 1978 (Pisa Scuola Normale Sup., Pisa, 1979) (cit. on p. 138).